## Western University Scholarship@Western

Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository

4-12-2024 2:00 PM

# The Roles of FABP3 in Endothelial Dysfunction and the Transcriptomic Insights into Cardiovascular Disease

Chi Hien Nguyen, University of Western Ontario

Supervisor: Singh, Krishna, *The University of Western Ontario* A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Doctor of Philosophy degree in Anatomy and Cell Biology © Chi Hien Nguyen 2024

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd

Part of the Cell Biology Commons

#### **Recommended Citation**

Nguyen, Chi Hien, "The Roles of FABP3 in Endothelial Dysfunction and the Transcriptomic Insights into Cardiovascular Disease" (2024). *Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository*. 9988. https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd/9988

This Dissertation/Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by Scholarship@Western. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository by an authorized administrator of Scholarship@Western. For more information, please contact wlswadmin@uwo.ca.

#### Abstract:

Heart-type fatty acid binding protein (FABP3) is an effective biomarker for cardiac injuries. However, it has also been tested as a biomarker in patients with peripheral artery diseases; these conditions are complications of atherosclerosis, which is driven by endothelial dysfunction. As FABP3 release is not exclusive to the heart but appears to characterize cardiovascular events, whether FABP3 influences endothelial function is not known. Additionally, the transcriptomic profiles of endothelial cells during cardiovascular stresses remain under-investigated. This thesis investigates the multifaceted role of FABP3 and the transcriptomic alterations in endothelial cells under different cardiovascular stressors, offering novel insights into endothelial dysfunction and atherosclerosis. Through a series of *in vitro* studies, the regulatory dynamics of FABP3 under atherosclerotic stressors, its impact on endothelial cell gene expression, and the effects of Angiotensin II (Ang II) exposure on coding and long noncoding RNAs were demonstrated. The findings of this thesis reveal that FABP3 expression is differentially modulated by oxidative stress, inflammation, and hypertension and highlight its therapeutic potential in cardiovascular diseases through loss of function studies. Additionally, transcriptomic profiling uncovers significant changes in messenger RNAs and long non-coding RNAs, identifying novel pathways involved in endothelial response to Ang II-induced stress. This comprehensive analysis advances the understanding of the molecular mechanisms underlying endothelial dysfunction and opens new avenues for research on intervention in endothelial dysfunction, atherosclerosis, and cardiovascular disease.

<u>Keywords</u>: FABP3, Atherosclerosis, Endothelium, Endothelial Cells, Endothelial Dysfunction, Endothelial Function, Transcriptomic Profile, Oxidative Stress, Inflammation, Hypertension, Cardiovascular Disease.

#### **Summary for Lay Audience:**

This thesis examines the protein Heart-type Fatty Acid Binding Protein 3 (FABP3) and the associated genetic changes in the cells lining blood vessels under the context of diseases involving blood vessels. The work addresses our previous observation that FABP3 rises in blood were not exclusive to patients with heart injury, as they were also detected in patients with only vessel disease. We showed that FABP3 in the cells lining the blood vessels reacts uniquely under conditions that lead to heart and vascular diseases, including inflammation, oxidative stress, and lack of oxygen, revealing its treatment potential. Exposure to a hormone associated with high blood pressure, angiotensin II, also alters the genetics of blood vessel linings, including those genes that do not produce proteins but regulate others, which have implications for blood vessel responses to stress. The thesis further identifies new biological pathways activated in stressed conditions by analyzing the entire set of genetic material in the cells of blood vessel linings, opening up new avenues for combating heart and blood vessel diseases. In essence, this study advances the understanding of heart and vessel diseases at the molecular level, suggesting new strategies for prevention and treatment.

#### **Co-Authorship Statements:**

## Chapter 2 authors: Hien C. Nguyen<sup>1,2</sup> and Krishna K. Singh<sup>1,2</sup>

Author contributions: H. C. N. -- conceptualization, methodology, investigation, formal analysis, data curation, writing (original draft, review & editing), visualization, validation, and software. K. K. S. -- conceptualization, methodology, formal analysis, data curation, writing (review & editing), visualization, validation, software, supervision, resources, project administration, and funding acquisition.

Chapter 3 authors: Hien C. Nguyen<sup>1,2</sup>, Shuhan Bu<sup>1</sup>, Sepideh Nikfarjam<sup>1,2</sup>, Berk Rasheed<sup>1,2</sup>, David C.R. Michels<sup>1</sup>, Aman Singh<sup>1</sup>, Shweta Singh<sup>5</sup>, Caroline Marszal<sup>1</sup>, John J. McGuire<sup>1</sup>, Qingping Feng<sup>3</sup>, Jefferson C. Frisbee<sup>1</sup>, Mohammad Qadura<sup>6,7</sup>, and Krishna K. Singh<sup>1,2</sup>

Author contributions: H. C. N., Q. F., J. C. F., and K. K. S. -- conceptualization. H. C. N., D. C. R. M., C. M., and K. K. S. -- methodology. H. C. N. and S. B. -- investigation. H. C. N., J. J. M., Q. F., J. C. F., and K. K. S. -- formal analysis. H. C. N. and K. K. S. -- data curation. H. C. N. -- writing (original draft). H. C. N., A. S., J. J. M., and K. K. S. -- writing (review & editing). H. C. N., S. B., D. C. R. M., B. R., and K. K. S. -- visualization. S. B., D. C. R. M., S. N., B. R., S. S., M. Q., and K. K. S. -- validation. B. R. and K. K. S. -- software. M. Q. and K. K. S. -- supervision. K. K. S. -- resources, project administration, and funding acquisition.

Chapter 4 authors: Hien C. Nguyen<sup>1,2</sup>, Aman Singh<sup>1</sup>, Christina Castellani<sup>4</sup>, and Krishna K. Singh<sup>1,2</sup>

Author contributions: H. C. N. -- conceptualization, methodology, investigation, formal analysis, data curation, writing (original draft, review & editing), visualization, validation, software. A. S. - - methodology, writing (review & editing). C. C. -- methodology, formal analysis, data curation, software. K. K. S. -- conceptualization, methodology, data curation, writing (review & editing), visualization, validation, software, supervision, resources, project administration, and funding acquisition.

Chapter 5 authors: Shuhan Bu<sup>1,\*</sup>, Hien C. Nguyen<sup>1,2,\*</sup>, David C.R. Michels<sup>1</sup>, Berk Rasheed<sup>1,2</sup>, Sepideh Nikfarjam<sup>1,2</sup>, Rohan Singh<sup>1</sup>, Lynn Wang<sup>1,2</sup>, Darshil A. Patel<sup>1</sup>, Shweta Singh<sup>5</sup>, Mohammad Qadura<sup>6,7</sup>, and Krishna K. Singh<sup>1,2</sup>

Author contributions: \*S. B. and H. C. N. contributed equally to this study. S. B. and H. C. N. -- conceptualization, methodology, investigation, formal analysis, data curation, writing (original draft, review & editing). L. W. -- methodology. S. B., H. C. N., D. C. R. M., S. S., B. R. and M. Q. -- writing (review & editing). S. B., H. C. N., R. S., D. P., B. R., S. N. and K. K. S. -- visualization, validation. K. K. S. -- conceptualization, methodology, data curation, writing (review & editing), visualization, validation, software, supervision, resources, project administration, and funding acquisition.

Department of <sup>1</sup>Medical Biophysics, <sup>2</sup>Anatomy and Cell Biology, <sup>3</sup>Physiology and Pharmacology, <sup>4</sup>Pathology and Laboratory Medicine, Schulich School of Medicine & Dentistry, Western University, London, Ontario, Canada.

Department of <sup>5</sup>Applied Science, Fanshawe College, London, Ontario, Canada.

<sup>6</sup>Institute of Medical Science, University of Toronto, Toronto, Ontario, Canada.

<sup>7</sup>Vascular Surgery, Keenan Research Centre for Biomedical Science and Li Ka Shing Knowledge Institute of St. Michael's Hospital.

#### Acknowledgments:

My second-most sincere gratitude is dedicated to my supervisors (Dr. Krishna Singh, Dr. Christina Castellani, Dr. Mohammad Qadura, and Dr. Jefferson Frisbee) for their unwavering guidance and support throughout this journey. Their fervent mentorship, staunch commitment, proficient expertise in technical and literature research, and academic success have been instrumental in completing this thesis. Their innovation, opportunities, and steadfast encouragement have shaped my development as a scientist and scholar. I am most fortunate to have had such an established team of supervisors as my peers.

I want to extend my earnest appreciation to the members of my committee (Dr. Silvia Penuela, Dr. Nica Borradaile, and Dr. Shawn Whitehead) for their collective expertise, mentorship, and commitment to excellence that have enriched the rigour and quality of this work. It is an understatement to say that their contributions and steadfast support have left an indelible mark on my academic growth. It has been a privilege to have worked with such an exceptional committee.

Lastly, I want to thank the esteemed and dedicated lab colleagues and technicians of Singh's lab for their everyday support and collaboration throughout my journey. Their expertise, diligence, and willingness to assist have been pivotal in our collective academic endeavours. The sincere discussions, shared resources, and encouragement have been indispensable and have broadened my perspectives. I am honoured to have worked alongside such talented individuals.

# The sincerest dedication

To my father and mother for their unconditional love and support.

## Table of Contents:

Abstract:	ii
Summary for Lay Audience:	iii
Co-Authorship Statements:	iv
Acknowledgments:	vi
Table of Contents:	viii
List of Tables:	xi
List of Figures:	xiii
List of Appendices:	XV
Chapter 1: Background	1
1.1 The Circulatory System	1
1.1.1 The Heart	1
1.1.2 Blood and Lymphatic Vessels	3
1.2 Cardiovascular Disease	10
1.3 Atherosclerosis	
1.4 The Endothelium	14
1.5 Endothelial Dysfunction	17
1.6 Endothelial Dysfunction and Atherosclerosis	19
1.6.1 Oxidative Stress	19
1.6.2 Inflammation	20
1.6.3 Hypertension	
1.6.4 Metabolic and Other Factors	
1.7 Endothelial Fatty Acids Metabolism	25
1.8 Fatty Acid Binding Proteins	
1.8.1 Endothelial Fatty Acid Binding Proteins	
1.8.2 FABP3	
1.9 Emergent Roles of Epigenetic Regulation in Atherosclero	sis34
1.9.1 Long Non-Coding RNAs	
1.10 References	

Chapter 2: Heart-type Fatty Acid Binding Protein Dysfunction and Atherosclerosis	n is Differentially Regulated in Endothelial 
2.1 Abstract	
2.2 Introduction	
2.3 Methods	60
2.4 Results	
2.5 Discussion	
2.6 Conclusion	
2.7 References	
Chapter 3: Loss of fatty acid binding protein a inflammation and endothelial dysfunction	3 ameliorates lipopolysaccharide-induced 
3.1 Abstract	
3.2 Introduction	
3.3 Methods	
3.4 Results	
3.5 Discussion	
3.6 Conclusion	
3.7 References	
Chapter 4: The Transcriptomic Profile of FABP Implications for Cardiovascular Pathophysiology	3 Exposure on Human Endothelial Cells: 
4.1 Abstract	
4.2 Introduction	
4.3 Methods	
4.4 Results	
4.5 Discussion	
4.6 Conclusion	
4.7 References	
Chapter 5: Transcriptomics of Angiotensin II-inc in Endothelial Cells	luced Long Noncoding and Coding RNAs 143
5.1 Abstract	
5.2 Introduction	
5.3 Methods	

5.4 Results	146
5.5 Discussion	154
5.6 Conclusion	160
5.7 References	164
Chapter 6: Discussion/Final Remarks	171
6.1 Endothelial FABP3 is differentially expressed by atherosclerotic stressors	171
6.2 FABP3 regulates endothelial cell response to inflammation	173
6.2.1 Loss of FABP3 protects against inflammatory endothelial dysfunction	173
6.2.2 Loss- and gain- of FABP3, functional implications in endothelial inflammation	174
6.2.3 Gene ontology of inflammatory FABP3-deficient human endothelial cells	176
6.3 Elevated FABP3 impacts differential endothelial cell gene expression.	177
6.4 Endothelial cells transcriptomic profile under Angiotensin II exposure	179
6.5 Final Remarks & Limitations:	181
6.6 References:	185
Appendices:	188
Appendix A: Abbreviations	188
Appendix B: Licenses	191
Curriculum Vitae	195

## List of Tables:

Table 1.1 Endothelial Cell Functions  17
Table 1.2 Endothelial Function Baseline vs. Activation/Dysfunction  18
Table 1.3 Fatty-acid binding proteins expression pattern
Table 1.4 General Functions of Fatty-Acid Binding Proteins*  30
Table 1.5 Roles of Epigenetic and Non-coding Mechanisms in CVD
Table 2.1 Sequences for the primers used to amplify the gene targets  63
Table 3.1 Top upregulated DE mRNAs in HUVECs transfected with siFABP3 vs. scrambled-controls
Table 3.2 Top upregulated DE mRNAs in HUVECs treated with LPS vs. Vehicle
Table 3.3 Top downregulated DE mRNAs in HUVECs treated with LPS vs. Vehicle104
Table 3.4 Top upregulated DE mRNAs in LPS-treated HUVECs transfected with scrambled-controls vs. siFABP3    105
Table 3.5 Top downregulated DE mRNAs in LPS-treated HUVECs transfected with scrambled- controls vs. siFABP3    106
Table 3.6 List of primers used to amplify respective genes  106
Table 4.1 Summary of top-differentially-expressed genes in FABP3-treated HUVECs vs. Vehicle
Table 4.2 Top up- and down-regulated gene ontologies impacted in HUVECs under rhFABP3    exposure    128
Table 4.3 Top up- and down-regulated functional pathways impacted in HUVECs under rhFABP3    exposure

Table 4.4 RNA quantity and purity were assessed with the NanoDrop ND-1000137
Table 5.1 Ten most upregulated lncRNAs in HUVECs upon Ang II (10 <sup>-6</sup> mol/L) stimulation in comparison to vehicle-treated controls
Table 5.2 Ten most downregulated lncRNAs in HUVECs upon Ang II (10 <sup>-6</sup> mol/L) stimulation in comparison to vehicle-treated controls
Table 5.3 Ten most upregulated mRNAs in HUVECs upon Ang II (10 <sup>-6</sup> mol/L) stimulation in comparison to vehicle-treated controls
Table 5.4 Ten most downregulated mRNAs in HUVECs upon Ang II (10 <sup>-6</sup> mol/L) stimulation in comparison to vehicle-treated controls       152
Table 5.5 Results of bioinformatics analyses on down-regulated pathways in HUVECs after Ang II ( $10^{-6}$ mol/L) stimulation in comparison to vehicle-treated controls
Table 5.6 Results of bioinformatics GO (gene ontology) enrichment analyses to determine the roles     of differentially expressed mRNAs in GO term
Table 5.7 Details of primers used in validation qPCR  163

## **List of Figures:**

Figure 1.1 The heart and the cardiac cycle
Figure 1.2 Pulmonary, systemic, lymphatic capillaries and circulatory circuits
Figure 1.3 Structural layers of blood vessels
Figure 1.4 Schematics of the structures of various types of blood vessels
Figure 1.5 Structural/Functional heterogeneity of the endothelium in organ-specific microvasculatures
Figure 1.6 Endothelial dysfunction, risk factors, and complications
Figure 1.7 Pathogenesis of atherosclerosis, endothelial dysfunction, and the molecular mediators and products of endothelial cells
Figure 1.8 NMR-derived structure of human IFABP28
Figure 1.9 Regulatory Mechanism of Epigenetic Imprints
Figure 2.1 HUVECs' FABP3 expression under oxidative and hypertensive environments65
Figure 2.2 Hypoxia-induced (6h, 1% O2) FABP3 upregulation in human skeletal muscle cells .66
Figure 2.3 Endothelial FABP3 is upregulated in endothelial dysfunction induced by LPS67
Figure 3.1 LPS-induced FABP3 modulates endothelial function
Figure 3.2 Endothelial cell loss of FABP3 promotes eNOS expression and activation
Figure 3.3 Inflammatory markers modulated by loss of FABP3's function in LPS-treated endothelial cells
Figure 3.4 Exogenous FABP3 treatment exacerbates LPS-induced inflammation in endothelial
cells, and LPS treatment upregulates circulatory FABP3 levels in wild-type mice91

Figure 3.5 Endothelial cell loss of FABP3 protects against LPS-induced endothelial dysfunction
Figure 3.6 Relative expression of FABP3, FABP4, and FABP5 in cultured endothelial cells95
Figure 4.1 Differential gene expression (DGE) analysis of HUVECs treated with rhFABP3 (50ng/mL) for 6 hours vs. Vehicle
Figure 4.2 Functional impacts of exogenous FABP3 on endothelial cells via 80 up- and down-regulated genes
Figure 4.3 Confirmation of RNA purity for Vehicle-treated HUVECs
Figure 4.4 Confirmation of RNA purity for rhFABP3-treated HUVECs
Figure 4.5 Functional impacts in endothelial cells due to FABP3 exposure via protein-coding genes
Figure 5.1 LncRNA and mRNA expression profiles in HUVECs treated with Ang II (10 <sup>-6</sup> mol/L) vs. vehicle-treated Control
Figure 5.2 Distribution, location and classification of differentially expressed lncRNAs in HUVECs treated with Ang II ( $10^{-6}$ mol/L) vs. vehicle-treated control
Figure 5.3 Quality Assessment of RNA Samples
Figure 5.4 Summary of Differential Expression in lncRNAs and mRNAs Data161
Figure 5.5 Heat map and hierarchical clustering of differences in lncRNA expression from HUVECs treated with Ang II ( $10^{-6} \mu M$ ) vs. control

## **List of Appendices:**

Appendix A: Abbreviations:	
11	
Annual P. D. Linner	101
Appendix B: Licenses:	

#### **Chapter 1: Background**

#### **1.1 The Circulatory System**

The intricate circulatory system, vital to our organs and functions by facilitating the delivery of essential nutrients and the removal of toxic biowaste, comprises the heart, blood vessels, and lymphatics. Most of the body's homeostasis is dependent on and maintains proper circulation. The heart pumps blood throughout the body, delivering essential nutrients and oxygen to peripheral tissues through arteries and capillaries. Simultaneously, blood drains into venules and veins, carrying excreted CO2 and metabolic byproducts, such as bicarbonates, from tissues to processing organs, such as the liver, kidneys, spleen, and lungs, before returning to the heart for the next diastole/systole cycle. This repeating cycle ensures all cells receive nutrients and oxygen while toxic byproducts are efficiently removed. Moreover, immune cells circulating in the blood can enter tissues with infections to eradicate pathogens and facilitate recovery. Lastly, blood plays a crucial role in communication between organs via biochemical signals such as hormones [1].

#### **<u>1.1.1 The Heart</u>**

Central to this system, the heart comprises 4 semi-symmetrical chambers of cardiac muscles: 2 upper atria and 2 lower ventricles. These chambers maintain a continuous blood volume and operate synchronously to ensure uninterrupted systemic circulation. Deoxygenated blood, returning from the body via the *superior vena cava* (draining the upper half of the body) and the *inferior vena cava* (draining the lower half), enters the *right atrium*. The right atrium contracts and blood moves through the *tricuspid valve* into the right ventricle. The right ventricle pumps deoxygenated blood through the *pulmonary valve* into the *pulmonary arteries*, which bifurcate into the right and left *pulmonary arteries* directed toward the respective lungs. CO2 (metabolic waste) exchange for oxygen occurs within the capillary networks surrounding the lungs' alveoli. The now oxygenated blood drains back to the heart via the *pulmonary veins*, converging into the *left atrium*. The left atrium contracts, and blood flows through the *mitral/bicuspid valve* into the *left ventricle*. Lastly, the left ventricle pumps and propels the oxygenated blood through the *aortic valve* into the *aortic*, which carries blood through the systemic arterial network to deliver oxygen and nutrients to all tissues and organs (**Figure 1.1**).

The heart operates through pulsatile pumping in a synchronized sequence around a repeating diastole/systole or cardiac cycle (Figure 1.1). Diastole marks atrial contraction (ventricular filling), and systole marks ventricular contraction (atrial filling). Both sides of the heart operate in a cardiac cycle under markedly different blood pressure. The cardiac cycle initiates with diastole, during which the ventricles relax and the atria contract to transfer blood with minimal pressure into the ventricles. The closure of the aortic (in the left ventricle) or pulmonic (in the right ventricle) valves signals the start of diastole, whereas the mitral (left atrium) or tricuspid (right atrium) valves closing signals its end. Conversely, systole commences with the closing of the mitral or tricuspid valves and concludes with the closure of the aortic or pulmonic valves. Closures of the cardiac valves ensure zero backflow of blood into the preceding chambers; functional impairment of these valves underlies the clinical valvular regurgitation and heart failure [2]. Systole features the contraction of the ventricles that propels blood out into the systemic (ventricle) and pulmonary circulations (right) at high blood pressure (higher in the left ventricle) [3]. Proper functioning of the cardiac cycle forms the basis for the regulation of *blood pressure* via *cardiac* output and vascular tone [4]. Cardiac output, the volume of blood pumped by the left ventricle into the systemic circulation per minute, is a function of *stroke volume*, which is the blood volume ejected by the ventricle in a single systole, and heart rate [5]. Vascular tone, the state of constriction or dilation of blood vessels, is a key factor of hemodynamics and is regulated by the autonomic nervous system, endothelial factors, and circulating hormones. Vascular tone influences *blood flow resistance* and adjusts in response to physiological needs, thereby affecting cardiac workload [6] [7]. Regulation of blood pressure determines adequate blood perfusion and substance exchange between blood and tissues without causing damage to the vasculature [3]. Modulation of blood pressure is, therefore, central in vascular homeostasis and a regulatory feature of endothelial function [8].



#### Figure 1.1 The heart and the cardiac cycle

Four semi-symmetrical chambers of the human heart—two atria and two ventricles—work synchronously via cycles of diastole/systole to maintain continuous systemic circulation.

[16] (<u>CC BY-NC 4.0</u>).

#### **1.1.2 Blood and Lymphatic Vessels**

Blood vessels constitute the extensive network through which blood circulates away from the heart through *arteries* and *arterioles* and returns via *venules* and *veins*. At the peripheral tissues, the capillary networks facilitate the selective exchange of nutrients, gases, and byproducts. Following this exchange, blood is collected by post-capillary venules and subsequently by veins, through which it travels further towards downstream organs for metabolic processes or back to the right atrium of the heart (**Figure 1.2A**). An essential adjunct to the circulatory pathway is the *lymphatic*,

which also participates in fluid exchange at the tissue level. Excess interstitial fluid from circulatory exchange, carrying proteins and biomolecules, is drained into lymphatic vessels as *lymph*. The lymphatics constitute a secondary circulatory network through which lymph travels to lymph nodes, wherein the adaptive immune system performs surveillance and response functions against pathogens or foreign particles, monitoring the health of tissues. The lymphatic system eventually converges with the venous system, draining into the veins through the *right lymphatic* (right upper part of the body) and *thoracic duct* (lower limbs and left side of the body) and returning processed lymph to the bloodstream (**Figure 1.2B and C**) [9] [10].

Blood vessels, with the exception of capillaries, share common structural features characterized by three distinct layers in their walls, from the outermost to innermost: tunica adventitia, media, and intima (Figure 1.3). Tunica adventitia (or external) primarily consists of connective tissue that provides structural support and flexibility to the vessel; this layer also has nerve fibres and, in larger vessels, nest the vasa vasorum, a network of small vessels that supply blood to the walls of larger arteries and veins to ensure that the outer layers receive nutrients and oxygen. Tunica media is situated between the adventitia and intima, separated by the *external* and *internal elastic lamina*, respectively. This layer predominantly comprises smooth muscle cells, extracellular matrix, and elastic connective tissues that enable vasotone regulation through vasoconstriction and vasodilation. In larger vessels, typically, the outer 2/3 of the *tunica media* is vascularized by the vasa vasorum from the adventitia; the tunica adventitia and media are too distant to receive nutrients directly from the vessel's lumen. *Tunica intima* is the innermost layer of blood vessels that directly contacts luminal blood. This layer comprises the endothelium resting on a basement membrane and a subendothelial layer with moderate content of extracellular matrix, vascular smooth muscle cells, fibroblasts and myofibroblasts. The endothelium acts as a selective barrier between the blood, the rest of the vessel walls, and tissues (at the capillaries). Notably, capillaries only comprise the tunica intima, and this single lining of endothelial cells forms a resolute barrier between blood and the underlying tissues with heterogenous influences across organ systems over vascular homeostasis, encompassing permeability, hemostasis, and inflammatory responses, among others.



Figure 1.2 Pulmonary, systemic, lymphatic capillaries and circulatory circuits

A) Through pulmonary and systemic circulation, blood flows through arteries and arterioles to peripheral tissues for nutrient and gas exchange and then returns to the heart via venules and veins [17]. B) Capillary and lymphatic networks at the site of blood-tissue and interstitial fluid exchange [18]. C) Lymphatic circulation and the convergence with the venous system; lymph from the right lymphatic duct and thoracic duct is returned to the bloodstream, completing the circulatory cycle [19] (<u>CC BY-NC 4.0</u>).



#### Figure 1.3 Structural layers of blood vessels

Common structural features of artery (a) and vein (b), from the outermost to innermost: tunica adventitia, media, and intima, with histological references (c) [17] (<u>CC BY-NC 4.0</u>).

Variations in the makeup of the three concentric wall layers of vasculatures reflect the different types of vessels and their functions (**Figure 1.4**). Fundamentally, arteries bring blood away from the heart to all vital organs in the body; this implies characteristics of precise regulation of blood pressure from high enough for transport and low enough for exchanges at the capillaries. On this

basis, the arteries are categorized into three types: *large elastic arteries*, *muscular arteries*, and *arterioles*.

*Large elastic arteries* (e.g., aorta, pulmonary arteries), the largest of the three, feature a tunica media heavily loaded with alternating elastic fibres (elastin). The elastic property of these arteries enables the accommodation of very high blood pressure coming out of the left ventricle. The vessel can, therefore, easily dilate during diastole, during which the fibres recoil, storing spring energy. In the follow-up systole, the vessel constricts to propel blood forward as the fibres expand and release the energy. Notably, this elasticity becomes compromised with age, leading to larger arteries unable to constrict from lack of media expansion, resulting in arrhythmias and downstream hypoxia, or the inability to dilate from loss of media recoils, resulting in stiff vessels, increased arterial pressures and hypertension.

*Muscular arteries* (e.g., coronary and renal arteries) possess a *tunica media* that features 1) significantly high smooth muscle cells to extracellular matrix ratio and 2) more distinct internal and external elastic lamina that enable remarkable elasticity [11]. High medial smooth muscle cell levels, arranged in spirals, allow for contractility regulated by the *autonomic nervous system* and local metabolic factors, i.e. vasoconstriction and vasodilation. The body's vascular homeostasis often revolves around these muscular vessels. Notably, endothelial cells regulate medial smooth muscle cells by releasing nitric oxide (causing vasodilation) or endothelin (causing vasoconstriction) [8] [12].

*Arterioles* and smaller arteries (<2 mm diameter) branch from the larger arteries as units that enter and vascularize end organs. These vessels are barely elastic and, although smaller than mid-sized muscular arteries, they share the high smooth muscle cell-to-matrix ratio feature, indicative of vasotone regulation. Arterioles feature blood flow resistance regulation; changes in wall-thickness of arteriole profoundly affect arteriolar blood pressure (flow resistance is inversely proportional to lumen diameter by the fourth power, i.e., 1/2 diameter increases resistance by 16-fold). This regulatory sensitivity is attributed to the fact that as blood flows into end-organs, blood pressures must drop significantly to steady flow (rather than a pulsatile pattern that propels blood throughout the entire body); this is done by branching into smaller vessels and vasotone regulation at arterioles. *Capillaries* are vessels established as complex networks branching from arterioles. Each capillary has a lumen of  $\sim$ 7 µm diameter and an intima lined with endothelial cells but no distinct media or adventitia; instead, the intima is surrounded by a single layer of fibroblast-like pericytes, whose functions remain controversial [13]. Capillary infiltrates the tissue's interstitia and forms the blood-tissue exchange fronts, whereby nutrients and oxygens are absorbed, and toxic byproducts and CO2 are excreted. The branching feature of capillaries plays a crucial role in facilitating their functional feature, as it establishes a very large total cross-sectional surface area to maximize exchange. Additionally, the exchange is also supported by blood pressure regulated to slow and steady flow coming from the arterioles. Notably, metabolically active tissues, such as the heart, tend to have high capillary density [7].

The venous counterparts of capillaries, arterioles, and arteries are post-capillary venules, venules, and veins. Compared to arteries, at each equivalent branching level, the lumen of venous vessels is larger in diameter, and they possess a thinner tunica media with fewer smooth muscle cells. While veins are less regulated for vasotone, their high capacitance property account for  $\sim 2/3$  of total blood flowing in veins in the body at any time. These structural features enable adaptation to low pressure and high blood flow, which is essential for the roles of veins in delivering blood back to the heart for the next cardiac cycle. Additionally, veins also feature valves that open and close in coordination with flow in order to prevent backflow.

Lastly, while they are not the focus of this thesis, the lymphatic vessels are worth mentioning as they are a crucial component of the body's circulatory system. Lymphatics are thin vessels, also lined with endothelial cells monolayer [14], and operate at the same level as the capillaries; they drain tissue interstitial fluid into a separate circulatory network, which eventually connects back to the venous system via the right lymphatic and thoracic duct (**Figure 1.2B and C**). Tissue fluid draining into the lymphatics carrying antigen-presenting cells and/or immune cells facilitates adaptive immune response at the local lymph nodes; along with blood-tissue exchanges by the vasculatures, the body's circulatory system employs the lymphatics to ultimately establish surveillance of peripheral tissues for infectious agents and regulate the immune response.

Overall, the circulatory system, through cardiac, vascular, and lymphatic functions, ensures healthy physiological conditions for all organs in the body. Interestingly, all vessels of the

circulatory system feature a single-lining endothelium, which is the first barrier exposed to luminal blood. In addition, the ratio of endothelial cells to cardiomyocytes in the heart is ~3:1 [15]. Therefore, endothelial cells are critical players in cardiovascular homeostasis.



Figure 1.4 Schematics of the structures of various types of blood vessels

Structural variations in the three concentric wall layers reflect the different types of blood vessels. Capillary typically only has the intima (A). Veins generally have a thinner media layer than arteries (B). Different types of arteries vary by the elasticity content, which highlights their roles in vasotone regulation (C, D, E) [20] (<u>CC BY-NC 4.0</u>).

#### **1.2 Cardiovascular Disease**

Cardiovascular disease (CVD), the number one cause of global deaths, is a disorder of the circulatory system affecting the blood vessels and the vascularized systems, prominently the heart, brain, and limbs. CVDs can be classified based on whether an ischemic condition is involved, wherein the impairment of blood vessels leads to compromised blood delivery in the corresponding vascularized tissues (ischemia), resulting in tissue injuries or death. Ischemic CVDs are more common and consist of ischemic heart diseases, cerebrovascular diseases, and peripheral vascular diseases, referring to the blockages in the arteries supplying the heart, brain, and peripheral extremities, respectively. These conditions are responsible for serious clinical manifestations such as hypertension, angina (chest pain), acute myocardial infarction, stroke, claudication and limb ischemia [21].

The World Health Organization reported an estimated 17.9 million people died from CVDs in 2019 (32% of all global deaths), an increased from the previous annual death rate of 17.8 million in 2017 [22], with 85% of CVD deaths associated with heart attack and stroke, and 75% with low socioeconomic status. Figures from the Centre for Disease Control and Prevention figures and the American Heart Association indicate that CVD accounted for 931,578 deaths in the United States in 2021 (more deaths than all cancers and chronic lower respiratory diseases combined). Within 2017 - 2020, 127.9 million US adults (48.6%) acquired CVDs; higher prevalence occurring in males than females and older age groups overall (notably over 75 years of age) remains the trend [23]. In 2019 – 2020 alone, the total cost of CVD was \$422.3 billion; the direct (prescription and medical services) and indirect (disability, premature death, and losses of employment, earnings, and productivity) costs were \$254.3 billion and \$168.0 billion, respectively. These figures are up from \$351 billion (\$213 billion for direct cost and \$138 billion for indirect cost) in 2014 and projected to be ~\$750 billion by 2035. Additionally, the World Heart Federation projects over 20 million global deaths annually by 2030 if CVDs remain the number 1 cause of death globally. Alarmingly, the 2022 Heart Disease & Stroke report indicates a global death rate of 19.1 million deaths in 2020, with higher mortality rates observed in Eastern Europe, Central Asia, Oceania, North Africa, the Middle East, sub-Saharan Africa, and South and Southeast Asia, and an ageadjusted prevalence rate of ~7354 per 100,000 population. Notably, the rates were lowest in highincome locations in Asia Pacific, North America, Latin America, Western Europe, and Australasia [24] [25]. The latest mortality figures for Canada, according to Statistics Canada, are more optimistic: an annual 67399 mortality in 2020 (53704 due to heart diseases and 13695 due to stroke) on a downward age-standardized mortality trend for the past 20 years; however, CVDs remain the second leading cause of death in Canada, after cancer.

Risk factors of CVDs are quite common, and many have been identified and categorized into modifiable and non-modifiable risk factor categories. Modifiable risk factors can be improved or prevented by drug treatments or by adopting a healthy lifestyle and social changes such as healthy eating, exercise, and smoking cessation. Physical inactivity and poor diets (high in glucose and saturated- or trans-fats) are the major modifiable risk factors for CVDs as they lead to high blood lipids and cholesterols. These conditions are the developing mechanisms of atherosclerosis, which is the most common cause of CVD. Smoking can promote CVDs by damaging the endothelium, the cell lining of all blood vessels, and the liver. This, in turn, induces endothelial dysfunction and reduces the production of high-density lipoprotein (HDL), which contributes to atherosclerosis and hypercholesterolemia [26],[27].

Non-modifiable risk factors dictate that some individuals are intrinsically more vulnerable than others to cardiovascular complications; such risk factors include older age, male sex, and genetic factors such as the family history of CVDs. In aging individuals, especially those over age 55, the rise in cardiovascular risk is commonly attributed to increasing blood cholesterols [28] and degrading vascular integrities, such as loss of arterial elasticity and reduced arterial compliance [29]. CVD diagnosis in men occurs 10 years earlier than women on average, and the incidence rates for women are substantially lower compared to men of the same age or postmenopausal women [30]. Explanations provided for this phenomenon include the female sex hormone estrogen, which is prominently active in pre-menopausal women and has cardioprotective effects [31]. Women may also have fewer typical CVD symptoms compared to men, making their diagnosis difficult, which further contributes to the sex-specific gap [32],[33]. Genetic risk factors of CVD are associated with vascular health and blood lipid levels, including inherited hypertension and familial hypercholesterolemia, which can lead to atherosclerosis [34]. Other non-modifiable risk factors include ethnicity [35] and socioeconomic status [36]. A significant cause of ischemic CVDs is atherosclerosis [37]. Atherosclerosis is a chronic and inflammatory vascular disorder characterized by lipid-laden plaques that are raised and thickened from the vascular luminal walls.

The development of atherosclerotic plaques can begin in childhood [38] as soft vascular lesions comprising lipid deposits (*fatty streaks*) [39]. As they grow and protrude into the lumen, the maturing plaque (atheroma) narrows the vascular lumen, restricting blood flow and ultimately causing ischemia to the vascularized organs [40]. Late-stage atherosclerosis underlies the common ischemic CVDs, such as coronary artery disease (CAD) and peripheral artery disease (PAD), which arise from the ischemia of the heart or the lower limbs, respectively.

Many risk factors of CVDs culminate in conditions of metabolic syndrome that contribute to the development of atherosclerosis. Metabolic syndrome refers to a cluster of metabolic disorders, including hyperglycemia, insulin resistance, and obesity, characterized by dyslipidemia and hypercholesterolemia. Individuals with exacerbating conditions of the metabolic syndrome are at risk for obesity, type 2 diabetes, and eventually CVDs, among other complications [41].

Type 2 diabetes mellitus and obesity are metabolic disorders characterized by insulin resistance, leading to elevated blood glucose levels. Type 2 diabetes is associated with dyslipidemia, while obesity is associated with hypercholesterolemia, although typically, both disorders share these features [42] [43]. Insulin resistance refers to the unresponsiveness of most cells in the body to insulin, a hormone produced by the beta-cells islets of the pancreas to signal the uptake of blood glucose by cells of various body systems. Many studies have elucidated several mechanisms of obesity that lead to and exacerbate insulin resistance, which in turn promotes hyperglycemia. For instance, type 2 diabetes is quite common in patients with obesity, and insulin resistance is strongly associated with elevated blood lipids, which contribute to dyslipidemia featured in obesity [44]. Individuals with both type 2 diabetes and obesity are at high risk for CVDs, as the most common deaths with the metabolic syndrome are cardiovascular. For example, hypertension is very common among patients with type 2 diabetes [45].

#### **1.3 Atherosclerosis**

In atherosclerosis, the affected vasculatures, prominently large arteries, are progressively impaired as the plaque thickens and becomes critically compromised upon a plaque-rupturing event followed by luminal thrombosis [46]. Atherosclerosis can begin at any age, even in childhood. The early soft vascular lesions, referred to as "fatty streaks," comprise lipid deposits and can be detected in adults as young as 20 years old [38] [47] [39]. Mechanisms of plaque formation have been elucidated in various animal and human studies [46].

Traditionally, the development of fatty streaks into atheroma is driven by hypercholesterolemia. Circulating low-density lipoproteins (LDL), resembling the body's cholesterols, tend to infiltrate across the endothelium into the blood vessel's intimal layer. LDLs are protein complexes that circulate in the body as the major intermediate lipid carriers. They serve to deliver cholesterols and triglycerides to peripheral tissues and the liver by firstly interacting with the local endothelium and, through specific LDL-receptors (LDLR), become uptake via endocytosis. Optimal expression of LDLR is an important determinant of familial hypercholesterolemia, a risk factor of atherosclerosis [48]. In the vascular wall, where cellular metabolic activities are active, LDLs can also be processed into oxidized LDLs (oxLDL), which introduce local oxidative stress and induce inflammation. Damaged tissues, especially the endothelium, upregulate hemostasis and the recruitment of circulatory monocytes and other leukocytes, such as neutrophils. These immune cells traverse the compromised, leaky endothelium to reach the inflamed vessel wall, participating in the body's innate immune response to repair and relieve oxidative stress. Here, the monocytes differentiate into macrophages and, together with the already presented tissue macrophages, engage in the uptake of oxLDL through scavenging receptors for clearance [39] [49]. As the condition is prolonged, the scavenger macrophages become overwhelmed by oxidative stresses and undergo apoptosis, a process that is also stalled by oxidative stress. These apoptotic/necrotic lipid-laden macrophages (foam cells) accumulate in the damaged vascular wall; early concentration of foam cells in the vascular wall mediates the formation of fatty streaks. This chain of events finds the basis for chronic inflammation.

Due to hypercholesterolemia and also to reduced serum levels of the cholesterol-clearing HDL [50], excessive oxLDLs in the vascular wall easily overwhelm the scavenging mechanism, induce apoptosis, followed by necrosis, and increase the foam cell population. This builds up the *necrotic/lipid core* of the plaque over time. oxLDLs also stimulate the subendothelial vascular smooth muscle cells to migrate to the injured site and proliferate, forming a structural *fibrous cap* that covers the lipid core and thickens the plaque over time [39].

Late-developing atheromas, already narrowing the vessel's lumen, introduce luminal stenosis and compromise blood flow, giving grounds for hypertension and cardiomyopathies. Other precritical complications include tissue calcification, ulceration, and hemorrhage from local capillaries. Additionally, the plaque becomes increasingly susceptible to rupture. Rupturing of the plaque is the critical stage of atherosclerosis, whereby thrombosis is induced, followed by clot formation at the site of rupture that completely clogs up the vessel's lumen. Tissue ischemia then follows in the downstream vascularized organs, prompting the stage for myocardial infarction, cardiac arrest, coronary artery disease, peripheral artery disease, stroke, and multiple organ failures [49]. Moreover, rupturing releases the plaque contents into circulation, introducing oxidative stress to local vascular regions and potentiating additional atherogenesis. The clot itself may induce thromboembolism, in which pieces of the clots break and circulate with a high risk of lodging, compromising other blood vessels [40] [46] (**Figure 1.7**).

#### **<u>1.4 The Endothelium</u>**

The endothelium is the simple squamous specialized epithelial lining that makes up the tunica intima of blood and lymphatic vessels. Endothelial cells are directly exposed to blood, thereby being the first surface to interact with all circulatory *entities*. Different parts of the body adopt a unique interaction with the circulatory system (e.g., gas exchanges at the lungs, nutrient absorptions at the gastrointestinal tracts, and filtration at the livers, spleen and kidney). The corresponding endothelium of each organ system, in turn, adopts unique structural and functional patterns in its roles as an intricate blood-tissue barrier that facilitates permeability-based selective blood-tissue exchanges, communication between tissues and organs (paracrinal & endocrinal signalling) and general body immunity. Through such heterogeneity, endothelial cells can influence the functions of multiple cell types and can be seen as the crucial regulatory player of virtually all mechanisms of systemic metabolism and vascular homeostasis.

The heterogeneity of endothelial cells is demonstrated through unique patterns of differentiation, leading to the formation of endothelia that vary by vessel type and organ specificity. Endothelial cells' differentiations are influenced spatially by intrinsic genetic factors and extrinsic factors, including specific biochemical *milieu*, cell-cell or cell-matrix interactions, pH, mechanical forces, etc., and temporally, whereby heritable or conserved genomic elements, such as epigenetic, and micro-environmental changes (i.e., organ-specific) coordinate early- and late-stage developmental

differentiation, respectively. Moreover, alternative cell lineages have been reported to transdifferentiate into endothelial cells, including adipocytes and mesenchymal stem cells [51].

Structurally, endothelial heterogeneity can be expressed through three general categorizations of the endothelium: continuous, fenestrated, and discontinuous [52]. Continuous endothelium makes up most arteries, veins, and capillaries and features endothelial cells with tight junction cell-cell coupling anchored to a continuous basal membrane, typically providing an impermeable barrier. The most apparent continuous endothelium can be observed in the blood-brain barrier and the equivalent in the reproductive organs, wherein prominent tight junctions establish strict regulation against the diffusion of inflammatory factors from the blood. Notably, hemodynamic stress and vasoactive agents (e.g., histamine) can influence endothelial permeability through these junctions. Fenestrated endothelium is found in tissues specialized for trans-endothelial transport that facilitate increased exchanges or filtration, such as renal, gastrointestinal and pancreatic tissues, adrenal glands, choroid plexus, etc. Fenestrated endothelial cells, similar to continuous endothelium, possess stable and regulatory coupling and a continuous basal membrane but also feature numerous transcellular pores (50–60 nm wide), referred to as fenestrations, sealed by a thin diaphragm as a lesser mean to regulate the increased blood-tissue diffusion. Endothelial cells of discontinuous endothelium, seen in sinusoidal vascular beds of the liver, spleen, and bone marrow, are characterized by dissociated junctions, large intercellular cleft, loosened basal membrane and large fenestrations (100-200 nm wide) without diaphragms. At the level of endothelial cells, structural heterogeneity can manifest through changes in shapes, endocytic patterns (e.g., clathrin-based or caveolin-based) and junction types (e.g., tight junction, cadherin-based, gap-junction, etc.) [52] (Figure 1.5).

Functionally, endothelial cells have been described for intricate regulatory capacities through expressing key mediators in vascular homeostatic processes, including barrier/exchange permeability, hemostasis (blood fluidity regulation), inflammation and leukocyte recruitment, and regulation of vascular tone and compliance, wound healing, angiogenesis (formation of new blood vessels from pre-existing ones), and thrombosis (blood-clotting) (**Table 1.1**) The levels of regulation in each process vary depending on specific organs or vascular beds as a feature of functional heterogeneity. For instance, angiogenesis and inflammation occur uniquely rapid and intense in the periodontal tissues due to high levels of vascularization [53]; atherosclerosis, the

pathological formation of lipid-loaded plaque in the vascular wall, tends to affect arteries than capillaries or veins [52].



## Figure 1.5 Structural/Functional heterogeneity of the endothelium in organ-specific microvasculatures

The structural heterogeneity of endothelial cells features variations in intercellular connections. Continuous endothelium, forming an impermeable blood-tissue barrier in most microvasculatures and larger vessels, is linked by tight junctions and firm basement membranes. Fenestrated endothelium, featuring pores for enhanced transport, is found in organs such as the kidneys and adrenal glands. Discontinuous endothelium, with loose basement membrane and large fenestrations, is present in the liver, spleen, and bone marrow [51] (<u>CC BY-NC 4.0</u>).

#### <u>Table 1.1 Endothelial Cell Functions</u>

Endothelial Function	Molecular Mediators/Products of Endothelial Cells
Selective permeability barrier	Glycocalyx, Junctional proteins (e.g., Claudins, Occludins)
Anti-coagulant, anti-thrombotic, and fibrinolytic regulators	Prostacyclin, Thrombomodulin, Heparin-like molecules, Plasminogen
	activator, Antithrombin, Protein C, Protein S
Thrombosis	Von Willebrand factor, Tissue factor, Plasminogen activator inhibitor
Production of extracellular matrix	Collagen, Proteoglycans, Fibronectin
Hemodynamic and vasotone regulation	Endothelin, ACE, Nitric oxide, Prostacyclin
Inflammation/Immunity	IL-1, IL-6, MCP-1, VCAM-1, ICAM-1, E-selectin, P-selectin, TNF-a
Cell cycle/Growth/Angiogenesis	PDGF, CSF, FGF, Heparin, TGF-β, VEGFa
Oxidation of LDL	LDLR, Reactive oxygen species, Nitric oxide

ACE, Angiotensin-converting enzyme; *IL-1*, Interleukin-1; *IL-6*, Interleukin-6; *MCP-1*, Monocyte Chemoattractant Protein-1; *VCAM-1*, Vascular Cell Adhesion Molecule-1; *ICAM-1*, Intercellular Adhesion Molecule-1; *PDGF*, Platelet-Derived Growth Factor; *CSF*, Colony-Stimulating Factor; *FGF*, Fibroblast Growth Factor; *TGF-\beta*, Transforming Growth Factor-Beta; *VEGFa*, Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor A; *LDLR*, Low-Density Lipoprotein Receptor; *TNF-a*, Tumour necrosis factor alpha [54].

#### **<u>1.5 Endothelial Dysfunction</u>**

Physiologically, endothelial cells maintain a non-thrombogenic and anti-inflammatory interface between blood and tissue. In response to physical, chemical, or infectious stressors, endothelial cells undergo activation (**Table 1.2**), transitioning to a state of increased permeability, pro-inflammatory responses, thrombogenesis, and vasoconstriction. Endothelial activation includes several key processes: localized vasoconstriction to direct blood flow to sites of injury, increased permeability and adhesiveness of the endothelium to leukocytes, morphological changes in endothelial cells, and the secretion of inflammatory cytokines. Additionally, endothelial cells release growth factors and a balance of anti- and pro-coagulant factors that regulate angiogenesis and thrombosis, respectively, to facilitate wound healing [55]. Stimuli that activate endothelial cells include hemodynamic or oxidative stresses, advanced glycation end-products, infectious pathogens, and metabolic insults (e.g., hypoxia, obesity, glucose intolerance), among others (**Figure 1.6**). If the stressor is relieved, endothelial activation is reversed. Frequent or prolonged exposure to stressful stimuli, however, can result in endothelial dysfunction [56].

Endothelial dysfunction is characterized by the diminished capacity of endothelial cells to maintain vascular homeostasis, manifesting through a pro-inflammatory and pro-thrombotic state, apoptosis, concentration of reactive oxygen species, and the impairment of proliferation, permeability, and vasotone regulation. Notably, this condition involves a reduction in the bioavailability of endothelium-derived nitric oxide, a critical mediator of vasodilation and endothelial function, alongside an upregulation of vasoconstrictive agents, such as endothelin-1, that underlie hypertension [57].

#### Table 1.2 Endothelial Function Baseline vs. Activation/Dysfunction

Basal Condition	Endothelial Activation/Dysfunction
Growth and survival expression	Apoptosis and/or necrosis
Barrier and selective permeability	Increased permeability (leaky)
Anticoagulative and anti-thrombotic	Pro-coagulative and pro-thrombotic
Vasodilation	Vasoconstriction
Anti-inflammatory expression	Inflammation



### Figure 1.6 Endothelial dysfunction, risk factors, and complications

The relationship between coronary risk factors and endothelial dysfunction, including hypertension, hypercholesterolemia, diabetes, obesity, and smoking. Endothelial dysfunction is, thereby, a critical mediator of coronary artery disease [58] (*CC BY-NC 4.0*).

#### **1.6 Endothelial Dysfunction and Atherosclerosis**

Endothelial dysfunction, in addition to hypercholesterolemia, is the key mechanism behind atherosclerosis and a wide range of CVDs [59]. Moreover, risk factors of CVDs, including obesity, smoking and alcohol abuse, hypercholesterolemia, hyperglycemia, and hypertension, have been shown to influence endothelial dysfunction [60].

In atherosclerotic progression, oxLDL overwhelms the clearance mechanism via oxidative stress, resulting in lipid-laden necrotic macrophages. Chronic inflammation then becomes a source of accumulating foam cells, which build up the necrotic core of the plaque. Meanwhile, continuous bioactivity of vascular smooth muscle cells develops the fibrous cap and raises the plaque, which intensifies physical pressures, blood pressure and hemostasis at the defect site. A key observation of clinical importance is thus revealed: during the development of atherosclerotic plaques, the endothelium is subjected to three driving pathological processes: 1) oxidative stresses, 2) chronic inflammation, and 3) hypertension. The pathophysiology of these processes and their molecular mechanisms in endothelial dysfunction continue to be an active area of research. These aspects are also the main theme of this thesis, which seeks to experimentally expand the current understanding of endothelial dysfunction mechanisms in atherosclerosis development (**Figure 1.7**).

#### **1.6.1 Oxidative Stress**

The endothelium is a pathophysiological source of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and related free radicals. Endothelial cells possess endothelial nitric-oxide synthases (eNOS), which can generate ROS as byproducts of nitric oxide synthesis upon pathological imbalance of substrates [61]. Endothelial nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate hydrogen (NADPH) oxidases (NOX), in response to various stressors, including angiotensin-II (Ang II) under hypertension, produce ROS physiologically, and myeloperoxidase, also abundant in phagocytes, generate reactive nitrogen species from NO [61]. Pathologically, excess reactive oxygen species (ROS) in the vessel's wall, a common result of impaired endothelial redox and nitric oxide activities, is associated with assembly disruption of tight junctions and adherens junctions. ROS impairs the interaction between zonula occludens-1 (ZO-1) and occludin proteins in the intercellular space, which is otherwise crucial for assembling and maintaining tight junctions [62]. Common sources of excess ROS from the endothelium include defects in phosphoinositide-3-kinase (PI3K), protein

kinase B (AKT), vascular peroxidase 1 (VPO1) and catalase (CAT) in the redox regulatory pathway, or eNOS of the nitric oxide production pathway [63] [64] [65]. Moreover, tight junction assembly depends on PI3K/AKT's signalling, wherein PI3K interacts with occludin and regulates tight junction modelling through the tyrosine kinase Cellular Sarcoma (c-Src) [66]. Defective tight junction assembling factors, including c-Src and vascular endothelial cadherin (VE-Cadherin), also impair the barrier [67]. An impaired endothelial barrier and a leaky endothelium increase the frequency of invasion by LDL into the tissue. Although LDL can diffuse passively through endothelial cell junctions and the invasion rate is contributed by hypercholesterolemia, retention of LDL in the vascular wall is contributed by the rate of oxidation to oxLDL and the recruitment and presence of scavenging macrophages. Defective redox regulators, including arachidonate-12/15-lipoxygenase (ALOX12/15), NOX2, and superoxide dismutase (SOD), in addition to the above, exacerbate the rate of LDL oxidation (Schmitz & Grandl, 2007). An endothelium more susceptible to inflammation promotes an increased population of scavenging leukocytes. Oxidatively stressed endothelial cells, as in a defective eNOS environment, upregulate monocyte recruitment and differentiation through secreting macrophage colony-stimulating factor (M-CSF) [68].

#### 1.6.2 Inflammation

Endothelial cells are critical mediators of inflammation. An activated endothelium first mounts a vasoconstrictive response by releasing endothelin and introducing localized hemostasis, which promotes the localization of leukocytes. Activated Endothelial cells also upregulate proinflammatory molecules such as ICAM-1 and VCAM-1, which facilitate the recruitment and migrations of leukocytes into the assaulted area. In acute inflammation, the events are localized and resolve relatively quickly, involving a regulated physiological balance between proinflammatory- (IL-6, IL1b, TNF-a, MCP-1, etc.) and anti-inflammatory (IL-4, IL-10, IL-11, IL-13, etc.) cytokines depending on the degree of damages and the presence of antigens and cellular debris (**Table 1.1**) [69].

Chronic inflammation occurs under the sustained presence of foreign agents, necrotic cellular debris, and endothelial injuries and is characterized by higher expression of vasoconstrictors, proinflammatory factors, and excessive activities of leukocytes and their destructive mechanisms, including phagocytosis, ROS production, and secretion of matrix-degrading enzymes, such as the matrix metalloproteinases (MMP) [70]. Moreover, chronic inflammation puts the immune system into constant overdrive, which impairs the body's overall defense against new antigens, rendering it more vulnerable to infection and sepsis [71].

Inflammation is a major factor in foam cell accumulation and, thereby, atherosclerosis. Notably, an increased risk of atherosclerosis has been associated with allergic individuals, who incur frequent and more severe inflammatory events [72]. Likewise, individuals with diabetes are predisposed to a systemic pro-inflammatory environment by producing glycated circulatory products, which are recognized by and stimulate inflammation through the endothelial receptor for advanced glycation end products [73]. Acute inflammation is a major risk of endothelial dysfunction, altogether impairing the vascular barrier and promoting leukocyte recruitment and oxidative stress. A pro-inflammatory endothelium upregulates several adhesive and chemotactic molecules to promote and aid leukocyte recruitment and retention, including ICAM-1, VCAM-1, E-selectin (ESEL), MCP-1, C-X-C Motif Chemokine Ligand 10 and 11 (CXCL10) (CXCL11) [74] [75]. Leukocytes more prone to inflammation highly express receptors for adhering molecules and chemotaxins, such as Very Late Antigen-4 (VLA-4), P-selectin (PSEL), Monokine Induced by Gamma Interferon (Mig), C-X-C Chemokine Receptor Type 3 (CXCR3), C-C Chemokine Receptor Type 2 (CCR2) [76] [77]. The presence of scavenging macrophages extensively propagates LDL retention in the vascular wall. M-CSF upregulation by oxidatively stressed endothelial cells promotes macrophage recruitment and the expression of the scavenger receptor class A (SR-A) and cluster of differentiation (CD) 36 (CD36) [78] [79]. Likewise, macrophages overexpressing the scavenger receptors exhibited increased lipid content in their foam-cell state [49]. In addition, foam-cell accumulation is also dependent on the rate of scavenger cells undergoing apoptosis, which can exacerbate, under inflammatory TNF-a exposure, ROS-mediated mitochondrial or DNA damage [80] [81].

Development of the fibrous cap is dependent on the rate of vascular smooth muscle cell accumulation and the production of the enclosing extracellular matrix. Under an inflammatoryprone environment, recruited leukocytes in the vascular wall can secrete cytokines and growth factors that stimulate vascular smooth muscle cell migration, proliferation and matrix production. Notably, lymphocyte expression of CD40 and its activation by interacting with its ligands CD154
upregulated by endothelial cells and scavenger macrophages have been demonstrated to stimulate vascular smooth muscle cells and exacerbate fibrous cap formation [82].

Sepsis is a severe inflammatory disorder wherein infectious agents are disseminated in the circulation, leading to systemic inflammation and hyper-production of inflammatory cytokines in tissues and circulation, causing multiple tissue and vascular injuries [83]. Septic shock quickly follows sepsis with clinical complications, including severe fever, diminished cardiac output, hypotension tissue hypoxia, and multiple organ dysfunction or failures. In addition, sepsis can lead to disseminated intravascular coagulation characterized by multiple thrombosis throughout the circulatory system. It's important to note that during atherosclerotic development, activated endothelium can have a prothrombic nature, which can further intensify the complications of both atherosclerosis and septic shock [83].

A well-study agent of sepsis, through which chronic inflammation can be studied, is lipopolysaccharide (LPS), an endotoxin of gram-negative bacteria and a component of the bacterial outer membrane. LPS features a long-chain fatty acid anchor connected to a core sugar chain that forms an antigenic complex on the bacterial outer membrane. LPS is typically recognized by the pattern recognition Toll-like receptors (TLR), particularly TLR4, which proceed to induce inflammation at the site of infection. While the responses to LPS activate protective immunity by upregulating cytokines and chemokines that stimulate T-cell activity, high levels and the maintenance of LPS mediate excessive inflammatory responses and, thereby, chronic inflammation, from which sepsis and septic shock may occur upon the dissemination of LPS into circulation [84].



Figure 1.7 Pathogenesis of atherosclerosis, endothelial dysfunction, and the molecular mediators and products of endothelial cells

Hypercholesterolemia-derived LDLs undergo oxidation to oxLDL, instigating oxidative stress and triggering inflammation in the vessel walls. The endothelium responds by recruiting monocytes that transmigrate into the inflamed area and differentiate into scavenging macrophages (a). Chronic oxidative stress overwhelms these macrophages, forming foam cells that contribute to the lipid core and chronic inflammation (b). Concurrently, vascular smooth muscle cells migrate to the site, proliferating and forming a fibrous cap that further thickens the plaque, narrowing the lumen and setting the stage for hypertension and ischemic complications (c). Advanced plaques are prone to rupture, which precipitates thrombosis, leading to complete lumenal blockage and downstream ischemia (d) [111] (<u>CC BY-NC 4.0</u>).

## **1.6.3 Hypertension**

Physiological blood pressure serves to maintain efficient circulation as a function of *cardiac output*, determined by *stroke volume* and *heart rate*, and *vasculature peripheral resistance*, determined by *vasotone* [85] [4]. Blood sodium homeostasis and the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone

(RAS) pathway are the mechanisms by which cardiac blood volume and vascular tones are regulated, thereby being determinants of blood pressure. In physiological RAS, decreased blood pressure results in a low glomerular filtration rate that is detected by cells of the macula-densa of the glomeruli, upon which they secrete renin into circulation. Renin is a proteolytic enzyme that cleaves circulatory angiotensinogen produced from the liver into angiotensin-I (Ang I). The endothelium of multiple tissues, prominently the lungs, releases angiotensin-converting-enzyme (ACE) into circulation to process Ang I into angiotensin-II (Ang II). Ang II is a vasoconstrictor that interacts with the vascular smooth muscle cells of resistance vasculatures to raise blood pressure. Meanwhile, Ang II also targets the adrenal glands to stimulate the secretion of aldosterone, which acts to increase sodium and water reabsorption at the renal distal tubules. Increased reabsorption of water and vasoconstriction, in turn, raise cardiac blood volume and blood pressure. On the other hand, increased blood volume is detected by expansion receptors located in the heart's atria, which secrete the vasodilator atrial natriuretic peptides, in turn lowering blood pressure. Additionally, these peptides act on the distal renal tubules to inhibit sodium reabsorption, in turn reducing blood volume [86]. It is important to note that the endothelium forms the first line of contact with circulatory Ang II.

Pathological hypertension, typically chronic and asymptomatic on its own, is a critical risk factor for atherosclerosis. Cardiovascular risks associated with hypertension become more significant with age, and approaches to reduce blood pressure dramatically reduce these risks [87]. Indeed, most pathological hypertension is idiopathic and "essential," which refers to the inevitable increase in blood pressure as "necessary" to accommodate adult end-organs as a person ages, albeit raising cardiovascular and atherosclerotic risks [88]. Contributing factors of essential hypertension, whether genetic or modifiable, revolve around sodium homeostasis, cardiac output and vascular resistance.

Dysregulation of ACE2, the major determinant of hypertension, is affiliated with increased vascular smooth muscle cell hyperactivity [89] [90]. Increased Ang II has been shown to directly stimulate vascular smooth muscle cell growth and matrix production and upregulate platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) in endothelial cells, which also stimulates vascular smooth muscle cells [91] [92]. In addition, PDGF upregulates the coagulative *tissue factor* (CD142) in vascular

smooth muscle cells, which renders the fibrous cap vulnerable to rupture and enhances the risk of clot formation [93].

#### **1.6.4 Metabolic and Other Factors**

Aging and individuals with cardiovascular-risk, who are more prone to oxidative stress, are also more susceptible to DNA damage, which activates the key pro-apoptotic trigger tumour protein p53 (p53). This suggests a strong implication of atherosclerosis risk in individuals with defective breast-cancer genes (BRCA) 1 or 2, which are key players in DNA repairs. In addition, p53 regulates the inflammatory response, and p53-null mice exhibited pro-inflammatory predisposition [94]. Chronic inflammation, which is imposed in individuals who are pre-disposed to the metabolic syndrome, is also a source of accumulating DNA damage over time [95].

Lastly, a metabolic factor of LDL retention is impaired HDL activities. As part of metabolic homeostasis, the liver produces HDL by the assembly of apolipoprotein A1 (ApoA1), and circulatory HDL controls the cholesterol levels in peripheral tissues and blood [96]. HDLs absorb cholesterols from blood and tissues through the work of the lecithin-cholesterol acyltransferase (LCAT) enzyme and adenosine triphosphates (ATP) binding cassette subfamily A member 1 (ABCA1) transporter, respectively [97]. Notably, HDL interacts with endothelial cells through receptors, including scavenger receptor class B member 1 (SR-B1), ABCA1, and ATP binding cassette subfamily G member 1 (ABCG1) to mediate cholesterols efflux [98]. The induction of ABCA1 also upregulates cyclooxygenase-2 and its production of the anti-inflammatory and anti-thrombotic cytokine prostaglandin 12 (PGI2) [99]. In addition, HDL reduces pro-inflammatory signalling of nuclear factor Kappa B (NF- $\kappa$ B) [100], inhibits the pro-thrombotic expression of PDGF and CD142 [101], and upregulates c-Src and eNOS [102]. Collectively, HDL stimulates the endotheliam to suppress inflammation and clot formation and promotes anti-inflammatory measures, junction assembly, endothelial integrity, antioxidant mechanisms, and vasodilation, all of which are compromised in individuals with familial HDL deficiency [96].

## **1.7 Endothelial Fatty Acids Metabolism**

Fatty acids typically serve as a reliable source of long-term energy in many cells. In some celltypes, such as cardiomyocytes, they are the primary source of energy. In others, such as skeletal muscle cells, fatty acids are used as the backup energy in glucose deprivation scenarios. When not

26

in use, intracellular fatty acids are stored in cytosolic lipid droplets. Upon mobilization, they are liberated from these droplets and subjected to fatty acid oxidation in the mitochondria to produce acetyl-Coenzyme A (acetyl-CoA) that can fuel the tricarboxylic acid cycle and produce ATPs. Other sources of acetyl-CoA include glucose and amino acids such as glutamine [103].

In endothelial cells, fatty acids can be synthesized *de novo* by *fatty-acid synthase* [104] despite the cell's capability to uptake them from circulating lipoproteins [105]. Endothelial fatty acids are notably subjected to the mitochondrial fatty-acid oxidation and tricarboxylic acid cycles primarily for the production of the intermediates oxaloacetate and  $\alpha$ -ketoglutarate, from which aspartate and glutamate are derived to be used in deoxyribonucleotides synthesis to support endothelial cells proliferation [106]. In this process, carnitine palmitoyltransferase 1a (CPT1a), which imports fatty acids into the mitochondria, was shown to be a rate-limiting enzyme of endothelial fatty-acid oxidation that selectively stimulates endothelial cell proliferation. Inhibition or silencing of CPT1a resulted in decreased deoxyribonucleotide triphosphate (dNTP) pool and impaired sprouting [106]. Indeed, the retinal vascular network in mice deficient for endothelial-specific CPT1a was compromised for branch point number and radial expansion. However, the migratory property of the endothelial cells in these mice remains normal [106]. Compromising endothelial CPT1 also reduced fatty-acid oxidation and increased endothelial permeability [107]. Moreover, fatty-acid oxidation was demonstrated to be essential in endothelial cell specialization by inhibiting endothelial-to-mesenchymal transition through transforming growth factor-beta (TGF- $\beta$ ) [108]. In addition to serving as lipid storages, the endothelial lipid droplets were also shown to protect against endoplasmic reticulum stress [103]. Mobilized fatty acids in endothelial cells are also utilized for modulating the endothelial cells' membrane lipid composition [109], as well as producing lipid-derived arachidonic acid metabolites, such as prostacyclins, which are regulators of endothelial inflammation, coagulation, and vascular homeostasis [110].

#### **1.8 Fatty Acid Binding Proteins**

Lipids are vital components of many biological processes and crucial in the pathogenesis of numerous common diseases, but the specific mechanisms coupling intracellular lipids to biological targets and signalling pathways are not well understood. This is particularly the case for cells burdened with high lipid storage, trafficking and signalling capacity, such as adipocytes and macrophages. Here, we discuss the central role of lipid chaperones—the fatty acid-binding proteins (FABP)—in lipid-mediated biological processes and systemic metabolic homeostasis through the regulation of diverse lipid signals and highlight their therapeutic significance. Pharmacological agents that modify FABP function may provide tissue-specific or cell-type-specific control of lipid signalling pathways, inflammatory responses, and metabolic regulation, potentially providing a new class of drugs for diseases such as obesity, diabetes and atherosclerosis.

The body's lipids are physiologically essential. In addition to serving as effective long-term metabolic energy storage, cellular lipids can have signalling roles in many metabolic and inflammatory pathways. For instance, eicosanoids, such as prostaglandins, are derived from fatty-acids metabolism and mediate the acute inflammatory responses [112]. In addition, lipid levels in adipocytes dictate their production of cytokines and adipokines, such as leptin and adiponectin, that have a potent impact on inflammation and metabolism [113]. Pathologically, as metabolic syndrome is closely linked to cardiovascular risk, diverse lipid signals and cells with high capacity for lipids storage, trafficking and signalling, such as adipocytes and macrophages, are crucial in the pathogenesis of CVDs. Therefore, lipids-related physiology and cardiovascular impacts crucially depend upon the specific processing and management of the bioavailability of cellular lipids. Such roles have been described for the prominently expressed FABPs, lipid-chaperones that regulate many lipid-related processes. The functional aspects of the FABPs are currently being investigated to provide pharmacological or diagnostic targets for controlling the body's lipid signalling and the associated inflammatory and metabolic mechanisms, which helps develop treatment for atherosclerosis and the metabolic syndrome.

The FABPs are small (12–15 kilodaltons) cytosolic proteins abundantly expressed in tissues with active lipid metabolism, such as the heart and liver, or cell types specialized for lipid storage, trafficking and signalling, such as adipocytes and macrophages [114]. They are a multigene family,

well-conserved, and known to be central in a variety of metabolic and cardiovascular disorders, including obesity, diabetes and atherosclerosis [115]. Structurally, all members of the FABP family share a  $\beta$ -barrel signature that consists of a water-filled cavity and a site that binds specific lipid-ligand unique for each member [116] (**Figure 1.8**).



# Figure 1.8 NMR-derived structure of human IFABP

A fatty-acid binding protein molecule comprises a  $\beta$ -barrel signature featuring a water-filled cavity and a fatty-acid binding site with a unique affinity that varies across different FABP members [117] (<u>CC BY-NC 4.0</u>). Nine members of the FABP family have been identified (FABP 1–9) with 20–70% sequence homology among members, and each is named according to the most abundantly expressing tissue in addition to their designed number. For instance, FABP3 is also heart-type FABP, which is most abundant in cardiomyocytes; FABP4 and 5 are adipocyte- and epidermal-type and expressed most prominently in the respective tissues [118]. Despite the unique tissue-expression pattern of each member, in general, tissues with active lipid metabolism tend to express FABPs and, often, more than one isoform. For instance, the small intestine, where active absorption of diet lipids occurs, expresses prominently FABP2, but also FABP1 (liver FABP) and FABP6 (ileal FABP) [119] (**Table 1.3**).

Fatty Acid-Binding Proteins (FABPs) Family									
Gene Name	Common Name	Expression Tissue							
FABP1	Liver FABP (L-FABP)	Liver, intestine, kidney, pancreas, lung							
FABP2	Intestinal FABP (I-FABP)	Small intestine, colon, liver							
FABP3	Heart FABP (H-FABP)	Heart, skeletal muscle, brain, kidney, lung, testis, aorta, adrenal glands, mammary glands, placenta, ovary, adipose							
FABP4	Adipocyte FABP (A-FABP)	Adipose, macrophages, dendritic cell							
FABP5	Epidermal FABP (E-FABP)	Skin, adipose, macrophages, brain, mammary gland, small intestine, colon, kidney, liver, lung, heart, skeletal muscle, testis, retina, spleen							
FABP6	Ileal FABP (II-FABP)	Ileum, small intestine, ovary, adrenal gland							
FABP7	Brain FABP (B-FABP)	Brain, glial cells, retina							
FABP8	Myelin FABP (M-FABP)	Peripheral nervous system (myelin sheath, Schwann cells)							
FABP9	Testis FABP (T-FABP)	Testis, salivary gland, mammary gland							

Table 1.3 Fatty-acid binding proteins expression pattern

Functionally, the FABPs are known to reversibly interact with hydrophobic ligands with various affinities and mediate their escorts to coordinated sites of lipid metabolisms or signalling, typically serving as intracellular lipid chaperones. Reports up-to-date have documented some of the targeted

sites to be lipid droplets for storage, plasma membrane in lipid import and export, mitochondria for lipid metabolism, as well as the endoplasmic reticulum for phospholipid biosynthesis, specific enzymes for the production of lipid-derived signalling molecules, and the nucleus where their physical interaction with the peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors have been reported [120] (Table 1.4). For instance, FABP1 was shown to regulate peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor (PPAR) alpha (PPAR $\alpha$ ) in mammalian renal COS-7 cells [121]. However, the promoter of the FABP1 gene itself contains a peroxisome-proliferator response element, and, accordingly, FABP1 transcript level was shown to be regulated by intracellular fatty acids, dicarboxylic acids and retinoic acid [122]. The degree of expression may reflect the lipid-metabolizing capacity of a given tissue or cell type and can be modulated upon changes in the bioavailability of lipids, as in lipid exposure or usage processes [123]. While there is a strong regulatory connection between FABP expression and lipid-related signalling, the exact function of different FABP members remains poorly understood as their general mechanism is associated with a vast scope of complex lipid-related regulatory pathways. For example, FABP2 is abundantly expressed in the small intestine and known to bind absorbed saturated long-chain fatty acids with a high affinity. The lipid-intracellular trafficking of FABP2 is thought to be within the lipid-uptake, lipid-sensor, and lipoprotein synthesis pathways. However, complete ablation for FABP2 in mice did not compromise fat absorption but resulted in larger livers and higher triglyceride levels in males and the opposite in females [124]. In another example, studies have shown epidermal FABP5 influencing cell-survival pathways through PPAR\delta [125] [126] [127]. As the exact functions of each unique FABP member are still under investigation, large resources and attention in metabolic and cardiovascular research are being directed at three members among others: FABP3, 4, and 5.

# Table 1.4 General Functions of Fatty-Acid Binding Proteins\*

Lipid Metabolism	FABP escort cellular targets Peroxisome and Mitochondria				
Oxidation					
Storage	Lipid droplets				
Membrane Synthesis/Signaling	Endoplasmic reticulum and enzymes				
Transcription (e.g., via PPARy)	Nucleus				

\*Summary is based on [120]

## **1.8.1 Endothelial Fatty Acid Binding Proteins**

Endothelial cells possess extensive lipid-processing mechanisms, including lipid uptake and transport, fatty acid metabolic pathways for the synthesis of deoxyribonucleotide triphosphates that fuel proliferation, and the metabolism of lipid-derived arachidonic acid into various metabolites, such as the prostaglandins, thromboxanes, leukotrienes, etc. [128] [129]. Moreover, cholesterol metabolism was also shown in endothelial cells for their expression of the Niemann-Pick disease type C (NPC) 1 and NPC2 proteins, which mediate cholesterol uptake and trafficking [130]. The activities of the endothelial mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR), which is a central player of a signalling network regulating cell growth and proliferation, are dependent on intracellular cholesterol trafficking. Pharmacological blockade of cholesterol trafficking by itraconazole or by silencing NPC 1 and 2 led to the inhibition of mTOR activity in endothelial cells [130]. These observations suggest that endothelial cells are active sources of lipid signalling and metabolism. However, few studies have been able to demonstrate the expression and activities of FABP in the endothelium. Nevertheless, two FABP members have been identified in endothelial cells. The expression of FABP3 and FABP5 have been described in microvascular endothelial cells of cardiac tissues and skeletal muscles. In addition, FABP4 and FABP5 expressions were found in the microvasculature of other organs with active fatty acids metabolism, including the liver and adipose tissues [131]–[132]. Moreover, Masouyé *et al.* presented that endothelial cells are capable of fluctuating their expression of FABPs depending on environmental factors, such as between tissue and culture conditions. This study detected FABP5 by immunocytochemistry in cultured human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVEC) but not in vivo [133].

FABP4 (adipose-FABP) has been described for its role in the development of metabolic syndrome through its mechanisms in adipocytes as well as macrophages. Both the differentiation of functional adipocytes [134] and macrophages [135] involve the regulation of FABP4. Moreover, cellular signals regulating FABP4 in adipocytes and macrophages include fatty acids, agonists of PPAR $\gamma$ , insulin, lipopolysaccharide, and oxLDL [136]. Reduced lipolysis efficiency was observed in adipocyte-specific-FABP4-deficient mice [137], and these mice were also found to have ameliorated insulin resistance during diet-induced obesity ([138],[139]). Moreover, apolipoprotein-E (ApoE)-deficient mice with FABP4 deficiency were found to be protected against atherosclerosis with or without induction by high-cholesterol Western diets [140], but how

FABP4 deficiency can alter insulin resistance and lipid metabolism remain to be revealed. FABP4 was also shown to be released from adipocytes into blood. While their biological roles in the blood remain unknown, serum FABP4 has been suggested as a potential biomarker for metabolic syndrome and CVD [141] [142]. In macrophages, FABP4 was found to modulate inflammation and cholesterol concentration. Administration of the cholesterol-lowering atorvastatin was found to suppress FABP4 expression in macrophages *in vitro* [143]. Additionally, in a study that demonstrated macrophage's FABP4 role in foam-cell formation through regulating the PPAR $\gamma$ /liver-X-receptor- $\alpha$  (LXR- $\alpha$ )/ABCA1 pathway, enhanced cholesterol efflux and upregulated PPAR $\gamma$  were observed in the macrophages of FABP4-deficient mice. The same study also found suppressed production of cytokines and pro-inflammatory enzymes, such as TNF- $\alpha$  and COX2, respectively, in macrophages of FABP4-deficient mice [144].

The epidermal-type FABP5 is most prominently expressed in the skin cells, but it is also expressed in multiple other tissues, including adipocytes and macrophages, as well as the tongue, brain, kidney, liver, lung, and testis [136]. In adipocytes, FABP5 expression is significantly minimal compared to FABP4 [145], but the loss of FABP4 induces the upregulation of FABP5 that, in fact, masks the phenotypic effects of FABP4-deficiency [138]. Unsurprisingly, FABP4 compensatory upregulation is not observed in adipocytes of FABP5-deficient mice due to the presence of a higher level of FABP4 [115]. In macrophages, the expression ratio of FABP4 and 5 is about identical, but no compensatory FABP5 expression is observed in FABP4-deficient mice [146]. Due to this wide and complicated pattern of tissue expression and regulation, the unique function of FABP5 remains unclear. Nevertheless, several *in vivo* phenotypes regarding FABP5 expression are relevant to metabolic syndrome. Transgenic mice overexpressing adipose-specific FABP5 exhibited enhanced lipolysis [147] and reduced insulin sensitivity [115]. On the other hand, increased insulin sensitivity was observed in adipocytes from FABP5-deficient mice [115]. FABP5-deficient mice also appeared healthy, without any changes in the normal epidermal fatty-acid composition [148].

As macrophage accumulation in adipose tissues characterizes the enhanced inflammatory response and risks for insulin resistance and CVDs in obesity [149], the roles of FABP4 and 5 in both adipocytes and macrophages contribute to the inflammatory and metabolic aspects of the metabolic syndrome and atherosclerosis [114]. In general, adipocytes and macrophages in mice deficient for these FABPs were more insulin-sensitive. Obese mice deficient for both FABP4 and 5 exhibited reduced tissue fatty-acid composition and did not develop insulin resistance [150]. Even when the ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> model was integrated, these mice showed less atherosclerosis development and increased survival compared to the wild-type [151]. The mice deficient for FABP4 and/or FABP5 also exhibited increased fatty acid levels in plasma [152], suggesting that the intracellular bioavailability of lipids, rather than the total body's amount, is more relevant to the development of metabolic and cardiovascular disorders. Recently, we were able to demonstrate that FABP4 levels were elevated in diabetic patients with PAD [142]. The elevation in FABP4 was independent of confounding factors such as age, sex, or prior history of coronary artery disease. Therefore, our work raises the possibility of utilizing FABP4 as a biomarker for diagnosing PAD in diabetic patients.

#### 1.8.2 FABP3

FABP3 (heart-FABP) is expressed most abundantly in myocardiocytes and skeletal muscle. As a lipid chaperone, myocardial FABP3 is essential for the metabolic homeostasis of cardiac function. Physiologically, 70-80% of the energy in the heart is derived from the oxidation of fatty acids within the mitochondria and peroxisomes, which require lipid-trafficking mechanisms [153]. Increased exposures to fatty-acids were shown to upregulate FABP3 in myocytes [154]. FABP3 is also influenced by the metabolic essential PPARa agonists [155]. Diabetic patients, within whom fatty acids become the primary source of energy, also exhibited upregulated cardiac FABP3 [156]. In addition, FABP3-deficient mice showed elevated plasma free fatty acids and were compromised for cardiac fatty acid uptake, resulting in reduced exercise tolerance and a switch toward rapid glucose usage in the heart that leads to cardiac hypertrophy [157]. Meanwhile, similarly to other FABP members, FABP3 was also found in a multitude of other tissues, to a lesser extent, the brain, testis, kidneys, adrenal glands, and others [116]. For this notion, the unique function of FABP3 remains complex and unclear. For instance, while the FABP3 in skeletal muscles mediates the uptake and escorting of fatty acids to the mitochondrial oxidation system as similar to cardiac FABP3, increased apoptosis and exacerbated cardiac dysfunction have been associated with FABP3 overexpression in myocardiocytes [158].

Despite the functional complexity, FABP3 is currently utilized as a clinical biomarker for cardiac injury and heart failure, particularly in the diagnosis of myocardial infarction (MI). MI is characterized by the death of cardiomyocytes from injuries commonly due to atherosclerotic-

mediated cardiac ischemia. The current diagnostic approaches for MI include assessing initial chest pain, characteristic electrocardiography, and the detection of biomarkers for myocardial injury [159]. During a heart injury, myocardiocytes suffer a breakdown of cellular and subcellular components, which is followed by the release of these biomolecules from the injured cells into the circulatory system. Of clinical significance is the leakage of the cytosolic myocardial proteins; their release serves as a pathological biomarker that can be detected and measured in blood to enable early and efficient clinical assessment of cardiac injury. The more effective biomarkers are cardiac-specific and abundantly expressed in the myocardiocytes. Clinical guidelines for MI dictate that detecting/excluding MI within the first 6 h of chest pain would bring about the most effective clinical responses [160]. Currently, the only gold-standard biomarker for MI is the cardiac troponin, particularly the cardiac-specific subunits I and T, which can be detected 2–4 h after the onset of chest pain [161]. FABP3 has been identified as an effective biomarker of myocardial injury. Under normal conditions, the cytosolic to plasma presence ratio of myocardial FABP3 is significantly high, with negligible plasma concentration of FABP3 [162]. Within 30 min of chest pain, blood FABP3 begins to rise and peak in a few hours before returning to baseline due to renal clearance in about 24 hours. This early release of FABP3 from injured myocardium has been observed in both animal models [163] and MI patients [164]. Recently, our research group has demonstrated that patients with PAD have elevated plasma levels of FABP3. Our data demonstrated that the circulating levels of FABP3 increase as the severity of PAD worsens. However, extensive research is still required to validate FABP3 as a biomarker for PAD [165].

## **1.9 Emergent Roles of Epigenetic Regulation in Atherosclerosis**

Non-mitotic cells express their genome in a DNA-protein complex super-structure known as chromatin, which is composed of structural units called nucleosomes. Each nucleosome comprises an octameric histone (H) core (two sets of H2A, H2B, H3 and H4) wrapped around tightly by genomic DNA. In this way, chromatin is initially thought of as a super-packaging entity that thermodynamically stabilizes the fragile and volatile nature of the DNA sequence. Epigenetics, however, reveals a novel nature of the chromatin as a super-regulatory catalogue, wherein specific nucleosomes can be modified to alter the accessibility of transcription factors to specific genes, thereby regulating specific phenotypes that establish the epigenetic imprint. To date, three general mechanisms of epigenetics have been described: 1) DNA methylation, 2) histone modifications,

and 3) post-transcriptional actions of non-coding RNAs [166] [167]. The first two mechanisms feature regulatory, structural opening or closing of specific chromatin segments and influence targeted gene expression. The third mechanism involves the expression of non-coding RNAs other than transfer and ribosomal RNAs that can interact with the targeted gene's mRNAs and influence whether they are properly translated to proteins, thereby affecting phenotypes without touching the targeted gene's sequences.

The current research focuses on the regulatory aspect of epigenetic mechanisms in various functional pathways (**Figure 1.9**). Broadly, epigenetic regulation has been identified in essential biological processes such as cell growth, differentiation, inflammation, etc. There has been a growing scientific interest in investigating the complex interactions of epigenetic mechanisms and their impact on the regulation of specific gene expressions. For instance, multiple methylation signatures at lysine K9 residues of histone H3 (H3K9) appear to induce DNA methylation [168]. Epigenetic cross-talks in actions of non-coding RNAs, however, remain a novel field of study [169] [170]. In line with the accumulating interest in epigenetic mechanisms, several therapeutic drugs have been developed to target epigenetic factors and modulate pathogenic gene expression in recent years [171]. Overall, epigenetics has emerged as the novel layer of the cellular regulatory gene-expression network and a new frontier for pharmaceutical development.

Recent studies have unearthed a newfound interest in the roles and potential therapeutic implications of epigenetics in atherosclerosis development (**Table 1.5**). Early understanding describes epigenetics as intrinsic cellular mechanisms by which the expression of specific phenotypes is altered without direct interactions with the DNA sequences of the associated specific genotypes. Recent advancements in the field have revealed that genes regulated by epigenetics establish an expression pattern that is unique to each individual, referred to as the epigenetic imprint, which can be influenced by environmental factors and be inherited [172]. Thus, a cardiovascular risk assessment that takes epigenetic imprints into account emphasizes the importance of considering the patient's family cardiovascular history and socioeconomic status in diagnosis or research-based demographic assessment. An additional benefit of epigenetic imprints in assessing cardiovascular risk is that previously established modifiable or genetic risk factors can further be interpreted and directed toward the individual based on their unique imprint, enabling target therapeutic strategies [173].

#### **1.9.1 Long Non-Coding RNAs**

A more recent novel player of the epigenetic imprint is the non-coding RNAs (ncRNA). The majority of sequences of euchromatin have been documented to be transcribed but not translated; these transcripts were initially thought to serve no value or, at most, be processed and modulate gene expression with transcription factors. Recent findings have demonstrated the epigenetic regulatory and clinical implication of ncRNAs through two types: short- and long-non-coding RNAs (**Table 1.5**). Extensive research continues to elucidate vast amounts of ncRNA candidates that participate in atherosclerosis development.

Long non-coding RNAs (IncRNAs) are transcripts of about 200 nucleotides in length with complex structure. Recent findings have suggested the roles of lncRNAs in a broad catalogue of regulatory actions, including working in both the nucleus and cytoplasm, influencing histone modification, working in tandem with micro RNAs (miRNAs), interacting with transcription factors and mRNAs, etc. [174]. In this notion, they are relatively less understood than their short counterparts in terms of mechanisms. However, in the context of atherosclerosis, several lncRNAs have been identified and investigated *in vitro* and *in vivo* for roles and signalling partners in multiple steps of atherogenesis. For instance, the long non-coding RNA lncLSTR was shown to affect blood cholesterols through regulating bile acid biosynthesis, particularly interacting with TAR DNAbinding protein 43 (TDP-43) and cytochrome P450 family 8 subfamily B member 1 (Cyp8b1) and increasing production of ApoC2 [175]. In the liver, the lncRNA LeXis interacts with the nuclear receptor liver X receptor (LXR) in regulating cholesterol production [176]. As their mechanisms remain obscure, lncRNAs have roughly been categorized into multiple functional modes surrounding transcriptional regulation [177]. Nonetheless, multiple lncRNA candidates have been identified as being involved in multiple steps of atherogenesis (Table 1.5). The mechanisms of lncRNAs and their functional implications in cardiovascular disease are therefore warranted as subjects of future studies.



A) Histone modification: chromatin is organized into nucleosomes that can be modified to regulate between euchromatin ("opened") or heterochromatin ("close") arrangement. Methylation and acetylation, mediated by histone methylase (HMT) or demethylase (HDM) and acetylase (HAT) or deacetylase (HDAC), respectively, are conducted onto lysine or arginine residues of the histone subunit's N-terminal tails, commonly on the H3 and H4 subunits. B) DNA methylation: DNA methylase and demethylase, such as DMNT1/3 and TET2/3, regulate the methylation imprints on CpG sequences of specific gene promoters, controlling transcription factors. C) Noncoding RNAs: a majority of euchromatin transcribe vagabond RNAs that regulate specific gene expression through complementary base-pairing, including long non-coding RNAs (lncRNAs), microRNAs and small interfering RNAs (mi-/siRNAs). LncRNAs are known to function in the nucleus, although their mechanisms remain under-investigated. Endogenous miRNAs or siRNAs are expressed first as primary miRNAs (pri-miRNAs), then processed to precursor miRNAs (premiRNAs) and exported to the cytoplasm by Drosha and Exportin. Pre-miRNAs are then processed to mature miRNAs, loaded onto RISC-AGO2, and guided the complex to the targeted gene's mRNAs. RISC-AGO2 arrests the targeted transcript and inhibits its translation; then, the degree of base-pairing at the 'seed' region determines whether (miRNAs) exonuclease is recruited to degrade the arrested transcript (siRNAs). Created with BioRender.com (Agreement # RW26K0OMO0).

<u> </u>					
Epigenetic Signatures	Altered DNA-methylated genes promoters:	Histone methylation/acetylation markers & affected genes:	Regulatory IncRNAs	Regulatory miRNAs	
Atherogenesis processes					
Hypertension and endothelial injury	EGFR, MAP1B, MYH10	H3K9 (AGTR1)			
Impaired lipid metabolism & oxidative stress	PXDN	H3K4me3 (FOXO), H3K27me3 (FOXO), HDAC9 (ABCA1, ABCG1, PPAR-γ)	ANRIL, LeXis, MeXis, Gas5,	miR-200c, miR-33, miR-302, miR- 21	
Endothelial dysfunction	MIR23b, HOXB3, A2BP1, DAAM1, PLA2G10	H3K9me2 (ICAM1), H3K4me3 (ICAM1)	SNHG12, SENCR	miR-34a, miR-217, miR-146a	
Inflammatory cytokines/chemokines upregulation	HOXA9	H3K4me1 ( <i>NF-кB</i> ), H3K4me2 ( <i>MCP-1</i> , <i>NF-кB</i> ), H3K4me3 ( <i>IL-</i> 6, <i>IL-18, IRF8, MCP1</i> ), H3K9 ( <i>IL-6, MCP-1</i> , <i>MIP-1α</i> , <i>MIP-1β</i> ), H3K27me3 ( <i>IRF8</i> ), HDAC7 (IL-6, MCP-1), HDAC9 (PPAR-γ)	RP5- 833A20.1	miR-126a, miR-21, miR-19a, miR- 19b, miR-146a, miR-128, miR- 185, miR-365, miR-305	
Leukocyte recruitment and scavenger fate	PDGFD	H3K4me3 ( <i>TNFα, CD36, KLF4</i> ), H3K27me3 ( <i>KLF4, TNFα</i> ), H3K9me3 ( <i>TNFα</i> )	TUGI, NEXN-ASI, MANTIS, RNCR3, MALATI, RAPIA, NEATI	miR-21, miR-33	
VSMCs stimulation	CALD1, KCNMA1, RPTOR, PRRX1, PTK2, TSC22D1	H3K9 ( <i>ROCR2</i> ), H3K4me3 ( <i>MMP9, MMP2</i> ), HDAC9 ( <i>MMP12</i> )		miR-143/145, miR-21, miR-1, miR-10a, miR-126, miR-22, miR- 26a, miR-34a, miR-103a, miR-221	
Pro-thrombotic processes	FBN2, PRKCE, PLAT				
Deferences:	(Zaina at al. 2014)	(Jiang et al. 2018b)	(7 Thoma at al. 2018)	(Tru at al. 2018)	

Table	1.5	Roles	01	<sup>c</sup> Epig	enetic	and	Non-	coding	Mec	hanisms	in	CVD

# **1.10 References**

- Chaudhry, R.; Miao, J.H.; Rehman, A. Physiology, Cardiovascular. In *StatPearls*; StatPearls Publishing: Treasure Island (FL), 2024.
- Galusko, V.; Sekar, B.; Ricci, F.; Wong, K.; Bhattacharyya, S.; Mullen, M.; Gallina, S.; Ionescu, A.; Khanji, M.Y. Mitral Regurgitation Management: A Systematic Review of Clinical Practice Guidelines and Recommendations. *Eur Heart J Qual Care Clin Outcomes* 2022, *8*, 481–495, doi:10.1093/ehjqcco/qcab082.
- Pollock, J.D.; Makaryus, A.N. Physiology, Cardiac Cycle. In *StatPearls*; StatPearls Publishing: Treasure Island (FL), 2023.
- Rehman, S.; Hashmi, M.F.; Nelson, V.L. Blood Pressure Measurement. In *StatPearls*; StatPearls Publishing: Treasure Island (FL), 2024.
- King, J.; Lowery, D.R. Physiology, Cardiac Output. In *StatPearls*; StatPearls Publishing: Treasure Island (FL), 2024.
- 6. Jackson, W.F. Ion Channels and Vascular Tone. *Hypertension* **2000**, *35*, 173–178.
- Duncker, D.J.; Koller, A.; Merkus, D.; Canty, J.M. Regulation of Coronary Blood Flow in Health and Ischemic Heart Disease. *Prog Cardiovasc Dis* 2015, 57, 409–422, doi:10.1016/j.pcad.2014.12.002.
- Cannon, R.O. Role of Nitric Oxide in Cardiovascular Disease: Focus on the Endothelium. *Clinical Chemistry* 1998, 44, 1809–1819, doi:10.1093/clinchem/44.8.1809.
- Tucker, W.D.; Arora, Y.; Mahajan, K. Anatomy, Blood Vessels. In *StatPearls*; StatPearls Publishing: Treasure Island (FL), 2023.
- Null, M.; Arbor, T.C.; Agarwal, M. Anatomy, Lymphatic System. In *StatPearls*; StatPearls Publishing: Treasure Island (FL), 2023.
- Jadidi, M.; Razian, S.A.; Habibnezhad, M.; Anttila, E.; Kamenskiy, A. Mechanical, Structural, and Physiologic Differences in Human Elastic and Muscular Arteries of Different Ages: Comparison of the Descending Thoracic Aorta to the Superficial Femoral Artery. *Acta Biomater* 2021, *119*, 268–283, doi:10.1016/j.actbio.2020.10.035.
- 12. Dhaun, N.; Webb, D.J. Endothelins in Cardiovascular Biology and Therapeutics. *Nat Rev Cardiol* **2019**, *16*, 491–502, doi:10.1038/s41569-019-0176-3.
- Lendahl, U.; Muhl, L.; Betsholtz, C. Identification, Discrimination and Heterogeneity of Fibroblasts. *Nat Commun* 2022, *13*, 3409, doi:10.1038/s41467-022-30633-9.

- Jalkanen, S.; Salmi, M. Lymphatic Endothelial Cells of the Lymph Node. *Nat Rev Immunol* 2020, 20, 566–578, doi:10.1038/s41577-020-0281-x.
- Pinto, A.R.; Ilinykh, A.; Ivey, M.J.; Kuwabara, J.T.; D'Antoni, M.L.; Debuque, R.; Chandran, A.; Wang, L.; Arora, K.; Rosenthal, N.A.; et al. Revisiting Cardiac Cellular Composition. *Circ Res* 2016, *118*, 400–409, doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.115.307778.
- 16. Buckley, G. Cardiac Cycle Definition, Phases and Quiz. *Biology Dictionary* 2017.
- Menefee, W.; Jenks, J.; Mazzasette, C.; Nguyen, K.-L. 18.2: Structure and Function of Blood Vessels Available online: https://med.libretexts.org/Bookshelves/Anatomy\_and\_Physiology/Human\_Anatomy\_(OE RI)/18%3A\_Cardiovascular\_System\_-\_\_Blood\_Vessels\_and\_Circulation/18.02%3A\_Structure\_and\_Function\_of\_Blood\_Vessels (accessed on 1 March 2024).
- Wakim, S.; Grewal, M. 20.3: Lymphatic System Available online: https://bio.libretexts.org/Bookshelves/Human\_Biology/Human\_Biology\_(Wakim\_and\_G rewal)/20%3A\_Immune\_System/20.3%3A\_Lymphatic\_System (accessed on 1 March 2024).
- Betts, J.G.; Young, K.A.; Wise, J.A.; Johnson, E.; Poe, B.; Kruse, D.H.; Korol, O.; Johnson, J.E.; Womble, M.; DeSaix, P. 21.1 Anatomy of the Lymphatic and Immune Systems Anatomy and Physiology | OpenStax Available online: https://openstax.org/books/anatomy-and-physiology-2e/pages/21-1-anatomy-of-the-lymphatic-and-immune-systems (accessed on 4 March 2024).
- 20. Loscalzo, J.; Libby, P.; Epstein, J. Basic Biology of the Cardiovascular System. *Thoracic Key* 2016.
- Gaziano, T.; Reddy, K.S.; Paccaud, F.; Horton, S.; Chaturvedi, V. Cardiovascular Disease. In *Disease Control Priorities in Developing Countries*; Jamison, D.T., Breman, J.G., Measham, A.R., Alleyne, G., Claeson, M., Evans, D.B., Jha, P., Mills, A., Musgrove, P., Eds.; World Bank: Washington (DC), 2006 ISBN 978-0-8213-6179-5.
- Baptista, E.A.; Queiroz, B.L. Spatial Analysis of Cardiovascular Mortality and Associated Factors around the World. *BMC Public Health* 2022, *22*, 1556, doi:10.1186/s12889-022-13955-7.

- Sanchis-Gomar, F.; Perez-Quilis, C.; Leischik, R.; Lucia, A. Epidemiology of Coronary Heart Disease and Acute Coronary Syndrome. *Ann Transl Med* 2016, 4, doi:10.21037/atm.2016.06.33.
- Nawsherwan; Bin, W.; Le, Z.; Mubarik, S.; Fu, G.; Wang, Y. Prediction of Cardiovascular Diseases Mortality- and Disability-Adjusted Life-Years Attributed to Modifiable Dietary Risk Factors from 1990 to 2030 among East Asian Countries and the World. *Frontiers in Nutrition* 2022, 9.
- Amini, M.; Zayeri, F.; Salehi, M. Trend Analysis of Cardiovascular Disease Mortality, Incidence, and Mortality-to-Incidence Ratio: Results from Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. *BMC Public Health* 2021, 21, 401, doi:10.1186/s12889-021-10429-0.
- Messner Barbara; Bernhard David Smoking and Cardiovascular Disease. Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology 2014, 34, 509–515, doi:10.1161/ATVBAHA.113.300156.
- Puddey, I.; Zilkens, R.; Croft, K.; Beilin, L. Alcohol And Endothelial Function: A Brief Review. *Clinical and Experimental Pharmacology and Physiology* 2001, 28, 1020–1024, doi:10.1046/j.1440-1681.2001.03572.x.
- Jousilahti Pekka; Vartiainen Erkki; Tuomilehto Jaakko; Puska Pekka Sex, Age, Cardiovascular Risk Factors, and Coronary Heart Disease. *Circulation* 1999, 99, 1165– 1172, doi:10.1161/01.CIR.99.9.1165.
- Jani, B.; Rajkumar, C. Ageing and Vascular Ageing. *Postgrad Med J* 2006, *82*, 357–362, doi:10.1136/pgmj.2005.036053.
- Mosca, L.; Barrett-Connor, E.; Wenger, N.K. Sex/Gender Differences in Cardiovascular Disease Prevention: What a Difference a Decade Makes. *Circulation* 2011, *124*, 2145– 2154, doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.110.968792.
- Kannel, W.B.; Wilson, P.W.F. Risk Factors That Attenuate the Female Coronary Disease Advantage. Archives of Internal Medicine 1995, 155, 57–61, doi:10.1001/archinte.1995.00430010063008.
- Mehta Laxmi S.; Beckie Theresa M.; DeVon Holli A.; Grines Cindy L.; Krumholz Harlan M.; Johnson Michelle N.; Lindley Kathryn J.; Vaccarino Viola; Wang Tracy Y.; Watson Karol E.; et al. Acute Myocardial Infarction in Women. *Circulation* 2016, *133*, 916–947, doi:10.1161/CIR.00000000000351.

- 33. Khan, N.A.; Daskalopoulou, S.S.; Karp, I.; Eisenberg, M.J.; Pelletier, R.; Tsadok, M.A.; Dasgupta, K.; Norris, C.M.; Pilote, L.; for the GENESIS PRAXY Team Sex Differences in Acute Coronary Syndrome Symptom Presentation in Young Patients. *JAMA Internal Medicine* 2013, 173, 1863–1871, doi:10.1001/jamainternmed.2013.10149.
- Hajar, R. Genetics in Cardiovascular Disease. *Heart Views* 2020, 21, 55–56, doi:10.4103/HEARTVIEWS.HEARTVIEWS 140 19.
- 35. Burchard, E.G.; Ziv, E.; Coyle, N.; Gomez, S.L.; Tang, H.; Karter, A.J.; Mountain, J.L.; Pérez-Stable, E.J.; Sheppard, D.; Risch, N. The Importance of Race and Ethnic Background in Biomedical Research and Clinical Practice. *N Engl J Med* 2003, 348, 1170–1175, doi:10.1056/NEJMsb025007.
- 36. Psaltopoulou, T.; Hatzis, G.; Papageorgiou, N.; Androulakis, E.; Briasoulis, A.; Tousoulis, D. Socioeconomic Status and Risk Factors for Cardiovascular Disease: Impact of Dietary Mediators. *Hellenic Journal of Cardiology* 2017, 58, 32–42, doi:10.1016/j.hjc.2017.01.022.
- Soliman, G.A. Dietary Fiber, Atherosclerosis, and Cardiovascular Disease. *Nutrients* 2019, *11*, 1155, doi:10.3390/nu11051155.
- McGill, H.C.; McMahan, C.A.; Herderick, E.E.; Malcom, G.T.; Tracy, R.E.; Strong, J.P. Origin of Atherosclerosis in Childhood and Adolescence. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 2000, 72, 1307s–1315s, doi:10.1093/ajcn/72.5.1307s.
- Rafieian-Kopaei, M.; Setorki, M.; Doudi, M.; Baradaran, A.; Nasri, H. Atherosclerosis: Process, Indicators, Risk Factors and New Hopes. *Int J Prev Med* 2014, 5, 927–946.
- Bergheanu, S.C.; Bodde, M.C.; Jukema, J.W. Pathophysiology and Treatment of Atherosclerosis: Current View and Future Perspective on Lipoprotein Modification Treatment. *Neth Heart J* 2017, 25, 231–242, doi:10.1007/s12471-017-0959-2.
- Alshehri, A.M. Metabolic Syndrome and Cardiovascular Risk. *J Family Community Med* 2010, *17*, 73–78, doi:10.4103/1319-1683.71987.
- Feingold, K.R. Dyslipidemia in Patients with Diabetes. In *Endotext*; Feingold, K.R., Anawalt, B., Blackman, M.R., Boyce, A., Chrousos, G., Corpas, E., de Herder, W.W., Dhatariya, K., Dungan, K., Hofland, J., Kalra, S., Kaltsas, G., Kapoor, N., Koch, C., Kopp, P., Korbonits, M., Kovacs, C.S., Kuohung, W., Laferrère, B., Levy, M., McGee, E.A., McLachlan, R., New, M., Purnell, J., Sahay, R., Shah, A.S., Singer, F., Sperling, M.A.,

Stratakis, C.A., Trence, D.L., Wilson, D.P., Eds.; MDText.com, Inc.: South Dartmouth (MA), 2000.

- Aguilar, D.; Fernandez, M.L. Hypercholesterolemia Induces Adipose Dysfunction in Conditions of Obesity and Nonobesity. *Adv Nutr* 2014, 5, 497–502, doi:10.3945/an.114.005934.
- 44. Al-Goblan, A.S.; Al-Alfi, M.A.; Khan, M.Z. Mechanism Linking Diabetes Mellitus and Obesity. *Diabetes Metab Syndr Obes* **2014**, *7*, 587–591, doi:10.2147/DMSO.S67400.
- Ballantyne, C.M.; Hoogeveen, R.C.; McNeill, A.M.; Heiss, G.; Schmidt, M.I.; Duncan,
   B.B.; Pankow, J.S. Metabolic Syndrome Risk for Cardiovascular Disease and Diabetes in the ARIC Study. *Int J Obes (Lond)* 2008, *32 Suppl 2*, S21–S24, doi:10.1038/ijo.2008.31.
- 46. Katakami, N. Mechanism of Development of Atherosclerosis and Cardiovascular Disease in Diabetes Mellitus. *J Atheroscler Thromb* **2018**, *25*, 27–39, doi:10.5551/jat.RV17014.
- Wilson, D.P. Is Atherosclerosis a Pediatric Disease? In *Endotext*; Feingold, K.R., Anawalt, B., Boyce, A., Chrousos, G., de Herder, W.W., Dhatariya, K., Dungan, K., Hershman, J.M., Hofland, J., Kalra, S., Kaltsas, G., Koch, C., Kopp, P., Korbonits, M., Kovacs, C.S., Kuohung, W., Laferrère, B., Levy, M., McGee, E.A., McLachlan, R., Morley, J.E., New, M., Purnell, J., Sahay, R., Singer, F., Sperling, M.A., Stratakis, C.A., Trence, D.L., Wilson, D.P., Eds.; MDText.com, Inc.: South Dartmouth (MA), 2000.
- 48. Levitan, I.; Volkov, S.; Subbaiah, P.V. Oxidized LDL: Diversity, Patterns of Recognition, and Pathophysiology. *Antioxid Redox Signal* **2010**, *13*, 39–75, doi:10.1089/ars.2009.2733.
- 49. Kzhyshkowska, J.; Neyen, C.; Gordon, S. Role of Macrophage Scavenger Receptors in Atherosclerosis. *Immunobiology* **2012**, *217*, 492–502, doi:10.1016/j.imbio.2012.02.015.
- 50. Dan Ye; Bart Lammers; Ying Zhao; Illiana Meurs; Theo J.C. Van Berkel and Miranda Van Eck ATP-Binding Cassette Transporters A1 and G1, HDL Metabolism, Cholesterol Efflux, and Inflammation: Important Targets for the Treatment of Atherosclerosis. *Current Drug Targets* 2011, *12*, 647–660, doi:10.2174/138945011795378522.
- Gifre-Renom, L.; Daems, M.; Luttun, A.; Jones, E.A.V. Organ-Specific Endothelial Cell Differentiation and Impact of Microenvironmental Cues on Endothelial Heterogeneity. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* 2022, 23, 1477, doi:10.3390/ijms23031477.
- 52. Aird, W.C. Endothelial Cell Heterogeneity. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med* 2012, *2*, a006429, doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a006429.

- Cho, Y.-D.; Kim, K.-H.; Lee, Y.-M.; Ku, Y.; Seol, Y.-J. Periodontal Wound Healing and Tissue Regeneration: A Narrative Review. *Pharmaceuticals* 2021, 14, doi:10.3390/ph14050456.
- Félétou, M. The Endothelium, Part I: Multiple Functions of the Endothelial Cells -- Focus on Endothelium-Derived Vasoactive Mediators. *Colloquium Series on Integrated Systems Physiology: From Molecule to Function* 2011, 3, 1–306, doi:10.4199/c00031ed1v01y201105isp019.
- 55. Velnar, T.; Gradisnik, L. Tissue Augmentation in Wound Healing: The Role of Endothelial and Epithelial Cells. *Med Arch* **2018**, *72*, 444–448, doi:10.5455/medarh.2018.72.444-448.
- 56. Pober, J.S.; Min, W.; Bradley, J.R. Mechanisms of Endothelial Dysfunction, Injury, and Death. *Annu Rev Pathol* **2009**, *4*, 71–95, doi:10.1146/annurev.pathol.4.110807.092155.
- 57. Hadi, H.A.R.; Carr, C.S.; Al Suwaidi, J. Endothelial Dysfunction: Cardiovascular Risk Factors, Therapy, and Outcome. *Vasc Health Risk Manag* **2005**, *1*, 183–198.
- 58. Höllriegel, R.; Mangner, N.; Schuler, G.; Erbs, S. Physical Exercise Training and Coronary Artery Disease. *Reviews in Health Care* **2013**, *4*, 175–191, doi:10.7175/rhc.v4i3.645.
- 59. Cahill, P.A.; Redmond, E.M. Vascular Endothelium Gatekeeper of Vessel Health. *Atherosclerosis* **2016**, *248*, 97–109, doi:10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2016.03.007.
- Halcox, J.P.J. Chapter 66 Endothelial Dysfunction. In *Primer on the Autonomic Nervous* System (Third Edition); Robertson, D., Biaggioni, I., Burnstock, G., Low, P.A., Paton, J.F.R., Eds.; Academic Press: San Diego, 2012; pp. 319–324 ISBN 978-0-12-386525-0.
- Chen, Q.; Wang, Q.; Zhu, J.; Xiao, Q.; Zhang, L. Reactive Oxygen Species: Key Regulators in Vascular Health and Diseases. *Br J Pharmacol* 2018, *175*, 1279–1292, doi:10.1111/bph.13828.
- 62. Rao, R. Oxidative Stress-Induced Disruption of Epithelial and Endothelial Tight Junctions. *Front Biosci* **2008**, *13*, 7210–7226.
- Feng, J.; Damrauer, S.M.; Lee, M.; Sellke, F.W.; Ferran, C.; Abid, M.R. Endothelium-Dependent Coronary Vasodilatation Requires NADPH Oxidase-Derived Reactive Oxygen Species. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 2010, 30, 1703–1710, doi:10.1161/ATVBAHA.110.209726.

- Shi, R.; Hu, C.; Yuan, Q.; Yang, T.; Peng, J.; Li, Y.; Bai, Y.; Cao, Z.; Cheng, G.; Zhang, G. Involvement of Vascular Peroxidase 1 in Angiotensin II-Induced Vascular Smooth Muscle Cell Proliferation. *Cardiovasc Res* 2011, *91*, 27–36, doi:10.1093/cvr/cvr042.
- Victor, V.M.; Rocha, M.; Solá, E.; Bañuls, C.; Garcia-Malpartida, K.; Hernández-Mijares,
   A. Oxidative Stress, Endothelial Dysfunction and Atherosclerosis. *Curr Pharm Des* 2009, 15, 2988–3002, doi:10.2174/138161209789058093.
- Dörfel, M.J.; Huber, O. Modulation of Tight Junction Structure and Function by Kinases and Phosphatases Targeting Occludin. *J Biomed Biotechnol* 2012, 2012, 807356, doi:10.1155/2012/807356.
- Cong, X.; Kong, W. Endothelial Tight Junctions and Their Regulatory Signaling Pathways in Vascular Homeostasis and Disease. *Cell Signal* 2020, 66, 109485, doi:10.1016/j.cellsig.2019.109485.
- Devaraj, S.; Yun, J.-M.; Duncan-Staley, C.; Jialal, I. C-Reactive Protein Induces M-CSF Release and Macrophage Proliferation. *J Leukoc Biol* 2009, 85, 262–267, doi:10.1189/jlb.0808458.
- Theofilis, P.; Sagris, M.; Oikonomou, E.; Antonopoulos, A.S.; Siasos, G.; Tsioufis, C.; Tousoulis, D. Inflammatory Mechanisms Contributing to Endothelial Dysfunction. *Biomedicines* 2021, 9, 781, doi:10.3390/biomedicines9070781.
- Steenport, M.; Khan, K.M.F.; Du, B.; Barnhard, S.E.; Dannenberg, A.J.; Falcone, D.J. Matrix Metalloproteinase (MMP)-1 and MMP-3 Induce Macrophage MMP-9: Evidence for the Role of TNF-Alpha and Cyclooxygenase-2. *J Immunol* 2009, *183*, 8119–8127, doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0901925.
- Castellon, X.; Bogdanova, V. Chronic Inflammatory Diseases and Endothelial Dysfunction. *Aging Dis* 2016, 7, 81–89, doi:10.14336/AD.2015.0803.
- 72. Liu, C.; Zhang, J.; Shi, G.-P. Interaction between Allergic Asthma and Atherosclerosis. *Transl Res* 2016, *174*, 5–22, doi:10.1016/j.trsl.2015.09.009.
- Barlovic, D.P.; Soro-Paavonen, A.; Jandeleit-Dahm, K.A.M. RAGE Biology, Atherosclerosis and Diabetes. *Clin Sci (Lond)* 2011, 121, 43–55, doi:10.1042/CS20100501.

- Goncharov, N.V.; Popova, P.I.; Avdonin, P.P.; Kudryavtsev, I.V.; Serebryakova, M.K.; Korf,
  E.A.; Avdonin, P.V. Markers of Endothelial Cells in Normal and Pathological Conditions. *Biochem. Moscow Suppl. Ser. A* 2020, *14*, 167–183, doi:10.1134/S1990747819030140.
- 75. Karimabad, M.N.; Kounis, N.G.; Hassanshahi, G.; Hassanshahi, F.; Mplani, V.; Koniari, I.; Hung, M.-Y.; Nadimi, A.E. The Involvement of CXC Motif Chemokine Ligand 10 (CXCL10) and Its Related Chemokines in the Pathogenesis of Coronary Artery Disease and in the COVID-19 Vaccination: A Narrative Review. *Vaccines (Basel)* 2021, *9*, 1224, doi:10.3390/vaccines9111224.
- Issekutz, A.C.; Issekutz, T.B. The Role of E-Selectin, P-Selectin, and Very Late Activation Antigen-4 in T Lymphocyte Migration to Dermal Inflammation. *J Immunol* 2002, *168*, 1934–1939, doi:10.4049/jimmunol.168.4.1934.
- 77. Zernecke, A.; Weber, C. Chemokines in the Vascular Inflammatory Response of Atherosclerosis. *Cardiovascular Research* **2010**, *86*, 192–201, doi:10.1093/cvr/cvp391.
- 78. Nikolic, D.; Calderon, L.; Du, L.; Post, S.R. SR-A Ligand and M-CSF Dynamically Regulate SR-A Expression and Function in Primary Macrophages via P38 MAPK Activation. *BMC Immunol* 2011, 12, 37, doi:10.1186/1471-2172-12-37.
- Helming, L.; Winter, J.; Gordon, S. The Scavenger Receptor CD36 Plays a Role in Cytokine-Induced Macrophage Fusion. J Cell Sci 2009, 122, 453–459, doi:10.1242/jcs.037200.
- Gui, Y.; Zheng, H.; Cao, R.Y. Foam Cells in Atherosclerosis: Novel Insights Into Its Origins, Consequences, and Molecular Mechanisms. *Front Cardiovasc Med* 2022, 9, 845942, doi:10.3389/fcvm.2022.845942.
- Jacinto, T.A.; Meireles, G.S.; Dias, A.T.; Aires, R.; Porto, M.L.; Gava, A.L.; Vasquez, E.C.; Pereira, T.M.C.; Campagnaro, B.P.; Meyrelles, S.S. Increased ROS Production and DNA Damage in Monocytes Are Biomarkers of Aging and Atherosclerosis. *Biological Research* 2018, *51*, 33, doi:10.1186/s40659-018-0182-7.
- Mukundan, L.; Milhorn, D.M.; Matta, B.; Suttles, J. CD40-Mediated Activation of Vascular Smooth Muscle Cell Chemokine Production through a Src-Initiated, MAPK-Dependent Pathway. *Cell Signal* 2004, *16*, 375–384, doi:10.1016/j.cellsig.2003.08.008.

- Dolmatova, E.V.; Wang, K.; Mandavilli, R.; Griendling, K.K. The Effects of Sepsis on Endothelium and Clinical Implications. *Cardiovasc Res* 2020, 117, 60–73, doi:10.1093/cvr/cvaa070.
- Tucureanu, M.M.; Rebleanu, D.; Constantinescu, C.A.; Deleanu, M.; Voicu, G.; Butoi, E.; Calin, M.; Manduteanu, I. Lipopolysaccharide-Induced Inflammation in Monocytes/Macrophages Is Blocked by Liposomal Delivery of Gi-Protein Inhibitor. *Int J Nanomedicine* 2017, *13*, 63–76, doi:10.2147/IJN.S150918.
- 85. Gallo, G.; Volpe, M.; Savoia, C. Endothelial Dysfunction in Hypertension: Current Concepts and Clinical Implications. *Frontiers in Medicine* **2022**, *8*.
- Benigni, A.; Cassis, P.; Remuzzi, G. Angiotensin II Revisited: New Roles in Inflammation, Immunology and Aging. *EMBO Mol Med* 2010, 2, 247–257, doi:10.1002/emmm.201000080.
- Carey, R.M.; Muntner, P.; Bosworth, H.B.; Whelton, P.K. Prevention and Control of Hypertension: JACC Health Promotion Series. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2018, 72, 1278–1293, doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2018.07.008.
- Bolívar, J.J. Essential Hypertension: An Approach to Its Etiology and Neurogenic Pathophysiology. *Int J Hypertens* 2013, 2013, 547809, doi:10.1155/2013/547809.
- Igase, M.; Kohara, K.; Nagai, T.; Miki, T.; Ferrario, C.M. Increased Expression of Angiotensin Converting Enzyme 2 in Conjunction with Reduction of Neointima by Angiotensin II Type 1 Receptor Blockade. *Hypertens Res* 2008, 31, 553–559, doi:10.1291/hypres.31.553.
- Tikellis, C.; Pickering, R.; Tsorotes, D.; Du, X.-J.; Kiriazis, H.; Nguyen-Huu, T.-P.; Head, G.A.; Cooper, M.E.; Thomas, M.C. Interaction of Diabetes and ACE2 in the Pathogenesis of Cardiovascular Disease in Experimental Diabetes. *Clin Sci (Lond)* 2012, *123*, 519–529, doi:10.1042/CS20110668.
- St. Paul, A.; Corbett, C.B.; Okune, R.; Autieri, M.V. Angiotensin II, Hypercholesterolemia, and Vascular Smooth Muscle Cells: A Perfect Trio for Vascular Pathology. *Int J Mol Sci* 2020, 21, 4525, doi:10.3390/ijms21124525.
- 92. Pan, P.; Fu, H.; Zhang, L.; Huang, H.; Luo, F.; Wu, W.; Guo, Y.; Liu, X. Angiotensin II Upregulates the Expression of Placental Growth Factor in Human Vascular Endothelial

Cells and Smooth Muscle Cells. *BMC Cell Biol* **2010**, *11*, 36, doi:10.1186/1471-2121-11-36.

- 93. Kamimura, M.; Bea, F.; Akizawa, T.; Katus, H.A.; Kreuzer, J.; Viedt, C. Platelet-Derived Growth Factor Induces Tissue Factor Expression in Vascular Smooth Muscle Cells via Activation of Egr-1. *Hypertension* 2004, 44, 944–951, doi:10.1161/01.HYP.0000146908.75091.99.
- Gudkov, A.V.; Gurova, K.V.; Komarova, E.A. Inflammation and P53: A Tale of Two Stresses. *Genes Cancer* 2011, *2*, 503–516, doi:10.1177/1947601911409747.
- 95. Kawanishi, S.; Ohnishi, S.; Ma, N.; Hiraku, Y.; Murata, M. Crosstalk between DNA Damage and Inflammation in the Multiple Steps of Carcinogenesis. *Int J Mol Sci* 2017, *18*, 1808, doi:10.3390/ijms18081808.
- Bandeali, S.; Farmer, J. High-Density Lipoprotein and Atherosclerosis: The Role of Antioxidant Activity. *Curr Atheroscler Rep* 2012, 14, 101–107, doi:10.1007/s11883-012-0235-2.
- 97. Zannis, V.I.; Chroni, A.; Krieger, M. Role of apoA-I, ABCA1, LCAT, and SR-BI in the Biogenesis of HDL. *J Mol Med (Berl)* 2006, *84*, 276–294, doi:10.1007/s00109-005-0030-4.
- Stamatikos, A.; Dronadula, N.; Ng, P.; Palmer, D.; Knight, E.; Wacker, B.K.; Tang, C.; Kim, F.; Dichek, D.A. ABCA1 Overexpression in Endothelial Cells In Vitro Enhances ApoAI-Mediated Cholesterol Efflux and Decreases Inflammation. *Hum Gene Ther* 2019, 30, 236–248, doi:10.1089/hum.2018.120.
- 99. Norata, G. d.; Callegari, E.; Inoue, H.; Catapano, A. l. HDL3 Induces Cyclooxygenase-2 Expression and Prostacyclin Release in Human Endothelial Cells Via a P38 MAPK/CRE-Dependent Pathway: Effects on COX-2/PGI-Synthase Coupling. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology* 2004, 24, 871–877, doi:10.1161/01.ATV.zhq0504.1403.
- 100. Kempe, S.; Kestler, H.; Lasar, A.; Wirth, T. NF-κB Controls the Global pro-Inflammatory Response in Endothelial Cells: Evidence for the Regulation of a pro-Atherogenic Program. *Nucleic Acids Res* 2005, *33*, 5308–5319, doi:10.1093/nar/gki836.
- Cucina, A.; Pagliei, S.; Borrelli, V.; Corvino, V.; Stipa, F.; Cavallaro, A.; Sterpetti, A.V.
   Oxidised LDL (OxLDL) Induces Production of Platelet Derived Growth Factor AA (PDGF)

AA) from Aortic Smooth Muscle Cells. *Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg* **1998**, *16*, 197–202, doi:10.1016/s1078-5884(98)80220-7.

- 102. Mineo, C.; Shaul, P.W. HDL Stimulation of Endothelial Nitric Oxide Synthase: A Novel Mechanism of HDL Action. *Trends Cardiovasc Med* 2003, 13, 226–231, doi:10.1016/s1050-1738(03)00098-7.
- 103. Kuo, A.; Lee, M.Y.; Sessa, W.C. Lipid Droplet Biogenesis and Function in the Endothelium. *Circ. Res.* 2017, *120*, 1289–1297, doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.116.310498.
- Wei, X.; Schneider, J.G.; Shenouda, S.M.; Lee, A.; Towler, D.A.; Chakravarthy, M.V.; Vita, J.A.; Semenkovich, C.F. De Novo Lipogenesis Maintains Vascular Homeostasis through Endothelial Nitric-Oxide Synthase (eNOS) Palmitoylation. *J. Biol. Chem.* 2011, 286, 2933–2945, doi:10.1074/jbc.M110.193037.
- Hagberg, C.E.; Falkevall, A.; Wang, X.; Larsson, E.; Huusko, J.; Nilsson, I.; van Meeteren, L.A.; Samen, E.; Lu, L.; Vanwildemeersch, M.; et al. Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor B Controls Endothelial Fatty Acid Uptake. *Nature* 2010, 464, 917–921, doi:10.1038/nature08945.
- 106. Schoors, S.; Bruning, U.; Missiaen, R.; Queiroz, K.C.; Borgers, G.; Elia, I.; Zecchin, A.; Cantelmo, A.R.; Christen, S.; Goveia, J.; et al. Fatty Acid Carbon Is Essential for dNTP Synthesis in Endothelial Cells. *Nature* 2015, *520*, 192–197, doi:10.1038/nature14362.
- 107. Patella, F.; Schug, Z.T.; Persi, E.; Neilson, L.J.; Erami, Z.; Avanzato, D.; Maione, F.; Hernandez-Fernaud, J.R.; Mackay, G.; Zheng, L.; et al. Proteomics-Based Metabolic Modeling Reveals That Fatty Acid Oxidation (FAO) Controls Endothelial Cell (EC) Permeability. *Mol. Cell Proteomics* 2015, *14*, 621–634, doi:10.1074/mcp.M114.045575.
- 108. Xiong, J.; Kawagishi, H.; Yan, Y.; Liu, J.; Wells, Q.S.; Edmunds, L.R.; Fergusson, M.M.;
  Yu, Z.-X.; Rovira, I.I.; Brittain, E.L.; et al. A Metabolic Basis for Endothelial-to-Mesenchymal Transition. *Mol. Cell* 2018, 69, 689-698.e7, doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2018.01.010.
- 109. Glatzel, D.K.; Koeberle, A.; Pein, H.; Löser, K.; Stark, A.; Keksel, N.; Werz, O.; Müller, R.; Bischoff, I.; Fürst, R. Acetyl-CoA Carboxylase 1 Regulates Endothelial Cell Migration by Shifting the Phospholipid Composition. *J. Lipid Res.* 2018, 59, 298–311, doi:10.1194/jlr.M080101.

- Mitchell, J.A.; Ahmetaj-Shala, B.; Kirkby, N.S.; Wright, W.R.; Mackenzie, L.S.; Reed,
   D.M.; Mohamed, N. Role of Prostacyclin in Pulmonary Hypertension. *Glob Cardiol Sci Pract* 2014, 2014, 382–393, doi:10.5339/gcsp.2014.53.
- 111. Nguyen, T.K.; Paone, S.; Chan, E.; Poon, I.K.H.; Baxter, A.A.; Thomas, S.R.; Hulett, M.D. Heparanase: A Novel Therapeutic Target for the Treatment of Atherosclerosis. *Cells* 2022, *11*, 3198, doi:10.3390/cells11203198.
- 112. Yui, K.; Imataka, G.; Nakamura, H.; Ohara, N.; Naito, Y. Eicosanoids Derived From Arachidonic Acid and Their Family Prostaglandins and Cyclooxygenase in Psychiatric Disorders. *Curr Neuropharmacol* 2015, *13*, 776–785, doi:10.2174/1570159x13666151102103305.
- Makki, K.; Froguel, P.; Wolowczuk, I. Adipose Tissue in Obesity-Related Inflammation and Insulin Resistance: Cells, Cytokines, and Chemokines. *ISRN Inflamm* 2013, 2013, 139239, doi:10.1155/2013/139239.
- Furuhashi, M.; Fucho, R.; Görgün, C.Z.; Tuncman, G.; Cao, H.; Hotamisligil, G.S. Adipocyte/Macrophage Fatty Acid-Binding Proteins Contribute to Metabolic Deterioration through Actions in Both Macrophages and Adipocytes in Mice. *J Clin Invest* 2008, *118*, 2640–2650, doi:10.1172/JCI34750.
- Maeda, K.; Uysal, K.T.; Makowski, L.; Görgün, C.Z.; Atsumi, G.; Parker, R.A.; Brüning, J.; Hertzel, A.V.; Bernlohr, D.A.; Hotamisligil, G.S. Role of the Fatty Acid Binding Protein Mal1 in Obesity and Insulin Resistance. *Diabetes* 2003, 52, 300–307, doi:10.2337/diabetes.52.2.300.
- Chmurzyńska, A. The Multigene Family of Fatty Acid-Binding Proteins (FABPs): Function, Structure and Polymorphism. J Appl Genet 2006, 47, 39–48, doi:10.1007/BF03194597.
- Storch, J.; McDermott, L. Structural and Functional Analysis of Fatty Acid-Binding Proteins. *Journal of Lipid Research* 2009, 50, S126–S131, doi:10.1194/jlr.R800084-JLR200.
- Schroeder, F.; Jolly, C.A.; Cho, T.H.; Frolov, A. Fatty Acid Binding Protein Isoforms: Structure and Function. *Chem Phys Lipids* 1998, 92, 1–25, doi:10.1016/s0009-3084(98)00003-6.

- 119. Storch, J.; Thumser, A.E. Tissue-Specific Functions in the Fatty Acid-Binding Protein Family. *J Biol Chem* **2010**, *285*, 32679–32683, doi:10.1074/jbc.R110.135210.
- Furuhashi, M.; Hotamisligil, G.S. Fatty Acid-Binding Proteins: Role in Metabolic Diseases and Potential as Drug Targets. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* 2008, 7, 489–503, doi:10.1038/nrd2589.
- Hughes, M.L.R.; Liu, B.; Halls, M.L.; Wagstaff, K.M.; Patil, R.; Velkov, T.; Jans, D.A.; Bunnett, N.W.; Scanlon, M.J.; Porter, C.J.H. Fatty Acid-Binding Proteins 1 and 2 Differentially Modulate the Activation of Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated Receptor α in a Ligand-Selective Manner. J Biol Chem 2015, 290, 13895–13906, doi:10.1074/jbc.M114.605998.
- 122. Coe, N.R.; Bernlohr, D.A. Physiological Properties and Functions of Intracellular Fatty Acid-Binding Proteins. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1998, 1391, 287–306, doi:10.1016/s0005-2760(97)00205-1.
- Wang, Y. Small Lipid-Binding Proteins in Regulating Endothelial and Vascular Functions: Focusing on Adipocyte Fatty Acid Binding Protein and Lipocalin-2. *Br J Pharmacol* 2012, *165*, 603–621, doi:10.1111/j.1476-5381.2011.01528.x.
- 124. Vassileva, G.; Huwyler, L.; Poirier, K.; Agellon, L.B.; Toth, M.J. The Intestinal Fatty Acid Binding Protein Is Not Essential for Dietary Fat Absorption in Mice. *FASEB J* 2000, *14*, 2040–2046, doi:10.1096/fj.99-0959com.
- 125. Schug, T.T.; Berry, D.C.; Shaw, N.S.; Travis, S.N.; Noy, N. Opposing Effects of Retinoic Acid on Cell Growth Result from Alternate Activation of Two Different Nuclear Receptors. *Cell* 2007, *129*, 723–733, doi:10.1016/j.cell.2007.02.050.
- 126. Kannan-Thulasiraman, P.; Seachrist, D.D.; Mahabeleshwar, G.H.; Jain, M.K.; Noy, N. Fatty Acid-Binding Protein 5 and PPARbeta/Delta Are Critical Mediators of Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor-Induced Carcinoma Cell Growth. *J Biol Chem* 2010, 285, 19106– 19115, doi:10.1074/jbc.M109.099770.
- Gaffar, S.; Aathirah, A.S. Fatty-Acid-Binding Proteins: From Lipid Transporters to Disease Biomarkers. *Biomolecules* 2023, *13*, 1753, doi:10.3390/biom13121753.
- Theodorou, K.; Boon, R.A. Endothelial Cell Metabolism in Atherosclerosis. *Front Cell Dev Biol* 2018, 6, 82, doi:10.3389/fcell.2018.00082.

- Abumrad, N.A.; Cabodevilla, A.G.; Samovski, D.; Pietka, T.; Basu, D.; Goldberg, I.J. Endothelial Cell Receptors in Tissue Lipid Uptake and Metabolism. *Circ Res* 2021, *128*, 433–450, doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.120.318003.
- Xu, J.; Dang, Y.; Ren, Y.R.; Liu, J.O. Cholesterol Trafficking Is Required for mTOR Activation in Endothelial Cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 2010, 107, 4764–4769, doi:10.1073/pnas.0910872107.
- Antohe, F.; Popov, D.; Radulescu, L.; Simionescu, N.; Börchers, T.; Spener, F.; Simionescu, M. Heart Microvessels and Aortic Endothelial Cells Express the 15 kDa Heart-Type Fatty Acid-Binding Proteins. *Eur. J. Cell Biol.* 1998, 76, 102–109, doi:10.1016/S0171-9335(98)80022-8.
- 132. Yu, C.-W.; Liang, X.; Lipsky, S.; Karaaslan, C.; Kozakewich, H.; Hotamisligil, G.S.; Bischoff, J.; Cataltepe, S. Dual Role of Fatty Acid-Binding Protein 5 on Endothelial Cell Fate: A Potential Link between Lipid Metabolism and Angiogenic Responses. *Angiogenesis* 2016, 19, 95–106, doi:10.1007/s10456-015-9491-4.
- 133. Masouyé, I.; Hagens, G.; Van Kuppevelt, T.H.; Madsen, P.; Saurat, J.H.; Veerkamp, J.H.; Pepper, M.S.; Siegenthaler, G. Endothelial Cells of the Human Microvasculature Express Epidermal Fatty Acid-Binding Protein. *Circ. Res.* 1997, *81*, 297–303, doi:10.1161/01.res.81.3.297.
- 134. Furuhashi, M.; Saitoh, S.; Shimamoto, K.; Miura, T. Fatty Acid-Binding Protein 4 (FABP4): Pathophysiological Insights and Potent Clinical Biomarker of Metabolic and Cardiovascular Diseases. *Clin Med Insights Cardiol* 2014, *8*, 23–33, doi:10.4137/CMC.S17067.
- 135. Shum, B.O.V.; Mackay, C.R.; Gorgun, C.Z.; Frost, M.J.; Kumar, R.K.; Hotamisligil, G.S.; Rolph, M.S. The Adipocyte Fatty Acid-Binding Protein aP2 Is Required in Allergic Airway Inflammation. *J Clin Invest* 2006, *116*, 2183–2192, doi:10.1172/JCI24767.
- Makowski, L.; Hotamisligil, G.S. The Role of Fatty Acid Binding Proteins in Metabolic Syndrome and Atherosclerosis. *Curr Opin Lipidol* 2005, *16*, 543–548, doi:10.1097/01.mol.0000180166.08196.07.
- 137. Coe, N.R.; Simpson, M.A.; Bernlohr, D.A. Targeted Disruption of the Adipocyte Lipid-Binding Protein (aP2 Protein) Gene Impairs Fat Cell Lipolysis and Increases Cellular Fatty Acid Levels. *J Lipid Res* 1999, 40, 967–972.

- Hotamisligil, G.S.; Johnson, R.S.; Distel, R.J.; Ellis, R.; Papaioannou, V.E.; Spiegelman,
  B.M. Uncoupling of Obesity from Insulin Resistance through a Targeted Mutation in aP2,
  the Adipocyte Fatty Acid Binding Protein. *Science* 1996, 274, 1377–1379,
  doi:10.1126/science.274.5291.1377.
- Uysal, K.T.; Scheja, L.; Wiesbrock, S.M.; Bonner-Weir, S.; Hotamisligil, G.S. Improved Glucose and Lipid Metabolism in Genetically Obese Mice Lacking aP2. *Endocrinology* 2000, 141, 3388–3396, doi:10.1210/endo.141.9.7637.
- Boord, J.B.; Maeda, K.; Makowski, L.; Babaev, V.R.; Fazio, S.; Linton, M.F.; Hotamisligil,
  G.S. Adipocyte Fatty Acid-Binding Protein, aP2, Alters Late Atherosclerotic Lesion
  Formation in Severe Hypercholesterolemia. *Arterioscler: Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* 2002, 22, 1686–1691, doi:10.1161/01.atv.0000033090.81345.e6.
- 141. Xu, A.; Wang, Y.; Xu, J.Y.; Stejskal, D.; Tam, S.; Zhang, J.; Wat, N.M.S.; Wong, W.K.; Lam, K.S.L. Adipocyte Fatty Acid-Binding Protein Is a Plasma Biomarker Closely Associated with Obesity and Metabolic Syndrome. *Clin. Chem.* 2006, *52*, 405–413, doi:10.1373/clinchem.2005.062463.
- 142. Zamzam, A.; Syed, M.H.; Greco, E.; Wheatcroft, M.; Jain, S.; Khan, H.; Singh, K.K.; Forbes, T.L.; Rotstein, O.; Abdin, R.; et al. Fatty Acid Binding Protein 4—A Circulating Protein Associated with Peripheral Arterial Disease in Diabetic Patients. *Journal of Clinical Medicine* 2020, 9, 2843, doi:10.3390/jcm9092843.
- 143. Llaverias, G.; Noé, V.; Peñuelas, S.; Vázquez-Carrera, M.; Sánchez, R.M.; Laguna, J.C.; Ciudad, C.J.; Alegret, M. Atorvastatin Reduces CD68, FABP4, and HBP Expression in oxLDL-Treated Human Macrophages. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 2004, *318*, 265– 274, doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2004.04.021.
- 144. Makowski, L.; Brittingham, K.C.; Reynolds, J.M.; Suttles, J.; Hotamisligil, G.S. The Fatty Acid-Binding Protein, aP2, Coordinates Macrophage Cholesterol Trafficking and Inflammatory Activity. Macrophage Expression of aP2 Impacts Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated Receptor Gamma and IkappaB Kinase Activities. J. Biol. Chem. 2005, 280, 12888–12895, doi:10.1074/jbc.M413788200.
- Simpson, M.A.; LiCata, V.J.; Ribarik Coe, N.; Bernlohr, D.A. Biochemical and Biophysical Analysis of the Intracellular Lipid Binding Proteins of Adipocytes. *Mol. Cell. Biochem.* 1999, 192, 33–40.

- Makowski, L.; Boord, J.B.; Maeda, K.; Babaev, V.R.; Uysal, K.T.; Morgan, M.A.; Parker, R.A.; Suttles, J.; Fazio, S.; Hotamisligil, G.S.; et al. Lack of Macrophage Fatty-Acid-Binding Protein aP2 Protects Mice Deficient in Apolipoprotein E against Atherosclerosis. *Nat. Med.* 2001, *7*, 699–705, doi:10.1038/89076.
- Hertzel, A.V.; Bennaars-Eiden, A.; Bernlohr, D.A. Increased Lipolysis in Transgenic Animals Overexpressing the Epithelial Fatty Acid Binding Protein in Adipose Cells. J. Lipid Res. 2002, 43, 2105–2111, doi:10.1194/jlr.m200227-jlr200.
- Owada, Y.; Suzuki, I.; Noda, T.; Kondo, H. Analysis on the Phenotype of E-FABP-Gene Knockout Mice. *Mol. Cell. Biochem.* 2002, 239, 83–86.
- Xu, H.; Barnes, G.T.; Yang, Q.; Tan, G.; Yang, D.; Chou, C.J.; Sole, J.; Nichols, A.; Ross, J.S.; Tartaglia, L.A.; et al. Chronic Inflammation in Fat Plays a Crucial Role in the Development of Obesity-Related Insulin Resistance. *J. Clin. Invest.* 2003, *112*, 1821–1830, doi:10.1172/JCI19451.
- 150. Cao, H.; Maeda, K.; Gorgun, C.Z.; Kim, H.-J.; Park, S.-Y.; Shulman, G.I.; Kim, J.K.; Hotamisligil, G.S. Regulation of Metabolic Responses by Adipocyte/Macrophage Fatty Acid-Binding Proteins in Leptin-Deficient Mice. *Diabetes* 2006, 55, 1915–1922, doi:10.2337/db05-1496.
- Boord, J.B.; Maeda, K.; Makowski, L.; Babaev, V.R.; Fazio, S.; Linton, M.F.; Hotamisligil,
   G.S. Combined Adipocyte-Macrophage Fatty Acid-Binding Protein Deficiency Improves
   Metabolism, Atherosclerosis, and Survival in Apolipoprotein E-Deficient Mice.
   *Circulation* 2004, *110*, 1492–1498, doi:10.1161/01.CIR.0000141735.13202.B6.
- Maeda, K.; Cao, H.; Kono, K.; Gorgun, C.Z.; Furuhashi, M.; Uysal, K.T.; Cao, Q.; Atsumi, G.; Malone, H.; Krishnan, B.; et al. Adipocyte/Macrophage Fatty Acid Binding Proteins Control Integrated Metabolic Responses in Obesity and Diabetes. *Cell Metab.* 2005, *1*, 107–119, doi:10.1016/j.cmet.2004.12.008.
- Stanley, W.C.; Recchia, F.A.; Lopaschuk, G.D. Myocardial Substrate Metabolism in the Normal and Failing Heart. *Physiol. Rev.* 2005, *85*, 1093–1129, doi:10.1152/physrev.00006.2004.
- 154. Zanotti, G. Muscle Fatty Acid-Binding Protein. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* **1999**, *1441*, 94–105, doi:10.1016/s1388-1981(99)00163-8.

- Motojima, K. Differential Effects of PPARalpha Activators on Induction of Ectopic Expression of Tissue-Specific Fatty Acid Binding Protein Genes in the Mouse Liver. *Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol.* 2000, *32*, 1085–1092, doi:10.1016/s1357-2725(00)00046-7.
- 156. Karbek, B.; Özbek, M.; Bozkurt, N.C.; Ginis, Z.; Güngünes, A.; Ünsal, I.Ö.; Cakal, E.; Delibası, T. Heart-Type Fatty Acid Binding Protein (H-FABP): Relationship with Arterial Intima-Media Thickness and Role as Diagnostic Marker for Atherosclerosis in Patients with Impaired Glucose Metabolism. *Cardiovasc Diabetol* 2011, 10, 37, doi:10.1186/1475-2840-10-37.
- 157. Binas, B.; Danneberg, H.; McWhir, J.; Mullins, L.; Clark, A.J. Requirement for the Heart-Type Fatty Acid Binding Protein in Cardiac Fatty Acid Utilization. *FASEB J.* 1999, 13, 805–812, doi:10.1096/fasebj.13.8.805.
- 158. Zhuang, L.; Li, C.; Chen, Q.; Jin, Q.; Wu, L.; Lu, L.; Yan, X.; Chen, K. Fatty Acid-Binding Protein 3 Contributes to Ischemic Heart Injury by Regulating Cardiac Myocyte Apoptosis and MAPK Pathways. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol.* **2019**, *316*, H971–H984, doi:10.1152/ajpheart.00360.2018.
- 159. Thygesen, K.; Alpert, J.S.; Jaffe, A.S.; Simoons, M.L.; Chaitman, B.R.; White, H.D.; Joint ESC/ACCF/AHA/WHF Task Force for Universal Definition of Myocardial Infarction; Authors/Task Force Members Chairpersons; Thygesen, K.; Alpert, J.S.; et al. Third Universal Definition of Myocardial Infarction. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 2012, 60, 1581–1598, doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2012.08.001.
- 160. Braunwald, E. Myocardial Reperfusion, Limitation of Infarct Size, Reduction of Left Ventricular Dysfunction, and Improved Survival. Should the Paradigm Be Expanded? *Circulation* 1989, 79, 441–444, doi:10.1161/01.cir.79.2.441.
- Jaffe, A.S. Chasing Troponin: How Low Can You Go If You Can See the Rise? *J. Am. Coll. Cardiol.* 2006, *48*, 1763–1764, doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2006.08.006.
- 162. Glatz, J.F.; Kleine, A.H.; van Nieuwenhoven, F.A.; Hermens, W.T.; van Dieijen-Visser, M.P.; van der Vusse, G.J. Fatty-Acid-Binding Protein as a Plasma Marker for the Estimation of Myocardial Infarct Size in Humans. *Br Heart J* 1994, *71*, 135–140, doi:10.1136/hrt.71.2.135.

- Knowlton, A.A.; Apstein, C.S.; Saouf, R.; Brecher, P. Leakage of Heart Fatty Acid Binding Protein with Ischemia and Reperfusion in the Rat. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 1989, 21, 577– 583, doi:10.1016/0022-2828(89)90823-7.
- Haastrup, B.; Gill, S.; Kristensen, S.R.; Jørgensen, P.J.; Glatz, J.F.; Haghfelt, T.; Hørder, M. Biochemical Markers of Ischaemia for the Early Identification of Acute Myocardial Infarction without St Segment Elevation. *Cardiology* 2000, 94, 254–261, doi:10.1159/000047326.
- 165. Syed, M.H.; Zamzam, A.; Khan, H.; Singh, K.; Forbes, T.L.; Rotstein, O.; Abdin, R.; Eikelboom, J.; Qadura, M. Fatty Acid Binding Protein 3 Is Associated with Peripheral Arterial Disease. *JVS: Vascular Science* 2020, doi:10.1016/j.jvssci.2020.08.003.
- 166. Zaina, S.; Heyn, H.; Carmona, F.J.; Varol, N.; Sayols, S.; Condom, E.; Ramírez-Ruz, J.; Gomez, A.; Gonçalves, I.; Moran, S.; et al. DNA Methylation Map of Human Atherosclerosis. *Circ Cardiovasc Genet* 2014, 7, 692–700, doi:10.1161/CIRCGENETICS.113.000441.
- Jiang, W.; Agrawal, D.K.; Boosani, C.S. Cell-Specific Histone Modifications in Atherosclerosis. *Mol Med Rep* 2018, 18, 1215–1224, doi:10.3892/mmr.2018.9142.
- 168. Du, J.; Johnson, L.M.; Jacobsen, S.E.; Patel, D.J. DNA Methylation Pathways and Their Crosstalk with Histone Methylation. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* 2015, *16*, 519–532, doi:10.1038/nrm4043.
- Wei, J.-W.; Huang, K.; Yang, C.; Kang, C.-S. Non-Coding RNAs as Regulators in Epigenetics (Review). Oncol Rep 2017, 37, 3–9, doi:10.3892/or.2016.5236.
- 170. Lu, Y.; Thavarajah, T.; Gu, W.; Cai, J.; Xu, Q. Impact of miRNA in Atherosclerosis. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* **2018**, *38*, e159–e170, doi:10.1161/ATVBAHA.118.310227.
- Heerboth, S.; Lapinska, K.; Snyder, N.; Leary, M.; Rollinson, S.; Sarkar, S. Use of Epigenetic Drugs in Disease: An Overview. *Genet Epigenet* 2014, 6, 9–19, doi:10.4137/GEG.S12270.
- 172. MacDonald, W.A. Epigenetic Mechanisms of Genomic Imprinting: Common Themes in the Regulation of Imprinted Regions in Mammals, Plants, and Insects. *Genet Res Int* 2012, 2012, 585024, doi:10.1155/2012/585024.

- 173. Chao, Y.; Qin, Y.; Zou, X.; Wang, X.; Hu, C.; Xia, F.; Zou, C. Promising Therapeutic Aspects in Human Genetic Imprinting Disorders. *Clinical Epigenetics* 2022, 14, 146, doi:10.1186/s13148-022-01369-6.
- 174. Zhang, Z.; Salisbury, D.; Sallam, T. Long Non-Coding RNAs in Atherosclerosis: JACC Review Topic of the Week. J Am Coll Cardiol 2018, 72, 2380–2390, doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2018.08.2161.
- Li, P.; Ruan, X.; Yang, L.; Kiesewetter, K.; Zhao, Y.; Luo, H.; Chen, Y.; Gucek, M.; Zhu, J.; Cao, H. A Liver-Enriched Long Non-Coding RNA, IncLSTR, Regulates Systemic Lipid Metabolism in Mice. *Cell Metab* 2015, *21*, 455–467, doi:10.1016/j.cmet.2015.02.004.
- 176. Sallam, T.; Jones, M.; Gilliland, T.; Zhang, L.; Wu, X.; Eskin, A.; Sandhu, J.; Casero, D.; de Aguiar Vallim, T.; Hong, C.; et al. Feedback Modulation of Cholesterol Metabolism by LeXis, a Lipid-Responsive Non-Coding RNA. *Nature* 2016, *534*, 124–128, doi:10.1038/nature17674.
- Marchese, F.P.; Raimondi, I.; Huarte, M. The Multidimensional Mechanisms of Long Noncoding RNA Function. *Genome Biol* 2017, *18*, 206, doi:10.1186/s13059-017-1348-2.
# **Chapter 2: Heart-type Fatty Acid Binding Protein is Differentially Regulated in Endothelial Dysfunction and Atherosclerosis**

# 2.1 Abstract

FABP3 is a biomarker for cardiac injuries. Recently, an increased level of circulatory FABP3 was reported in peripheral artery disease (PAD) in the absence of cardiac injury; however, the source of circulatory FABP3 in PAD is not clear. Endothelial dysfunction, driven by factors like oxidative stress, inflammation, and hypertension, is central to the pathogenesis of PAD or atherosclerosis and associated cardiovascular complications. The expression and functional roles of FABP3 in endothelial cells remain under investigation. We aimed to determine the expression of FABP3 in endothelial cells under various stressors associated with endothelial dysfunction and atherosclerosis. Our results showed that FABP3 is basally expressed and differentially modulated in response to treatments of oxidized low-density lipoproteins (oxidative stress), angiotensin-II (hypertensive milieu), and the endotoxin lipopolysaccharide (inflammation), suggesting dynamic regulatory mechanisms associated with endothelial function. Understanding FABP3 regulation in endothelial cells provides insights into the endothelial function. Understanding FABP3 regulation in endothelial cells provides insights into the endothelian function. Understanding FABP3 regulation in endothelial cells provides insights into the endothelian function. Understanding FABP3 regulation in endothelial cells provides insights into the endothelian function.

# **2.2 Introduction**

Fatty acid-binding proteins (FABPs) are a family of transport proteins for fatty acids and other lipophilic substances between extra/intra-cellular membranes and receptors and play an essential role in regulating lipid homeostasis [1]. FABP3 is currently investigated as an effective biomarker for cardiac injuries for the following features described in both animal models and heart failure patients: 1) low concentration in blood and a notably high ratio of cytosolic to blood concentration at rest; 2) an increase in blood levels noticed within 30 minutes of chest pain, peaking in a few hours, then returning to normal levels through renal elimination, all within 24 hours [2] [3] [4]. In addition, FABP3 has also been tested as a biomarker in patients with peripheral artery diseases (PAD) in the absence of cardiac injury or coronary artery disease background. Notably, the upregulation of FABP3 in skeletal muscle cells has been identified in patients with critical limb ischemia (the most severe form of PAD) compared to healthy individuals [5]. However, whether

59

skeletal muscle cells are the sole source of FABP3 in PAD or whether FABP3 is also released by other cell types, such as endothelial cells, is unknown. Nonetheless, these findings suggest that FABP3 release is not exclusive to cardiac injury and may signal earlier cardiovascular events.

PAD and heart failure are cardiovascular complications of atherosclerosis. Atherosclerosis, the primary cause of cardiovascular diseases, which represents an epidemic and the top-leading cause of death worldwide, is characterized by the build-up of lipid-laden plaques in the vascular inner walls, which leads to compromised circulation, downstream ischemia, hypoxia, and organ failures. Clinical complications associated with atherosclerosis include heart failure, stroke, and peripheral artery diseases. Endothelial dysfunction is the central mechanism of atherogenesis, influenced by three prominent pathophysiological processes: oxidative stresses, chronic inflammation, and hypertension [6] [7].

The endothelium comprises specialized epithelial cells called endothelial cells that form a single lining that coats the inner luminal wall of blood vessels to serve as the first metabolic and regulatory barrier between blood and tissues [8]. As endothelial cells are active lipid-metabolizing cells, the roles of FABPs in endothelial function remain under investigation [9]. Moreover, endothelial cells are one of the first cell types to be exposed to circulatory FABP3 during a cardiovascular event; however, the regulatory implications between FABP3 and endothelial cells that are related to endothelial function remain underlies cardiovascular complications, we hypothesize that endothelial cells are a source of FABP3 with regulatory implications under endothelial dysfunction.

Our goal was to evaluate the expression of FABP3 in the endothelium at baseline and under atherosclerosis-related stress. Endothelial cells are cultured and exposed to oxidized low-density lipoprotein (oxLDL), lipopolysaccharide (LPS), and angiotensin-II (Ang II), which are prominent agents of oxidative stress, inflammation, and hypertension, respectively [10] [11] [12]. Our data show that FABP3 is expressed at baseline in endothelial cells and is differentially regulated under stress in a context-dependent manner.

#### 2.3 Methods

Cell Culture - Human Umbilical Vein Endothelial Cells (HUVECs, Lonza # CC-2519, pooled), a standard model to study endothelial cell function in vitro [13] [14] [15] [16] [17], were grown in endothelial-cell complete growth medium-2 (EGMTM-2 BulletkitTM; Lonza) under standard conditions (37°C, 5% CO2, and 90% humidity). Frozen newly obtained HUVECs (passage#1-2) were thawed rapidly at 37°C prior to transferring into warmed (37°C) complete growth media in tissue-cultured treated flasks, appropriated for culture area by seeding density in biosafety cabinet. The very first media change was done after 4-5 hours to replace the media with the preservatives from the frozen container. From then on, the media was changed every 24-48 hours until the cells became confluent (1.5 mL media per 5 cm<sup>2</sup> when confluency was below 45%, which increased to 2 mL per 5 cm<sup>2</sup> when confluency was greater than 45%). Typically, 70-85% confluent cells were readied for experiments, passaging, or storing, prior to which a cell suspension was obtained. In establishing cell suspension, the cell flask was aspired for old media and washed with phosphatebuffered saline (PBS) twice, followed by the addition of trypsin (0.25% with EDTA, #25200056, Gibco) and incubation for 3-5 minutes in 37°C to detach and suspend adherent HUVECs. Next, 20% fetal bovine serum (FBS) media was added at a 1:1 ratio to deactivate the trypsin. The cells were then flushed down to the bottom of the flask and harvested into centrifugation tubes. Centrifugation was performed at 300 g for 5 minutes at room temperature to pellet the cells, followed by the removal of the trypsin-containing supernatant. The pellet was then suspended in new, fresh and complete growth media. Cells were then counted and applied to downstream processing (freezing, experiments, passaging for expansion). Passage#1-2 cells were sub-cultured to passage#3 for long-term storage and expansion. For storage, cells during passage#1-3 were suspended as above, counted, and combined with 80% complete growth media, 10% FBS, and 10% dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) to establish the freezing media. This mixture was transferred into cryovials and chilled on ice or at 4°C for at least 5 minutes. The cryovials were then stored in a -80°C freezer overnight. The next day, they were transferred into a liquid nitrogen container. On the other hand, starting with passage#4, cells were sub-cultured to perform experiments. In subculturing, the media was changed every 24-48 hours, similarly to the above, until the cells became 70-85% confluent and ready for another round of passaging or experimentation.

For Human Skeletal Muscle Cells (SkMCs), the culture conditions for primary SkMCs (PCS-950-010, ATCC) were 37°C, 5% CO2, and 95% humidity. Primary SkMC stem cells were received and stored in the vapour phase of liquid nitrogen (<-130°C). During application, media or solutions (differentiation, saline, trypsin, etc.), except for cell lysis, were warmed to 37°C before addition into the cultures. Cells were seeded initially at the recommended 2500-5000 cell/cm<sup>2</sup> culture (92.7% post-freeze cell viability) in Complete Expansion Medium (CEM), combined from 1X Mesenchymal Stem Cell Basal Medium (ATCC PCS-500-030) and 1X Primary Skeletal Cell Muscle Growth Kit (ATCC PCS-950-040), into pre-warmed (37°C) culture flasks/plates following manufacturer's specific manual. To maintain the culture, old media was replaced with new, warmed CEM. When confluence was < 80%, media change was repeated once every 48 hours. Cells were sub-cultured, assayed, or frozen when the confluence was 80-90%. Subculturing and freezing were conducted similarly to the above, with CEM used as the complete growth media. In sub-culturing, trypsin (0.25% with EDTA, #25200056, Gibco) and CEM (containing fetal bovine serum) were used to obtain cell suspension. Cells were passed into new cultures with CEM. Prior to assays and after 24 hours of culturing, primary SkMCs were differentiated using the Primary Skeletal Differentiation Tool (ATCC PCS-950-050) for 96 hours, with differentiation solution replaced every 48 hours, on culture plates coated with fibronectin (F-0895-1mg), following the manufacturer's instruction. Experimental treatment and assays were only conducted on differentiated skeletal muscle cells.

<u>Treatments</u>: HUVECs were treated with either LPS (Sigma-Aldrich), commercial oxLDL (Invitrogen), Ang II (Sigma) or diluent (PBS) in MCDB-131 (+1% FBS) media. Dose- and time-dependent experiments were conducted using PBS as a diluent to establish serial treatment concentrations and as the control samples.

<u>*Cell Counting*</u>: Counting cells and obtaining the cell concentration of the cell suspension were necessary to either freeze cells for storage, seed cells for experiments, or passage cells into new cell culture flasks. The Corning Cell Counter (Cytosmart) was employed for automated cell counting. 1:1 mixing the cell suspension with trypan blue and loading of 10  $\mu$ L mixture per chamber of a hematocytometer were achieved prior to live-image cell-counting. Both chambers were counted eight times each, and the overall averages were taken as the cell concentration of the suspension.

RNA Extraction: Total RNAs were extracted and quantified using the Trizol standard method (Invitrogen) [18]. In brief, from the tissue cultures, media was removed, cells were washed with cold PBS, and then Trizol was added at a calibrated volume (following the manufacturer's recommendation). The plates were shaken and left to rest at room temperature for 10 minutes, allowing for the dissociation of RNA-protein complexes. Lysates per wells were further homogenized by pipetting and transferred into a 1.5 mL centrifuge tube. Chloroform was added at 20% volume of Trizol to each sample, and samples were then mixed vigorously, allowing for phase separation at room temperature for 3 minutes. As phase separation formed, the tubes were centrifuged at 12000 g for 15 minutes at 4°C, after which an aqueous layer, an interphase layer, and a coloured organic layer were clearly defined. Next, the RNA-phenol pure aqueous layer of each sample was transferred to a corresponding tube with isopropanol at a 1:1 volume ratio. The tubes were then inverted to mix and incubated at room temperature for 10 minutes to allow for the precipitation of RNAs. Afterward, the tubes were centrifuged at 12000 g for 10 minutes at 4°C. The phenol supernatant of each sample was decanted, and the RNA pellets were washed with 75% Ethanol in RNAase-free water [diethyl pyrocarbonate (DEPC)-treated water] two times, with a round of centrifugation at 7500 g for 5 minutes at 4°C after each wash. The ethanol supernatant was decanted, and each sample's RNA pellet was air dried 5-10 minutes before suspension in 20 µL of RNAse-free water. On the NanoDrop ND-1000 spectrophotometer (Thermo Scientific), 2 µL of each RNA sample were then measured for RNA concentration and purity assessment via the 260/280 and 260/230 wavelength absorbance ratio (pure RNA was considered with a ratio of about 2 and 1.8, respectively).

<u>cDNA Synthesis</u>: Complementary DNAs (cDNA) were synthesized from isolated RNAs for each sample by the QuantiTect Reverse Transcription Kit (Qiagen). Briefly, an equal amount of RNAs from each sample (1  $\mu$ g) was mixed with 2  $\mu$ L of the provided genomic DNA wipeout buffer and incubated at 42°C for the total removal of DNA from the samples. Next, 6  $\mu$ L of the master mix, prepared for all RNA samples from the kit-provided reverse transcriptase, enzyme buffer and primer mix at a ratio of 1:4:1, respectively, was added to each sample. The samples were incubated at 42°C for 30 minutes to undergo cDNA synthesis, followed by 95°C for 3 minutes to inactivate reverse transcriptase and complete the reactions. The cDNAs from each sample were then diluted to 10 ng/ $\mu$ L for quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction.

*Quantitative Real-Time PCR*: Quantitative polymerase chain reactions (qPCR) were conducted to evaluate the expression of targeted genes from each sample. Commercial qPCR master-mix with SYBR Green dye (BioRad) combined with primers with sequences (forward and backward) targeting specific genes (following the formula from the manufacturer's manual) was added to the cDNA pool of each experimental sample (up to 30 ng) on a 96 well-plate (3 wells per sample, equivalent to 3 technical replicates). Non-template controls containing no cDNAs were also established in triplicates. The prepared plate was sealed, spun to bring each well's mixture to the bottom, and shaken to mix solutions prior to being processed by the QuantStudio-3 Real-Time PCR thermocycler (Applied Biosystem) with the recommended thermal cycling program: 1) 10 minutes at 95°C for activation; 2) 15 seconds at 95°C for denaturation; 3) 1 minute at 60°C for annealing or extension at which real-time dye signal is collected and charted; then repeat with denaturation again for 40 cycles. Sequences for primers used to amplify gene targets are summarized in **Table 2.1**.

Gene targets	Sequence	
	Forward	Reverse
GAPDH	5'-CACCAGG GCTGCTTTTAACTCTGGTA-3'	5'-CCTTGACGGTGCCATGGAATTTGC-3'
FABP3	5'-CATGACCAAGCCTACCACAAT-3'	5'-CCCCAACTTAAAGCTGATCTCTG-3'
FABP4	5'-ACTGGGCCAGGAATTTGACG-3'	5'-CTCGTGGAAGTGACGCCTT-3'
FABP5	5'-TGAAGGAGCTAGGAGTGGGAA-3'	5'-TGCACCATCTGTAAAGTTGCAG-3'

Table 2.1 Sequences for the primers used to amplify the gene targets

Glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH); Fatty acid binding protein- 3, 4, 5 (FABP- 3, 4, 5).

<u>Immunofluorescence</u>: Cells were grown (37°C, 5% CO2, 95% humidity) and treated on specialized cell-culture 4-chamber slides (Nunc Lab-Tek II CC<sup>2</sup>), with each chamber containing 2.5 x 10<sup>4</sup> cells in 1 mL of complete growth medium. When cells were ~70-80% confluent, media was removed, and cells were *rinsed* with 500  $\mu$ L PBS twice, followed by fixation using 400  $\mu$ L fixative (4% Paraformaldehyde, pH 7.4) for 10-20 minutes at room temperature and washed thrice with PBS. Next, cells were permeated for 30 minutes at room temperature by the addition of 400  $\mu$ L

permeabilizer (0.3% Triton X-100 in 1X PBS) per chamber, followed by another 3 rounds of washing. The cells were then incubated in blocking buffer (1% bovine serum albumin in 1X PBS) for 1 hour at room temperature, followed by incubation with primary antibodies (300 µL per chamber, 1:200 diluted in 0.1% BSA in 1X PBS) for 3 hours at room temperature (or overnight at 4°C). Next, the chambers were washed 3 times, using washing buffer (0.05% Tween 20 in 1X PBS, 500 µL per chamber), before incubation in fluorophore-tagged secondary antibody (300 µL per chamber, 1:1000 diluted in 0.1% BSA in 1X PBS) for 1 hour at room temperature while protected from light. After another 3 rounds of washing buffer, using the provided tools, the chambers' walls were removed, followed by one/two drops of DAPI Mounting Medium into the central regions of each chamber. Next, a cleaned coverslip was placed carefully (ensuring no air bubbles) on top of the entire slide. The slides were immediately stored in the dark overnight at 4°C (for imaging next day) or -20C (long-term). Confocal microscopy was employed to capture fluorescing signals of the targeted proteins, and images were analyzed using ImageJ [19].

<u>Statistical Analysis</u>: Differences between the means of two groups and more than two groups were calculated using the Student's T-test and Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) statistical analysis, respectively. ANOVA significant results were further validated using the post-hoc Tukey's test. Data are presented as mean  $\pm$  SD unless otherwise indicated.

## 2.4 Results

**OxLDL and Ang II treatments downregulate FABP3 in endothelial cells.** HUVECs express a basal level of FABP3 transcript under standard *in vitro* conditions, which was previously believed to be predominantly expressed by cardiomyocytes (**Figure 2.1**). When subjected to oxidative stress, FABP3 expression in oxLDL-treated HUVECs appears to be downregulated in a dose-dependent manner. Additionally, FABP4 and 5, known to be expressed by endothelial cells, are also downregulated similarly by oxLDL after 24h of treatment (**Figure 2.1A, B, C**). Time-wise, FABP3 is initially upregulated by 6h of oxLDL treatment but downregulated at 12h and 24h, suggesting a chronological sensitivity pattern (**Figure 2.1D**). When exposed to angiotensin-II, which is upregulated in circulation during vascular hypertension and, thereby, representing the biomolecular milieu of hypertension, FABP3's transcript levels in HUVECs are downregulated in a time-dependent manner (**Figure 2.1E**), at a dose of 1  $\mu$ M (**Figure 2.1F**). These findings suggest a directional, regulatory dynamic of FABP3 expression at the transcript levels in endothelial cells

under atherosclerotic stresses and a trend of downregulating the general FABP function in endothelial cells under oxidative stress, respectively.

LPS upregulates FABP3 in endothelial cells, similar to human skeletal muscle cells under hypoxic stress. In contrast to oxidative stress and Ang II treatments, HUVECs FABP3 is upregulated at the protein level by LPS treatment at 100 ng/mL for 24 hours (Figure 2.2). As hypertension, oxidative stress, and inflammation often occur together in atherosclerosis development, this opposite observation suggests a dynamic regulatory implication beyond a common metabolic response by FABP3 expression in cardiovascular stresses. Likewise, SKMCs under 6h hypoxia, representative of injured skeletal muscle cells in PAD patients, also upregulate FABP3 (Figure 2.3), which may be associated with similar regulatory implications of FABP3. However, future work is required to focus on SKMCs to validate this implication.



Figure 2.1 HUVECs' FABP3 expression under oxidative and hypertensive environments

qPCR data demonstrating that HUVECs' FABP3 expression is downregulated by oxLDL in a dosedependent manner (24h treatment) (A). Timewise, FABP3 appears to be upregulated in oxLDLtreated HUVECs after 6h treatment but downregulated in the subsequent hours (80 µg/mL) (D). FABP3 in HUVECs is downregulated by Ang II at 1 µM (24h treatment) (F) and in a timedependent manner (1 µM) (E). As FABP4 and 5 have also been found in microvasculatures, FABP4 and FABP5 were also downregulated by oxLDL (B, C). \*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001 vs. Vehicle, N ≥ 3 in triplicates. Data is represented as mean + SD.



Figure 2.2 Hypoxia-induced (6h, 1% O2) FABP3 upregulation in human skeletal muscle cells

Immunofluorescence staining for FABP3 (green signals) in skeletal muscle cells subjected under hypoxia. Slides were counter-stained with DAPI (blue signals) for nuclei. N = 4.



# Figure 2.3 Endothelial FABP3 is upregulated in endothelial dysfunction induced by LPS

Immunofluorescence staining for FABP3 (green signals) in HUVECs subjected under LPS. Slides were counter-stained with DAPI (blue signals) for nuclei. N = 2.

# 2.5 Discussion

Endothelial cells are a source of lipid-derived arachidonic acid metabolites, such as prostacyclins, which are regulators of endothelial inflammation, coagulation, and vascular homeostasis [20] [21].

While the endothelium primarily uses glucose for energy, endothelial cells also rely on lipid uptake, transport, and metabolism to synthesize building-block and signalling lipids such as deoxyribonucleotide triphosphate and arachidonic acid metabolites [22]. Endothelial cells also express Niemann–Pick disease type C (NPC) 1 and NPC2 proteins, which mediate cholesterol uptake and trafficking [23]. However, only a few studies have characterized the roles of FABPs, which regulate intracellular lipid-bioavailability, in the endothelium [24] [25] [26] [27].

The FABPs are small (12–15 kDa) cytosolic proteins constituting a well-conserved multigene family. Nine family members have been identified (FABP 1–9) with 20–70% sequence homology among isoforms [1]. When discovered, each isoform is named according to the most abundantly expressing tissue; however, tissues with active lipid metabolism generally express more than one FABP member. Structurally, all members share a  $\beta$ -barrel signature featuring a water-filled cavity and a site that binds a specific lipid ligand unique to each member [1]. Functionally, the FABPs interact reversibly with hydrophobic ligands with varying affinities and serve to escort fatty acids to the sites of lipid metabolisms (e.g., lipid droplets, nucleus, endoplasmic reticulum, enzymes, or adaptors, etc.) [28]. The regulation of FABP expression is strongly associated with lipid-related signalling. This is exemplified by the modulation of FABP1's transcript level by intracellular fatty acids, dicarboxylic acids, and retinoic acid, indicating lipid bioavailability impacting FABP expression [29]. However, the precise functions of different FABP members remain poorly understood [30] [27].

It has been traditionally accepted that FABP3 is primarily expressed in cardiomyocytes. We show that HUVECs express FABP3, in addition to FABP4 and 5, at baseline under standard *in vitro* conditions, contributing to the understanding that a specific cell type may express multiple members of the FABP family, and a FABP member may be found expressed in multiple cell-types (**Figure 2.1**). We also demonstrate a nuanced regulatory pattern of FABP3 in response to varying stressors: downregulation by oxidized low-density lipoprotein (oxLDL) and angiotensin-II (Ang II). Specifically, oxLDL leads to a dose-dependent decrease in FABP3 expression, with an initial upregulation at 6 hours followed by a subsequent downregulation at 12 and 24 hours, suggesting a complex regulatory dynamic of FABP3 in endothelial cells under oxidative stress (**Figure 2.1A and D**). Ang II, a mediator known to be elevated in circulation during hypertensive states, also downregulates FABP3 in a more linear, time-dependent manner (**Figure 2.1E**). However, our

evaluation of the dose-response relationship of FABP3 to Ang II differs from that for oxLDL treatment. Our Ang II data show a single-dose effect at 1  $\mu$ M Ang II (**Figure 2.1F**) instead of the effects of various doses. This dose has been established previously to induce pronounced oxidative stress and inflammation [31], and it is shown here to downregulate FABP3 in endothelial cells, strengthening the regulatory role of endothelial FABP3 in hypertension. However, a dose-dependent effect on FABP3 expression would elucidate the precise behaviour of FABP3 in endothelial cells under hypertension. Overall, these varying expression patterns indicate a modulatory adaptive mechanism of endothelial FABP3 in response to oxidative stress and hypertension, implying that endothelial dysfunction under these stresses involves FABP3's function. Moreover, the downregulation of FABP4 and 5, which are known to be highly expressed in endothelial cells in response to oxLDL (**Figure 2.1B and C**), following a similar trend of FABP3, suggests that they share common regulatory pathways with FABP3 and may participate collectively in the endothelial response to oxidative stress.

Extensive research has been conducted on the roles of FABP4 and FABP5 in the development of metabolic syndrome and atherosclerosis [32]. FABP4, the adipocyte type, is regulated by fatty acids, agonists of PPAR- $\gamma$ , insulin, LPS, and oxLDL in the differentiation of adipocytes [26] and macrophages [33]. In fact, FABP4 deficiency leads to reduced lipolysis efficiency in vivo [34], while in macrophages, it modulates inflammation and cholesterol concentration in vitro [35]. FABP5, the epidermal type, is also found at a lower level in adipocytes compared to FABP4 [36]. However, loss of FABP4 in adipocytes induces FABP5 upregulation that can mask the phenotypes of FABP4 deficiency [37]. Interestingly, mice overexpressing adipose-specific FABP5 exhibited enhanced lipolysis [38]. In macrophages, the FABP4 and 5 expression ratios are identical, and no compensatory regulation was observed [39]. FABP4 and FABP5 deficiency in adipocytes and macrophages generally protect against atherosclerosis. FABP4- and FABP5-deficient mice exhibited protection against atherosclerosis with ameliorated insulin resistance, enhanced cholesterol efflux and insulin sensitivity, and reduced cytokines, pro-inflammatory enzymes production, and tissue fatty-acid composition [28] [37] [40] [41] [42] [43] [44] [45]. Nevertheless, the FABP4 and FABP5 expressions in endothelial cells remain under investigation [46] [9]. Here, we demonstrated the common downregulation trends of the endothelial FABPs (FABP3, 4 and 5) in oxidative-stress-induced endothelial dysfunction, respectively (Figure 2.1). These findings suggest a regulatory role of endothelial FABPs in endothelial dysfunction, possibly linked to the

development of atherosclerosis. Assessment of FABP4 and FABP5 in endothelial cells under inflammation and the hypertensive biochemical milieu would also contribute to this comprehension and is a subject for future studies.

Additionally, the upregulation of FABP3 protein expression by LPS in our immunofluorescence data (**Figure 2.2**) indicates that FABP3 may have a regulatory role in inflammatory-induced endothelial dysfunction. This notion diverges from our premise that FABP3 is upregulated in hypoxic skeletal muscle cells, suggesting tissue-specific regulatory implications of FABP3 (**Figure 2.3**). Overall, these findings provide a comprehensive demonstration of the regulatory pattern of endothelial FABP3 under atherosclerotic stress.

#### **<u>2.6 Conclusion</u>**

We have demonstrated that FABP3 is basally expressed in endothelial cells and that FABP3 expression is regulated under different stress conditions relevant to endothelial dysfunction and atherosclerosis. These findings support our initial hypothesis and underscore the necessity for further research into the functional roles of FABP3 in the context of vascular health and disease. Our findings expand the current knowledge of FABP3's clinical significance within the cardiovascular system, warranting future comprehensive studies that focus on each atherosclerotic stress condition that regulates endothelial FABP3, further evaluating its potential impact on cardiovascular diseases. Further investigation of the regulatory relationship between FABP3 and the endothelium may enhance our understanding and therapeutic approach to endothelial dysfunction in the context of atherosclerotic disorders, potentially leading to novel treatments for PAD and related vascular conditions.

# 2.7 References

- Chmurzyńska, A. The Multigene Family of Fatty Acid-Binding Proteins (FABPs): Function, Structure and Polymorphism. Journal of Applied Genetics 2006, 47, 39–48, doi:10.1007/bf03194597.
- Glatz, J.F.; Kleine, A.H.; van Nieuwenhoven, F.A.; Hermens, W.T.; van Dieijen-Visser, M.P.; van der Vusse, G.J. Fatty-Acid-Binding Protein as a Plasma Marker for the Estimation of Myocardial Infarct Size in Humans. Br Heart J 1994, 71, 135–140, doi:10.1136/hrt.71.2.135.
- Knowlton, A.A.; Apstein, C.S.; Saouf, R.; Brecher, P. Leakage of Heart Fatty Acid Binding Protein with Ischemia and Reperfusion in the Rat. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 1989, 21, 577– 583, doi:10.1016/0022-2828(89)90823-7.
- Haastrup, B.; Gill, S.; Kristensen, S.R.; Jørgensen, P.J.; Glatz, J.F.; Haghfelt, T.; Hørder, M. Biochemical Markers of Ischaemia for the Early Identification of Acute Myocardial Infarction without St Segment Elevation. Cardiology 2000, 94, 254–261, doi:10.1159/000047326.
- Syed, M.H.; Zamzam, A.; Khan, H.; Singh, K.; Forbes, T.L.; Rotstein, O.; Abdin, R.; Eikelboom, J.; Qadura, M. Fatty Acid Binding Protein 3 Is Associated with Peripheral Arterial Disease. JVS: Vascular Science 2020, doi:10.1016/j.jvssci.2020.08.003.
- Bergheanu, S.C.; Bodde, M.C.; Jukema, J.W. Pathophysiology and Treatment of Atherosclerosis: Current View and Future Perspective on Lipoprotein Modification Treatment. Neth Heart J 2017, 25, 231–242, doi:10.1007/s12471-017-0959-2.
- Davignon, J.; Ganz, P. Role of Endothelial Dysfunction in Atherosclerosis. Circulation 2004, 109, III27-32, doi:10.1161/01.CIR.0000131515.03336.f8.
- Félétou, M. Multiple Functions of the Endothelial Cells. In The Endothelium: Part 1: Multiple Functions of the Endothelial Cells—Focus on Endothelium-Derived Vasoactive Mediators; Morgan & Claypool Life Sciences, 2011.
- Yu, C.-W.; Liang, X.; Lipsky, S.; Karaaslan, C.; Kozakewich, H.; Hotamisligil, G.S.; Bischoff, J.; Cataltepe, S. Dual Role of Fatty Acid-Binding Protein 5 on Endothelial Cell Fate: A Potential Link between Lipid Metabolism and Angiogenic Responses. Angiogenesis 2016, 19, 95–106, doi:10.1007/s10456-015-9491-4.

- Poznyak, A.V.; Nikiforov, N.G.; Markin, A.M.; Kashirskikh, D.A.; Myasoedova, V.A.; Gerasimova, E.V.; Orekhov, A.N. Overview of OxLDL and Its Impact on Cardiovascular Health: Focus on Atherosclerosis. Front Pharmacol 2020, 11, 613780, doi:10.3389/fphar.2020.613780.
- Zheng, X.; Zhang, W.; Hu, X. Different Concentrations of Lipopolysaccharide Regulate Barrier Function through the PI3K/Akt Signalling Pathway in Human Pulmonary Microvascular Endothelial Cells. Sci Rep 2018, 8, 9963–9963, doi:10.1038/s41598-018-28089-3.
- Watanabe, T.; Barker, T.A.; Berk, B.C. Angiotensin II and the Endothelium. Hypertension 2005, 45, 163–169, doi:10.1161/01.hyp.0000153321.13792.b9.
- Cao, Y.; Gong, Y.; Liu, L.; Zhou, Y.; Fang, X.; Zhang, C.; Li, Y.; Li, J. The Use of Human Umbilical Vein Endothelial Cells (HUVECs) as an in Vitro Model to Assess the Toxicity of Nanoparticles to Endothelium: A Review. J Appl Toxicol 2017, 37, 1359–1369, doi:10.1002/jat.3470.
- Singh, S.; Adam, M.; Matkar, P.N.; Bugyei-Twum, A.; Desjardins, J.-F.; Chen, H.H.; Nguyen, H.; Bazinet, H.; Michels, D.; Liu, Z.; et al. Endothelial-Specific Loss of IFT88 Promotes Endothelial-to-Mesenchymal Transition and Exacerbates Bleomycin-Induced Pulmonary Fibrosis. Sci Rep 2020, 10, 4466, doi:10.1038/s41598-020-61292-9.
- Singh, S.; Nguyen, H.; Michels, D.; Bazinet, H.; Matkar, P.N.; Liu, Z.; Esene, L.; Adam, M.; Bugyei-Twum, A.; Mebrahtu, E.; et al. BReast CAncer Susceptibility Gene 2 Deficiency Exacerbates Oxidized LDL-Induced DNA Damage and Endothelial Apoptosis. Physiol Rep 2020, 8, e14481, doi:10.14814/phy2.14481.
- Murugavel, S.; Bugyei-Twum, A.; Matkar, P.N.; Al-Mubarak, H.; Chen, H.H.; Adam, M.; Jain, S.; Narang, T.; Abdin, R.M.; Qadura, M.; et al. Valproic Acid Induces Endothelial-to-Mesenchymal Transition-Like Phenotypic Switching. Front Pharmacol 2018, 9, 737, doi:10.3389/fphar.2018.00737.
- Singh, S.; Nguyen, H.C.; Ehsan, M.; Michels, D.C.R.; Singh, P.; Qadura, M.; Singh, K.K. Pravastatin-Induced Changes in Expression of Long Non-Coding and Coding RNAs in Endothelial Cells. Physiol Rep 2021, 9, e14661, doi:10.14814/phy2.14661.
- Rio, D.C.; Ares, M.; Hannon, G.J.; Nilsen, T.W. Purification of RNA Using TRIzol (TRI Reagent). Cold Spring Harb Protoc 2010, 2010, pdb.prot5439, doi:10.1101/pdb.prot5439.

- 19. El-Sharkawey, A. Calculate the Corrected Total Cell Fluorescence (CTCF).; 2016;
- 20. Kuo, A.; Lee, M.Y.; Sessa, W.C. Lipid Droplet Biogenesis and Function in the Endothelium. Circ Res 2017, 120, 1289–1297, doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.116.310498.
- Mitchell, J.A.; Ahmetaj-Shala, B.; Kirkby, N.S.; Wright, W.R.; Mackenzie, L.S.; Reed, D.M.; Mohamed, N. Role of Prostacyclin in Pulmonary Hypertension. Glob Cardiol Sci Pract 2014, 2014, 382–393, doi:10.5339/gcsp.2014.53.
- Bierhansl, L.; Conradi, L.-C.; Treps, L.; Dewerchin, M.; Carmeliet, P. Central Role of Metabolism in Endothelial Cell Function and Vascular Disease. Physiology (Bethesda) 2017, 32, 126–140, doi:10.1152/physiol.00031.2016.
- Xu, J.; Dang, Y.; Ren, Y.R.; Liu, J.O. Cholesterol Trafficking Is Required for mTOR Activation in Endothelial Cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2010, 107, 4764–4769, doi:10.1073/pnas.0910872107.
- 24. Hülsmann, W.C.; Dubelaar, M.-L. Aspects of Fatty Acid Metabolism in Vascular Endothelial Cells. Biochimie 1988, 70, 681–686, doi:10.1016/0300-9084(88)90253-2.
- Xu, B.; Chen, L.; Zhan, Y.; Marquez, K.N.S.; Zhuo, L.; Qi, S.; Zhu, J.; He, Y.; Chen, X.; Zhang, H.; et al. The Biological Functions and Regulatory Mechanisms of Fatty Acid Binding Protein 5 in Various Diseases. Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology 2022, 10.
- Furuhashi, M.; Saitoh, S.; Shimamoto, K.; Miura, T. Fatty Acid-Binding Protein 4 (FABP4): Pathophysiological Insights and Potent Clinical Biomarker of Metabolic and Cardiovascular Diseases. Clin Med Insights Cardiol 2014, 8, 23–33, doi:10.4137/CMC.S17067.
- Hotamisligil, G.S.; Bernlohr, D.A. Metabolic Functions of FABPs--Mechanisms and Therapeutic Implications. Nat Rev Endocrinol 2015, 11, 592–605, doi:10.1038/nrendo.2015.122.
- Maeda, K.; Uysal, K.T.; Makowski, L.; Görgün, C.Z.; Atsumi, G.; Parker, R.A.; Brüning, J.; Hertzel, A.V.; Bernlohr, D.A.; Hotamisligil, G.S. Role of the Fatty Acid Binding Protein Mal1 in Obesity and Insulin Resistance. Diabetes 2003, 52, 300–307, doi:10.2337/diabetes.52.2.300.

- Coe, N.R.; Bernlohr, D.A. Physiological Properties and Functions of Intracellular Fatty Acid-Binding Proteins. Biochim Biophys Acta 1998, 1391, 287–306, doi:10.1016/s0005-2760(97)00205-1.
- Vassileva, G.; Huwyler, L.; Poirier, K.; Agellon, L.B.; Toth, M.J. The Intestinal Fatty Acid Binding Protein Is Not Essential for Dietary Fat Absorption in Mice. The FASEB Journal 2000, 14, 2040–2046, doi:10.1096/fj.99-0959com.
- Pastore, L.; Tessitore, A.; Martinotti, S.; Toniato, E.; Alesse, E.; Bravi, M.C.; Ferri, C.; Desideri, G.; Gulino, A.; Santucci, A. Angiotensin II Stimulates Intercellular Adhesion Molecule-1 (ICAM-1) Expression by Human Vascular Endothelial Cells and Increases Soluble ICAM-1 Release in Vivo. Circulation 1999, 100, 1646–1652, doi:10.1161/01.cir.100.15.1646.
- Nguyen, H.C.; Qadura, M.; Singh, K.K. Role of the Fatty Acid Binding Proteins in Cardiovascular Diseases: A Systematic Review. J Clin Med 2020, 9, 3390, doi:10.3390/jcm9113390.
- 33. Shum, B.O.V.; Mackay, C.R.; Gorgun, C.Z.; Frost, M.J.; Kumar, R.K.; Hotamisligil, G.S.; Rolph, M.S. The Adipocyte Fatty Acid-Binding Protein aP2 Is Required in Allergic Airway Inflammation. J Clin Invest 2006, 116, 2183–2192, doi:10.1172/JCI24767.
- Coe, N.R.; Simpson, M.A.; Bernlohr, D.A. Targeted Disruption of the Adipocyte Lipid-Binding Protein (aP2 Protein) Gene Impairs Fat Cell Lipolysis and Increases Cellular Fatty Acid Levels. J Lipid Res 1999, 40, 967–972.
- Llaverias, G.; Noé, V.; Peñuelas, S.; Vázquez-Carrera, M.; Sánchez, R.M.; Laguna, J.C.; Ciudad, C.J.; Alegret, M. Atorvastatin Reduces CD68, FABP4, and HBP Expression in oxLDL-Treated Human Macrophages. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 2004, 318, 265– 274, doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2004.04.021.
- Simpson, M.A.; LiCata, V.J.; Ribarik Coe, N.; Bernlohr, D.A. Biochemical and Biophysical Analysis of the Intracellular Lipid Binding Proteins of Adipocytes. Mol. Cell. Biochem. 1999, 192, 33–40.
- Hotamisligil, G.S.; Johnson, R.S.; Distel, R.J.; Ellis, R.; Papaioannou, V.E.; Spiegelman,
  B.M. Uncoupling of Obesity from Insulin Resistance through a Targeted Mutation in aP2,
  the Adipocyte Fatty Acid Binding Protein. Science 1996, 274, 1377–1379,
  doi:10.1126/science.274.5291.1377.

- Hertzel, A.V.; Bennaars-Eiden, A.; Bernlohr, D.A. Increased Lipolysis in Transgenic Animals Overexpressing the Epithelial Fatty Acid Binding Protein in Adipose Cells. J. Lipid Res. 2002, 43, 2105–2111, doi:10.1194/jlr.m200227-jlr200.
- Makowski, L.; Boord, J.B.; Maeda, K.; Babaev, V.R.; Uysal, K.T.; Morgan, M.A.; Parker, R.A.; Suttles, J.; Fazio, S.; Hotamisligil, G.S.; et al. Lack of Macrophage Fatty-Acid-Binding Protein aP2 Protects Mice Deficient in Apolipoprotein E against Atherosclerosis. Nat. Med. 2001, 7, 699–705, doi:10.1038/89076.
- Uysal, K.T.; Scheja, L.; Wiesbrock, S.M.; Bonner-Weir, S.; Hotamisligil, G.S. Improved Glucose and Lipid Metabolism in Genetically Obese Mice Lacking aP2. Endocrinology 2000, 141, 3388–3396, doi:10.1210/endo.141.9.7637.
- Boord, J.B.; Maeda, K.; Makowski, L.; Babaev, V.R.; Fazio, S.; Linton, M.F.; Hotamisligil, G.S. Adipocyte Fatty Acid-Binding Protein, aP2, Alters Late Atherosclerotic Lesion Formation in Severe Hypercholesterolemia. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 2002, 22, 1686–1691, doi:10.1161/01.atv.0000033090.81345.e6.
- 42. Makowski, L.; Brittingham, K.C.; Reynolds, J.M.; Suttles, J.; Hotamisligil, G.S. The Fatty Acid-Binding Protein, aP2, Coordinates Macrophage Cholesterol Trafficking and Inflammatory Activity. Macrophage Expression of aP2 Impacts Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated Receptor Gamma and IkappaB Kinase Activities. J. Biol. Chem. 2005, 280, 12888–12895, doi:10.1074/jbc.M413788200.
- Cao, H.; Maeda, K.; Gorgun, C.Z.; Kim, H.-J.; Park, S.-Y.; Shulman, G.I.; Kim, J.K.; Hotamisligil, G.S. Regulation of Metabolic Responses by Adipocyte/Macrophage Fatty Acid-Binding Proteins in Leptin-Deficient Mice. Diabetes 2006, 55, 1915–1922, doi:10.2337/db05-1496.
- Boord, J.B.; Maeda, K.; Makowski, L.; Babaev, V.R.; Fazio, S.; Linton, M.F.; Hotamisligil,
  G.S. Combined Adipocyte-Macrophage Fatty Acid-Binding Protein Deficiency Improves
  Metabolism, Atherosclerosis, and Survival in Apolipoprotein E-Deficient Mice.
  Circulation 2004, 110, 1492–1498, doi:10.1161/01.CIR.0000141735.13202.B6.
- Maeda, K.; Cao, H.; Kono, K.; Gorgun, C.Z.; Furuhashi, M.; Uysal, K.T.; Cao, Q.; Atsumi, G.; Malone, H.; Krishnan, B.; et al. Adipocyte/Macrophage Fatty Acid Binding Proteins Control Integrated Metabolic Responses in Obesity and Diabetes. Cell Metab. 2005, 1, 107–119, doi:10.1016/j.cmet.2004.12.008.

Antohe, F.; Popov, D.; Radulescu, L.; Simionescu, N.; Börchers, T.; Spener, F.; Simionescu, M. Heart Microvessels and Aortic Endothelial Cells Express the 15 kDa Heart-Type Fatty Acid-Binding Proteins. Eur. J. Cell Biol. 1998, 76, 102–109, doi:10.1016/S0171-9335(98)80022-8.

# <u>Chapter 3: Loss of fatty acid binding protein 3 ameliorates lipopolysaccharide-induced</u> <u>inflammation and endothelial dysfunction</u>

The following chapter is reproduced with permission and modification from:

Nguyen, H.C.; Bu, S.; Nikfarjam, S.; Rasheed, B.; Michels, D.C.R.; Singh, A.; Singh, S.; Marszal, C.; McGuire, J.J.; Feng, Q.; et al. Loss of Fatty Acid Binding Protein 3 Ameliorates Lipopolysaccharide-Induced Inflammation and Endothelial Dysfunction. *J Biol Chem* **2023**, *299*, 102921, doi:10.1016/j.jbc.2023.102921.

See Appendix B for information.

## 3.1 Abstract

Circulating fatty acid binding protein 3 (FABP3) is an effective biomarker of myocardial injury and peripheral artery disease (PAD). The endothelium, which forms the inner-most layer of every blood vessel, is exposed to higher levels of FABP3 in PAD or following myocardial injury, but the pathophysiological role of endothelial FABP3, the effect of FABP3 exposure on endothelial cells, and related mechanisms are unknown. Here, we aimed to evaluate the pathophysiological role of endothelial FABP3 and related mechanisms in vitro. Our molecular and functional in vitro analyses show that: 1) FABP3 is basally expressed in endothelial cells; 2) inflammatory stress in the form of lipopolysaccharide (LPS) upregulated endothelial FABP3 expression; 3) loss of endogenous FABP3 protected endothelial cells against LPS-induced endothelial dysfunction; however, exogenous FABP3 exposure exacerbated LPS-induced inflammation; 4) loss of endogenous FABP3 protected against LPS-induced endothelial dysfunction by promoting cell survival and anti-inflammatory and pro-angiogenic signalling pathways. Together, these findings suggest that gain-of endothelial FABP3 exacerbates, whereas loss-of endothelial FABP3 inhibits LPS-induced endothelial dysfunction by promoting cell survival and anti-inflammatory and proangiogenic signalling. We propose that an increased circulating FABP3 in myocardial injury or PAD patients may be detrimental to endothelial function and, therefore, therapies aimed at inhibiting FABP3 may improve endothelial function in diseased states.

# **3.2 Introduction**

The fatty acid-binding proteins (FABPs) are a family of transport proteins for fatty acids and other lipophilic substances between extra- and intracellular membranes and receptors and play an important role in the regulation of lipid homeostasis [1]. FABPs are also involved in the production of cellular phospholipid membranes in the endoplasmic reticulum and various enzymatic activities in the cytosol [2]. The FABP protein superfamily is encoded by nine different genes, and different FABPs have usually been named according to their dominant expression in certain tissues [3], of which FABP4 and 5 are reported to be expressed in the endothelial cells [1] [4], where they play overlapping and non-redundant roles. They are pro-angiogenic proteins and modulate important signalling pathways, including p38, eNOS, and PPAR $\delta$  signalling [1] [4].

The myocardial isoform, heart-type fatty acid-binding protein (H-FABP), is encoded by the FABP3 gene. Besides its abundant expression in the cardiomyocytes, FABP3 is also expressed significantly in other cell types [5]. Their lipid-trafficking mechanism is essential for the metabolic homeostasis of cardiac function [6]. For their unique cardiac expression profile, FABP3 has been proposed as an effective biomarker of myocardial injury [7] as FABP3 is readily released from heart muscles into the blood following a heart attack [8] [9] [10]. The release of FABP3 from the injured myocardium has been observed in both animal models [11] and myocardial infarction patients [12]. Aside from the general lipid-trafficking mechanism and its feature as a cardiac biomarker, the unique function of FABP3 remains largely unknown, particularly its roles in cardiovascular diseases (CVDs). Systemic infections, or sepsis, have been reported to exacerbate cardiac injuries in atherosclerotic patients [13]. Physiologically, the body's lipids contribute not only as an efficient source of energy but also as a source of regulatory signals maintaining proper systemic functions or homeostasis, such as hormonal balance [14] and inflammation [15]. Pathologically, lipids bioavailability and their interacting factors are the driving agents of the metabolic syndrome [16]. Moreover, the bioavailability of lipids and their interacting factors have been employed as biomarkers for cardiovascular-related complications [17].

Accordingly, we recently identified increased circulating levels of FABP3 in peripheral arterial disease (PAD) patients with severe inflammation and particularly undergoing critical limb ischemia, who were negative for any signs of cardiac damage[18]. The endothelium lines the inner

walls of all blood vessels and is in direct contact with blood and regulates tissue-blood metabolic and signalling exchanges, vascular homeostasis, and inflammation; impaired endothelial function or endothelial dysfunction is a key mechanism behind CVDs [19] [20] [14]. It is important to note that in both myocardial ischemia and PAD patients, endothelial cells are directly exposed to higher levels of FABP3 [8] [9] [10]. However, the source of FABP3 and its effect on the endothelium remains largely unknown, and the role of endothelial FABP3 has not been fully characterized at baseline and under stress conditions. Accordingly, our objective is to evaluate 1) the endothelium as a potential source of FABP3, 2) the role of endothelial FABP3 in endothelial function and survival, and 3) the effect of increased FABP3 exposure on endothelial cell function and inflammation at baseline and after stress, and 4) related mechanisms.

Chronic inflammation is the central driving mechanism between endothelial dysfunction and CVDs [21] [22]. Inflammation is also a common factor between myocardial ischemia/heart failure [23] and PADs [24], which are associated with increased circulatory FABP3 and thereby increased FABP3 exposure to endothelial cells. Lipopolysaccharide (LPS), a Gram-negative bacterial endotoxin, is known to induce severe inflammation and endothelial dysfunction [25]; accordingly, LPS is extensively used in experimental models to study inflammation and associated endothelial dysfunction *in vitro* and *in vivo* [26] [25] [27] [28].

Our data demonstrate that endothelial cells basally express FABP3; inflammation, in the form of LPS treatment, significantly up-regulates endothelial FABP3 expression. Furthermore, loss- of endothelial FABP3 inhibits LPS-induced endothelial dysfunction by promoting cell survival and anti-inflammatory and pro-angiogenic pathways. In contrast, the gain of endothelial FABP3 appears to exacerbate inflammation and endothelial function. Our results suggest that elevated FABP3 in myocardial injury or PAD may be detrimental to the endothelium; therefore, therapies aimed at inhibiting serum FABP3 may improve endothelial function in diseased states.

## 3.3 Methods

*Animals* - Wild-type C57BL/6J (Charles River Laboratories, Quebec, Canada) mice were used in accordance with the Guide to Care and Use of Animals of the Canadian Council of Animal Care (CCAC). The use of animals was approved by the Animal Care Committee at Western University, Canada (AUP# 2020-128D).

*Cell Culture, FABP3 Silencing and LPS treatment* - Human Umbilical Vein Endothelial Cells (HUVECs, Lonza # CC-2519, pooled, passage # 4-7), a standard model to study endothelial cells function *in vitro* [28] [55] [53] [56] [54], were grown in endothelial-cell complete growth medium-2 (EGM<sup>TM</sup>-2 Bulletkit<sup>TM</sup>; Lonza). HUVECs were reverse transfected with either siFABP3 (optimized to 5nM, sense strand: 5'-GCUAAUUGAUGGAAAACUCTT -3' and antisense strand: 5'-GAGUUUUCCAUCAAUUAGCTC-3') or scrambled control (Ambion<sup>TM</sup> Silencer<sup>TM</sup> Select Pre-Designed siRNA) using Lipofectamine RNAi-max (Invitrogen) and OptiMEM (Gibco). Following 24 hours of reverse transfection, HUVECs were treated with either LPS (Sigma-Aldrich) or diluent (PBS) in MCDB-131 low-serum media (+1% FBS) for different time points. HUVECs were starved overnight in the MCDB-131 low-serum media before treatment.

RNA Extraction, cDNA Synthesis, and Quantitative Real-Time PCR – Following transfection and treatment, total RNAs were extracted and quantified using the Trizol standard method (Invitrogen) [107]. Total RNA was quantified using NanoDrop (Thermo Scientific). Complementary DNAs (cDNA) were synthesized from RNAs using the Quantitect kit (Qiagen). Quantitative polymerase chain reactions (qPCR) were conducted to evaluate the expression of targeted genes using SYBR (BioRad), primers and QuantStudio-3 Real-Time PCR system (Applied Biosystems). All protocols were conducted in accordance with the manufacturer's instructions. The qPCR was performed for GAPDH, vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 (VCAM-1), intercellular adhesion molecule-1 5'-(ICAM-1), E-selectin [108], p21, eNOS [53], FABP3 (forward CATGACCAAGCCTACCACAAT-3' and reverse 5'-CCCCAACTTAAAGCTGATCTCTG), FABP4 [109], FABP5 [109], IL1b (forward 5'-GAAGCTGATGGCCCTAAACA-3' and reverse 5'- AAGCCCTTGCTGTAGTGGTG-3'), Il6 (forward 5'-AGTGAGGAACAAGCCAGAGC-3' and reverse 5'-GTCAGGGGTGGTTATTGCAT-3'), MCP1 (forward 5'-GCCTCCAGCATGAAAGTCTC-3' and reverse 5'-AGGTGACTGGGGCATTGAT-3') and 5' -TCTATGGCGCTGAGATTGTG-3' 5'-AKT (forward and reverse CTTAATGTGCCCGTCCTTGT-3').

*Western Blot* – Cultured HUVECs were collected in RIPA buffer to isolate total proteins [110]. An equal amount of proteins from each sample were loaded onto sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS) polyacrylamide gels, which were then subjected to electrophoresis. Proteins were then transferred onto PVDF membranes (BioRad), and the following antibodies were employed to detect for the proteins of interest (Cell Signalling Technology): ICAM-1 (4915S, dilution 1:1000), VCAM-1 (13662S, dilution 1:1000), eNOS (32027S, dilution 1:1000), phospho (p)-eNOS (Millipore, 07-428-I, dilution 1:1000), Akt (4691S, dilution 1:1000), p-Akt (4060S, dilution 1:1000), cleaved-caspase 3 (9664S, dilution 1:1000), p21 (2947S, dilution 1:1000) and GAPDH (5174S, dilution 1:1000). Western blot for FABP3 was performed using polyclonal antibody (Thermo Fisher, PA5-92386, dilution 1:1000) and wild-type mouse total heart protein was used as a positive control. Western blots were developed using chemiluminescence substrates (BioRad) and the Licor-Odyssey XF Imaging System. Densitometry was performed to measure the band intensities using the Image Studio<sup>™</sup> Lite.

*Cell Counting* - In reverse transfection with either siFABP3 or scrambled control, HUVECs were seeded at a density of  $2 \times 10^5$  cells/well in a 6-well plate prior to LPS or diluent control treatment for 24 h. Cells from each well were then harvested and counted using an Automated Cell Counter (CytoSmart).

Scratch Assay – In reverse transfection with either siFABP3 or scrambled control, HUVECs were seeded at a density of  $2 \times 10^5$  cells/well in a 6-well plate and allowed to grow to 70 to 80% confluency. Each well was then administered a consistent straight scratch prior to LPS- or diluent control treatment. Phase-contrast microscopy using an adapted camera (Optika) was employed to take pictures of cells in each well migrating into the scratch over time to evaluate for migrating capacity as described [111]. The experiment was performed in triplicates.

In vitro Tube-formation Assay - The In vitro Angiogenesis Kit (Millipore) was employed to evaluate endothelial angiogenic properties. HUVECs were transfected and seeded at a density of  $2 \times 10^5$  cells/well in a 6-well plate and allowed to grow to ~75% confluency. The kit-provided matrix solution was added into designated wells of a 96-well plate. Transfected cells from the previous preparation were then harvested and seeded at an equal density of 1-1.5 x 10<sup>4</sup> cells/well onto the designated wells in EGM-2 supplemented with LPS or vehicle diluent. Phase-contrast microscopy (Optika) was employed to obtain pictures of cells under phase-contrast in each designated well over time to monitor tube formation, and quantification was performed according to the manufacturer's instructions.

*Exogenous Recombinant FABP3-treatment* – HUVECs grown in endothelial cell complete growth medium-2 were exposed to different doses of human-recombinant FABP3 (Cayman Chemical) or diluent (PBS) in low-serum MCDB-131 media. Following 1 h of exposure, HUVECs were treated with either LPS or diluent control for 6 h for RNA extraction to perform qPCR and 24 h for protein extraction to perform western blotting.

*Enzyme-linked Immunosorbent Assay (ELISA)*– HUVECs were cultured and treated with 100 ng/mL of LPS or vehicle control for 24 h following 80% confluency. Later, the culture medium was collected, and ELISA for FABP3 was performed using concentrated culture medium and analyzed as instructed by DuoSet ELISA Development System and Ancillary Reagent Kit 2 (R&D Systems, Cat. # DY1678 and DY008). ELISA for circulating FABP3 was performed following 4 hours of intraperitoneal injection of LPS (4 mg/kg) or vehicle (PBS) to the wild-type mice (N = 6/group, C57BL/6 12-15 weeks old male – Charles River Laboratories, Quebec, Canada). Blood was collected in heparinized tubes, centrifuged, and the supernatant was collected to isolate plasma. A total of undiluted 100  $\mu$ L of mouse plasma was used to perform ELISA as instructed by the Mouse FABP3 ELISA Kit (Froggabio, Cat #MOES01684).

Isometric Tension Myography Studies of Isolated Aortas – Wild-type male mice (N = 4, 12-15 weeks of age) were euthanized by overdose inhalation of isoflurane. Descending thoracic aortas were removed from mice, placed in ice-cold Krebs HEPES buffer, and cleaned of adherent fat and connective tissues. Krebs HEPES buffer (pH 7.4, 37 °C) was composed of 114 mM NaCl, 4.7 mM KCl, 0.8 mM KH<sub>2</sub>PO4, 1.2 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub> 6H<sub>2</sub>O, 2.5 mM, CaCl<sub>2</sub> 2H<sub>2</sub>O, 11.0 mM D-Glucose, 20 mM NaHCO<sub>3</sub> and 5 mM HEPES hemisodium salt. Krebs buffer was bubbled continuously with 95% O<sub>2</sub>/5% CO<sub>2</sub> during myograph experiments. In brief, we used DMT 620M myograph chambers with the methods and conditions described in [41] for continuous measuring and recording of isometric tension with mouse aortas. The aorta from each mouse was divided into two groups: control (vehicle, PBS) and treatment (rhFABP3, 45 ng/mL). We tested the viability of aorta preparations (1-3 mm lengths) using 90 mM KCl. Viable tissue contractions were >1 mN. We assessed acetylcholine-induced relaxations of phenylephrine-contracted aortas under isometric tension conditions as we described previously [41]. Aortic rings mounted in the DMT620M chambers were exposed to treatments for 20 min, then contracted with phenylephrine (3  $\mu$ M), and then the acetylcholine dose-response curves were constructed.

*Prime qPCR Array* – RNAs extracted from HUVECs transfected with either siFABP3 or scrambled control and treated with LPS or vehicles were subjected to a prime qPCR array screening a library of vascular disease-related genes (BioRad, Vascular disease, tier 1, H384, cat#10038720). The expression levels of the differentially expressed mRNAs (DE mRNAs) targets were measured and then organized to outline the topmost upregulated or downregulated gene targets. HUVECs were treated with either LPS or diluent in MCDB-131, and RNAs were extracted to perform qPCR validation. Validation of the outlined targets was then conducted by regular qPCR procedure using the primers listed in **Table 3.6** as described in the *RNA Extraction, cDNA Synthesis, and Quantitative Real-Time PCR section.* The targets were also analyzed by gene-ontology enrichment using Enrichr software to highlight the biological processes or pathways affected by the differentially expressed genes.

*Data and Statistical Analysis* - Differences between the means of two groups and more than two groups were calculated using the Student's t-test and Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) statistical analysis, respectively. ANOVA significant results were followed by the post-hoc Tukey's test. Data are presented as mean  $\pm$  S.D. unless otherwise indicated. N = number of biological replicates. In myograph experiments, relaxation (%) by acetylcholine was calculated as the reversal of tension induced by the contractile agonist (phenylephrine). Acetylcholine-induced relaxations were analyzed using 2-way ANOVA with Bonferroni post-hoc test for pairwise comparisons. *p* <0.05 was considered significant.

# 3.4 Results

**LPS upregulates FABP3 expression in endothelial cells** - Our FABP3 qPCR data on vehicletreated (control) endothelial cells confirmed the basal expression of FABP3 in HUVECs (**Figure 3.1A**). Next, to evaluate the effect of inflammation in endothelial cells in the form of LPS treatment on FABP3 expression, we treated endothelial cells with different doses of LPS (10, 20, 50, 100 and 200 ng/mL) or vehicle control for 24 hours and then measured the FABP3 expression. Our qPCR data show significant up-regulation of FABP3 in endothelial cells by all the doses of LPS treatment (**Figure 3.1A**). Maximum but similar FABP3 expression was observed for 100 and 200 ng/mL of LPS, and accordingly, 100 ng/mL was chosen to be the experimental dose to evaluate the effect of loss of FABP3 on LPS-induced endothelial dysfunction. A similar dose has been used by many other comparable studies in endothelial cells [29] [30]. We also evaluated the effect of time on LPS-induced FABP3 upregulation and observed that the FABP3 was up-regulated as early as 1-hour post-treatment (**Figure 3.1B**). We then tested whether LPS-induced FABP3 up-regulation is associated with increased secretion of FABP3 in the culture medium and observed increased LPS-treatment-induced secretion of FABP3 in the culture medium (**Figure 3.1C**).

Endothelial cells' loss of FABP3 protects against LPS-induced endothelial dysfunction and apoptosis - To understand the effect of LPS-induced upregulation of FABP3 on endothelial function, we successfully silenced FABP3 in HUVECs and observed ~90% reduction at the transcript level (Figure 3.1D). FABP3-silencing was also confirmed at the protein level by western blotting for FABP3 (Figure 3.1E). We then treated FABP3-silenced and scrambled-control endothelial cells with 100 ng/mL of LPS and evaluated endothelial function in the form of tubeforming, migratory and proliferative potential of endothelial cells. To our surprise, the loss of FABP3 significantly increased the number of nodes and tube length in FABP3-silenced vs. control endothelial cells (Figure 3.1F-H). LPS treatment is known to inhibit tube-forming potential [31]; accordingly, we also observed significant inhibition of tube formation in LPS-treated scrambledtransfected vs. vehicle-treated scrambled-transfected control endothelial cells (Figure 3.1F-H). Interestingly, loss of FABP3 significantly restored tube length in LPS-treated FABP3-deficient cells compared to LPS-treated control endothelial cells (Figure 3.1F, H). However, the loss of FABP3 showed no effect on the LPS-induced inhibition of the number of nodes in HUVECs (Figure 3.1F, G). Next, to understand the effect of LPS treatment on the migratory capacity of FABP3-deficient endothelial cells, we measured migratory capacity via scratch assay [32]. Loss of FABP3 and LPS treatment appeared to inhibit and up-regulate endothelial cell migration, respectively (Figure 3.11, J). LPS-induced upregulation of endothelial cell migration has been previously reported depending on specific dosages [33]; however, loss of FABP3 was able to attenuate LPS's effect on endothelial cell migration (Figure 3.1I, J). We observed increased LPSinduced migration, but the difference was non-significant, and that can be attributed to the sensitivity of the method used. We then evaluated the effect of loss of FABP3 and LPS on the proliferative capacity of endothelial cells by measuring the cell count using the Cytosmart Automated Cell Counter. Loss of FABP3 appeared not to affect endothelial cell population; however, LPS treatment significantly reduced endothelial cell numbers, which was, interestingly, rescued in the FABP3-silenced and LPS-treated in comparison to LPS-treated scrambled controltransfected endothelial cells (**Figure 3.1K**). Next, to understand whether LPS-induced reduced cell proliferation is associated with increased cell death and whether the loss of FABP3 is associated with the restoration of cell proliferation due to increased survival, we measured apoptosis in FABP3-silenced and LPS-treated endothelial cells. Our western blot data demonstrated the absence of cleaved caspase-3 protein in the siFABP3-transfected endothelial cells, suggesting that LPS-induced apoptosis in endothelial cells was inhibited by loss of FABP3 in LPS-treated endothelial cells (**Figure 3.1L**). Overall, these data indicate that loss of FABP3 protects against LPS-induced endothelial dysfunction by restoring angiogenic, migratory and proliferative potential and by inhibiting LPS-induced apoptosis of endothelial cells.

Endothelial cell loss of FABP3 restores LPS-induced endothelial nitric oxide synthase expression and activation - To understand the effect of loss of FABP3 and LPS on the molecular and regulatory level in endothelial cells, we evaluated the expression and activation of the essential regulators of endothelial function. Endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) and protein kinase B (AKT) are the two key regulators of endothelial function [34]. LPS is known to inhibit eNOS expression and activation [35], and accordingly, we also observed a reduction in the eNOS protein expression and activation levels in LPS-treated endothelial cells (Figure 3.2A-C). Interestingly, we observed a significantly higher protein level of eNOS in FABP3-silenced endothelial cells, which was associated with increased phosphorylation of eNOS in LPS-treated FABP3-silenced cells (Figure 3.2A-C). This indicates that LPS-associated inhibition of eNOS expression and activation was restored in LPS-treated FABP3-silenced endothelial cells. Given that the PI3K/AKT/eNOS signalling pathway is critical for the maintenance of endothelial function and that activated AKT can directly activate eNOS [34], we next measured total and activated AKT levels in FABP3-silenced and LPS-treated endothelial cells. LPS has been shown to compromise AKT activation [36]; accordingly, we also observed reduced AKT activation in LPS-treated endothelial cells (Figure 3.2D). However, to our surprise, when we quantified and evaluated the activated AKT vs. total AKT, the inhibition was not significant between the LPS-treated siFABP3and scrambled-transfected HUVECs (Figure 3.2E). Next, we questioned whether this lack of difference is due to the inhibition of total AKT expression by LPS treatment in endothelial cells and quantified total AKT. As expected, LPS significantly inhibited total AKT expression in endothelial cells (Figure 3.2F). Interestingly, AKT expression was restored in LPS-treated FABP3-silenced endothelial cells (Figure 3.2F), and when we quantified activated AKT, we

observed a significant up-regulation again for both FABP3-silenced endothelial cells and LPStreated FABP3-silenced endothelial cells (**Figure 3.2D, H**). Protein p21, a cell cycle inhibitor, is known to regulate endothelial cell proliferation physiologically and also in pathological conditions [37]. Most importantly, LPS-mediated inhibition of cell proliferation has been previously attributed to p21-upregulation [38]. Accordingly, we measured the p21 expression in FABP3silenced and LPS-treated endothelial cells. Our transcript data showed a significant reduction in p21 transcript level in FABP3-silenced endothelial cells; p21 transcript and protein appeared to be up-regulated in LPS-treated endothelial cells, whereas the p21 expression was restored in LPStreated FABP3-silenced endothelial cells in comparison to LPS-treated scrambled controltransfected endothelial cells (**Figure 3.2I-K**). These data indicated that loss of FABP3-associated restoration of endothelial function in LPS-treated endothelial cells is mediated by increased AKT/eNOS signalling and inhibition of LPS-associated p21 expression.



A, HUVECs were treated with different doses of LPS, and RNA was extracted 24 h posttreatment to perform qPCR for FABP3. B, HUVECs were treated with 100 ng/mL of LPS, and RNA was extracted 1h and 24 h post-treatment to perform qPCR for FABP3. C, HUVECs were treated with

100 ng/mL of LPS for 24 h, and culture media were collected to perform ELISA for FABP3. D and E, HUVECs were transfected with either scrambled control or siFABP3, and RNAs and proteins were extracted to perform qPCR and immunoblot, respectively, for FABP3; GAPDH was used as a control. F-H, HUVECs were transfected with either scrambled control or siFABP3 and seeded on Matrigel in the presence of vehicle or LPS for 6 h, and tube formation was assessed microscopically (F); the number of nodes (G) and tube lengths (H) were quantified (scale bar =  $100 \mu m$ ). I and J, HUVECs were transfected with either scrambled control or siFABP3, and 24 h post-transfection, a scratch was made, and cell migration was assessed using phase contrast light microscopy at 0, 8, and 20 h, scale bar =  $200 \,\mu m$  (I), and migratory capacity was calculated (J). K, HUVECs were transfected with either scrambled control or siFABP3 for 24 h, and the live cells were counted using Cytosmart automated cell counter. L, HUVECs were transfected with either scrambled control or siFABP3, and then proteins were extracted to perform immunoblot for cleaved-CASPASE3 and GAPDH (loading control). Differences between the means of two groups and more than two groups were calculated using the Student's t-test and oneway ANOVA with Tukey's multiple comparison test, respectively. \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.010.001 versus Vehicle, control and Scr Control. #p < 0.05, ##p < 0.01, ###p < 0.001 versus Scr Control + LPS. N = 3 in triplicates for qPCR. Data are represented as mean  $\pm$  SD for C, G, H, and J and as mean + SD for A, B, D and K. FABP3, fatty acid-binding protein 3; HUVECs, human umbilical vein endothelial cells; LPS, lipopolysaccharide; qPCR, quantitative polymerase chain reaction.



Figure 3.2 Endothelial cell loss of FABP3 promotes eNOS expression and activation

HUVECs were transfected with either scrambled control or siFABP3 for 24 h and treated for an additional 24 h with LPS, and then protein and RNA were extracted to perform immunoblot and qPCR, respectively. *A*–*C*, immunoblotting for eNOS, p-eNOS, and GAPDH (*A*), and quantification for eNOS (*B*) and p-eNOS/eNOS ratio (*C*). *D*, *E*, *F* and *H*, immunoblotting for AKT, pAKT, and GAPDH and quantification for pAKT/AKT ratio (*E*), AKT (*F*), and pAKT (*H*). *J* and *K*, immunoblot (*J*) and (*K*) quantification for p21. *G* and *I*, qPCR was performed for *AKT* (*G*) and *p21* (*I*). Differences between the means of groups were calculated using one-way ANOVA with Tukey's multiple comparison test. \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001 versus Scr Control. #p < 0.05, #p < 0.01, ##p < 0.01, ### < p0.001 versus Scr Control+LPS. \$p < 0.05 versus siFABP3. N = 3 in triplicates for qPCR. Data are represented as mean  $\pm$  SD except for G and I, whose data are presented as mean + SD. AKT, protein kinase B; eNOS, endothelial nitric oxide synthase; FABP3, fatty acid–binding protein 3; HUVECs, human umbilical vein endothelial cells; LPS, lipopolysaccharide.

Endogenous FABP3-deficiency ameliorates LPS-induced inflammation in endothelial cells -To assess the role of FABP3 in endothelial inflammation, we evaluated the expression level of key inflammatory markers, including the ICAM-1, VCAM-1, and E-selectin and the secretory inflammatory cytokines, such as IL1b, IL6 and MCP-1 in FABP3-silenced and LPS-treated endothelial cells. LPS treatment is known to induce ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 expression [39]; accordingly, we also observed a significant induction of ICAM-1 (Figure 3.3A-C) and VCAM-1 (Figure 3.3D-F) in the LPS-treated scrambled control-transfected endothelial cells. Loss of FABP3 significantly inhibited LPS-induced expression of ICAM-1 at both the transcript and protein levels in HUVECs (Figure 3.3A-C). LPS-induced VCAM-1 transcript level also appeared to be inhibited by loss of FABP3 in endothelial cells; however, to our surprise, this data did not translate to the protein levels, where we observed a further increased level of VCAM-1 in the LPStreated FABP3-silenced endothelial cells vs. LPS-treated scrambled control-transfected endothelial cells (Figure 3.3D-F). Similar to ICAM-1 and VCAM-1, the expression level of Eselectin was induced by LPS, which was again restored by loss of FABP3 in LPS-treated FABP3silenced endothelial cells (Figure 3.3G). LPS is also known to promote the expression of inflammatory cytokines, such as the interleukins (IL1b, IL6) and the chemoattractant factor MCP-1 [40]. Accordingly, we observed LPS-induced significant upregulation in the expression level of IL1b and IL6 along with the expression of MCP-1 in endothelial cells (Figure 3.3H-J). Interestingly, loss of FABP3 was successfully able to significantly inhibit the expression of all these studied inflammatory molecules in LPS-treated FABP3-silenced endothelial cells (Figure **3.3H-J**). Taken together, these data indicate that loss of FABP3 protects against LPS-induced inflammation in endothelial cells.



Figure 3.3 Inflammatory markers modulated by loss of FABP3's function in LPS-treated endothelial cells

HUVECs were transfected with either scrambled control or siFABP3 for 24 h and treated for an additional 6 h and 24 h with LPS to isolate RNA and protein, respectively. *A*, *D*, *G*–*J*, bar graphs representing qPCR data for *ICAM-1* (*A*), *VCAM-1* (*D*), *E-SELECTIN* (*G*), *IL1b* (*H*), *IL6* (*I*), and *MCP-1* (*J*). *B*, *C*–*F*, immunoblot and quantification for ICAM-1 (*B* and *C*) and ICAM-1 (*E* and *F*). Differences between the means of groups were calculated using one-way ANOVA with Tukey's multiple comparison test. \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001 versus Scr Control. ##p < 0.01, ###p < 0.001 versus Scr Control+LPS. N = 3 in triplicates for qPCR. Data are represented as mean + SD, except for C and F, whose data are presented as mean  $\pm$  SD. FABP3, fatty acid–binding protein 3; HUVECs, human umbilical vein endothelial cells; LPS, lipopolysaccharide; qPCR, quantitative polymerase chain reaction.



Figure 3.4 Exogenous FABP3 treatment exacerbates LPS-induced inflammation in endothelial cells, and LPS treatment upregulates circulatory FABP3 levels in wild-type mice

HUVECS were cultured, and following 60 to 70% confluency, these cells were pretreated with different doses of recombinant human FABP3 for 1-h before treatment with 100 ng/mL of LPS. Later, 6 h and 24 h posttreatment, RNA and proteins, respectively, were extracted. *A* and *B*, bar graphs show the qPCR quantification for *ICAM-1* (*A*) and *VCAM-1* (*B*). *C*, the qPCR data were further confirmed by immunoblotting for ICAM-1 and VCAM-1, which also showed exacerbation of ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 expression in rhFABP3 pretreated and LPS-treated endothelial cells. *D*, isometric tension data from myograph experiments using acetylcholine to show relaxation (%) of the phenylephrine-contracted aorta in control (PBS) *versus* rhFABP3 (45 ng/mL, 20 min) groups (p > 0.05). *E*, wildtype mice were treated with vehicle (N = 5) or LPS (N = 6, 4 mg/kg), and plasma was collected 4 h posttreatment to perform ELISA for *FABP3*. Differences between the means of groups were calculated using one-way ANOVA with Tukey's multiple comparison tests (*A* and *B*), two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni's multiple comparison tests (*C*), and Student's *t*-test (*D*). \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001 versus Vehicle. \$p < 0.05, \$p < 0.01 versus LPS + 50 ng/mL rhFABP3, #p < 0.01

0.005 versus LPS + 5 or 50 ng/mL rhFABP3. Data are represented as mean + SD, except for D and E, whose data are presented as mean  $\pm$  SEM and mean  $\pm$  SD, respectively. FABP3, fatty acid–binding protein 3; HUVECs, human umbilical vein endothelial cells; LPS, lipopolysaccharide; rhFABP3, recombinant human FABP3.

# Exogenous exposure to FABP3 exacerbates LPS-induced inflammation in endothelial cells -Next, to understand the effect of exogenous exposure to FABP3 on endothelial inflammation basally and after LPS stimulation, we treated endothelial cells with different doses of recombinant human FABP3 (rhFABP3) and LPS, and then measured the expression level of ICAM-1 and VCAM-1. Recombinant human FABP3 alone did not significantly affect the inflammation, measured in the form of ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 expression; however, rhFABP3 significantly increased ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 expression in LPS-treated endothelial cells, demonstrating an additive effect (Figure 3.4A, B). Given the observed discrepancy between transcript and protein levels in LPS-treated FABP3-deficient endothelial cells, we measured the expression level of FABP3 in rhFABP3 and LPS-treated endothelial cells. However, we observed an expected result, where VCAM-1 and ICAM-1 proteins were increased in rhFABP3 and LPS-treated endothelial cells in comparison to LPS-only treated endothelial cells (Figure 3.4C). Next, to assess the effect of rhFAB3 exposure on endothelial cell function in vivo, we measured acetylcholine-induced relaxations using myography with isolated aortas from wild-type mice [41]. There appears to be increased relaxation (<10%) of phenylephrine-contracted aortas by acetylcholine in the rhFABP3treatment group vs. controls; however, the difference was not significant (p=0.5878) (Figure 3.4D). In order to confirm whether LPS-induced FABP3 expression in endothelial cells in vitro also occurs in vivo, we treated wild-type mice with 4 mg/kg [42] of LPS or diluent for 4 hours, as we have previously observed that 4 hours of LPS treatment is sufficient to induce circulatory cytokines [43] and measured circulatory FABP3 level in mouse plasma. Our data showed significantly increased circulatory FABP3 levels in LPS-treated vs. vehicle-treated mice (Figure 3.4E). Taken together, our data indicate that FABP3 exposure exacerbates LPS-induced inflammation *in vitro* and may cause endothelial dysfunction *in vivo* in endothelial cells.

Loss of FABP3 protects endothelial cells against LPS-induced endothelial dysfunction by promoting cell survival and pro-angiogenic pathways and by inhibiting inflammatory pathways – Given the increased circulatory level of FABP3 in myocardial injury [9] and PAD

[18], the obscurity about the role of endothelial FABP3, and the observed complexity about the role of FABP3 in LPS-treated endothelial cells from our data, for clarity, we performed a qPCR array containing 84 endothelial and vascular disease-related genes. Our prime qPCR array data in FABP3-silenced vs. scrambled control demonstrated a total of 15 up-regulated genes (cut-off <2fold) (Table 3.1). These genes included pro-angiogenic and pro-survival genes, such as COL1A2, BDNF, FN1, BCL2, EGFR, VEGFA, EGR1, CDK1 and BIRC5 (Figure 3.5). PTGS2 was the most-up-regulated gene identified in the FABP3-silenced endothelial cells. Validation qPCR was performed for 5 of the upregulated genes to validate the qPCR array data (Table 3.1). LPStreatment upregulated a total of 10 genes (mainly pro-inflammatory, such as IL6, IL1b, CCL2, CCL5, TLR2 and ICAM-1) and downregulated 18 genes (mainly pro-survival and pro-angiogenic, such as STAT1, IGFBP3, CAV1, STAT3, BIRC5, AURKA, COL1A2, CDK1, KDR and FGF2) in comparison to vehicle-treated control (cut-off <2 fold) (Table 3.2 and 3.3, Figure 3.5. IL1b and MMP7 were the most up- and down-regulated genes in LPS-treated endothelial cells (Table **3.2** and **3.3**). Validation performed for 4 of the upregulated genes and 5 of downregulated genes demonstrated a similar trend as the qPCR array (**Table 3.2 and 3.3**). The prime qPCR array data for LPS vs. vehicle-treated FABP3-silenced endothelial cells showed a total of 15 up-regulated and 8 downregulated genes (Table 3.4 and 3.5). Most of the upregulated genes in LPS-treated FABP3-silenced endothelial cells were pro-survival and pro-angiogenic and the most downregulated genes were pro-inflammatory in nature (Table 3.4 and 3.5, Figure 3.5). Overall, our PCR array data indicated that loss of FABP3 promotes endothelial cell function and survival and protects against LPS-induced toxicity by promoting pro-angiogenic and pro-survival pathways and by inhibiting inflammation.


### Figure 3.5 Endothelial cell loss of FABP3 protects against LPS-induced endothelial dysfunction

The illustration summarizes the prime qPCR array data on the differentially expressed genes, their regulatory implications, and the proposed effects derived from gene ontology and pathway enrichment analyses in FABP3-deficient endothelial cells under LPS-induced stress. LPS-treated endothelial cells undergo dysfunction, inflammation, and injuries through upregulating and downregulating proinflammatory and pro-survival genes, respectively. Loss of FABP3 function ameliorates cellular impairment induced by LPS in endothelial cells through upregulation of pro-survival targets and downregulation of inflammatory and senescent factors. FABP3, fatty acid–binding protein 3; LPS, lipopolysaccharide. Created with BioRender.com (agreement # BY26K0OSEO).



Figure 3.6 Relative expression of FABP3, FABP4, and FABP5 in cultured endothelial cells

*A*, HUVECs were cultured and following 70 to 80% confluency, RNA was extracted to perform qPCR for *FABP3*, *FABP4*, and *FABP5*. *B* and *C*, cultured HUVECs were treated with 100 ng/mL of LPS, and RNA was extracted 24 h posttreatment to perform qPCR for *FABP4* and *FABP5*. N = 3 in triplicates. Data presented as mean + SD. Differences between the means of groups were calculated using ANOVA with Tukey's multiple comparison test. \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001 *versus* vehicle. FABP3, fatty acid–binding protein 3; HUVECs, human umbilical vein endothelial cells; LPS, lipopolysaccharide.

## 3.5 Discussion

The FABPs are cytosolic lipid-chaperones abundantly expressed in active lipid-metabolizing tissues, such as the heart and liver, or cell types specialized in lipid storage, trafficking and signalling, such as adipocytes and macrophages [44]. The FABP family consists of nine members (FABP 1-9), each with unique tissue-expression patterns [45], although lipid-metabolizing tissues or cells can be found with more than one isoform [46]. The degree of FABP expression in a tissue or cell type may reflect their lipid-metabolizing capacity, which can be modulated by changes in lipid bioavailability [47]. All FABPs are generally known to reversibly interact and escort hydrophobic ligands with various affinities to sites of lipid metabolism or signalling (e.g., lipid droplets, plasma membrane, mitochondria, etc.) [48]. However, 20–70% sequence homology

exists among the nine members [45], and the unique functional features of each member remain poorly understood [49]. The FABPs expressed in adipocytes and macrophages have been associated with metabolic and inflammatory regulation [44].

Endothelial cells are known to metabolize fatty acids for energy through mitochondrial oxidation processes [50]. Parenchymal absorption of circulating lipids is mediated by endothelial cells [51]. Moreover, fatty acids in endothelial cells also have signalling roles impacting cell differentiation, endothelial function and dysfunction in diseases, although the underlying mechanisms remain largely unclear outside the metabolic diseases. A single recent study by our group has identified FABP3 in human coronary artery endothelial cells and suggested their interaction with the peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors gamma (PPAR $\gamma$ ) through binding fatty acids in regulating transcriptional activities [5]. PPARy is a central component in the inflammatory response mounted by endothelial cells. In addition, the PPAR family of nuclear receptors/transcription factors is expressed in endothelial cells to mediate endothelial function [52]. In this notion, we planned to evaluate endothelial FABP3 and investigate its connection to endothelial function. To induce inflammation and endothelial dysfunction, we treated cells with lipopolysaccharide (LPS), an in vitro model, to study inflammation [26]. We used the standard in vitro endothelial cell model, HUVECs [53] [54] [55] [56] [53], and confirmed basal FABP3 expression, which was upregulated upon LPS treatment, suggesting a regulatory role of FABP3 in the endothelial response to LPS (Figure 3.1A-C). LPS binding to endothelial cells elicits endothelial activation, which encompasses the upregulation of inflammatory cytokines and adhesion molecules and the modulation of several critical pathways, including NF-kB, mitogenactivated protein kinase (MAPK) and phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K)/AKT pathways [57] [58] [59] [60].

Aspects of endothelial function include angiogenesis, migration, proliferation, nitric oxide (NO) production and mounting the inflammatory responses [53] [54] [55] [56]. In our tube-formation and migratory assessment, FABP3-silenced HUVECs demonstrated better tube-forming potential, but the migratory potential was reduced relative to scramble-controls in both following vehicle or LPS treatment (**Figure 3.1F-J**). Although how FABP3 is oppositely influencing the two functional aspects remains inconclusive, our data strongly suggest a consequential role of endothelial FABP3 in angiogenesis and endothelial migration. Endothelial inflammatory activation is marked by an

increased migratory response [61]. Loss of FABP3 appeared to reduce cell migration at baseline and after LPS -treatment, suggesting an independent effect of loss of FABP3 on endothelial cell migration (Figure 3.1I, J). Endothelial NO synthase is a key regulator of endothelial functions by its influence on NO production, which is essentially involved in oxidative homeostasis and, thereby, influencing many aspects of endothelial function [62]. In endothelial cells, AKT is an upstream regulator of eNOS [34]. Assessment of these two key regulators of endothelial function revealed an increased eNOS expression in FABP3-silenced HUVECs and the restoration of eNOS expression in FABP3-deficient endothelial cells following LPS treatment (Figure 3.2A-C). AKT's activity, measured by the levels of its phosphorylated and total AKT expression ratio, appeared to be upregulated in both FABP3-silenced endothelial cells and FABP3-silenced endothelial cells treated with LPS (Figure 3.2D, E, H). Data from both eNOS and AKT assessments suggest their activities are upregulated by the loss of FABP3 in endothelial cells, thereby improving endothelial function. Moreover, LPS has previously been reported to inhibit AKT in endothelial cells [36], but we, for the first time, show that LPS also significantly inhibits total AKT expression, which was salvaged in endothelial cells with loss of FABP3's function (Figure 3.2D, E, G). Likewise, our proliferative and survival assessments indicated improved endothelial proliferation and survival in FABP3-silenced LPS-treated endothelial cells (Figure 3.1K). P21 is a cyclin-dependent kinase that inhibits the cell cycle and, thereby, proliferation in endothelial cells [63]. LPS is known to promote p21 expression and inhibit cell proliferation [38]. In line, we also observed increased p21 expression and reduced proliferation in LPS-treated endothelial cells (Figure 3.2I-K). However, the loss of FABP3 downregulated p21 both under the vehicle- and LPS treatment, implying enhanced proliferation and unmasking the effect of LPS (Figure 3.2I-K). Lastly, our western blotting data for cleaved-caspase 3 showed induction of apoptosis in LPS-treated cells (Figure 3.1L) as previously reported [64]; however, the LPS-induced apoptosis was prevented by loss of FABP3 in endothelial cells (Figure 3.1L). Overall, it appears that in this scenario, both reduced p21 expression and increased survival contribute to the restoration of endothelial cell proliferation in FABP3-deficient LPS-treated endothelial cells.

In the inflammatory response, activated endothelial cells express adhesion molecules, such as ICAM-1, VCAM-1, and E-selectin, that function primarily to recruit circulatory leukocytes and mediate their trans-endothelial migration toward the site of acting antigen [65]. Activated endothelial cells also secrete the chemokines, such as MCP-1, and the interleukins (e.g., IL1b, IL6,

etc.), which mediate the chemotaxis of neutrophils and amplify the inflammatory response, respectively [61]. These inflammatory molecules were evaluated in our assessments of endothelial function. LPS is known to induce the expression of endothelial cells' inflammatory markers, such as ICAM-1, VCAM-1, and E-selectin [66]. Accordingly, we also observed a significant up-regulation of these markers in LPS-treated *vs.* vehicle-treated endothelial cells (**Figure 3.3A-G**). To our surprise, loss of FABP3 significantly reduced LPS-induced ICAM-1 and E-selectin expression; however, interestingly, opposite to VCAM-1 transcript expression, the VCAM-1 protein expression was significantly exacerbated in LPS-treated FABP3-silenced *vs.* LPS-treated control endothelial cells (**Figure 3.3D-F**). The observed increase in VCAM-1 protein might be due to a higher accumulation of the protein's stability in endothelial activation, as previously reported [67]; however, this remains to be explained in this case. LPS-induced expression of MCP-1, IL1b and IL6 were also reduced in FABP3-deficient endothelial cells following LPS-treatment (**Figure 3.3H-J**).

Establishing the gain of FABP3's function through exogenous treatment with rhFABP3 revealed a reverse trend for ICAM-1 and VCAM-1; rhFABP3 exacerbated LPS-induced upregulation of ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 in endothelial cells, reinforcing the inflammatory role of FABP3 (Figure 3.4A-C). ICAM-1, E-selectin, and VCAM-1 in an activated endothelium all function in leukocyteendothelial adhesion via interaction with leukocytes' LFA-1 [68], PSGL1 [69], and ITGA4/ITGB1 complexes [70], respectively, that are present on leukocytes. Of the three, ICAM-1 is notably also expressed in leukocytes, an active source of fatty acid signalling [71]; such interaction may imply a role related to FABP3 in leukocyte-endothelial interaction in an activated endothelium. E-selectin and VCAM-1 are more specific to endothelial cells, and both are notable for their additional roles in angiogenesis [72]. Most interestingly, compared to E-selectin and ICAM-1 in endothelial cells, which are localized primarily on the cell membrane, VCAM-1 is expressed both intra-cellularly in addition to the cell surface [73] [74] [75]. This and the vastly diverse regulatory implications of cellular fatty acids [76] may be attributed to the complicated behavior of VCAM-1 in our siFABP3transfected endothelial cells under LPS-induced inflammation. Lastly, the elevation of all three pro-inflammatory markers is associated with cardiovascular and atherosclerotic risk [77]. Overall, our data indicate a regulatory anti-inflammatory role of FABP3 in endothelial cells. To extend these findings and start to explore the acute effect of exogenous rhFABP3 on vasoreactivity, we performed a myography experiment with isolated aortas from wild-type mice. We treated these

aortas with either vehicle or rhFABP3 and measured acetylcholine-induced relaxations. These relaxations did not differ significantly between the controls and the treatment group using 45 ng/mL rhFABP3 (Figure 3.4D). Although the human and mouse forms of FABP3 are highly conserved, we argue that a larger sample-sized study using mouse FABP3 with time-course studies accounting for both sexes and other blood vessel types warrants attention as we did observe a small effect of increasing relaxation (<10%). In a clinical scenario, FABP3 released into the circulation following ischemia may help by a vasodilatory effect to increase the blood flow to the impacted tissues. In this scenario, an increase in acute circulatory FABP3 may be beneficial, for example, after acute myocardial infarction; however, a chronic presence of circulatory FABP3 in PAD patients may be beneficial for similar reasons but is countered by the detrimental additive effect to increase the severity of PAD. Accordingly, in PAD, inhibiting FABP3 might prove to be beneficial. LPS is used in an in vitro model to study inflammation and in an in vivo model to study sepsis [78]. To evaluate the relevance of our LPS-associated *in vitro* data in an animal model of sepsis, we treated wild-type mice with LPS and measured circulatory FABP3. Not only we observed baseline circulatory FABP3, but also a significant increase of FABP3 levels in response to LPS stimulation in vivo (Figure 3.4E). The source of LPS-induced FABP3 in mouse plasma is still unknown, but if true in humans, then FABP3 might also provide a biomarker for the severity of sepsis in humans, which warrants future investigations. FABP3 as a biomarker is of particular interest as we were also able to find an association between urinary FABP3 and PAD [79].

Given that FABP4 and FABP5 are the known predominant FABPs in endothelial cells [1] [4]. We assessed the relative expression of FABP3, FABP4 and FABP5. As expected, out of these three FABPs, FABP5 was the most-, and FABP3 was the least expressed FABP in endothelial cells (**Figure 3.6A**). These data show that FABP3 is basally expressed at a low level; however, FABP3 is up-regulated in stress conditions such as LPS treatment in endothelial cells. Next, we also tested the effect of LPS on FABP4 and 5 and observed a similar up-regulation of these genes to that of FABP3 (**Figure 3.6B, C**). FABP4 and 5 are known to be co-expressed and to play overlapping as well as non-redundant roles [1] [4]. A similar pattern observed for LPS-induced upregulation of FABP3, 4 and 5 in endothelial cells indicates that these molecules may be co-expressed; however, distinct effects of loss- and gain-of FABP3 in endothelial cells warrant similar investigations following the loss- and gain- of FABP4 and 5 in endothelial cells under LPS-treatment or inflammation.

To understand the complexity of FABP3-action and to expand our endothelial function assessment, the regulatory roles of endothelial FABP3 were conducted using a prime qPCR array to evaluate endothelial cell-specific genes known to play roles in vascular disease. Among the upregulated genes in siFABP3-transfected endothelial cells, COL1A2 encodes for collagen type I, which composes the extracellular matrix (ECM) and surrounding connective tissues. The expression of COL1A2, as well as that of the fibronectin-encoding FN1 gene, are featured in the focal adhesion processes of endothelial cells, which promote endothelial cells' integrity, growth and survival through the TGF-beta and PI3K-Akt signalling pathways [80] [81]. EGFR's gene product, which is the receptor for the epidermal growth factors (EGFs), is also activated in endothelial focal adhesion and promotes cell growth through the PI3K-Akt signalling pathway [82]. IGFBP3, which encodes for a component of the complex carrier of the IGFs, stimulates endothelial cells' proliferation through EGFR [83] [84]. VEGFA is an inducer of endothelial cell growth required for angiogenesis and vasculogenesis, as well as general endothelial function and the maintenance of vessel integrity [85]. As we observed upregulated EGR1, VEGFa also promotes EGR1 [86], which has been linked to activated PDGF-A that regulates endothelial function [87]. FOS's gene product, which composes the transcription factor complex AP-1, promotes endothelial cell growth [88]. BDNF, whose gene product is essential in the survival and differentiation of neurons [89], regulates vessel integrity and promotes angiogenesis in endothelial cells [90]. Lastly, BCL2 is the pro-survival factor in apoptosis, which functions to inhibit caspase activity, thereby promoting cell survival [91]. Overall, the upregulation of these genes in HUVECs with compromised FABP3 indicates a positive regulation of endothelial cells' growth, function, and survival from the loss of FABP3's function (Table 3.1, Figure 3.5).

Under LPS treatment, endothelial cells respond negatively with impaired function and survival and a state of inflammation (**Table 3.2 and 3.3, Figure 3.5**). As expected, in LPS-treated HUVECs, genes encoding for the pro-inflammatory cytokines (IL6, IL1B) and chemokines (CCL2, CCL5) were upregulated, as well as TLR2, which encodes for the receptor responding against foreign agents [25], and the leucocyte-adhesive inflammatory marker ICAM-1 [92]. Likewise, among the downregulated genes were IGFBP3 and COL1A2, suggesting a downregulation in endothelial proliferation and survival in response to LPS. This notion is further supported by the downregulated AURKA, FGF2, and CDK1, whose gene products are key regulators of cellular proliferation [93][94][95]. The gene products of STAT1 and STAT3 are transcription factors of the

STAT protein family known to be regulated by the interferons and EGFs [96][97]; their roles have also been implied in VEGFa and EGFR signalling [98][99], as well as the production of the antiinflammatory cytokines IL-4, IL-7, and IL-10 [100]. Downregulated STAT1 and STAT3 in LPStreated endothelial cells, therefore, indicated compromised cell growth and a state of proinflammation. Impaired endothelial function is further suggested by the downregulation of CAV1, a mediator of cellular transcytosis essential for many cell-signalling pathways [101], and KDR, which encodes for VEGFR, the receptor for VEGFa [102]. LPS-mediated apoptosis is also indicated by downregulated BIRC5, whose gene product, Survivin, is a member of the inhibitor of apoptosis (IAP) protein family [103].

From the differentially expressed genes in HUVECs with both siFABP3 and LPS treatments, we observed a remarkable ameliorating effect by the loss of FABP3's function (**Table 3.4 and 3.5**, **Figure 3.5**). Salvaged endothelial integrity and survival were indicated by the upregulation of COL1A2 & FN1 and BCl2 & BIRC5, respectively. Upregulated EGFR and CDK1 further suggested increased cell proliferation, and upregulated BDNF, EGR1, and VEGFA indicated a promotion of endothelial functions. On the other hand, CCL2, IL6 and IL1B were downregulated, indicating reduced inflammation. Interestingly, SERPINE1, whose gene product is an inhibitor of fibrinolysis [104], was downregulated. Activated SERPINE 1 also promotes cellular senescence downstream of the p53 regulatory network [105]. Reduced activity of SERPINE1, therefore, suggests that loss of FABP3's function prompts endothelial cells away from a state of senescence and improves clot breakage, providing benefits against cardiovascular risk in aging and dysregulated clot-formation in atherosclerosis [106].

<u>Table 3.1 Top upregulated DE mRNAs in HUVECs transfected with siFABP3 vs. scrambled-</u> <u>controls</u>

qPCR	array data	Validation data			
Nr	Gene symbol	Fold change	p value	Fold change	p value
1	PTGS2	5.93	0.001058	3.75 ± 0.61	5.42E-06
2	COL1A2	4.04	0.000606	5.68 ± 1.79	3.21E-05
3	PLAU	4.01	0.000419	2.00 ± 0.18	0.010158
4	BDNF	3.48	0.000012	3.09 ± 0.37	5.01E-08
5	BCL2	3.12	0.000104		
6	CCL5	2.99	0.03108	2.37 ± 0.32	0.000321
7	EGR1	2.93	0.001455		
8	TLR2	2.91	0.0044		
9	EGFR	2.71	0.003101		
10	FN1	2.54	0.005133		
11	TOP2A	2.4	0.001877		
12	RRM2	2.35	0.005011		
13	IGFBP3	2.23	0.010228		
14	FOS	2.13	0.025431		
15	VEGFA	2.01	0.012069	-	-

**Abbreviations**: *PTGS2*, prostaglandin-endoperoxide synthase 2; *COL1A2*, collagen type I alpha 2 chain; *PLAU*, plasminogen activator, urokinase; *BDNF*, brain-derived neurotrophic factor; *BCL2*, BCL2 apoptosis regulator; *CCL5*, C-C motif chemokine ligand 5; *EGR1*, early growth response 1; *TLR2*, toll-like receptor 2; *EGFR*, epidermal growth factor receptor; *FN1*, fibronectin 1; *TOP2A*, DNA topoisomerase II alpha; *RRM2*, ribonucleotide reductase regulatory subunit M2; *IGFBP3*, insulin-like growth factor binding protein 3; *FOS*, Fos proto-oncogene, AP-1 transcription factor subunit; *VEGFA*, vascular endothelial growth factor A; DE, differentially expressed.

qPCR	array data	Validation data			
Nr	Gene symbol	Fold change	p value	Fold change	p value
1	IL1b	20.01	0.001069	15.1 ± 0.21	0.00007
2	IL8	14.87	0.000030	41.1 ± 20.12	0.00193
3	CCL5	5.38	0.008772	8.44 ± 1.56	8.42E-05
4	SOD2	3.58	0.003152		
5	ICAM1	2.82	0.001696	3.47 ± 0.32	0.00021
6	TLR2	2.31	0.020022		
7	CCL2	2.18	0.035624		
8	PTGS2	1.97	0.030868		
9	IL6	1.89	0.002871		
10	PLAU	1.59	0.039647		

Table 3.2 Top upregulated DE mRNAs in HUVECs treated with LPS vs. Vehicle

**Abbreviations**: *IL1b*, interleukin 1 beta; *IL8*, C-X-C motif chemokine ligand 8; *CCL5*, C-C motif chemokine ligand 5; *SOD2*, superoxide dismutase 2; *ICAM1*, intercellular adhesion molecule 1; *TLR2*, toll-like receptor 2; *CCL2*, C-C motif chemokine ligand 2; *PTGS2*, prostaglandin-endoperoxide synthase 2; *IL6*, interleukin 6; *PLAU*, plasminogen activator, urokinase.

qPCR	array data	Validation d	ata		
Nr	Gene symbol	Fold change	p value	Fold change	p value
1	MMP7	-4.79	0.012612	$0.678 \pm 0.14$	0.091
2	RRM2	-4.77	0.000825		
3	TOP2A	-4.26	0.000580		
4	FGF2	-3.79	0.000975	0.469 ± 0.09	0.0051
5	CDK1	-3.68	0.000090	$0.661 \pm 0.14$	0.0013
6	IL18	-3.67	0.019809		
7	BIRC5	-3.66	0.000739		
8	COL1A2	-3.40	0.001588	$0.404\pm0.01$	0.0155
9	TACC3	-2.92	0.007174		
10	IGFBP3	-2.85	0.028628	0.768 ± 0.08	0.068
11	AURKA	-2.82	0.019969		
12	ABCB1	-2.77	0.000632		
13	KDR	-2.45	0.018919		
14	TCF7L2	-2.25	0.024388		
15	RB1	-2.19	0.006922		
16	CAV1	-2.13	0.000385		
17	STAT1	-2.13	0.011240		
18	STAT3	-2.13	0.032995		

Table 3.3 Top downregulated DE mRNAs in HUVECs treated with LPS vs. Vehicle

**Abbreviations**: *MMP7*, matrix metallopeptidase 7; *RRM2*, ribonucleotide reductase regulatory subunit M2; *TOP2A*, DNA topoisomerase II alpha; *FGF2*, fibroblast growth factor 2; *CDK1*, cyclin-dependent kinase 1; *IL18*, interleukin 18; *BIRC5*, baculoviral IAP repeat containing 5; *COL1A2*, collagen type I alpha 2 chain; *TACC3*, transforming acidic coiled-coil containing protein 3; *IGFBP3*, insulin-like growth factor binding protein 3; *AURKA*, aurora kinase A; *ABCB1*, ATP binding cassette subfamily B member 1; *KDR*, kinase insert domain receptor; *TCF7L2*, transcription factor 7 like 2; *RB1*, RB transcriptional corepressor 1; *CAV1*, caveolin 1; *STAT1*, signal transducer and activator of transcription 1; *STAT3*, signal transducer and activator of transcription 3.

# <u>Table 3.4 Top upregulated DE mRNAs in LPS-treated HUVECs transfected with scrambled-</u> <u>controls vs. siFABP3</u>

siFABP3- versus scramble-transfected and LPS-treated HUVECs			siFABP3- versus scramble-transfected HUVECs		LPS- versus vehicle-treated HUVECs		
Nr	Gene symbol	Fold change	p value	Fold change	p value	Fold change	p value
1	COL1A2	5.46	0.000518	4.04	0.000606	-3.40	0.001588
2	BDNF	4.48	0.002061	3.48	0.000012	-1.28	0.045815
3	RRM2	3.71	0.000630	2.35	0.005011	-4.77	0.000825
4	PTGS2	3.61	0.001994	5.93	0.001058	1.97	0.030868
5	CCL5	3.53	0.016385	2.99	0.031080	5.38	0.008772
6	TOP2A	3.29	0.004118	2.40	0.001877	-4.26	0.000580
7	BIRC5	3.25	0.004793	1.94	0.001717	-3.66	0.000739
8	BCL2	3.16	0.006861	3.12	0.000104	-1.27	0.200420
9	CXCL10	2.92	0.046103	1.30	0.621431	-1.29	0.685949
10	EGR1	2.78	0.008167	2.93	0.001455	-1.30	0.123815
11	FN1	2.35	0.013405	2.54	0.005133	-1.83	0.022166
12	CDK1	2.33	0.011819	1.42	0.011762	-3.68	0.000090
13	EGFR	2.10	0.012967	2.71	0.003101	-1.01	0.939513
14	TACC3	2.02	0.019845	1.31	0.184808	-2.92	0.007174
15	VEGFA	1.49	0.039754	2.01	0.012069	-1.14	0.488615

**Abbreviations**: *COL1A2*, collagen type I alpha 2 chain; *BDNF*, brain-derived neurotrophic factor; *RRM2*, ribonucleotide reductase regulatory subunit M2; *PTGS2*, prostaglandinendoperoxide synthase 2; *CCL5*, C-C motif chemokine ligand 5; *TOP2A*, DNA topoisomerase II alpha; *BIRC5*, baculoviral IAP repeat containing 5; *BCL2*, BCL2 apoptosis regulator; *CXCL10*, C-X-C motif chemokine ligand 10; *EGR1*, early growth response 1; *FN1*, fibronectin 1; *CDK1*, cyclin-dependent kinase 1; *EGFR*, epidermal growth factor receptor; *TACC3*, transforming acidic coiled-coil containing protein 3; *VEGFA*, vascular endothelial growth factor A.

Table 3.5 Top downregulated DE	mRNAs in LPS-treated	<u>l HUVECs transfected wit</u>	<u>h scrambled-</u>
controls vs. siFABP3			

siFABP3- versus scramble-transfected and LPS-treated HUVECs			siFABP3- versus scra	mble-transfected HUVECs	LPS- versus vehicle-treated HUVECs		
Nr	Gene symbol	Fold change	p value	Fold change	p value	Fold change	p value
1	MMP1	-2.21	0.006971	-1.67	0.001441	-1.29	0.023254
2	CCL2	-2.01	0.028389	-1.23	0.461531	2.18	0.035624
3	SERPINE1	-1.82	0.029037	1.18	0.321398	1.52	0.068618
4	SOD2	-1.68	0.045407	-1.22	0.319038	3.58	0.003152
5	CTBP2	-1.63	0.047921	-1.25	0.436409	-1.85	0.072752
6	IL1B	-2.55	0.054269	1.78	0.208236	20.01	0.001069
7	IL8	-1.59	0.062081	1.09	0.388103	14.87	0.000030
8	IL6	-1.47	0.058008	1.60	0.005547	1.89	0.002871

Abbreviations: *MMP1*, matrix metallopeptidase 1; *CCL2*, C-C motif chemokine ligand 2; *SERPINE1*, serpin family E member 1; *SOD2*, superoxide dismutase 2; *CTBP2*, C-terminal binding protein 2; *IL1B*, interleukin 1 beta; *IL8*, C-X-C motif chemokine ligand 8; *IL6*, interleukin-6.

Table 3.6 List	)f	primers	used	to	ampli	fi	v res	pective	genes
----------------	----	---------	------	----	-------	----	-------	---------	-------

Targets	Forward primer's sequence	Reverse primer's sequence
PTGS2	5'-CTGGCGCTCAGCCATACAG-3'	5'-CGCACTTATACTGGTCAAATCCC-3'
COL1A2	5'-GGCCCTCAAGGTTTCCAAGG-3'	5'-CACCCTGTGGTCCAACAACTC-3'
PLAU	5'-GGGAATGGTCACTTTTACCGAG	5'-GGGCATGGTACGTTTGCTG-3'
BDNF	5'-GGCTTGACATCATTGGCTGAC-3'	5'-CATTGGGCCGAACTTTCTGGT-3'
IL8	5'-ACTGAGAGTGATTGAGAGTGGAC-3'	5'-AACCCTCTGCACCCAGTTTTC-3'
SPARC	5'-CCCATTGGCGAGTTTGAGAAG-3'	5'-CAAGGCCCGATGTAGTCCA-3'
MMP7	5'-GAGTGAGCTACAGTGGGAACA-3'	5'-CTATGACGCGGGGAGTTTAACAT-3'
SERPINE	5'-GCACCACAGACGCGATCTT-3'	5'-ACCTCTGAAAAGTCCACTTGC-3'
TYMS	5'-GGAGTGAAAATCTGGGATGCC-3'	5'-ACTGGAAGCCATAAACTGGGC-3'
FGF2	5'-AGTGTGTGCTAACCGTTACCT-3'	5'-ACTGCCCAGTTCGTTTCAGTG-3'
CDK1	5'-GGATGTGCTTATGCAGGATTCC-3'	5'-CATGTACTGACCAGGAGGGATAG-3'
RB1	5'-TTGGATCACAGCGATACAAACTT-3'	5'-AGCGCACGCCAATAAAGACAT-3'
KRAS	5°-GGACTGGGGAGGGCTTTCT-3°	5'-GCCTGTTTTGTGTCTACTGTTCT-3'
VEGFR2	5'-GTGATCGGAAATGACACTGGAG-3'	5'-CATGTTGGTCACTAACAGAAGCA-3'
IGFBP3	5'-AGAGCACAGATACCCAGAACT-3'	5'-GGTGATTCAGTGTGTCTTCCATT-3'

source: https://pga.mgh.harvard.edu/primerbank/

### 3.6 Conclusion

In summary, our data demonstrate that FABP3 is expressed in endothelial cells and that loss of endothelial FABP3 inhibits LPS-induced endothelial dysfunction by modulating cell survival and inflammatory and angiogenic signalling pathways. We also observed exacerbation of LPS-induced inflammation in endothelial cells. We were able to provide a global view of the pathways associated with FABP3; however, these findings warrant further detailed investigations. We observed a rather low expression of FABP3 in endothelium and an increased level of circulating FABP3 in LPS-treated mice; however, it remains to be seen whether the endothelium is a significant source of FABP3 in LPS-treated mice and in PAD patients. To this aim, we are generating endothelial cell-specific FABP3 knockout (FABP3<sup>endo</sup>) mice. We will measure circulating FABP3 following LPS treatment to FABP3<sup>endo</sup> and wild-type mice. Circulating FABP3 will also be measured following crossing FABP3<sup>endo</sup> mice with ApoE<sup>null</sup> mice (FABP3<sup>endo</sup>: ApoE<sup>null</sup>) and feeding them a high-fat diet to induce atherosclerosis. A decreased level of circulating FABP3 in FABP3<sup>endo</sup> following LPS treatment or in FABP3<sup>endo</sup>:ApoE<sup>null</sup> mice following high-fat diet treatment will confirm endothelium as a significant source of FABP3 in vivo. As of present, our data indicate that an increase in circulating FABP3 may be detrimental to endothelial function, and therefore, therapies aimed at inhibiting FABP3 may improve endothelial function in diseased states, particularly in the cases with chronic elevation of FABP3, such as PAD.

## **3.7 References**

- Elmasri, H.; Ghelfi, E.; Yu, C.; Traphagen, S.; Cernadas, M.; Cao, H.; Shi, G.-P.; Plutzky, J.; Sahin, M.; Hotamisligil, G.; et al. Endothelial Cell-Fatty Acid Binding Protein 4 Promotes Angiogenesis: Role of Stem Cell Factor/c-Kit Pathway. *Angiogenesis* 2012, *15*, 457–468, doi:10.1007/s10456-012-9274-0.
- Sprecher, H. Metabolism of Highly Unsaturated N-3 and n-6 Fatty Acids. *Biochim Biophys* Acta 2000, 1486, 219–231, doi:10.1016/s1388-1981(00)00077-9.
- Veerkamp, J.H.; Zimmerman, A.W. Fatty Acid-Binding Proteins of Nervous Tissue. J Mol Neurosci 2001, 16, 133–142; discussion 151-157, doi:10.1385/JMN:16:2-3:133.
- Yu, C.-W.; Liang, X.; Lipsky, S.; Karaaslan, C.; Kozakewich, H.; Hotamisligil, G.S.; Bischoff, J.; Cataltepe, S. Dual Role of Fatty Acid-Binding Protein 5 on Endothelial Cell Fate: A Potential Link between Lipid Metabolism and Angiogenic Responses. *Angiogenesis* 2016, 19, 95–106, doi:10.1007/s10456-015-9491-4.
- Tsukahara, R.; Haniu, H.; Matsuda, Y.; Tsukahara, T. Heart-Type Fatty-Acid-Binding Protein (FABP3) Is a Lysophosphatidic Acid-Binding Protein in Human Coronary Artery Endothelial Cells. *FEBS Open Bio* 2014, *4*, 947–951, doi:10.1016/j.fob.2014.10.014.
- Stanley, W.C.; Recchia, F.A.; Lopaschuk, G.D. Myocardial Substrate Metabolism in the Normal and Failing Heart. *Physiol. Rev.* 2005, 85, 1093–1129, doi:10.1152/physrev.00006.2004.
- Glatz, J.F.; Kleine, A.H.; van Nieuwenhoven, F.A.; Hermens, W.T.; van Dieijen-Visser, M.P.; van der Vusse, G.J. Fatty-Acid-Binding Protein as a Plasma Marker for the Estimation of Myocardial Infarct Size in Humans. *Br Heart J* 1994, *71*, 135–140, doi:10.1136/hrt.71.2.135.
- Rezar, R.; Jirak, P.; Gschwandtner, M.; Derler, R.; Felder, T.K.; Haslinger, M.; Kopp, K.; Seelmaier, C.; Granitz, C.; Hoppe, U.C.; et al. Heart-Type Fatty Acid-Binding Protein (H-FABP) and Its Role as a Biomarker in Heart Failure: What Do We Know So Far? *J Clin Med* 2020, *9*, E164, doi:10.3390/jcm9010164.
- Bivona, G.; Agnello, L.; Bellia, C.; Lo Sasso, B.; Ciaccio, M. Diagnostic and Prognostic Value of H-FABP in Acute Coronary Syndrome: Still Evidence to Bring. *Clin Biochem* 2018, 58, 1–4, doi:10.1016/j.clinbiochem.2018.04.021.

- Xu, L.-Q.; Yang, Y.-M.; Tong, H.; Xu, C.-F. Early Diagnostic Performance of Heart-Type Fatty Acid Binding Protein in Suspected Acute Myocardial Infarction: Evidence From a Meta-Analysis of Contemporary Studies. *Heart Lung Circ* 2018, 27, 503–512, doi:10.1016/j.hlc.2017.03.165.
- Knowlton, A.A.; Apstein, C.S.; Saouf, R.; Brecher, P. Leakage of Heart Fatty Acid Binding Protein with Ischemia and Reperfusion in the Rat. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 1989, 21, 577– 583, doi:10.1016/0022-2828(89)90823-7.
- Haastrup, B.; Gill, S.; Kristensen, S.R.; Jørgensen, P.J.; Glatz, J.F.; Haghfelt, T.; Hørder, M. Biochemical Markers of Ischaemia for the Early Identification of Acute Myocardial Infarction without St Segment Elevation. *Cardiology* 2000, 94, 254–261, doi:10.1159/000047326.
- Madjid, M.; Vela, D.; Khalili-Tabrizi, H.; Casscells, S.W.; Litovsky, S. Systemic Infections Cause Exaggerated Local Inflammation in Atherosclerotic Coronary Arteries: Clues to the Triggering Effect of Acute Infections on Acute Coronary Syndromes. *Tex Heart Inst J* 2007, 34, 11–18.
- Bhathena, S.J. Relationship between Fatty Acids and the Endocrine and Neuroendocrine System. *Nutr Neurosci* 2006, *9*, 1–10, doi:10.1080/10284150600627128.
- Brennan, E.; Kantharidis, P.; Cooper, M.E.; Godson, C. Pro-Resolving Lipid Mediators: Regulators of Inflammation, Metabolism and Kidney Function. *Nat Rev Nephrol* 2021, 1– 15, doi:10.1038/s41581-021-00454-y.
- Ruotolo, G.; Howard, B.V. Dyslipidemia of the Metabolic Syndrome. *Curr Cardiol Rep* 2002, *4*, 494–500, doi:10.1007/s11886-002-0113-6.
- Kohno, S.; Keenan, A.L.; Ntambi, J.M.; Miyazaki, M. Lipidomic Insight into Cardiovascular Diseases. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 2018, 504, 590–595, doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2018.04.106.
- Syed, M.H.; Zamzam, A.; Khan, H.; Singh, K.; Forbes, T.L.; Rotstein, O.; Abdin, R.; Eikelboom, J.; Qadura, M. Fatty Acid Binding Protein 3 Is Associated with Peripheral Arterial Disease. *JVS Vasc Sci* 2020, *1*, 168–175, doi:10.1016/j.jvssci.2020.08.003.
- Pober, J.S.; Min, W.; Bradley, J.R. Mechanisms of Endothelial Dysfunction, Injury, and Death. *Annu Rev Pathol* 2009, *4*, 71–95, doi:10.1146/annurev.pathol.4.110807.092155.

- Brevetti, G.; Silvestro, A.; Schiano, V.; Chiariello, M. Endothelial Dysfunction and Cardiovascular Risk Prediction in Peripheral Arterial Disease: Additive Value of Flow-Mediated Dilation to Ankle-Brachial Pressure Index. *Circulation* 2003, *108*, 2093–2098, doi:10.1161/01.CIR.0000095273.92468.D9.
- 21. Taleb, S. Inflammation in Atherosclerosis. *Arch Cardiovasc Dis* **2016**, *109*, 708–715, doi:10.1016/j.acvd.2016.04.002.
- Libby, P.; Buring, J.E.; Badimon, L.; Hansson, G.K.; Deanfield, J.; Bittencourt, M.S.; Tokgözoğlu, L.; Lewis, E.F. Atherosclerosis. *Nat Rev Dis Primers* 2019, 5, 56, doi:10.1038/s41572-019-0106-z.
- Riehle, C.; Bauersachs, J. Key Inflammatory Mechanisms Underlying Heart Failure. *Herz* 2019, 44, 96–106, doi:10.1007/s00059-019-4785-8.
- Brevetti, G.; Giugliano, G.; Brevetti, L.; Hiatt, W.R. Inflammation in Peripheral Artery Disease. *Circulation* 2010, 122, 1862–1875, doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.109.918417.
- Dauphinee, S.M.; Karsan, A. Lipopolysaccharide Signalling in Endothelial Cells. Laboratory Investigation 2006, 86, 9–22, doi:10.1038/labinvest.3700366.
- Yücel, G.; Zhao, Z.; El-Battrawy, I.; Lan, H.; Lang, S.; Li, X.; Buljubasic, F.; Zimmermann, W.-H.; Cyganek, L.; Utikal, J.; et al. Lipopolysaccharides Induced Inflammatory Responses and Electrophysiological Dysfunctions in Human-Induced Pluripotent Stem Cell Derived Cardiomyocytes. *Sci Rep* 2017, *7*, 2935, doi:10.1038/s41598-017-03147-4.
- Singh, K.K.; Matkar, P.N.; Muhammad, S.; Quan, A.; Gupta, V.; Teoh, H.; Al-Omran, M.; Verma, S. Investigation of Novel LPS-Induced Differentially Expressed Long Non-Coding RNAs in Endothelial Cells. *Mol Cell Biochem* 2016, *421*, 157–168, doi:10.1007/s11010-016-2797-8.
- Cao, Y.; Gong, Y.; Liu, L.; Zhou, Y.; Fang, X.; Zhang, C.; Li, Y.; Li, J. The Use of Human Umbilical Vein Endothelial Cells (HUVECs) as an in Vitro Model to Assess the Toxicity of Nanoparticles to Endothelium: A Review. *J Appl Toxicol* 2017, *37*, 1359–1369, doi:10.1002/jat.3470.
- Anand, A.R.; Cucchiarini, M.; Terwilliger, E.F.; Ganju, R.K. The Tyrosine Kinase Pyk2 Mediates Lipopolysaccharide-Induced IL-8 Expression in Human Endothelial Cells. J Immunol 2008, 180, 5636–5644, doi:10.4049/jimmunol.180.8.5636.

- 30. Cai, G.-L.; Yang, Z.-X.; Guo, D.-Y.; Hu, C.-B.; Yan, M.-L.; Yan, J. Macrophages Enhance Lipopolysaccharide Induced Apoptosis via Ang1 and NF-κB Pathways in Human Umbilical Vein Endothelial Cells. *Sci Rep* 2021, *11*, 2918, doi:10.1038/s41598-021-82531-7.
- Xu, F.; Zhou, F. Inhibition of microRNA-92a Ameliorates Lipopolysaccharide-Induced Endothelial Barrier Dysfunction by Targeting ITGA5 through the PI3K/Akt Signalling Pathway in Human Pulmonary Microvascular Endothelial Cells. *Int Immunopharmacol* 2020, 78, 106060, doi:10.1016/j.intimp.2019.106060.
- Liang, C.-C.; Park, A.Y.; Guan, J.-L. In Vitro Scratch Assay: A Convenient and Inexpensive Method for Analysis of Cell Migration in Vitro. *Nat Protoc* 2007, *2*, 329–333, doi:10.1038/nprot.2007.30.
- Zheng, X.; Zhang, W.; Hu, X. Different Concentrations of Lipopolysaccharide Regulate Barrier Function through the PI3K/Akt Signalling Pathway in Human Pulmonary Microvascular Endothelial Cells. *Sci Rep* 2018, *8*, 9963, doi:10.1038/s41598-018-28089-3.
- Heiss, C.; Rodriguez-Mateos, A.; Kelm, M. Central Role of eNOS in the Maintenance of Endothelial Homeostasis. *Antioxid Redox Signal* 2015, 22, 1230–1242, doi:10.1089/ars.2014.6158.
- Piepot, H.A.; Boer, C.; Groeneveld, A.B.; Van Lambalgen, A.A.; Sipkema, P. Lipopolysaccharide Impairs Endothelial Nitric Oxide Synthesis in Rat Renal Arteries. *Kidney Int* 2000, 57, 2502–2510, doi:10.1046/j.1523-1755.2000.00109.x.
- Wu, J.; Li, X.; Huang, L.; Jiang, S.; Tu, F.; Zhang, X.; Ma, H.; Li, R.; Li, C.; Li, Y.; et al. HSPA12B Inhibits Lipopolysaccharide-Induced Inflammatory Response in Human Umbilical Vein Endothelial Cells. *J Cell Mol Med* 2015, *19*, 544–554, doi:10.1111/jcmm.12464.
- Mühleder, S.; Fernández-Chacón, M.; Garcia-Gonzalez, I.; Benedito, R. Endothelial Sprouting, Proliferation, or Senescence: Tipping the Balance from Physiology to Pathology. *Cell Mol Life Sci* 2021, 78, 1329–1354, doi:10.1007/s00018-020-03664-y.
- Kaneko, Y.S.; Ota, A.; Nakashima, A.; Nagasaki, H.; Kodani, Y.; Mori, K.; Nagatsu, T.
   Lipopolysaccharide Treatment Arrests the Cell Cycle of BV-2 Microglial Cells in G<sub>1</sub> Phase

and Protects Them from UV Light-Induced Apoptosis. J Neural Transm (Vienna) 2015, 122, 187–199, doi:10.1007/s00702-014-1256-5.

- Sawa, Y.; Ueki, T.; Hata, M.; Iwasawa, K.; Tsuruga, E.; Kojima, H.; Ishikawa, H.; Yoshida,
   S. LPS-Induced IL-6, IL-8, VCAM-1, and ICAM-1 Expression in Human Lymphatic Endothelium. *J Histochem Cytochem* 2008, *56*, 97–109, doi:10.1369/jhc.7A7299.2007.
- Li, W.; Yang, S.; Kim, S.O.; Reid, G.; Challis, J.R.G.; Bocking, A.D. Lipopolysaccharide-Induced Profiles of Cytokine, Chemokine, and Growth Factors Produced by Human Decidual Cells Are Altered by Lactobacillus Rhamnosus GR-1 Supernatant. *Reprod Sci* 2014, 21, 939–947, doi:10.1177/1933719113519171.
- Hennessey, J.C.; McGuire, J.J. Attenuated Vasodilator Effectiveness of Protease-Activated Receptor 2 Agonist in Heterozygous Par2 Knockout Mice. *PLoS One* 2013, *8*, e55965, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0055965.
- 42. Arnold, P.; Lu, X.; Amirahmadi, F.; Brandl, K.; Arnold, J.M.O.; Feng, Q. Recombinant Human Annexin A5 Inhibits Proinflammatory Response and Improves Cardiac Function and Survival in Mice with Endotoxemia. *Crit Care Med* **2014**, *42*, e32-41, doi:10.1097/CCM.0b013e3182a63e01.
- Peng, T.; Zhang, T.; Lu, X.; Feng, Q. JNK1/c-Fos Inhibits Cardiomyocyte TNF-Alpha Expression via a Negative Crosstalk with ERK and P38 MAPK in Endotoxaemia. *Cardiovasc Res* 2009, *81*, 733–741, doi:10.1093/cvr/cvn336.
- Furuhashi, M.; Fucho, R.; Görgün, C.Z.; Tuncman, G.; Cao, H.; Hotamisligil, G.S. Adipocyte/Macrophage Fatty Acid-Binding Proteins Contribute to Metabolic Deterioration through Actions in Both Macrophages and Adipocytes in Mice. *J Clin Invest* 2008, *118*, 2640–2650, doi:10.1172/JCI34750.
- Schroeder, F.; Jolly, C.A.; Cho, T.H.; Frolov, A. Fatty Acid Binding Protein Isoforms: Structure and Function. *Chem Phys Lipids* 1998, 92, 1–25, doi:10.1016/s0009-3084(98)00003-6.
- 46. Storch, J.; Thumser, A.E. Tissue-Specific Functions in the Fatty Acid-Binding Protein Family. *J Biol Chem* **2010**, *285*, 32679–32683, doi:10.1074/jbc.R110.135210.
- Wang, Y. Small Lipid-Binding Proteins in Regulating Endothelial and Vascular Functions: Focusing on Adipocyte Fatty Acid Binding Protein and Lipocalin-2. *Br J Pharmacol* 2012, *165*, 603–621, doi:10.1111/j.1476-5381.2011.01528.x.

- 48. Furuhashi, M.; Hotamisligil, G.S. Fatty Acid-Binding Proteins: Role in Metabolic Diseases and Potential as Drug Targets. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* **2008**, *7*, 489–503, doi:10.1038/nrd2589.
- Nguyen, H.C.; Qadura, M.; Singh, K.K. Role of the Fatty Acid Binding Proteins in Cardiovascular Diseases: A Systematic Review. J Clin Med 2020, 9, doi:10.3390/jcm9113390.
- 50. Hülsmann, W.C.; Dubelaar, M.L. Aspects of Fatty Acid Metabolism in Vascular Endothelial Cells. *Biochimie* **1988**, *70*, 681–686, doi:10.1016/0300-9084(88)90253-2.
- Abumrad, N.A.; Cabodevilla, A.G.; Samovski, D.; Pietka, T.; Basu, D.; Goldberg, I.J. Endothelial Cell Receptors in Tissue Lipid Uptake and Metabolism. *Circ Res* 2021, *128*, 433–450, doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.120.318003.
- 52. Bishop-Bailey, D.; Swales, K.E. The Role of PPARs in the Endothelium: Implications for Cancer Therapy. *PPAR Res* 2008, 2008, 904251, doi:10.1155/2008/904251.
- Singh, S.; Nguyen, H.; Michels, D.; Bazinet, H.; Matkar, P.N.; Liu, Z.; Esene, L.; Adam, M.; Bugyei-Twum, A.; Mebrahtu, E.; et al. BReast CAncer Susceptibility Gene 2 Deficiency Exacerbates Oxidized LDL-Induced DNA Damage and Endothelial Apoptosis. *Physiol Rep* 2020, *8*, e14481, doi:10.14814/phy2.14481.
- 54. Singh, S.; Nguyen, H.C.; Ehsan, M.; Michels, D.C.R.; Singh, P.; Qadura, M.; Singh, K.K. Pravastatin-Induced Changes in Expression of Long Non-Coding and Coding RNAs in Endothelial Cells. *Physiol Rep* 2021, 9, e14661, doi:10.14814/phy2.14661.
- 55. Singh, S.; Adam, M.; Matkar, P.N.; Bugyei-Twum, A.; Desjardins, J.-F.; Chen, H.H.; Nguyen, H.; Bazinet, H.; Michels, D.; Liu, Z.; et al. Endothelial-Specific Loss of IFT88 Promotes Endothelial-to-Mesenchymal Transition and Exacerbates Bleomycin-Induced Pulmonary Fibrosis. *Sci Rep* 2020, *10*, 4466, doi:10.1038/s41598-020-61292-9.
- Murugavel, S.; Bugyei-Twum, A.; Matkar, P.N.; Al-Mubarak, H.; Chen, H.H.; Adam, M.; Jain, S.; Narang, T.; Abdin, R.M.; Qadura, M.; et al. Valproic Acid Induces Endothelial-to-Mesenchymal Transition-Like Phenotypic Switching. *Front Pharmacol* 2018, *9*, 737, doi:10.3389/fphar.2018.00737.
- 57. Zhang, H.; Tay, P.N.; Cao, W.; Li, W.; Lu, J. Integrin-Nucleated Toll-like Receptor (TLR) Dimerization Reveals Subcellular Targeting of TLRs and Distinct Mechanisms of TLR4

Activation and Signalling. *FEBS Lett* **2002**, *532*, 171–176, doi:10.1016/s0014-5793(02)03669-4.

- Lee, H.-K.; Dunzendorfer, S.; Tobias, P.S. Cytoplasmic Domain-Mediated Dimerizations of Toll-like Receptor 4 Observed by Beta-Lactamase Enzyme Fragment Complementation. *J Biol Chem* 2004, 279, 10564–10574, doi:10.1074/jbc.M311564200.
- 59. Akira, S.; Takeda, K. Toll-like Receptor Signalling. *Nat Rev Immunol* **2004**, *4*, 499–511, doi:10.1038/nri1391.
- 60. Takeda, K.; Akira, S. TLR Signalling Pathways. *Semin Immunol* **2004**, *16*, 3–9, doi:10.1016/j.smim.2003.10.003.
- 61. Pober, J.S.; Sessa, W.C. Evolving Functions of Endothelial Cells in Inflammation. *Nat Rev Immunol* **2007**, *7*, 803–815, doi:10.1038/nri2171.
- Förstermann, U.; Münzel, T. Endothelial Nitric Oxide Synthase in Vascular Disease: From Marvel to Menace. *Circulation* 2006, *113*, 1708–1714, doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.105.602532.
- Xiong, Y.; Hannon, G.J.; Zhang, H.; Casso, D.; Kobayashi, R.; Beach, D. P21 Is a Universal Inhibitor of Cyclin Kinases. *Nature* 1993, *366*, 701–704, doi:10.1038/366701a0.
- Shioiri, T.; Muroi, M.; Hatao, F.; Nishida, M.; Ogawa, T.; Mimura, Y.; Seto, Y.; Kaminishi, M.; Tanamoto, K.-I. Caspase-3 Is Activated and Rapidly Released from Human Umbilical Vein Endothelial Cells in Response to Lipopolysaccharide. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 2009, *1792*, 1011–1018, doi:10.1016/j.bbadis.2009.06.006.
- Sun, H.-J.; Wu, Z.-Y.; Nie, X.-W.; Bian, J.-S. Role of Endothelial Dysfunction in Cardiovascular Diseases: The Link Between Inflammation and Hydrogen Sulfide. *Front Pharmacol* 2019, 10, 1568, doi:10.3389/fphar.2019.01568.
- Wildner, O.; Lipkow, T.; Knop, J. Increased Expression of ICAM-1, E-Selectin, and VCAM-1 by Cultured Human Endothelial Cells upon Exposure to Haptens. *Exp Dermatol* 1992, *1*, 191–198, doi:10.1111/j.1600-0625.1992.tb00188.x.
- Cybulsky, M.I.; Iiyama, K.; Li, H.; Zhu, S.; Chen, M.; Iiyama, M.; Davis, V.; Gutierrez-Ramos, J.C.; Connelly, P.W.; Milstone, D.S. A Major Role for VCAM-1, but Not ICAM-1, in Early Atherosclerosis. *J Clin Invest* 2001, *107*, 1255–1262, doi:10.1172/JCI11871.

- Wee, H.; Oh, H.-M.; Jo, J.-H.; Jun, C.-D. ICAM-1/LFA-1 Interaction Contributes to the Induction of Endothelial Cell-Cell Separation: Implication for Enhanced Leukocyte Diapedesis. *Exp Mol Med* 2009, *41*, 341–348, doi:10.3858/emm.2009.41.5.038.
- Kappelmayer, J.; Nagy, B. The Interaction of Selectins and PSGL-1 as a Key Component in Thrombus Formation and Cancer Progression. *Biomed Res Int* 2017, 2017, 6138145, doi:10.1155/2017/6138145.
- Aung-Htut, M.T.; Comerford, I.; Johnsen, R.; Foyle, K.; Fletcher, S.; Wilton, S.D. Reduction of Integrin Alpha 4 Activity through Splice Modulating Antisense Oligonucleotides. *Sci Rep* 2019, *9*, 12994, doi:10.1038/s41598-019-49385-6.
- 71.
   Mechanisms by Which Fatty Acids Regulate Leucocyte Function | Clinical Science |

   Portland
   Press
   Available
   online:

   https://portlandpress.com/clinsci/article/113/2/65/68315/Mechanisms-by-which-fatty-acids-regulate-leucocyte (accessed on 18 September 2021).
   September 2021).
- Koch, A.E.; Halloran, M.M.; Haskell, C.J.; Shah, M.R.; Polverini, P.J. Angiogenesis Mediated by Soluble Forms of E-Selectin and Vascular Cell Adhesion Molecule-1. *Nature* 1995, 376, 517–519, doi:10.1038/376517a0.
- 73. Nario, R.C.; Hubbard, A.K. Localization of Intercellular Adhesion Molecule-1 (ICAM-1) in the Lungs of Silica-Exposed Mice. *Environ Health Perspect* **1997**, *105*, 1183–1190.
- 74. Milstone, D.S.; O'Donnell, P.E.; Stavrakis, G.; Mortensen, R.M.; Davis, V.M. E-Selectin Expression and Stimulation by Inflammatory Mediators Are Developmentally Regulated during Embryogenesis. *Lab Invest* 2000, *80*, 943–954, doi:10.1038/labinvest.3780097.
- 75. Thul, P.J.; Åkesson, L.; Wiking, M.; Mahdessian, D.; Geladaki, A.; Ait Blal, H.; Alm, T.; Asplund, A.; Björk, L.; Breckels, L.M.; et al. A Subcellular Map of the Human Proteome. *Science* 2017, *356*, eaal3321, doi:10.1126/science.aal3321.
- 76. Ghosh, A.; Gao, L.; Thakur, A.; Siu, P.M.; Lai, C.W.K. Role of Free Fatty Acids in Endothelial Dysfunction. *J Biomed Sci* 2017, 24, 50, doi:10.1186/s12929-017-0357-5.
- Hwang, S.-J.; Ballantyne, C.M.; Sharrett, A.R.; Smith, L.C.; Davis, C.E.; Gotto, A.M.; Boerwinkle, E. Circulating Adhesion Molecules VCAM-1, ICAM-1, and E-Selectin in Carotid Atherosclerosis and Incident Coronary Heart Disease Cases. *Circulation* 1997, *96*, 4219–4225, doi:10.1161/01.CIR.96.12.4219.

- Lewis, A.J.; Seymour, C.W.; Rosengart, M.R. Current Murine Models of Sepsis. Surg Infect (Larchmt) 2016, 17, 385–393, doi:10.1089/sur.2016.021.
- Zamzam, A.; Syed, M.H.; Harlock, J.; Eikelboom, J.; Singh, K.K.; Abdin, R.; Qadura, M. Urinary Fatty Acid Binding Protein 3 (uFABP3) Is a Potential Biomarker for Peripheral Arterial Disease. *Sci Rep* 2021, *11*, 11061, doi:10.1038/s41598-021-90395-0.
- Pylayeva, Y.; Gillen, K.M.; Gerald, W.; Beggs, H.E.; Reichardt, L.F.; Giancotti, F.G. Rasand PI3K-Dependent Breast Tumorigenesis in Mice and Humans Requires Focal Adhesion Kinase Signalling. *J Clin Invest* 2009, *119*, 252–266, doi:10.1172/JCI37160.
- Lee, Y.H.; Kayyali, U.S.; Sousa, A.M.; Rajan, T.; Lechleider, R.J.; Day, R.M. Transforming Growth Factor-Beta1 Effects on Endothelial Monolayer Permeability Involve Focal Adhesion Kinase/Src. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* 2007, *37*, 485–493, doi:10.1165/rcmb.2006-0439OC.
- Karar, J.; Maity, A. PI3K/AKT/mTOR Pathway in Angiogenesis. *Front Mol Neurosci* 2011, 4, 51, doi:10.3389/fnmol.2011.00051.
- Granata, R.; Trovato, L.; Garbarino, G.; Taliano, M.; Ponti, R.; Sala, G.; Ghidoni, R.; Ghigo, E. Dual Effects of IGFBP-3 on Endothelial Cell Apoptosis and Survival: Involvement of the Sphingolipid Signalling Pathways. *FASEB J* 2004, *18*, 1456–1458, doi:10.1096/fj.04-1618fje.
- Martin, J.L.; Lin, M.Z.; McGowan, E.M.; Baxter, R.C. Potentiation of Growth Factor Signalling by Insulin-like Growth Factor-Binding Protein-3 in Breast Epithelial Cells Requires Sphingosine Kinase Activity. J Biol Chem 2009, 284, 25542–25552, doi:10.1074/jbc.M109.007120.
- Abhinand, C.S.; Raju, R.; Soumya, S.J.; Arya, P.S.; Sudhakaran, P.R. VEGF-A/VEGFR2 Signalling Network in Endothelial Cells Relevant to Angiogenesis. *J Cell Commun Signal* 2016, 10, 347–354, doi:10.1007/s12079-016-0352-8.
- Liu, L.; Tsai, J.C.; Aird, W.C. Egr-1 Gene Is Induced by the Systemic Administration of the Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor and the Epidermal Growth Factor. *Blood* 2000, *96*, 1772–1781.
- Khachigian, L.M.; Anderson, K.R.; Halnon, N.J.; Gimbrone, M.A.; Resnick, N.; Collins,
   T. Egr-1 Is Activated in Endothelial Cells Exposed to Fluid Shear Stress and Interacts with

a Novel Shear-Stress-Response Element in the PDGF A-Chain Promoter. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* **1997**, *17*, 2280–2286, doi:10.1161/01.atv.17.10.2280.

- Marconcini, L.; Marchio, S.; Morbidelli, L.; Cartocci, E.; Albini, A.; Ziche, M.; Bussolino,
   F.; Oliviero, S. C-Fos-Induced Growth Factor/Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor D Induces Angiogenesis in Vivo and in Vitro. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1999, *96*, 9671–9676, doi:10.1073/pnas.96.17.9671.
- Bathina, S.; Das, U.N. Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor and Its Clinical Implications. Arch Med Sci 2015, 11, 1164–1178, doi:10.5114/aoms.2015.56342.
- 90. Donovan, M.J.; Lin, M.I.; Wiegn, P.; Ringstedt, T.; Kraemer, R.; Hahn, R.; Wang, S.; Ibañez, C.F.; Rafii, S.; Hempstead, B.L. Brain Derived Neurotrophic Factor Is an Endothelial Cell Survival Factor Required for Intramyocardial Vessel Stabilization. *Development* 2000, 127, 4531–4540.
- 91. Hardwick, J.M.; Soane, L. Multiple Functions of BCL-2 Family Proteins. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol* **2013**, *5*, a008722, doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a008722.
- Lawson, C.; Wolf, S. ICAM-1 Signalling in Endothelial Cells. *Pharmacol Rep* 2009, *61*, 22–32, doi:10.1016/s1734-1140(09)70004-0.
- Romain, C.; Paul, P.; Kim, K.W.; Lee, S.; Qiao, J.; Chung, D.H. Targeting Aurora Kinase-A Downregulates Cell Proliferation and Angiogenesis in Neuroblastoma. *J Pediatr Surg* 2014, 49, 159–165, doi:10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2013.09.051.
- 94. Seghezzi, G.; Patel, S.; Ren, C.J.; Gualandris, A.; Pintucci, G.; Robbins, E.S.; Shapiro, R.L.; Galloway, A.C.; Rifkin, D.B.; Mignatti, P. Fibroblast Growth Factor-2 (FGF-2) Induces Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor (VEGF) Expression in the Endothelial Cells of Forming Capillaries: An Autocrine Mechanism Contributing to Angiogenesis. *J Cell Biol* 1998, *141*, 1659–1673, doi:10.1083/jcb.141.7.1659.
- 95. Andrés, V. Control of Vascular Cell Proliferation and Migration by Cyclin-Dependent Kinase Signalling: New Perspectives and Therapeutic Potential. *Cardiovasc Res* 2004, 63, 11–21, doi:10.1016/j.cardiores.2004.02.009.
- 96. Platanias, L.C. Mechanisms of Type-I- and Type-II-Interferon-Mediated Signalling. *Nat Rev Immunol* 2005, *5*, 375–386, doi:10.1038/nri1604.
- 97. David, M.; Wong, L.; Flavell, R.; Thompson, S.A.; Wells, A.; Larner, A.C.; Johnson, G.R. STAT Activation by Epidermal Growth Factor (EGF) and Amphiregulin. Requirement for

the EGF Receptor Kinase but Not for Tyrosine Phosphorylation Sites or JAK1. *J Biol Chem* **1996**, *271*, 9185–9188, doi:10.1074/jbc.271.16.9185.

- Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor Activates STAT Proteins in Aortic Endothelial Cells -PubMed Available online: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/10961983/ (accessed on 12 November 2021).
- Quesnelle, K.M.; Boehm, A.L.; Grandis, J.R. STAT-Mediated EGFR Signalling in Cancer. J Cell Biochem 2007, 102, 311–319, doi:10.1002/jcb.21475.
- Morris, R.; Kershaw, N.J.; Babon, J.J. The Molecular Details of Cytokine Signalling via the JAK/STAT Pathway. *Protein Sci* 2018, 27, 1984–2009, doi:10.1002/pro.3519.
- 101. Frank, P.G.; Pavlides, S.; Lisanti, M.P. Caveolae and Transcytosis in Endothelial Cells: Role in Atherosclerosis. *Cell Tissue Res* 2009, *335*, 41–47, doi:10.1007/s00441-008-0659-8.
- 102. Kroll, J.; Waltenberger, J. The Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor Receptor KDR Activates Multiple Signal Transduction Pathways in Porcine Aortic Endothelial Cells. J Biol Chem 1997, 272, 32521–32527, doi:10.1074/jbc.272.51.32521.
- 103. Chen, X.; Duan, N.; Zhang, C.; Zhang, W. Survivin and Tumorigenesis: Molecular Mechanisms and Therapeutic Strategies. J Cancer 2016, 7, 314–323, doi:10.7150/jca.13332.
- 104. Wu, J.; Strawn, T.L.; Luo, M.; Wang, L.; Li, R.; Ren, M.; Xia, J.; Zhang, Z.; Ma, W.; Luo, T.; et al. Plasminogen Activator Inhibitor-1 Inhibits Angiogenic Signalling by Uncoupling Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor Receptor-2-αVβ3 Integrin Cross Talk. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 2015, *35*, 111–120, doi:10.1161/ATVBAHA.114.304554.
- 105. Kortlever, R.M.; Higgins, P.J.; Bernards, R. Plasminogen Activator Inhibitor-1 Is a Critical Downstream Target of P53 in the Induction of Replicative Senescence. *Nat Cell Biol* 2006, 8, 877–884, doi:10.1038/ncb1448.
- 106. Jia, G.; Aroor, A.R.; Jia, C.; Sowers, J.R. Endothelial Cell Senescence in Aging-Related Vascular Dysfunction. *Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Basis Dis* 2019, 1865, 1802–1809, doi:10.1016/j.bbadis.2018.08.008.
- Rio, D.C.; Ares, M.; Hannon, G.J.; Nilsen, T.W. Purification of RNA Using TRIzol (TRI Reagent). *Cold Spring Harb Protoc* 2010, 2010, pdb.prot5439, doi:10.1101/pdb.prot5439.

- Singh, K.K.; Shukla, P.C.; Quan, A.; Al-Omran, M.; Lovren, F.; Pan, Y.; Brezden-Masley, C.; Ingram, A.J.; Stanford, W.L.; Teoh, H.; et al. BRCA1 Is a Novel Target to Improve Endothelial Dysfunction and Retard Atherosclerosis. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2013, *146*, 949-960.e4, doi:10.1016/j.jtcvs.2012.12.064.
- Altamimi, T.R.; Chowdhury, B.; Singh, K.K.; Zhang, L.; Mahmood, M.U.; Pan, Y.; Quan, A.; Teoh, H.; Verma, S.; Lopaschuk, G.D. A Novel Role of Endothelial Autophagy as a Regulator of Myocardial Fatty Acid Oxidation. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2019, *157*, 185–193, doi:10.1016/j.jtcvs.2018.07.047.
- Subedi, P.; Schneider, M.; Philipp, J.; Azimzadeh, O.; Metzger, F.; Moertl, S.; Atkinson, M.J.; Tapio, S. Comparison of Methods to Isolate Proteins from Extracellular Vesicles for Mass Spectrometry-Based Proteomic Analyses. *Anal Biochem* 2019, 584, 113390, doi:10.1016/j.ab.2019.113390.
- 111. Jonkman, J.E.N.; Cathcart, J.A.; Xu, F.; Bartolini, M.E.; Amon, J.E.; Stevens, K.M.; Colarusso, P. An Introduction to the Wound Healing Assay Using Live-Cell Microscopy. *Cell Adh Migr* 2014, 8, 440–451, doi:10.4161/cam.36224.

## <u>Chapter 4: The Transcriptomic Profile of FABP3 Exposure on Human Endothelial Cells:</u> <u>Implications for Cardiovascular Pathophysiology</u>

#### 4.1 Abstract

Heart-type fatty acid binding protein 3 (FABP3) is released into the circulation following myocardial infarction, and elevated levels are also observed in peripheral artery disease (PAD) patients, potentially exposing endothelial cells to higher levels of FABP3. Our recent research has shown that loss of endothelial FABP3 protects against inflammation-induced endothelial dysfunction, but the effects of FABP3 exposure on endothelial cells are poorly understood. Here, we treated cultured human endothelial cells with recombinant human FABP3 (rhFABP3) or vehicle control, extracted total RNAs and performed RNA-seq analysis. Differential gene expression, gene ontology (GO) and Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes (KEGG) pathway analyses were conducted to identify differentially expressed genes, cellular functions and pathways affected by rhFABP3 exposure. Our results indicate that kinesin family member 26b (KIF26B) and survival motor neuron 2 protein-coding genes were the most up- and down-regulated, respectively, in rhFABP3-treated endothelial cells compared to vehicle-treated cells. Many differentially expressed genes were associated with endothelial cell motility, immune response, and angiogenesis. GO and KEGG analyses potentially highlighted crucial pathways affected by rhFABP3 exposure, notably "Regulation of leukocyte-mediated cytotoxicity" and "Natural killer cell-mediated cytotoxicity," suggesting possible FABP3's involvement in endothelial cells' response to cardiovascular stress. Conclusively, we demonstrated the rhFABP3-induced transcriptomics in human endothelial cells. Our findings reveal novel genes and potential processes and pathways influenced by FABP3 exposure, expanding current knowledge on FABP3's role in endothelial biology and cardiovascular diseases. Further research is warranted to validate our findings and fully elucidate FABP3's implications in cardiovascular pathology.

### **4.2 Introduction**

Lipids-related physiology linked to cardiovascular impacts crucially depends upon the bioavailability of cellular lipids, which is implicated by the role of metabolic syndrome in cardiovascular diseases (CVDs) [1] [2] [3]. Central to the regulation of cellular lipid bioavailability and signalling are a family of intracellular lipid-chaperones, the fatty acid binding proteins

(FABPs). Heart-type FABP, or FABP3, mainly known to be expressed in myocardiocytes, is integral to cardiac metabolic homeostasis [4] [5] [6] [7]. Meanwhile, FABP3 can also be found in many other tissues, notably skeletal muscles and, to a lesser extent, the brain, testis, kidneys, adrenal glands, and others [8]. Indeed, the unique function of FABP3 remains complex and unclear [9].

Nonetheless, FABP3 is investigated as a biomarker for cardiac injuries, having been characterized as follows in both animal models and heart failure patients: 1) negligible plasma concentration and significantly high cytosolic to plasma ratio at rest; 2) blood elevation detectable within 30 min of chest pain, peak in a few hours, and returning to baseline via renal clearance, all within 24 h [10] [11] [12]. In addition to heart failure, FABP3 has also been tested as a biomarker in patients with peripheral artery diseases (PAD). Interestingly, in the absence of cardiac injury and regardless of diabetic and coronary artery disease background, FABP3's circulatory levels elevate and notably correlate with the severity of PAD [13]. Notably, the same study reported a significant upregulation of FABP3 in skeletal muscle cells in PAD patients compared to healthy individuals. Recently, we reported FABP3 basal and inflammation-induced expression in endothelial cells; we also demonstrated that endothelial cell-specific loss of FABP3 protects endothelial cells against inflammation-induced endothelial dysfunction and apoptosis [14]. Overall, these findings suggest that FABP3 release is non-specific to cardiac injury and may signal earlier cardiovascular events.

PAD and heart failure are cardiovascular complications of atherosclerosis, a chronic vascular inflammatory disorder characterized by circulatory blockage due to the build-up of lipid-laden plaques in the vascular inner walls, leading to downstream ischemia, hypoxia and organ failures [15]. Atherosclerosis is the primary cause of CVDs and is driven by endothelial dysfunction [16].

The inner lumenal walls of virtually all blood vessels (tunica intima) constitute the endothelium, a specialized simple squamous epithelial lining comprising endothelial cells. Endothelial cells are versatile and in direct contact with blood. They establish a delicate semi-permeable blood-tissue barrier known to extensively regulate selective exchanges and vascular homeostasis at varying capacities across organ systems. They oversee the production of signalling agents that maintain or mediate vasotone (vasodilation vs. vasoconstriction), vessel compliance, barrier/exchange permeability, blood fluidity, inflammation, wound healing, angiogenesis, and thrombosis [17]. In

CVD pathogenesis, endothelial cells are often impaired by various stresses, including elevated oxidative radicals, advanced glycation end products, endotoxin, hypertension, and hypoxia. Stressed endothelial cells are activated into a hyper-functional state to alleviate the source of stress, favouring permeability in the blood-tissue barrier, inflammatory signalling, thrombosis, hemostasis, and vasoconstriction. When prolonged, endothelial activation becomes endothelial dysfunction, featuring a leaky and oxidative barrier that exacerbates injuries and propagates the damaging agents, a hyper-inflammatory environment leading to chronic inflammation, dysregulated metabolism, diminished vasotone, and impaired vascular homeostasis [18].

Given the remarkable capacity of FABP3 as a biomarker, albeit not specific to cardiac injury, and that endothelial cells are one of the first cells to be exposed to elevated levels of circulatory FABP3 in conditions like heart failure and PAD, the impacts of circulatory FABP3 on endothelial cells and endothelial function are yet to be elucidated. As endothelial dysfunction is central in atherosclerosis and CVD, the mechanisms by which FABP3 influences endothelial function warrant an investigation. This study explores the transcriptomic profiles of endothelial cells subjected to FABP3 exposure under the hypothesis that circulatory FABP3 regulates endothelial function, we aim to pursue insights into the link between FABP3 and endothelial dysfunction, potentiating the development of novel clinical applications of FABP3 in the cardiovascular field.

### 4.3 Methods

*Cell Culture and Treatment* - Human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECs, pooled, Lonza; passage 4) were cultured in endothelial cell growth medium-2 (EGM-2 Bulletkit; Lonza) supplemented with growth factors, serum and antibiotics at 37<sup>o</sup>C in humidified 5% CO2. Confluent HUVECs were maintained in six-well plates and starved overnight before treating with either a vehicle (PBS) or rhFABP3 (50 ng/mL; Cayman Chemical) for 6 hours.

*RNA sequencing (RNA-seq) and Analysis* - Total RNA was extracted from HUVECs using TRIzol (Invitrogen) reagent and quantified and assessed for purity with the NanoDrop ND-1000 spectrophotometer. RNA sequencing was performed at The Centre for Applied Genomics, The Hospital for Sick Children, Toronto, Canada. Sequencing was conducted on the Illumina HiSeq2500 platform, using the NEBNext Ultra II Directional RNA Library Prep Kit for Illumina (E7760; New England Biolabs) and bcl2fastq2 v2.20 for paired-end reads (125 base pairs). Reads

were generated in FASTQ format and, on the Compute Canada platform, subjected to 1) trimming of low-quality reads using Trimmomatic based on the adapters TruSeq3-PE [19], 2) quality assessment using FASTQC [20], and 3) Kallisto transcriptome pseudo-alignment using the openaccess GRCh38 (Genome Reference Consortium human genome build 38) indices [21] [22]. Differential gene expression analysis was conducted using edgeR on R version 4.3.1 [23] [24]. Pvalues were generated using edgeR's model for discrete count data that includes dispersion estimation, and the Benjamini-Hochberg method was applied for false discovery rate (FDR) adjustment. Gene Ontology (GO) and Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes (KEGG) pathway analyses were performed using Bioconductor packages in R [25]. To enable a broader assessment in cases with a limited number of statistically significant genes, unadjusted p-values from edgeR were considered for GO and KEGG analysis, acknowledging the trade-off of potentially increasing the rate of Type-1 errors and that future multiple testing adjustment is overall essential to tease out true positives, regardless of scientific intention [26] [27].

#### 4.4 Results

**Quality Assessment**: RNA integrity, quantity and purity were assessed with the NanoDrop ND-1000. The A260 /A280 optical density (OD) ratios yielded values of about 2.0, which confirmed the purity of our RNAs (**Table 4.4**). The intensity of the 28S ribosomal RNA was about twice (indicated by % of total Area) that of the 18S ribosomal RNA, confirming the integrity of RNAs (**Figure 4.3 and 4.4**) used in this study. Overall, the RNAs used to perform RNA-seq were pure and not degraded.

**FABP3 Exposure Induced Differential Gene Expression in Endothelial Cells**: The impact of rhFABP3 exposure on HUVECs' gene expression was examined via the *RNA-seq*. A genome-wide expression of 15,688 genes in rhFABP3-treated HUVECs vs. vehicle controls was tested in a comprehensive differential gene expression (DGE) analysis. Principle component analysis (PCA) on the first and second principle components, capturing 58.71% and 20.7% variance, respectively, showed distinct samples clustering between the rhFABP3-treated and vehicle-treated groups, suggesting changes in gene expression profiles in HUVECs due to rhFABP3 exposure (**Figure 4.1A**). DGE analysis using Volcano and Manhattan plots identified 11 genes with significant differential expression that satisfy a log (2) fold-change threshold of 1 and -1 (equivalent to one

doubling of gene expression up or downward) in rhFABP3-treated group vs. vehicle controls; genes with FDR-adjusted p-values < 0.05 are considered significantly differentially expressed, and 7 genes were upregulated, and 4 were downregulated (**Figure 4.1B and C**) (**Table 4.1**). Accordingly, differentially expressed genes are distributed between chromosomes 1, 2, 5, 6, 12, 16, 19 and 21, and the *IMPDH1P10* processed-pseudogene is the most upregulated (log2 fold-change of 8.75), followed by the protein-coding genes: *KIF26B* (7.10), *NCR1* (4.17), and *DNAJC14* (1.95). *CENPBD1P* pseudogene is the most downregulated (log2 fold-change of -8.98), followed by the protein-coding genes: *ENSG0000269242* (-3.45), *CFAP298-TCP10L* (-3.10), and *SMN2* (-2.28).



Figure 4.1 Differential gene expression (DGE) analysis of HUVECs treated with rhFABP3 (50ng/mL) for 6 hours vs. Vehicle

(A) Principle Component Analysis (PCA) plot clustering the samples of HUVECs treated with rhFABP3 (50ng/mL) for 6 hours vs. Vehicle (red = rhFABP3; blue = Vehicle), accessing their global expression of 15688 genes derived from RNA-sequencing results; the x- and y-axes represent the first and second principal components, which capture the most (58.71%) and second-most (20.70%) variance within the data, respectively. Volcano (B) and Manhattan (C) plots of DGE genes in HUVECs treated with rhFABP3 (50ng/mL) for 6 hours vs. vehicle controls. (B) Log (2) fold change is plotted against –log (10) False Discovery Rate (FDR) adjusted p-values; genes with FDR-adjusted p-values less than 0.05 (dashed y-intercept) that pass the log (2) fold-change of 1 or

-1 (dashed x-intercepts) in differential expression are labelled (red). (C) DGE genes tested are localized to their chromosomes (x-axis); genes with FDR-adjusted p-values less than 0.05 (y-intercept; dashed line represents the threshold for FDR-adjusted statistical significance) are highlighted (red). N = 3 biological replicates per group. HUVEC = Human Umbilical Vein Endothelial Cells; rhFABP3 = recombinant human FABP3, MT = mitochondria.

Table 4.1 Summary of top-differentially-expressed genes in FABP3-treated HUVECs vs. Vehicle

HUGO Gene Nomenclatures*	Gene name**	Gene ID*	Gene Biotype*	Log2 Fold Change	Fold Change	p-value***	Chromosome/Strand
		Top Up-regulated L	offerentially Expressed Genes				
KIF26B	Kinesin Family Member 26B	ENSG00000281216	protein_coding	7.10	137.08	7.16E-07	1/+
NCR1	Natural Cytotoxicity Triggering Receptor 1	ENSG00000275156	protein_coding	4.17	18.02	3.89E-05	19/+
DNAJC14	DnaJ Heat Shock Protein Family (Hsp40) Member	ENSG00000135392	protein_coding	1.95	3.86	4.31E-02	12/-
CCDC125	Coiled-Coil Domain Containing 125	ENSG00000277868	protein_coding	1.42	2.68	2.90E-02	5/-
IMPDH1P10	Inosine Monophosphate Dehydrogenase 1 Pseudogene 10	ENSG00000232133	processed_pseudogene	8.75	431.03	2.87E-10	2/-
MICE	Unnamed	ENSG00000251581	transcribed_unprocessed_pseudogene	7.19	146.26	9.12E-07	6/-
PKD1P3	Polycystin 1, Transient Receptor Potential Channel Interacting Pseudogene 3	ENSG00000183458	transcribed_unprocessed_pseudogene	1.62	3.07	5.55E-03	16/+
		Top Down-regulated	Differentially Expressed Genes				
SMN2	Survival Of Motor Neuron 2, Centromeric	ENSG00000205571	protein_coding	-2.28	0.21	8.64E-03	5/+
CFAP298-TCP10L	CFAP298-TCP10L Readthrough	ENSG00000265590	protein_coding	-3.10	0.12	2.02E-03	21/-
Unnamed	Glycosyl Hydrolases Family 38 C-Terminal Beta Sandwich Domain-Containing Protein	ENSG00000269242	protein_coding	-3.45	0.09	3.44E-05	19/-
CENPBD1P	CENPB DNA-Binding Domain Containing 1, Pseudogene	ENSG00000177946	transcribed_unitary_pseudogene	-8.98	0.00	1.02E-07	16/-

\*Human Genome Organization (HUGO) classification utilized in the gene annotation database. A total of 15688 genome-wide genes were validated from processed RNA-seq results and tested for differential gene expression.

\*\*Gene names are derived from genecards.org

\*\*\* Summary of FDR-significant (p < 0.05) top-differentially-expressed genes by at least log (2) fold-change of 1, including top up- and down-regulated DE protein-coding genes, in HUVECs treated with rhFAB3 (50 ng/mL, 6h) vs. vehicle controls. N = 3 biological replicates per group

FABP3 Exposure Affects Potential Biological Functions/Pathways in Endothelial Cells: Gene ontology (GO) and Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes (KEGG) pathway analyses were conducted to assess the biological significance of the observed differential gene expression in rhFABP3-treated HUVECs. Due to the low number of significant genes meeting our FDR/foldchange filter, GO/KEGG analyses were performed with 80 differentially expressed genes (38 upregulated and 42 downregulated) selected using the unadjusted edgeR p-values < 0.05 and log (2) fold change of lesser or greater than -1 or 1, respectively, against a total of 15,688 DGE-tested genes. The analyses revealed several cellular functions and pathways potentially impacted by rhFABP3 exposure, suggesting a multifaceted role of FABP3 in endothelial cell physiology (Table 4.2 and Table 4.3). GO and KEGG results are predominantly related to immune response and cell cytotoxicity biological processes for the upregulated differentially expressed genes, with the most significant being "Regulation of leukocyte mediated cytotoxicity (p = 2.08e-04)" and "Natural killer cell-mediated cytotoxicity (p = 9.17e-03)", respectively. On the other hand, the downregulated DE genes are associated with GO and KEGG terms of complex regulatory implication, including "RNA processing and inflammatory and immune systems mechanisms, with SMN complex (cellular component) (p = 1.67e-04)" and "NOD-like receptor signalling (p =2.92e-02)" pathway being the most significant. Additionally, a broader assessment of gene expression patterns, which shows distinct clusters of differential expression patterns in rhFABP3treated HUVECs, was conducted via two separated heatmaps: one visualizing the 80 differentially expressed genes selected for GO and KEGG analyses (Figure 4.2) and another examining 231 genes with the protein-coding category and edgeR-derived unadjusted p-values < 0.05 out of the 15,688 DGE-tested genes (Figure 4.5). These findings illustrate the specific gene expression signatures associated with FABP3 exposure and underscore the potential functional impacts on endothelial cells.

Table 4.2 Top up- and down-regulated gene ontologies impacted in HUVECs under rhFABP3exposure

<b>GO Terms</b>	*GO Categories	Counts	**p-value						
Associated with Upregulated DE Genes									
Regulation of leukocyte mediated cytotoxicity	BP	3	2.08E-04						
Regulation of cell killing	BP	3	3.07E-04						
Leukocyte mediated cytotoxicity	BP	3	5.25E-04						
Positive regulation of T cell mediated cytotoxicity	BP	2	1.37E-03						
Regulation of lymphocyte mediated immunity	BP	3	1.62E-03						
Regulation of T cell mediated cytotoxicity	BP	2	2.30E-03						
Positive regulation of leukocyte mediated cytotoxicity	BP	2	2.71E-03						
Positive regulation of cell killing	BP	2	3.14E-03						
T cell mediated cytotoxicity	BP	2	3.14E-03						
Associated with Downregula	ted DE Genes								
SMN complex	CC	2	1.67E-04						
Canonical inflammasome complex	CC	2	2.44E-04						
Gemini of coiled bodies	CC	2	2.44E-04						
SMN-Sm protein complex	CC	2	4.99E-04						
DNA-templated transcription termination	BP	2	1.01E-03						
Pyroptosis	BP	2	1.18E-03						
Positive regulation of interleukin-1 beta production	BP	2	2.52E-03						
Spliceosomal snRNP assembly	BP	2	2.65E-03						
Positive regulation of interleukin-1 production	BP	2	3.21E-03						
Immune response-regulating signaling pathway	BP	4	3.82E-03						

\*BP = Biological processes; CC = Cellular Component.

\*\*Gene ontology (GO) analysis is conducted by enriching 38 upregulated and 42 downregulated genes with unadjusted p-values less than 0.05 and a log2 fold-change of at least 1 or -1 (one gene expression doubling increase or decrease) against 15688 RNA-seq genes tested for differential gene expression.

Table 4.3 Top up- and down-regulated functional pathways impacted in HUVECs underrhFABP3 exposure

<b>KEGG Pathway Terms</b>	Counts	**p-value						
Associated with Upregulated DE Genes								
Natural killer cell mediated cytotoxicity	2	9.17E-03						
JAK-STAT signaling pathway	2	1.63E-02						
Associated with Downregulated DE Genes								
NOD-like receptor signaling pathway	2	2.92E-02						

\*\*Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes (KEGG) based pathways analysis is conducted by enriching 38 upregulated and 42 downregulated genes with unadjusted p-values less than 0.05 and a log2 fold-change of at least 1 or -1 (one gene expression doubling increase or decrease) against 15688 RNA-seq genes tested for differential gene expression.


# Figure 4.2 Functional impacts of exogenous FABP3 on endothelial cells via 80 up- and downregulated genes

Gene expression heatmap showing clusters of samples from HUVECs treated with rhFABP3 (50ng/mL) for 6 hours vs. Vehicle groups. The analysis illustrates 80 up- and down-regulated genes that pass the log (2) fold-change of 1 or -1 with unadjusted p-values < 0.05 (all of which were subjected to GO and KEGG analyses) out of 15688 genes tested for differential gene expression. N = 3 biological replicates per group. HUVEC = Human Umbilical Vein Endothelial Cells; rhFABP3 = recombinant human FABP3.



2100 Expert (B.02.11.SI811)

© Copyright 2003 - 2020 Agilent, Inc.

Printed: 10/19/2023 2:54:22 PM

## Figure 4.3 Confirmation of RNA purity for Vehicle-treated HUVECs







# Figure 4.5 Functional impacts in endothelial cells due to FABP3 exposure via protein-coding genes

Gene expression heatmap showing clusters of samples from HUVECs treated with rhFABP3 (50ng/mL) for 6 hours vs. Vehicle groups. The analysis was conducted on 231 protein-coding genes out of 15688 RNA seq genes that were tested for differential gene expression (DGE), with unadjusted p-values of less than 0.05. N = 3 biological replicates per group. HUVEC = Human Umbilical Vein Endothelial Cells; rhFABP3 = recombinant human FABP3.

#### 4.5 Discussion

134

Our RNA seq and DGE analyses identify several significantly impacted genes in rhFABP3-treated HUVECs, which underline the complex nature of endothelial cells' response to circulatory FABP3. Of the upregulated genes, KIF26B is an oncogene that has been studied in breast, gastric, colorectal, and hepatocellular cancers; its upregulation correlates with risk of metastases, stage progression, and poor prognosis, suggesting capacities as a biomarker [28]. KIF26B is regulated by miR-372 [29] and essential in developmental processes, implicated in the adhesion and polarization of mesenchymal cells [30]. In cancer, KIF26B is involved in the VEGF signalling pathway that prompts angiogenesis [31]. The upregulation of KIF26B in rhFABP3-treated endothelial cells suggests induced mobilization of cellular motility and possibly angiogenesis, suggesting a regulatory metabolic impact of FABP3 exposure on endothelial cells. It is also important to note that FABP3 is released in circulation mainly during ischemic/hypoxic stress [32], and increased angiogenesis may be a compensatory response of endothelial cells. The upregulated NCR1 gene encodes an activating receptor on natural killer cells, which imposes innate cytotoxicity and surveillance against bacteria, virally infected cells, and tumour cells [33]. NCR1 is known to mediate the pathogenesis of cancer, autoimmune disorders, and infectious diseases, being a target for immunomodulation and immunotherapy [33]. Regulatory factors of NCR1 include cytokines, transcription factors, microRNAs, and post-translational modifications [34] [35] [36] [37]. While the NCR1's expression is a main feature of natural killer cells, NCR1 has been found in other cell types, such as T-cells [38]. Endothelial NCR1 is poorly understood, and our detection of NCR1's expression in endothelial cells suggests a novel regulatory link between the innate immune system and the endothelium. Particularly, NCR1 upregulation in HUVECs indicates stimulation of the innate immune system by FABP3 exposure. Next, the upregulated gene DNAJC14 encodes a member of the DNAJ family of intracellular heat-shock chaperone proteins, which are engaged in the cellular stress response and protein quality controls [39]. In particular, they interact with the Hsp70 chaperone proteins via the distinguishing J-domain and assist Hsp70 in re-folding misfolded proteins [40]. While the specific roles of DNAJC14 remain under investigation, aberrant expression of DNAJC14 has been implicated in multiple diseases, including viral infections and neurodegenerative diseases, particularly in the context of misfolded proteins [41] [42]. The upregulation of DNAJC14 in endothelial cells under FABP3 exposure indicates stress response mechanisms, reinforcing the metabolic impact of circulatory FABP3 on the

endothelium. Among the downregulated genes, survival of motor neuron 2 (SMN2), canonically crucial in motor neuron functions and spinal muscular atrophy, encodes a more truncated and less functional protein than the full-length version expressed by SMN1 [43]. SMN proteins mediate the assembly of small nuclear ribonucleoproteins of spliceosomes, thereby regulating RNA splicing, post-transcriptional processing, and non-coding RNAs [44]. SMN2 downregulation in rhFABP3-treated endothelial cells indicates a negative modulation of RNAs in the endothelium, suggesting a regulatory effect on transcript levels. The rest of the identified DE genes are less characterized. CCDC125 encodes for a protein that is not well-characterized and may be involved in cellular motility according to its Uniprot profile. The human genome GRCh37 ensembl profile of CFAP298-TCP10L (ENSG00000265590) indicates that it is a protein-coding readthrough transcription between the neighboring chromosome 21 open reading frame 59 and TCP10L (tcomplex 10 like) that hasn't been investigated for any functions. Glycosyl Hydrolases Family 38 C-Terminal Beta Sandwich Domain-Containing Protein (ENSG00000269242) is a novel transcript with gene ontology annotations related to carbohydrate binding and mannosidase activities, according to its gene-card profile. IMPDH1P10, ENSG00000251581, PKD1P3, and CENPBD1P are pseudogenes that remain functionally elusive. Overall, although some DE genes suggest a metabolic and immunity-based response in rhFABP3-treated endothelial cells, a notable amount are pseudogenes, and more than half are currently not characterized. Future validation, such as via qPCR, and characterization of the identified DE genes are necessary to establish more robust mechanistic implications.

To our surprise, only 11 significantly differentially expressed genes were identified from our RNAseq and differential gene analyses (a total of 15688 genes tested) that meet a log (2) fold-change of 1.0 cut-off. This presents an ostensive limitation of the study for broader assessment that is, therefore, worth a reassessment of our experimental treatment.

The limitation may be attributed to our low dose of FABP3 (50 ng/mL for 6h). In a study that evaluated 2287 patients with acute coronary syndromes, 332 patients (14.5%) were found with elevated circulatory H-FABP levels (>8 ng/mL). This elevation was associated with an increased risk of death and major cardiac events through a 10-month follow-up period, including recurrent myocardial infarction and congestive heart failure. From the elevated H-FABP cohort, the median level of H-FABP3 in circulation was 16 ng/mL, ranging from 8 to 434 ng/mL [45]. In our previous

PAD patients study that identified a robust positive correlation between the severity of PAD and blood FABP3 levels, severe PAD patients (ABI < 0.4) exhibited up to an average of 7.22 ng/mL of blood FABP3 [13]. Therefore, our 50 ng/mL of FABP3 is informed by existing clinical data, fitting within these variable ranges of circulatory FABP3 reported in human patients. However, from our study on the loss of FABP3 in endothelial dysfunction, 200 ng/mL of rhFABP3, but not 50 ng/mL, was found to exacerbate ICAM1 and VCAM1 upregulation in HUVECs stressed by LPS for 6h [14]. This not only suggests a negative inflammatory role of FABP3 exposure but also that our current FABP3 dose may fall short in inducing a pronounced gene expression response, overall implying that a higher dose should be considered within the provided clinical ranges for future investigation. Nevertheless, our suggestive previous findings substantiated the current attempt to analyze the total RNAs from rhFABP3-treated endothelial cells using RNA-seq. Hence, the transcriptomic analysis was conducted at our selected dosing regimen to clarify how endothelial cells are affected by FABP3 exposure. Due to the difficulty in identifying genes with statistically significant differences after adjusting for multiple comparisons, unadjusted p-values are considered a trade-off between sensitivity and specificity, increasing Type-1 errors. However, the aim was not to overlook potentially interesting genes due to stringent statistical corrections while acknowledging that this choice might introduce more uncertainty into the analysis. This approach enables 80 up- and downregulated genes and 231 protein-coding genes with unadjusted p-values <0.05 to be available for GO and KEGG pathways and heatmap cluster analyses, providing potential biological functions and pathways to be examined (Table 4.1, Table 4.2, Figure 4.2, and Figure 4.5). While the analytical accuracy due to the trade-off is compromised, FABP3's exposure impact on endothelial cell physiology is indicated by the distinguishing clustering of gene expression shown in the PCA plot and heatmap (Figure 4.1A, Figure 4.2, and Figure 4.5). Overall, the outcomes of the trade-off provide directions for future insightful investigations on the roles of FABP3 in the endothelium, with improvement on replicate numbers and optimization for the dosing regimen.

## 4.6 Conclusion

In conclusion, the endothelial genome-wide alterations in response to FABP3 exposure were delineated. Differentially expressed gene analyses highlighted several genes associated with endothelial cells' metabolic and immune-related stress response invoked by FABP3 treatment,

suggesting that FABP3 release during cardiovascular events impacts endothelial function. While the roles of less characterized genes remain to be elucidated, we provide a transcriptomic profile for future research into FABP3's impact on endothelial biology. Our analysis's trade-off between sensitivity and specificity underscores the need for protein validation. Given that endothelial cells form the first interaction with circulatory FABP3, future studies should expand on these findings, exploring the therapeutic and diagnostic applications of FABP3 within the vascular system.

Sample Name	Nucleic Acid(ng/uL)	A260/A280 Ratio
Vehicle -1	302.076	1.872
Vehicle-2	286.097	1.95
Vehicle-3	248.249	1.928
rhFABP3-1	278.835	1.985
rhFABP3-2	300.089	1.93
rhFABP3-3	207.784	1.922

## Table 4.4 RNA quantity and purity were assessed with the NanoDrop ND-1000

## 4.7 References

- Yui, K.; Imataka, G.; Nakamura, H.; Ohara, N.; Naito, Y. Eicosanoids Derived From Arachidonic Acid and Their Family Prostaglandins and Cyclooxygenase in Psychiatric Disorders. *Curr Neuropharmacol* 2015, *13*, 776–785, doi:10.2174/1570159x13666151102103305.
- Makki, K.; Froguel, P.; Wolowczuk, I. Adipose Tissue in Obesity-Related Inflammation and Insulin Resistance: Cells, Cytokines, and Chemokines. *ISRN Inflamm* 2013, 2013, 139239, doi:10.1155/2013/139239.
- Denisenko, Y.K.; Kytikova, O.Y.; Novgorodtseva, T.P.; Antonyuk, M.V.; Gvozdenko, T.A.; Kantur, T.A. Lipid-Induced Mechanisms of Metabolic Syndrome. J Obes 2020, 2020, 5762395, doi:10.1155/2020/5762395.
- Stanley, W.C.; Recchia, F.A.; Lopaschuk, G.D. Myocardial Substrate Metabolism in the Normal and Failing Heart. *Physiol. Rev.* 2005, 85, 1093–1129, doi:10.1152/physrev.00006.2004.
- 5. Zanotti, G. Muscle Fatty Acid-Binding Protein. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* **1999**, *1441*, 94–105, doi:10.1016/s1388-1981(99)00163-8.
- Karbek, B.; Özbek, M.; Bozkurt, N.C.; Ginis, Z.; Güngünes, A.; Ünsal, I.Ö.; Cakal, E.; Delibası, T. Heart-Type Fatty Acid Binding Protein (H-FABP): Relationship with Arterial Intima-Media Thickness and Role as Diagnostic Marker for Atherosclerosis in Patients with Impaired Glucose Metabolism. *Cardiovasc Diabetol* 2011, 10, 37, doi:10.1186/1475-2840-10-37.
- Binas, B.; Danneberg, H.; McWhir, J.; Mullins, L.; Clark, A.J. Requirement for the Heart-Type Fatty Acid Binding Protein in Cardiac Fatty Acid Utilization. *FASEB J.* 1999, 13, 805–812, doi:10.1096/fasebj.13.8.805.
- Chmurzyńska, A. The Multigene Family of Fatty Acid-Binding Proteins (FABPs): Function, Structure and Polymorphism. J Appl Genet 2006, 47, 39–48, doi:10.1007/BF03194597.
- Zhuang, L.; Li, C.; Chen, Q.; Jin, Q.; Wu, L.; Lu, L.; Yan, X.; Chen, K. Fatty Acid-Binding Protein 3 Contributes to Ischemic Heart Injury by Regulating Cardiac Myocyte Apoptosis and MAPK Pathways. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol.* 2019, *316*, H971–H984, doi:10.1152/ajpheart.00360.2018.

- Glatz, J.F.; Kleine, A.H.; van Nieuwenhoven, F.A.; Hermens, W.T.; van Dieijen-Visser, M.P.; van der Vusse, G.J. Fatty-Acid-Binding Protein as a Plasma Marker for the Estimation of Myocardial Infarct Size in Humans. *Br Heart J* 1994, *71*, 135–140, doi:10.1136/hrt.71.2.135.
- Knowlton, A.A.; Apstein, C.S.; Saouf, R.; Brecher, P. Leakage of Heart Fatty Acid Binding Protein with Ischemia and Reperfusion in the Rat. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 1989, 21, 577– 583, doi:10.1016/0022-2828(89)90823-7.
- Haastrup, B.; Gill, S.; Kristensen, S.R.; Jørgensen, P.J.; Glatz, J.F.; Haghfelt, T.; Hørder, M. Biochemical Markers of Ischaemia for the Early Identification of Acute Myocardial Infarction without St Segment Elevation. *Cardiology* 2000, 94, 254–261, doi:10.1159/000047326.
- Syed, M.H.; Zamzam, A.; Khan, H.; Singh, K.; Forbes, T.L.; Rotstein, O.; Abdin, R.; Eikelboom, J.; Qadura, M. Fatty Acid Binding Protein 3 Is Associated with Peripheral Arterial Disease. *JVS: Vascular Science* 2020, doi:10.1016/j.jvssci.2020.08.003.
- Nguyen, H.C.; Bu, S.; Nikfarjam, S.; Rasheed, B.; Michels, D.C.R.; Singh, A.; Singh, S.; Marszal, C.; McGuire, J.J.; Feng, Q.; et al. Loss of Fatty Acid Binding Protein 3 Ameliorates Lipopolysaccharide-Induced Inflammation and Endothelial Dysfunction. J Biol Chem 2023, 299, 102921, doi:10.1016/j.jbc.2023.102921.
- Bergheanu, S.C.; Bodde, M.C.; Jukema, J.W. Pathophysiology and Treatment of Atherosclerosis: Current View and Future Perspective on Lipoprotein Modification Treatment. *Neth Heart J* 2017, 25, 231–242, doi:10.1007/s12471-017-0959-2.
- Davignon, J.; Ganz, P. Role of Endothelial Dysfunction in Atherosclerosis. *Circulation* 2004, 109, III27-32, doi:10.1161/01.CIR.0000131515.03336.f8.
- Félétou, M. Multiple Functions of the Endothelial Cells. In *The Endothelium: Part 1:* Multiple Functions of the Endothelial Cells—Focus on Endothelium-Derived Vasoactive Mediators; Morgan & Claypool Life Sciences, 2011.
- Pober, J.S.; Min, W.; Bradley, J.R. Mechanisms of Endothelial Dysfunction, Injury, and Death. *Annu Rev Pathol* 2009, *4*, 71–95, doi:10.1146/annurev.pathol.4.110807.092155.
- Sewe, S.O.; Silva, G.; Sicat, P.; Seal, S.E.; Visendi, P. Trimming and Validation of Illumina Short Reads Using Trimmomatic, Trinity Assembly, and Assessment of RNA-Seq Data. In

*Plant Bioinformatics: Methods and Protocols*; Edwards, D., Ed.; Methods in Molecular Biology; Springer US: New York, NY, 2022; pp. 211–232 ISBN 978-1-07-162067-0.

- Leggett, R.M.; Ramirez-Gonzalez, R.H.; Clavijo, B.J.; Waite, D.; Davey, R.P. Sequencing Quality Assessment Tools to Enable Data-Driven Informatics for High Throughput Genomics. *Front Genet* 2013, *4*, 288, doi:10.3389/fgene.2013.00288.
- Schaarschmidt, S.; Fischer, A.; Zuther, E.; Hincha, D.K. Evaluation of Seven Different RNA-Seq Alignment Tools Based on Experimental Data from the Model Plant Arabidopsis Thaliana. *Int J Mol Sci* 2020, *21*, 1720, doi:10.3390/ijms21051720.
- 22. Schneider, V.A.; Graves-Lindsay, T.; Howe, K.; Bouk, N.; Chen, H.-C.; Kitts, P.A.; Murphy, T.D.; Pruitt, K.D.; Thibaud-Nissen, F.; Albracht, D.; et al. Evaluation of GRCh38 and de Novo Haploid Genome Assemblies Demonstrates the Enduring Quality of the Reference Assembly. *Genome Res* 2017, *27*, 849–864, doi:10.1101/gr.213611.116.
- Robinson, M.D.; McCarthy, D.J.; Smyth, G.K. edgeR: A Bioconductor Package for Differential Expression Analysis of Digital Gene Expression Data. *Bioinformatics* 2010, 26, 139–140, doi:10.1093/bioinformatics/btp616.
- Chen, Y.; Lun, A.T.L.; Smyth, G.K. From Reads to Genes to Pathways: Differential Expression Analysis of RNA-Seq Experiments Using Rsubread and the edgeR Quasi-Likelihood Pipeline. *F1000Res* 2016, *5*, 1438, doi:10.12688/f1000research.8987.2.
- Zhang, Y.; Xiang, J.; Tang, L.; Li, J.; Lu, Q.; Tian, G.; He, B.-S.; Yang, J. Identifying Breast Cancer-Related Genes Based on a Novel Computational Framework Involving KEGG Pathways and PPI Network Modularity. *Front Genet* 2021, *12*, 596794, doi:10.3389/fgene.2021.596794.
- 26. Chicco, D.; Agapito, G. Nine Quick Tips for Pathway Enrichment Analysis. *PLoS Comput Biol* **2022**, *18*, e1010348, doi:10.1371/journal.pcbi.1010348.
- Jafari, M.; Ansari-Pour, N. Why, When and How to Adjust Your P Values? *Cell J* 2019, *20*, 604–607, doi:10.22074/cellj.2019.5992.
- Wang, J.; Cui, F.; Wang, X.; Xue, Y.; Chen, J.; Yu, Y.; Lu, H.; Zhang, M.; Tang, H.; Peng,
  Z. Elevated Kinesin Family Member 26B Is a Prognostic Biomarker and a Potential Therapeutic Target for Colorectal Cancer. *Journal of Experimental & Clinical Cancer Research* 2015, *34*, 13, doi:10.1186/s13046-015-0129-6.

- Li, H.; Shen, S.; Chen, X.; Ren, Z.; Li, Z.; Yu, Z. miR-450b-5p Loss Mediated KIF26B Activation Promoted Hepatocellular Carcinoma Progression by Activating PI3K/AKT Pathway. *Cancer Cell International* 2019, *19*, 205, doi:10.1186/s12935-019-0923-x.
- Susman, M.W.; Karuna, E.P.; Kunz, R.C.; Gujral, T.S.; Cantú, A.V.; Choi, S.S.; Jong, B.Y.; Okada, K.; Scales, M.K.; Hum, J.; et al. Kinesin Superfamily Protein Kif26b Links Wnt5a-Ror Signalling to the Control of Cell and Tissue Behaviors in Vertebrates. *eLife* 2017, 6, e26509, doi:10.7554/eLife.26509.
- Zhang, H.; Ma, R.-R.; Wang, X.-J.; Su, Z.-X.; Chen, X.; Shi, D.-B.; Guo, X.-Y.; Liu, H.-T.; Gao, P. KIF26B, a Novel Oncogene, Promotes Proliferation and Metastasis by Activating the VEGF Pathway in Gastric Cancer. *Oncogene* 2017, *36*, 5609–5619, doi:10.1038/onc.2017.163.
- Li, B.; Syed, M.H.; Khan, H.; Singh, K.K.; Qadura, M. The Role of Fatty Acid Binding Protein 3 in Cardiovascular Diseases. *Biomedicines* 2022, 10, 2283, doi:10.3390/biomedicines10092283.
- Barrow, A.D.; Martin, C.J.; Colonna, M. The Natural Cytotoxicity Receptors in Health and Disease. *Frontiers in Immunology* 2019, 10.
- Kim, H.K.; Jeong, M.G.; Hwang, E.S. Post-Translational Modifications in Transcription Factors That Determine T Helper Cell Differentiation. *Mol Cells* 2021, 44, 318–327, doi:10.14348/molcells.2021.0057.
- 35. Eckelhart, E.; Warsch, W.; Zebedin, E.; Simma, O.; Stoiber, D.; Kolbe, T.; Rülicke, T.; Mueller, M.; Casanova, E.; Sexl, V. A Novel Ncr1-Cre Mouse Reveals the Essential Role of STAT5 for NK-Cell Survival and Development. *Blood* 2011, *117*, 1565–1573, doi:10.1182/blood-2010-06-291633.
- Lai, C.B.; Mager, D.L. Role of Runt-Related Transcription Factor 3 (RUNX3) in Transcription Regulation of Natural Cytotoxicity Receptor 1 (NCR1/NKp46), an Activating Natural Killer (NK) Cell Receptor. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 2012, 287, 7324–7334, doi:10.1074/jbc.M111.306936.
- 37. Nanbakhsh, A.; Malarkannan, S. The Role of microRNAs in NK Cell Development and Function. *Cells* **2021**, *10*, 2020, doi:10.3390/cells10082020.

- Obajdin, J.; Davies, D.M.; Maher, J. Engineering of Chimeric Natural Killer Cell Receptors to Develop Precision Adoptive Immunotherapies for Cancer. *Clinical and Experimental Immunology* 2020, 202, 11–27, doi:10.1111/cei.13478.
- Bermak, J.C.; Li, M.; Bullock, C.; Zhou, Q.Y. Regulation of Transport of the Dopamine D1 Receptor by a New Membrane-Associated ER Protein. *Nat Cell Biol* 2001, *3*, 492–498, doi:10.1038/35074561.
- Jung, J.; Kim, J.; Roh, S.H.; Jun, I.; Sampson, R.D.; Gee, H.Y.; Choi, J.Y.; Lee, M.G. The HSP70 Co-Chaperone DNAJC14 Targets Misfolded Pendrin for Unconventional Protein Secretion. *Nat Commun* 2016, *7*, 11386, doi:10.1038/ncomms11386.
- Isken, O.; Postel, A.; Bruhn, B.; Lattwein, E.; Becher, P.; Tautz, N. CRISPR/Cas9-Mediated Knockout of DNAJC14 Verifies This Chaperone as a Pivotal Host Factor for RNA Replication of Pestiviruses. *J Virol* 2019, *93*, e01714-18, doi:10.1128/JVI.01714-18.
- Zarouchlioti, C.; Parfitt, D.A.; Li, W.; Gittings, L.M.; Cheetham, M.E. DNAJ Proteins in Neurodegeneration: Essential and Protective Factors. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci* 2018, 373, 20160534, doi:10.1098/rstb.2016.0534.
- Day, J.W.; Howell, K.; Place, A.; Long, K.; Rossello, J.; Kertesz, N.; Nomikos, G. Advances and Limitations for the Treatment of Spinal Muscular Atrophy. *BMC Pediatrics* 2022, 22, 632, doi:10.1186/s12887-022-03671-x.
- 44. Raimer, A.C.; Gray, K.M.; Matera, A.G. SMN A Chaperone for Nuclear RNP Social Occasions? *RNA Biology* **2017**, *14*, 701–711, doi:10.1080/15476286.2016.1236168.
- O'Donoghue, M.; de Lemos, J.A.; Morrow, D.A.; Murphy, S.A.; Buros, J.L.; Cannon, C.P.; Sabatine, M.S. Prognostic Utility of Heart-Type Fatty Acid Binding Protein in Patients with Acute Coronary Syndromes. *Circulation* 2006, *114*, 550–557, doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.106.641936.

# <u>Chapter 5: Transcriptomics of Angiotensin II-induced Long Noncoding and Coding RNAs</u> <u>in Endothelial Cells</u>

The following chapter is reproduced with permission and modification from:

Bu, S.; Nguyen, H.C.; Michels, D.C.R.; Rasheed, B.; Nikfarjam, S.; Singh, R.; Wang, L.; Patel, D.A.; Singh, S.; Qadura, M.; et al. Transcriptomics of Angiotensin II-Induced Long Noncoding and Coding RNAs in Endothelial Cells. *J Hypertens* **2022**, *40*, 1303–1313, doi:10.1097/HJH.000000000003140

See Appendix B for information.

## 5.1 Abstract

Angiotensin II (Ang II) is implicated in endothelial dysfunction and hypertension, critical factors in developing cardiovascular diseases and atherosclerosis. Long noncoding RNAs (lncRNAs) have emerged as crucial regulators in cardiovascular pathobiology; however, their regulatory mechanisms in response to the Ang II-rich environment in endothelial cells remain underinvestigated. To assess the expression profiles of lncRNAs and coding RNAs in endothelial cells following Ang II treatment, we cultured and treated human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECs) with Ang II (1 µM, 24 h), and their expression profiles of lncRNAs and mRNAs were analyzed using the Arraystar Human IncRNA Expression Microarray V3.0. We reveal significant changes in the expression of both lncRNAs and mRNAs in HUVECs following Ang II treatment. Out of 30,584 lncRNA targets screened, 25 were significantly upregulated and 69 downregulated. Of 26,106 mRNA targets screened, 28 were significantly upregulated and 67 downregulated. LncRNAs RP11-354P11.2 and RP11-360F5.1 were the most pronounced upregulated and downregulated, respectively. Likewise, RAB11FIP4 and DNAJA2 mRNAs were the most upregulated and downregulated, respectively. Functional analysis revealed the involvement of differentially regulated genes in nucleotide excision repair and ECM-receptor interaction pathways. We provide the first comprehensive profiling of the transcriptomic changes for both IncRNAs and mRNAs in Ang II-treated human endothelial cells, expanding current understanding of the molecular mechanisms and cardiovascular implications underlying Ang II-induced

endothelial dysfunction. Our findings highlight potential novel therapeutic targets for managing cardiovascular disorders associated with Ang II signalling.

### **5.2 Introduction**

Endothelial cells play essential roles in maintaining vascular homeostasis by forming a macromolecular barrier between the blood and vessel wall and by regulating essential gaseous/nutrient exchange under physiological conditions. However, under pathological conditions, the endothelium undergoes structural and functional alterations, a condition referred to as 'endothelial dysfunction.' Endothelial dysfunction is often accompanied by platelet adherence, leukocyte migration, smooth muscle cell proliferation, apoptosis and impaired vascular tone, causing various cardiovascular diseases (CVDs), such as atherosclerosis, hypertension, myocardial infarction and heart failure [1,2]. The major risk factor related to impaired vascular tone is the imbalanced bioavailability of nitric oxide, an endogenous vasodilator. Nitric oxide biology has been extensively studied [3], where nitric oxide has been shown to have protective effects on the cardiovascular system. Furthermore, the loss or inhibition of nitric oxide has been associated with the development of CVD, such as atherosclerosis [4].

Angiotensin II (Ang II), an endogenous vasoconstrictor [4], was originally viewed as a hormone involved in the renin-angiotensin system (RAS) regulating blood pressure [5]; however, mounting evidence now suggests its roles beyond hemodynamic regulation. Ang II has been shown to have a role in the pathobiology of vascular diseases [5]. For example, elevated Ang II reduces nitric oxide bioavailability and induces oxidative stress, leading to impaired endothelium-mediated vasorelaxation in response to endothelial dysfunction [6]. Particularly, Ang II activates NADH/NADPH oxidase, which is the major source of superoxide in the vessel wall, leading to reduced nitric oxide production [7]. Moreover, Ang II triggers pro-inflammatory events by activating the NF-κB pathway, and subsequently, VCAM-1 and ICAM-1; Ang II also stimulates reactive oxygen species (ROS) production [5]. Ang II is involved in vascular remodelling *via* modulating the expression of matrix metalloproteinases, vascular endothelial growth factor receptors and vascular cell migration [8]. High levels of Ang II and Ang II converting enzyme (ACE) have been implicated in many vascular diseases [5]. Moreover, Dzau [9] reported that during the process of plaque build-up in atherosclerosis, there was an upregulation of ACE, which leads to more Ang II production, creating a positive feedback loop or a vicious cycle exacerbating endothelial dysfunction. To put it all together, Ang II can decrease nitric oxide production, increase oxidative stress and amplify endothelial dysfunction, suggesting a close link between its expression and CVDs [5].

Recently, long noncoding RNAs (lncRNAs) have been shown to regulate endothelial functions [10]. LncRNAs are transcripts that are more than 200 nucleotides in length that actively modulate the expression of genes involved in the pathobiology of CVDs [11]. The most well-established mechanism is 'miRNA sponging,' wherein lncRNAs sequester miRNAs that target mRNAs to indirectly modulate the expression of these mRNAs [11], resulting in either activation or inhibition of downstream molecular pathways [12]. LncRNAs can also directly bind to their target mRNAs to regulate their translation. Both Ang II and lncRNAs are involved in regulating endothelial function and CVDs; however, the effect of Ang II on lncRNA expression in endothelial cells has never been investigated. Accordingly, for the very first time, we aim to profile the expression pattern of lncRNAs and mRNAs following Ang II treatment of endothelial cells to provide a better insight into the mechanisms behind Ang II-associated adverse effects on endothelial cells and their plausible roles in cardiovascular pathobiology.

#### 5.3 Methods

*Cell Culture*: Human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECs, pooled, Lonza; passage 4–7), which is a standard model to study endothelial cells *in vitro*[13,14], were cultured in endothelial cell growth medium-2 (EGM-2 Bulletkit; Lonza) supplemented with growth factors, serum and antibiotics at 37°C in humidified 5% CO2. Confluent HUVECs were maintained in six-well plates and starved overnight before treating with either a vehicle (PBS) or Ang II ( $10^{-6}$  mol/L, Sigma); this dose has previously induced consistent oxidative stress and inflammation in endothelial cells [15,16].

*Microarray Profiling*: Total RNA was isolated from HUVECs using TRIzol (Invitrogen) reagent and quantified with the NanoDrop ND-1000 spectrophotometer. RNA integrity was confirmed by standard denaturing agarose gel electrophoresis as described previously (**Figure 5.3 and 5.4**) [17]. The expression profile of 30,584 human lncRNAs and 26,106 protein-coding transcripts was conducted with the Arraystar Human LncRNA Microarray V3.0 apparatus (Arraystar Inc., Rockville, Maryland, USA). Sample labelling and array hybridization were performed on the Agilent Array platform. Briefly, the total RNA from each sample was amplified and transcribed into fluorescent cRNA (Arraystar Flash RNA Labeling Kit; Arraystar Inc.) before 1  $\mu$ g of each labelled cRNA was hybridized onto the microarray slide. The hybridized arrays were washed, fixed and scanned with the Agilent DNA Microarray Scanner (Product# G2505C; Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara, California, USA). The acquired array images were analyzed with the Agilent Feature Extraction software (version 11.0.1.1). Quantile normalization and subsequent data processing were performed with the GeneSpring GX v11.5.1 software package (Agilent Technologies). For differentially expressed genes, the *P* values were calculated by *t*-test and adjusted for multiple testing using the Benjamini-Hochberg method to minimize the false discovery rate. Volcano plot filtering, set at a threshold of at least 2.0 folds, was used to screen for lncRNAs and mRNAs that exhibited significantly different (P < 0.05; unpaired *t*-test) expression levels in the two study groups. Pathway analysis was based on the current Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes (KEGG) database. Gene Ontology (GO) analysis was performed with the topGO package of the Bioconductor system.

*Validation qPCR*: HUVECs were cultured and treated with either vehicle or Ang II for 24 h, and then total RNA was extracted using TRIzol. Complementary DNA was synthesized using Quantitect reverse transcription kit (Qiagen, Germantown, Maryland, USA), and qPCR was performed using forward and reverse primers (**Table 5.7**) and CFX Opus (Biorad, Hercules, California, USA) qPCR machine. Data was analyzed using the  $2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct}$  method and Student's *t*-test. A value of *P* less than 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

#### 5.4 Results

**Quality assessment of lncRNA and mRNA data:** RNA integrity was evaluated using denaturing agarose gel electrophoresis. The intensity of the upper 28S ribosomal RNA bands was about twice that of the lower 18S band, confirming the integrity of RNAs. The absence of smears above the 28S band attests to the purity of the RNA samples (**Figure 5.3**). RNA quantity and purity were also assessed with the NanoDrop ND-1000. The A260 /A280 and A260/A230 optical density (OD) ratios yielded values of about 2.0 and 1.8, respectively, which further confirmed the purity of our





Figure 5.1 LncRNA and mRNA expression profiles in HUVECs treated with Ang II (10<sup>-6</sup> mol/L) vs. vehicle-treated Control

(**a**, **b**) Scatter plots comparing the variation in lncRNA and mRNA expression. The values plotted are the averaged normalized signal values (log2 scaled) for the control (x-axis) and the Ang II-treatment (y-axis) groups. The green lines indicate fold change. LncRNAs and mRNAs above the top green line and below the bottom green line exhibit at least a 2.0-fold difference between the two study groups. (**c**) Box-and-Whisker plots (10th, 90th percentile) showing average fold-change of lncRNAs and mRNAs. Median intensity is denoted with a '-' and mean intensity is denoted with a '+' sign. (**d**, **e**) Volcano plots detailing the magnitude of expression difference. The vertical green

lines correspond to 2.0-fold upregulation and 2.0-fold downregulation of expression. The horizontal green line indicates an adjusted *P* value of  $\leq 0.05$ . Red points represent lncRNAs and mRNAs with statistically significant differential expressions (fold-change  $\geq 2.0$ , adjusted *P* $\leq 0.05$ ). 94 differentially expressed lncRNAs and 95 differentially expressed mRNAs in comparison to vehicle-treated control samples. N = 3 biological replicates per group.

Expression assessment of Ang II-induced lncRNAs and mRNAs in endothelial cells: Scatter plots provided a profile of HUVEC lncRNAs (Figure 5.1a) and mRNAs (Figure 5.1b) that were upregulated, downregulated or unaffected by Ang II treatment. Overall, the average fold-changes were similar across the group for the differentially expressed lncRNAs and mRNAs under the study conditions (Figure 5.1c). Subsequent volcano plot filtering uncovered 25 significantly upregulated and 69 significantly downregulated lncRNAs in HUVECs treated with Ang II in comparison to the vehicle-treated control samples (Figure 5.1d). LncRNAs that demonstrated the greatest differences in expression ranged from 11,100 to 200 bp. Tables 1 and 2 list the 10 most upregulated and downregulated lncRNAs depending upon the fold-change expression, respectively. In particular, RP11-354P11.2 (RNA length: 224 bp, chromosome 17) was the most upregulated lncRNA (~11-fold), and RP11-360F5.1 (RNA length: 946 bp, chromosome 4) was the most downregulated (~3-fold) lncRNA in HUVECs subjected to Ang II-treatment. We validated our findings by performing qPCR for selected upregulated (RP11-354P11.2, RP13-507I23.1, TTC28-AS1 and RP11-506G7.1) and downregulated (RP11-360F5.1, XLOC 008554, GLG1, AC073130.3 and SLC7A11-AS1) lncRNAs (Tables 1 and 2). Among Ang II-induced upregulated lncRNAs, RP13-507I23.1 (1.91  $\pm$  0.20-fold, P = 3.62E-06), TTC28-AS1 (1.45  $\pm$  0.38-fold, P =0.016) and RP11-506G7.1 (2.30  $\pm$  0.88-fold, P = 0.004) demonstrated similar expression pattern as observed in the array (Table 1). We were unable to obtain quantifiable data for RP11-354P11.2. Among Ang II-associated downregulated lncRNAs, GLG1 (0.78  $\pm$  0.24-fold, P = 0.11), AC073130.3 ( $0.73 \pm 0.25$ -fold, P = 0.044) and SLC7A11-AS1 ( $0.45 \pm 0.32$ -fold, P = 3.22E-05) showed similar expression patterns as observed in the lncRNA array (Table 2). We were unable to obtain quantifiable data for RP11-360F5.1 and XLOC 008554. Ang II-associated changes at the transcript level in HUVECs were also noted amongst the 95 screened mRNAs, with 28 upregulated and 67 downregulated mRNAs (Figure 5.1e). Tables 3 and 4 list the 10 most upregulated and downregulated mRNAs depending upon the fold-change expression, respectively. Upon Ang II treatment, intracellular transport protein RAB11 family-interacting protein 4 (*RAB11FIP4*) was the most upregulated transcript (~7-fold), while the cell cycle progression restoration 3 (*DNAJA2*) was the most downregulated mRNA (~3-fold). Later, validation qPCR was performed for upregulated genes Collagen Type XIII, Alpha-1 (*Col13A1*), Potassium Channel, Voltage-gated, Subfamily G, Member 3 (*KCNG3*) and Neutralized E3 Ubiquitin Protein Ligase 4 (*NEURL4*); and downregulated gene *DNAJA2* (Tables 3 and 4). The validation qPCR demonstrated significant upregulation for *Col13A1* (2.00  $\pm$  0.67-fold, *P* = 0.01), *KCNG3* (3.70  $\pm$  1.44-fold, *P* = 0.0005) and *NEURL4* (2.41  $\pm$  1.16-fold, *P* = 0.01), and downregulation for *DNAJA2* (0.63  $\pm$  0.22-fold, *P* = 0.006) as observed in the array (Tables 3 and 4).

LncRNA chromosomal distribution and subtype analysis: Figure 5.5 shows the dendrograms (heatmap) generated for the hierarchical analysis of clustered lncRNAs that were differentially expressed in HUVECs treated with Ang II in comparison to vehicle-treated controls. Although the lncRNAs modulated by Ang II treatment were abundant and found on every human chromosome, chromosomes 1, 2, 3, 7, 8, 12, 16 and 17 were noted to have the highest number of lncRNAs (Figure 5.2a). Further probing revealed that although these differentially expressed lncRNAs are expressed along the entire length of the chromosomes, there is a notable clustering of lncRNAs, particularly on chromosome 2, 15 and 22 (Figure 5.2b). A lncRNA subgroup analysis, which helps identify the functional relationship between lncRNAs and their associated protein-coding genes, demonstrated that the majority (~50%) of lncRNAs were intergenic in origin, followed by natural and intronic antisense lncRNAs (Figure 5.2c). We also identified bidirectional, exon sense-overlapping and intron sense-overlapping lncRNAs (Figure 5.2c).



<u>Figure 5.2 Distribution, location and classification of differentially expressed lncRNAs in</u> <u>HUVECs treated with Ang II (10<sup>-6</sup> mol/L) vs. vehicle-treated control</u>

Demonstration of (a) numbers and (b) chromosomal location of differentially expressed (DE) lncRNAs on different chromosomes. (c) Bar-graph representing types of differently expressed lncRNAs, depending upon their genomic location. N = 3 biological replicates per group

**Bioinformatics analyses:** Pathway analysis with the current KEGG database yielded interesting findings, wherein we observed significant downregulation for pathways involved in nucleotide excision repair and ECM-receptor interaction (**Table 5.5**). The results of the GO analysis grouped the differentially expressed mRNAs under the following three categories: Biological Processes, Cellular Components and Molecular Function. GO terms most broadly associated with upregulated mRNAs were regulation of single organism process, localization and transport. GO terms associated with downregulated mRNA were mainly enriched in metabolic process, cell periphery and ion binding (**Table 5.6**).

<u>Table 5.1 Ten most upregulated lncRNAs in HUVECs upon Ang II (10<sup>-6</sup> mol/L) stimulation in</u> <u>comparison to vehicle-treated controls</u>

Top 10 upregulated DE lncRNAs in Ang II treated vs. control endothelial cells						
No.	Gene symbol	Fold change	Р	Associated gene	RNA length	Chr/ Strand
1	RP11-354P11.2	10.6534177	0.036898809	BLMH	224	17/+
2	RP13-507I23.1	9.5334709	0.045867677	CXorf40B	547	X/+
3	TTC28-AS1	5.1482452	0.001933328	PITPNB	565	22/+
4	RP11-706C16.8	5.1002669	0.043965255	LY6D	602	8/+
5	RP11-506G7.1	3.7693643	0.001020892		743	17/+
6	LINC00281	3.6061733	0.037690972		3215	22/-
7	AK025511	3.2931008	0.04829421	ATP11A	5344	13/+
8	XLOC_009078	3.0441687	0.049303053		327	11/+
9	LOC400084	2.9207082	0.019073615		2822	12/-
10	AC005606.14	2.9034744	0.034347729	SYNGR3	545	16/-

ATP11A, ATPase Class VI Type 11a; BLMH, bleomycin hydrolase; LY6D, lymphocyte antigen 6 complex locus D; PITPNB, phosphatidylinositol transfer protein beta; SYNGR3, Synaptogyrin 3.

# <u>Table 5.2 Ten most downregulated lncRNAs in HUVECs upon Ang II (10<sup>-6</sup> mol/L) stimulation</u> <u>in comparison to vehicle-treated controls</u>

Top 10 downregulated DE lncRNAs in Ang II-treated vs. control endothelial cells						
No.	Gene symbol	Fold change	Р	Associated gene	RNA length	Chr/ Strand
1	RP11-360F5.1	3.0136135	0.013442124	KLHL5	946	4/-
2	XLOC_008554	2.9839886	0.021356487		613	10/+
3	RP11-415D17.3	2.8673817	0.027062378	FILIP1	506	6/+
4	GLG1	2.860294	0.00469547	GLG1	9448	16/-
5	AC073130.3	2.8562164	0.003143427	TES	842	7/-
6	SLC7A11-AS1	2.7342087	0.001890476		817	4/+
7	AC068610.3	2.6243215	0.031952981		784	7/+
8	RP11-455B3.1	2.615349	0.008796369		264	5/+
9	RP11-342C23.4	2.4772416	0.02233984	FBP2	1080	9/+
10	RP11-439C15.4	2.4696443	0.02712366	KBTBD11	557	8/-

FBP2, Fructose-1,6-bisphosphatase 2; FILIP1, Filamin A-interacting Protein 1; GLG1, Golgi Apparatus Protein 1; KBTBD11, Kelch repeatand btb/poz Domain-containing Protein 11; KLHL5, kelch-like 5; TES, Testis-derived Transcript.

# <u>Table 5.3 Ten most upregulated mRNAs in HUVECs upon Ang II (10<sup>-6</sup> mol/L) stimulation in</u> <u>comparison to vehicle-treated controls</u>

Top 10 upregulated DE mRNAs in Ang II-treated vs. control endothelial cells						
No.	Gene symbol	Fold change	Р			
1	RAB11FIP4	6.7547128	0.028130498			
2	COL13A1	6.0001995	0.034844245			
3	KCNG3	5.5657981	0.002100061			
4	PRKAR1A	5.4190279	0.047401117			
5	NEURL4	4.5848951	0.033462694			
6	MAPT	3.6389586	0.036545522			
7	C22orf39	3.6371241	0.047490119			
8	FAM123A	3.5522304	0.046210964			
9	TNS1	3.5285042	0.037949728			
10	FAM178B	3.2582795	0.037095586			

COL13A1, Collagen, Type XIII, Alpha-1; FAM123A, Family with Sequence Similarity 123, Member a; KCNG3, Potassium Channel, Voltagegated, Subfamily g, Member 3; MAPT, Microtubule-associated Protein Tau; NEURL4, Neutralized e3 Ubiquitin Protein Ligase 4; PRKAR1A, Protein Kinase, Camp-dependent, Regulatory, Type I, Alpha; RAB11FIP4, Rab11 Family-interacting Protein 4; TNS1, Tensin 1.

# <u>Table 5.4 Ten most downregulated mRNAs in HUVECs upon Ang II (10<sup>-6</sup> mol/L) stimulation</u> in comparison to vehicle-treated controls

Top 10 downregulated DE mRNAs in Ang II-treated vs. control endothelial cells						
No.	Gene symbol	Fold change	Р			
1	DNAJA2	3.1199056	0.01457991			
2	KIDINS220	2.7126928	0.001954717			
3	MARCH7	2.6986797	0.049530097			
4	EIF2A	2.6547819	0.032343461			
5	CNOT4	2.5378737	0.044541049			
6	HNRNPA1L2	2.4920336	0.017606208			
7	FAM221A	2.480581	0.007758564			
8	NOSTRIN	2.4622312	0.028365697			
9	B4GALT6	2.4142459	0.014564299			
10	CLEC2A	2.393869	0.029924369			

B4GALT6, Beta-GlcNac beta-1,4-galactosyltransferase, Polypeptide 6; CLEC2A, C-type Lectin Domain Family 2, Member A; CNOT4, ccr4not Transcription Complex, Subunit 4; DNAJA2, DNAj/hsp40 Homolog, Subfamily a, Member 2; EIF2A, Eukaryotic Translation Initiation Factor 2a; KIDINS220, Kinase d-interacting substrate, 220-kd; MARCH7, Membrane-associated Ring-ch Finger Protein 7; NOSTRIN, Nitric Oxide Synthase Trafficker.

# <u>Table 5.5 Results of bioinformatics analyses on down-regulated pathways in HUVECs after Ang</u> <u>II (10<sup>-6</sup> mol/L) stimulation in comparison to vehicle-treated controls</u>

Downregulated pathways in Ang II-treated vs. control endothelial cells					
Nr	Pathways	Count	Р	Genes	
1	Nucleotide excision repair	5	0.01596065	ERCC6//POLE	
2	TGF-beta signaling pathway	4	0.04291208	LTBP1//TGFBR1	
3	ECM-receptor interaction	3	0.04888822	COL5A2//ITGA1	

<u>Table 5.6 Results of bioinformatics GO (gene ontology) enrichment analyses to determine the</u> <u>roles of differentially expressed mRNAs in GO term</u>

Upregulated				Downregulated			
Go Term	Count	% Genes	Р	Go term	Count	% Genes	Р
Biological process							
Single-organism cellular process	21	23	0.02430	Metabolic process	47	56	0.01103
Localization	13		0.01052	Organic substance metabolic process	44		0.01498
Transport	12		0.00496	Primary metabolic process	43		0.01587
Establishment of localization	12		0.00601	Cellular metabolic process	42		0.01965
Single-organism transport	10		0.01343	Macromolecule metabolic process	38		0.00778
Cellular component							
Endoplasmic reticulum	5	23	0.03790	Cell periphery	21	52	0.02490
Ribonucleoprotein granule	2		0.01118	Plasma membrane	20		0.03871
Cytoplasmic ribonucleoprotein granule	2		0.01118	Transferase complex	5		0.02612
Endoplasmic reticulum lumen	2		0.02414	Endosome	5		0.04589
Chromatoid body	1		0.01586	Late endosome	3		0.01792
Molecular function							
Ion transmembrane transporter activity	4	22	0.02158	lon binding	29	58	0.03808
Substrate-specific transmembrane transporter activity	4		0.02716	Small molecule binding	16		0.01985
Enzyme regulator activity	4		0.02976	Transferase activity	15		0.00566
Transmembrane transporter activity	4		0.03650	Nucleotide binding	14		0.03571
Substrate-specific transporter activity	4		0.04337	Nucleoside phosphate binding	14		0.03582

#### 5.5 Discussion

This is the first report profiling Ang II-induced differential expression of mRNAs and lncRNAs in cultured endothelial cells. Differentially expressed lncRNAs and mRNAs were regulated with similar average fold-changes, and our volcano plots uncovered 94 differentially expressed lncRNAs and 95 differentially expressed mRNAs in comparison to vehicle-treated control samples (**Figure 5.1**). The differentially expressed lncRNAs were distributed on all chromosomes, mainly on chromosomes 1, 2, 3, 7, 8, 12, 16, and 17 (**Figure 5.2**). Similar distributions of lncRNA have been previously reported in endothelial cells [17]. The majority of differentially expressed lncRNAs were intergenic, which is also in line with previous reports [17].

In the array data, we were able to identify several novel differentially expressed lncRNAs and mRNAs, which have not yet been characterized. However, on the basis of other relevant studies, we discuss their plausible roles in Ang II-mediated effects in cardiovascular disease. The most significantly upregulated lncRNA is RP11-354P11.2 (11-fold), which is not characterized but is located near the coding region of miR-423, whose expression was found to be strongly correlated with the clinical diagnosis of heart failure (**Table 5.1**) [18]. In addition, Rizzacasa et al. [19] found that miR-423 was differentially expressed in patients with acute myocardial infarction compared with healthy controls. There are no reports on the effect of Ang II on miR-423; however, it is possible that Ang II-induced adverse effects are mediated via an interaction between RP11-354P11.2 and miR-423. The second most upregulated lncRNA is RP13-507I23.1, which is associated with the gene CXorf40B and, thereby, the complex locus MT1A and MT2A (Table 5.1) [20]. MT1A and MT2A encode for proteins metallothionein 1A and metallothionein 2A and have anti-inflammatory, antioxidative and antiapoptotic roles [21]. This correlates well, as Ang II induces oxidative stress, which may modulate MT2A via its interaction with RP13-507I23.1. The third most upregulated lncRNA is TTC28-AS1, which is associated with the gene encoding phosphatidylinositol transfer protein (PITPNB). PITPNB binds to and transfers phosphatidylinositol from the endoplasmic reticulum to other membrane compartments [22]. Phosphatidylinositol is an important precursor of many signalling molecules that regulate cell proliferation, migration and differentiation. Phosphatidylinositol also plays an important role in cellular mechano-transduction, which tightly regulates the function of cardiovascular cells and has been implicated in the pathogenesis of CVDs [23]. Among other upregulated lncRNAs, Lei et

*al.*[24] have previously found that RP11-706C16.8 is involved in the AKT signalling pathway that promotes tumour formation in pancreatic cancer. AK025511 is associated with the gene *ATP11A*, which encodes for ABCA1, an ATP-binding cassette transporter that transports ions across the cell membrane. ATP11A was also found to be a susceptibility locus for the development of pulmonary fibrosis [25]. There is no literature linking Ang II and AK025511, but Budinger *et al.*[26] suggested that increasing Ang II metabolism or the activity of angiotensin-converting enzymes may protect patients from pulmonary fibrosis. Although AC005606.14 has not been characterized, it may be involved in dopamine reuptake and the regulation of exocytosis from neurotransmitters (**Table 5.1**) [27].

The most significantly downregulated (3-fold) lncRNA is RP11-360F5.1 and is located near the protein-coding gene Kelch Like Family Member 5 (KLHL 5), which is involved in class I MHCmediated antigen processing and presentation [28], suggesting a connection of this lncRNA to the innate immune response following Ang II treatment (Table 5.2). RP11-415D17.3 associates with the gene FILIP1 (FilaminA interacting protein 1), which interacts with filamin A, a protein that facilitates branching of actin filaments and anchors transmembrane proteins to the actin cytoskeleton [29]. FILIP1 possibly promotes the migration of neuroblasts and is implicated in glioblastoma. GLG1 is associated with the gene GLG1 (Golgi Glycoprotein 1), which binds to fibroblast growth factor and E-selectin [30]. E-selectin is uniquely expressed in endothelial cells following an inflammatory response and is responsible for controlling leucocyte accumulation [31]. Skaletz-Rorowski et al. [32] found that the Angiotensin AT1 receptor can upregulate the expression of fibroblast growth factor in human coronary smooth muscle cells, which might explain the upregulation of GLG1 in HUVECs following Ang II treatment. AC073130.3 associates with the gene TES (Testin LIM Domain Protein), which might be involved in regulating cell proliferation and cancer. Tatarelli et al.[33] found that TESTIN mRNA expression is absent in 22% of cancer cell lines compared to universal expression in normal human cell lines. Luo et al. [34] found that the expression of SLC7A11-AS1 is significantly downregulated in patients with gastric cancer, which could promote tumour formation; this effect is mediated via the ASK1-p38MAPK/JNK pathway, which has been suggested to promote cardiac fibrosis in vivo[35]. RP11-342C23.4 associates with the gene FBP1 (fructose biphosphatase-2), which is responsible for catalyzing the hydrolysis of fructose 1-6 biphosphate to fructose 6

phosphate [36]. Uncontrolled fructose metabolism could result in the production of uric acid, a major risk factor for hypertension [36] (**Table 5.2**).

Transcriptome analysis following Ang II treatment revealed differential expression of mRNAs. The most upregulated mRNA is RAB11FIP4, which regulates the formation, targeting and fusion of intracellular transport vesicles. RAB11FIP4 directly interacts with RAB11A, which belongs to the small GTPase family and is responsible for intracellular membrane trafficking [37] (**Table 5.3**). Vascular endothelial-cadherin is important for maintaining vascular integrity and is an essential component of the vascular barrier and recycling. RAB11A is also involved in vascular endothelial-cadherin recycling in endothelial cells [38]. Yan et al. [38] found that silencing RAB11A prevented the recycling process of vascular endothelial-cadherin and the presentation of vascular endothelial-cadherin on the plasma membrane. Moreover, inactivating RAB11A prevented reannealing of junctions following vascular inflammation, and blocking the expression of RAB11A in pulmonary microvessels in mice resulted in vascular leakage [39]. Given that Ang II also induces pulmonary microvascular endothelial barrier injury [39], the RAB11A upregulation appears to promote a compensatory mechanism to protect against Ang II-induced endothelial injury. COL13A1 was also upregulated in Ang II-treated endothelial cells, which is involved in organ fibrosis. Ang II also promotes fibrosis, and it is possible that Ang II promotes fibrosis via COL13A1 upregulation (Table 5.3). COL13A1 could also bind to heparin, an anticoagulant, which is believed to offset the vasoconstrictive effect of Ang II [40]. KCNG3 encodes for voltagegated potassium channels that are responsible for regulating neurotransmitter release, heart rate, insulin release and smooth muscle contraction [41]. Although there is no existing literature linking Ang II and KCNG3, they share a common function, which is regulating vascular smooth muscle contraction [41,42]. Both elevation of Ang II and closing of potassium channels lead to vasoconstriction. PRKAR1A is involved in the regulation of lipid metabolism. In addition, PRKAR1A is highly expressed in the heart; Liu et al.[43] found that PRKAR1A deficiency in young patients with Carney complex disorder had reduced left ventricular mass and suppression of cardiomyocyte hypertrophy. It is possible that elevated levels of PRKAR1A could exacerbate the development of cardiac hypertrophy on top of the effect of elevated Ang II [44]. NEURL4 (Neutralized E3 Ubiquitin Protein Ligase 4) acts as a substrate for HERC2, and together, they modulate the centrosome architecture via a ubiquitin-dependent pathway [45]. Hashimoto-Komatsu *et al.*[46] found that Ang II can induce microtubule reorganization in endothelial cells,

and as the centrosome is an integral part of the reorganization process, it would be interesting to investigate the link between Ang II and NEURL4. Similarly, MAPT was also shown to be upregulated, and it encodes for protein TAU, which is a microtubule-stabilizing protein important in cytoskeletal remodelling [47]. There is no literature on C22orf39, but what is known is that it interacts with CEP76, which is another centrosomal protein correlating with the other upregulated mRNAs (**Table 5.3**). FAM123A is a novel negative regulator of the Wnt/ $\beta$  signalling pathway during neuroectodermal patterning, a critical process of embryonic development [48]. It is interesting to note that Ang II and the Wnt/ $\beta$  signalling pathway have an antagonistic pleiotropy relationship in the aging process. The blocking of the renin-angiotensin pathway, which slows the process of ageing, is accompanied by the downregulation of Wnt/ $\beta$  signalling, which is critical for survival [49]. Tensin 1 (TNS1) is an actin-binding protein important in focal adhesion; the abnormal cleavage of TNS1 results in abnormal cell morphology [50]. Bernau et al. [51] found that TNS1 expression is induced in pulmonary fibrosis and might serve as a therapeutic target for tissue fibrosis. As elevated Ang II also serves as a risk factor for pulmonary fibrosis, it is possible that upregulated TNS1 following Ang II treatment exacerbates the development of pulmonary fibrosis. Although there is no existing literature for FAM178B, its paralog SLF2 plays an important role in repairing DNA damage [52] (Table 5.3). Elevation of Ang II leads to increased oxidative stress and, subsequently, DNA damage [53], and FAM178B might play a protective role.

The most downregulated mRNA is cell cycle progression restoration 3 (*DNAJA3*), which is responsible for regulating molecular chaperone activity [54] (**Table 5.4**). This is in line with a previous finding, wherein postprandial sera treatment to cultured endothelial cells caused reduced endothelial function and DNAJA3 expression [55]. It is likely that Ang II-associated reduced DNAJA3 expression participates in Ang II-induced endothelial dysfunction. KIDINS220 (Kinase D-interacting Substrate of 220 kDa) participates in the MAP-kinase signalling *via* activating Rap-1 and is preferentially expressed in the nervous system [56]. Scholz-Starke and Cesca [57] summarized the function of KIDINS220 in neuronal survival, outgrowth of neuronal process and neuronal activity. KIDINS220 also plays an important role in the cardiovascular system, as mice with KIDINS220 knockout exhibited cardiovascular abnormalities. KIDINS220 also targets and interacts with vascular endothelial growth factor receptors, which acts upstream to eNOS and regulates nitric oxide release [58]. It would be interesting to investigate whether KIDINS220 is involved in mediating the inhibitory effect of Ang II on nitric oxide release.

Furthermore, KIDINS220 has been implicated in immunomodulation, as indicated by coimmunoprecipitation of KIDINS220 and intercellular adhesion molecule-3 in primary Tlymphocytes [59]. MARCH7 is an E3 ubiquitin ligase, and it has been shown to interact directly with another E3 ubiquitin ligase, Mdm2, to maintain its stability. Mdm2 specifically targets p53 for degradation [60], which regulates the cell cycle and apoptosis [60]. Downregulation of MARCH7 following Ang II treatment might result in destabilization of Mdm2 and, subsequently, an imbalanced p53 in cells (Table 5.4). EIF2A participates in the initial translation process of some mRNAs by binding the initiator tRNA to the 40S ribosomal subunit [61]. CNOT4 (CCR4-NOT Transcription Complex Subunit 4) has E3 ubiquitin ligase activity and represses RNA polymerase II transcription [62]. In addition, CNOT4 also enhances the JAK/STAT pathway, which is important for innate immunity and response to stress signals in human Hela cells [63], which might be involved in the immune responses following Ang II treatment. NRNPA1L2 is involved in the processing of mRNA and RNA splicing [64]. Treatment of Ang II might lead to increased modification of some mRNAs, as Kobori et al. [65] found that increased circulating Ang II led to increased production of angiotensinogen mRNA. NOSTRIN protein is found to be expressed in vascular endothelial cells and directly interacts with eNOS to inhibit nitric oxide release [66]. Nitric oxide is a critical mediator of many biological processes, including neurotransmission, vascular homeostasis and inflammation [66]. An imbalance of nitric oxide levels in endothelial cells could lead to endothelial dysfunction, which is implicated in many CVDs [4]. As was mentioned previously, elevated Ang II reduces nitric oxide bioavailability, and NOSTRIN might be one of the mediators of this effect. CLEC2A is expressed in various immune cells and can increase the survival of T cells by increasing their stability [67]; CLEC2A may also participate in the immune responses elicited by Ang II treatment.

Pathway analysis with the current KEGG database reveals two main downregulated pathways in ECs following Ang II stimulation: the nucleotide excision repair (NER) pathway and the ECM-receptor interaction pathway (**Table 5.5 and 5.6**). NER is one of the major DNA repair pathways that can remove a broad range of helix-distorting DNA lesions from the genome [68]; defects in NER are linked to many CVDs [69]. Durik *et al.*[70] found that mice with defective NER genes showed increased vascular dysfunction, vascular cell senescence, increased blood pressure and vasodilator dysfunction at a young age compared with wild-type controls. As previously mentioned, Ang II can induce oxidative stress in VSMCs and increase ROS, which is implicated

in stress-induced premature senescence (SIPS) [71] and replicative senescence via telomere attrition [72]. Telomeres are long stretches of DNA that get shortened with age. DNA is extremely vulnerable to ROS-mediated damage, and unfixed DNA damage can result in SIPS [72]. What is important to note is that senescent cell phenotypes and telomere shortening are involved in the pathobiology of many vascular diseases, such as atherosclerosis [72]. It is also known that Ang II treatment in endothelial cells causes inflammation and increased ROS, which leads to increased DNA damage and, subsequently, SIPS and age-related senescence. This is the first report linking Ang II with the NER pathway in endothelial cells, and it appears that Ang II-mediated downregulation of the NER pathway is associated with increased accumulation of DNA damage, accelerated endothelial senescence, dysfunction and apoptosis. Extracellular matrix (ECM) is a critical component and support for vascular endothelium [73]. By interacting with integrins on endothelial cells, ECM forms a scaffold necessary to maintain vascular organization. More importantly, the adhesion of endothelial cells to the ECM is crucial for maintaining endothelial function, including proliferation, migration and angiogenesis [73]. There is no previous report about the effect of Ang II on pathways for ECM interaction; however, reduced ECM interaction may disrupt the vascular networks and eventually lead to endothelial dysfunction and vascular diseases. Here, we report the novel interactions between Ang II and NER and ECM pathways with their plausible role in the endothelium, but further studies are needed to exactly delineate the role of these pathways in Ang II-associated endothelial phenotype.

The present study is the first to demonstrate the expression profile of lncRNAs and mRNAs in human endothelial cells following treatment with Ang II. We identified several lncRNAs that have previously not been characterized and associated with the endothelium and, therefore, present as novel targets. This study also provided information about chromosomal locations and sequences of lncRNAs, which is not only an indicator of the reproducibility and credibility of this study but, most importantly, it also provides geneticists with the necessary information to identify causative genes, lncRNAs or SNPs in the chromosomal loci that have already been associated with hypertension or CVDs in genome-wide association studies [74–76]. This is particularly evident in the genome-wide association studies that independently identified a susceptibility locus of coronary artery disease on human chromosome 9p21, which was further associated with an SNP in lncRNA ANRIL [76–78]. Our bioinformatic analyses shed light on some of the pathways that might govern endothelial function following Ang II treatment, particularly the NER pathway,

which appears promising and has not been investigated in association with Ang II in ECs or any other cell types. There are also some limitations to the present work. HUVECs are an established representative cell type for endothelial research *in vitro*[13,14]; however, Ang II is known to induce hypertension *via* RAS that has systemic and differential effects on micro-vascular and macro-vascular function [79,80]. Therefore, it is important to validate our findings in endothelial cells of other micro-vascular and macro-vascular origin. Lastly, a major challenge is that most of the identified differentially expressed lncRNAs are not characterized; therefore, it is difficult to associate the relevance of these changes with Ang II and associated endothelial phenotype. Thus, further characterization of these novel lncRNAs is recommended.

#### 5.6 Conclusion

Overall, this is the first study to profile the Ang II-induced differentially expressed lncRNAs and mRNAs in human endothelial cells. Our results reveal novel targets and substantially extend the list of potential candidate genes involved in Ang II-induced endothelial dysfunction and cardiovascular diseases.



#### Figure 5.3 Quality Assessment of RNA Samples

Denaturing agarose gel (0.5%) electrophoresis was used to assess RNA integrity and genomic DNA contamination. The gel image shows clear and intact 28S and 18S rRNA bands. Con 1, 2 and 3 correspond to vehicle-treated control samples, and Ang II-1, 2 and 3 correspond to the Ang II-treated ( $10^{-6} \mu M$ ) samples.



Figure 5.4 Summary of Differential Expression in IncRNAs and mRNAs Data

Box-and-Whisker plots ( $10^{th}$ ,  $90^{th}$  percentile) showing the normalized intensity of gene expression levels for the 6 study samples to quickly visualize the distribution of the dataset. Mean intensity is denoted with a "+" sign. Control represents the vehicle-treated, and Ang II represents the Ang II-treated ( $10^{-6} \mu M$ ) group.





Figure 5.5 Heat map and hierarchical clustering of differences in lncRNA expression from *HUVECs treated with Ang II (10<sup>-6</sup> \muM) vs. control* 

The dendrogram shows the relationships among the expression levels of samples. Hierarchical clustering that was performed based on 'differentially expressed lncRNAs' shows a distinguishable lncRNA expression profiling among samples. N = 3 biological replicates per group.

Nrs.	Primer	Sequences
1	Hs-KCNG3-F2	5'-GAGTCACCTTGAGGGTACTTAGA-3'
2	Hs-KCNG3-R2	5'-CATAACCATCTCTCGGTAGCAAC-3'
3	Hs- COL13A1-F	5'-GGAGACGGCTATTTTGGGACG-3'
4	Hs- COL13A1-R	5'-TCCTTGAGTGGAGCTTCCATT-3'
5	Hs-NEURL4-F1	5'-GCATCGACCGCAAGGTCAA-3'
6	Hs-NEURL4-R1	5'-CAGAGCGTCCATCTCTCAGC-3'
7	Hs-DNAJA2-F2	5'-TACGGAGAGCAAGGTCTTCG-3'
8	Hs-DNAJA2-R2	5'-CATGCACTACAGAGCACATTCTT-3'
9	Hs-GLG1-F2	5'-TGATGAGGAATTTGGTTCTTGA-3'
10	Hs-GLG1-R2	5'-GGTTGCAGGGAGCTGAGAT-3'
11	Hs-AC073130.3-F1	5'-GATTCCTAACAACTTGGGGGGTA-3'
12	Hs-AC073130.3-R1	5'-CAGCATATGACTTTGAGGAAACA-3'
13	Hs-SLC7A11-AS1-F	5'-TGTGCTATATTTCATGCATGCTC-3'
14	Hs-SLC7A11-AS1-R	5'-GAGCAAATAACAGATGGGACTGT-3'
15	Hs-RP13-507I23.1-F1	5'-CCAAAGGTCTGGCAACTAGC-3'
16	Hs-RP13-507I23.1-R1	5'-TCCCATCTTCGGGAGTAGGT-3'
17	Hs-TTC28-AS1-F1	5'-CCTCCCTTCAGCTTTGGTC-3'
18	Hs-TTC28-AS1-R1	5'-ACTGGAAAACTCACCGGAAA-3'
19	Hs-RP11-506G7.1-F1	5'-AGCTGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
20	Hs-RP11-506G7.1-R1	5'-TTGTAGATGCTGGTGCTACTAGGT-3'

Table 5.7 Details of primers used in validation gPCR

## 5.7 References

- 1. Hadi HA, Carr CS, Al Suwaidi J. Endothelial dysfunction: cardiovascular risk factors, therapy, and outcome. *Vasc Health Risk Manag* **2005**; 1:183–198.
- 2. Galley HF, Webster NR. Physiology of the endothelium. *Br J Anaesth* **2004**; 93:105–113.
- Cannon RO. Role of nitric oxide in cardiovascular disease: focus on the endothelium. *Clin Chem* 1998; 44:1809–1819.
- Naseem KM. The role of nitric oxide in cardiovascular diseases. *Mol Aspects Med* 2005; 26:33–65.
- Watanabe T, Barker TA, Berk BC. Angiotensin II and the endothelium. *Hypertension* 2005; 45:163–169.
- 6. Yan C, Kim D, Aizawa T, Berk BC. Functional interplay between angiotensin II and nitric oxide. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* **2003**; 23:26–36.
- 7. Griendling KK, Ushio-Fukai M. NADH/NADPH oxidase and vascular function. *Trends Cardiovasc Med* **1997**; 7:301–307.
- Tamarat R, Silvestre J-S, Durie M, Levy BI. Angiotensin II angiogenic effect in vivo involves vascular endothelial growth factor- and inflammation-related pathways. *Lab Invest* 2002; 82:747–756.
- 9. Dzau VJ. Theodore Cooper Lecture: tissue angiotensin and pathobiology of vascular disease: a unifying hypothesis. *Hypertension* **2001**; 37:1047–1052.
- Weirick T, Militello G, Uchida S. Long noncoding RNAs in endothelial biology. *Front Physiol* 2018; 9:522.
- Bu S, Singh KK. Epigenetic regulation of autophagy in cardiovascular pathobiology. *Int J* Mol Sci 2021; 22:6544.
- 12. Yeh C-F, Chang Y-CE, Lu C-Y, Hsuan C-F, Chang W-T, Yang K-C. Expedition to the missing link: long noncoding RNAs in cardiovascular diseases. *J Biomed Sci* **2020**; 27:48.
- Onat D, Brillon D, Colombo PC, Schmidt AM. Human vascular endothelial cells: a model system for studying vascular inflammation in diabetes and atherosclerosis. *Curr Diab Rep* 2011; 11:193–202.

- Singh KK, Shukla PC, Quan A, Al-Omran M, Lovren F, Pan Y, et al. BRCA1 is a novel target to improve endothelial dysfunction and retard atherosclerosis. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2013; 146:949–960. e4.
- Desideri G, Bravi MC, Tucci M, Croce G, Marinucci MC, Santucci A, et al. Angiotensin II inhibits endothelial cell motility through an AT1-dependent oxidant-sensitive decrement of nitric oxide availability. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 2003; 23:1218–1223.
- Bodor C, Nagy JP, Végh B, Németh A, Jenei A, MirzaHosseini S, et al. Angiotensin II increases the permeability and PV-1 expression of endothelial cells. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* 2012; 302:C267–C276.
- 17. Singh S, Nguyen HC, Ehsan M, Michels DCR, Singh P, Qadura M, et al. Pravastatininduced changes in expression of long noncoding and coding RNAs in endothelial cells. *Physiol Rep* **2021**; 9:e14661.
- Tijsen AJ, Creemers EE, Moerland PD, de Windt LJ, van der Wal AC, Kok WE, et al. MiR423-5p as a circulating biomarker for heart failure. *Circ Res* 2010; 106:1035–1039.
- Rizzacasa B, Morini E, Mango R, Vancheri C, Budassi S, Massaro G, et al. MiR-423 is differentially expressed in patients with stable and unstable coronary artery disease: a pilot study. *PLoS One* 2019; 14:e0216363.
- 20. Liang Z, Yang Z. Identification and characterization of a novel gene EOLA1 stimulating ECV304 cell proliferation. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* **2004**; 325:798–802.
- 21. Ling X-B, Wei H-W, Wang J, Kong Y-Q, Wu Y-Y, Guo J-L, et al. Mammalian metallothionein-2A and oxidative stress. *Int J Mol Sci* **2016**; 17:1483.
- 22. Cockcroft S, Carvou N. Biochemical and biological functions of class I phosphatidylinositol transfer proteins. *Biochim Biophys Acta* **2007**; 1771:677–691.
- Krajnik A, Brazzo JAI, Vaidyanathan K, Das T, Redondo-Muñoz J, Bae Y. Phosphoinositide signalling and mechanotransduction in cardiovascular biology and disease. *Front Cell Dev Biol* 2020; 8:595849.
- 24. Lei Y, Tang R, Xu J, Zhang B, Liu J, Liang C, et al. Construction of a novel risk model based on the random forest algorithm to distinguish pancreatic cancers with different prognoses and immune microenvironment features. *Bioengineered* **2021**; 12:3593–3602.
- 25. Fingerlin TE, Murphy E, Zhang W, Peljto AL, Brown KK, Steele MP, et al. Genome-wide association study identifies multiple susceptibility loci for pulmonary fibrosis. *Nat Genet* **2013**; 45:613–620.
- Budinger GRS. Angiotensin II and pulmonary fibrosis, a new twist on an old story. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol* 2011; 301:L267–L268.
- 27. Kedra D, Pan HQ, Seroussi E, Fransson I, Guilbaud C, Collins JE, et al. Characterization of the human synaptogyrin gene family. *Hum Genet* **1998**; 103:131–141.
- Dhanoa BS, Cogliati T, Satish AG, Bruford EA, Friedman JS. Update on the Kelch-like (KLHL) gene family. *Hum Genomics* 2013; 7:13.
- 29. Yue J, Huhn S, Shen Z. Complex roles of filamin-A mediated cytoskeleton network in cancer progression. *Cell Biosci* **2013**; 3:7.
- 30. Mourelatos Z, Gonatas JO, Nycum LM, Gonatas NK, Biegel JA. Assignment of the GLG1 gene for MG-160, a fibroblast growth factor and E-selectin binding membrane Sialoglycoprotein of the golgi apparatus, to chromosome 16q22-q23 by fluorescence in situ hybridization. *Genomics* 1995; 28:354–355.
- Silva M, Videira PA, Sackstein R. E-selectin ligands in the human mononuclear phagocyte system: implications for infection, inflammation, and immunotherapy. *Front Immunol* 2018; 8:1878.
- 32. Skaletz-Rorowski A, Pinkernell K, Sindermann JR, Schriever C, Müller JG, Eschert H, et al. Angiotensin AT1 receptor upregulates expression of basic fibroblast growth factor, basic fibroblast growth factor receptor and coreceptor in human coronary smooth muscle cells. *Basic Res Cardiol* 2004; 99:272–278.
- Tatarelli C, Linnenbach A, Mimori K, Croce CM. Characterization of the human TESTIN gene localized in the FRA7G region at 7q31.2. *Genomics* 2000; 68:1–12.
- Luo Y, Wang C, Yong P, Ye P, Liu Z, Fu Z, et al. Decreased expression of the long noncoding RNA SLC7A11-AS1 predicts poor prognosis and promotes tumor growth in gastric cancer. *Oncotarget* 2017; 8:112530–112549.
- 35. Meijles DN, Cull JJ, Markou T, Cooper STE, Haines ZHR, Fuller SJ, et al. Redox regulation of cardiac ASK1 (apoptosis signal-regulating kinase 1) controls p38-MAPK (Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase) and orchestrates cardiac remodeling to hypertension. *Hypertension* 2020; 76:1208–1218.

- 36. Khitan Z, Kim DH. Fructose: a key factor in the development of metabolic syndrome and hypertension. *J Nutr Metab* **2013**; 2013:682673.
- 37. Wallace DME, Lindsay AJ, Hendrick AG, McCaffrey MW. Rab11-FIP4 interacts with Rab11 in a GTP-dependent manner and its overexpression condenses the Rab11 positive compartment in HeLa cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 2002; 299:770–779.
- Yan Z, Wang Z-G, Segev N, Hu S, Minshall RD, Dull RO, et al. Rab11a mediates vascular endothelial-Cadherin recycling and controls endothelial barrier function. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 2016; 36:339–349.
- Wu H, Liu J, Li W, Liu G, Li Z. LncRNA-HOTAIR promotes TNF-α production in cardiomyocytes of LPS-induced sepsis mice by activating NF-κB pathway. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 2016; 471:240–246.
- Xie-Zukauskas H, Das J, Short BL, Gutkind JS, Ray PE. Heparin inhibits angiotensin IIinduced vasoconstriction on isolated mouse mesenteric resistance arteries through Rho-Aand PKA-dependent pathways. *Vascul Pharmacol* 2013; 58:313–318.
- 41. Jackson WF. KV channels and the regulation of vascular smooth muscle tone. *Microcirculation* **2018**; 25:
- 42. Yang R, Smolders I, Dupont AG. Blood pressure and renal hemodynamic effects of angiotensin fragments. *Hypertens Res* 2011; 34:674–683.
- 43. Liu Y, Xia P, Chen J, Bandettini WP, Kirschner LS, Stratakis CA, et al. PRKAR1A deficiency impedes hypertrophy and reduces heart size. *Physiol Rep* **2020**; 8:e14405.
- 44. Watkins SJ, Borthwick GM, Oakenfull R, Robson A, Arthur HM. Angiotensin II-induced cardiomyocyte hypertrophy in vitro is TAK1-dependent and Smad2/3-independent. *Hypertens Res* 2012; 35:393–398.
- 45. Al-Hakim AK, Bashkurov M, Gingras A-C, Durocher D, Pelletier L. Interaction proteomics identify NEURL4 and the HECT E3 ligase HERC2 as novel modulators of centrosome architecture. *Mol Cell Proteomics* **2012**; 11:M111.014233.
- Hashimoto-Komatsu A, Hirase T, Asaka M, Node K. Angiotensin II induces microtubule reorganization mediated by a deacetylase SIRT2 in endothelial cells. *Hypertens Res* 2011; 34:949–956.

- 47. Barbier P, Zejneli O, Martinho M, Lasorsa A, Belle V, Smet-Nocca C, et al. Role of Tau as a microtubule-associated protein: structural and functional aspects. *Front Aging Neurosci* **2019**; 11:204.
- Pfister AS, Tanneberger K, Schambony A, Behrens J. Amer2 protein is a novel negative regulator of Wnt/(-catenin signalling involved in neuroectodermal patterning. *J Biol Chem* 2012; 287:1734–1741.
- 49. Kamo T, Akazawa H, Suzuki J, Komuro I. Roles of renin-angiotensin system and Wnt pathway in aging-related phenotypes. *Inflamm Regen* **2016**; 36:12.
- 50. Chen H, Ishii A, Wong WK, Chen LB, Lo SH. Molecular characterization of human tensin. *Biochem J* **2000**; 351:403–411.
- Bernau K, Torr EE, Evans MD, Aoki JK, Ngam CR, Sandbo N. Tensin 1 is essential for myofibroblast differentiation and extracellular matrix formation. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* 2017; 56:465–476.
- 52. Räschle M, Smeenk G, Hansen RK, Temu T, Oka Y, Hein MY, et al. DNA repair. Proteomics reveals dynamic assembly of repair complexes during bypass of DNA crosslinks. *Science* 2015; 348:1253671.
- Fazeli G, Stopper H, Schinzel R, Ni C-W, Jo H, Schupp N. Angiotensin II induces DNA damage via AT1 receptor and NADPH oxidase isoform Nox4. *Mutagenesis* 2012; 27:673–681.
- 54. Edwards MC, Liegeois N, Horecka J, DePinho RA, Sprague GF, Tyers M, et al. Human CPR (cell cycle progression restoration) genes impart a Far- phenotype on yeast cells. *Genetics* 1997; 147:1063–1076.
- 55. Dejeans N, Maier JAM, Tauveron I, Milenkovic D, Mazur A. Modulation of gene expression in endothelial cells by hyperlipaemic postprandial serum from healthy volunteers. *Genes Nutr* **2010**; 5:263–274.
- Cai S, Cai J, Jiang WG, Ye L. Kidins220 and tumour development: insights into a complexity of cross-talk among signalling pathways (Review). *Int J Mol Med* 2017; 40:965–971.
- 57. Scholz-Starke J, Cesca F. Stepping out of the shade: control of neuronal activity by the scaffold protein Kidins220/ARMS. *Front Cell Neurosci* **2016**; 10:68.

- 58. Cesca F, Yabe A, Spencer-Dene B, Scholz-Starke J, Medrihan L, Maden CH, et al. Kidins220/ARMS mediates the integration of the neurotrophin and VEGF pathways in the vascular and nervous systems. *Cell Death Differ* 2012; 19:194–208.
- Jean-Mairet RM, López-Menéndez C, Sánchez-Ruiloba L, Sacristán S, Rodríguez-Martínez M, Riol-Blanco L, et al. The neuronal protein Kidins220/ARMS associates with ICAM-3 and other uropod components and regulates T-cell motility. *Eur J Immunol* 2011; 41:1035–1046.
- 60. Zhao K, Yang Y, Zhang G, Wang C, Wang D, Wu M, et al. Regulation of the Mdm2-p53 pathway by the ubiquitin E3 ligase MARCH7. *EMBO Rep* **2018**; 19:305–319.
- Zoll WL, Horton LE, Komar AA, Hensold JO, Merrick WC. Characterization of mammalian eIF2A and identification of the yeast homolog. *J Biol Chem* 2002; 277:37079– 37087.
- 62. Albert TK, Hanzawa H, Legtenberg YIA, de Ruwe MJ, van den Heuvel FAJ, Collart MA, et al. Identification of a ubiquitin-protein ligase subunit within the CCR4-NOT transcription repressor complex. *EMBO J* 2002; 21:355–364.
- 63. Grönholm J, Kaustio M, Myllymäki H, Kallio J, Saarikettu J, Kronhamn J, et al. Not4 enhances JAK/STAT pathway-dependent gene expression in Drosophila and in human cells. *FASEB J* **2012**; 26:1239–1250.
- 64. Ota T, Suzuki Y, Nishikawa T, Otsuki T, Sugiyama T, Irie R, et al. Complete sequencing and characterization of 21,243 full-length human cDNAs. *Nat Genet* **2004**; 36:40–45.
- 65. Kobori H, Harrison-Bernard LM, Navar LG. Expression of angiotensinogen mRNA and protein in angiotensin II-dependent hypertension. *J Am Soc Nephrol* **2001**; 12:431–439.
- 66. Zimmermann K, Opitz N, Dedio J, Renné C, Müller-Esterl W, Oess S. NOSTRIN: a protein modulating nitric oxide release and subcellular distribution of endothelial nitric oxide synthase. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2002; 99:17167–17172.
- 67. Spreu J, Kienle EC, Schrage B, Steinle A. CLEC2A: a novel, alternatively spliced and skinassociated member of the NKC-encoded AICL-CD69-LLT1 family. *Immunogenetics* **2007**; 59:903–912.
- Kusakabe M, Onishi Y, Tada H, Kurihara F, Kusao K, Furukawa M, et al. Mechanism and regulation of DNA damage recognition in nucleotide excision repair. *Genes Environ* 2019; 41:2.

- 69. Shah A, Gray K, Figg N, Finigan A, Starks L, Bennett M. Defective base excision repair of oxidative DNA damage in vascular smooth muscle cells promotes atherosclerosis. *Circulation* **2018**; 138:1446–1462.
- Durik M, Kavousi M, van der Pluijm I, Isaacs A, Cheng C, Verdonk K, et al. Nucleotide excision DNA repair is associated with age-related vascular dysfunction. *Circulation* 2012; 126:468–478.
- Toussaint O, Medrano EE, von Zglinicki T. Cellular and molecular mechanisms of stressinduced premature senescence (SIPS) of human diploid fibroblasts and melanocytes. *Exp Gerontol* 2000; 35:927–945.
- 72. Minamino T, Miyauchi H, Yoshida T, Tateno K, Kunieda T, Komuro I. Vascular cell senescence and vascular aging. *J Mol Cell Cardiol* **2004**; 36:175–183.
- 73. Davis GE, Senger DR. Endothelial extracellular matrix. *Circ Res* 2005; 97:1093–1107.
- 74. Wang Y, Wang J-G. Genome-wide association studies of hypertension and several other cardiovascular diseases. *Pulse (Basel)* **2019**; 6:169–186.
- 75. Levy D, Ehret GB, Rice K, Verwoert GC, Launer LJ, Dehghan A, et al. Genome-wide association study of blood pressure and hypertension. *Nat Genet* **2009**; 41:677–687.
- Samani NJ, Erdmann J, Hall AS, Hengstenberg C, Mangino M, Mayer B, et al. Genomewide association analysis of coronary artery disease. N Engl J Med 2007; 357:443–453.
- 77. Holdt LM, Beutner F, Scholz M, Gielen S, Gäbel G, Bergert H, et al. ANRIL expression is associated with atherosclerosis risk at chromosome 9p21. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 2010; 30:620–627.
- Tsai P-C, Liao Y-C, Lin T-H, Hsi E, Yang Y-H, Juo S-HH. Additive effect of ANRIL and BRAP polymorphisms on ankle-brachial index in a Taiwanese population. *Circ J* 2012; 76:446–452.
- 79. Mehta PK, Griendling KK. Angiotensin II cell signalling: physiological and pathological effects in the cardiovascular system. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* **2007**; 292:C82–C97.
- Steckelings UM, Rompe F, Kaschina E, Unger T. The evolving story of the RAAS in hypertension, diabetes and CV disease: moving from macrovascular to microvascular targets. *Fundam Clin Pharmacol* 2009; 23:693–703.

### **Chapter 6: Discussion/Final Remarks**

#### 6.1 Endothelial FABP3 is differentially expressed by atherosclerotic stressors

Chapter 2 provides an overview assessment of the FABP3 regulation in endothelial cells under atherosclerotic stress conditions, contributing insights and clinical relevance into the role of FABP3 in endothelial dysfunction and its implications in atherosclerosis. Chapter 2-Figure 1 illustrates the diverse regulation of FABP3 expression in endothelial cells under various atherosclerotic stresses, suggesting a nuanced regulatory interplay of FABP3 expression in endothelial dysfunction. Oxidized low-density lipoprotein (oxLDL) and Angiotensin II (Ang II) treatments lead to the downregulation of FABP3 in endothelial cells. Specifically, FABP3 expression in HUVECs treated with oxLDL for 24 hours appears to decrease dose-dependently, akin to the downregulation observed in FABP4 and FABP5, which are known to be expressed by endothelial cells. Notably, at a concentration of 80 µg/mL of oxLDL, FABP3 exhibits a transient increase after 6 hours of oxLDL treatment, followed by a subsequent decrease at 12 and 24 hours, indicating a fluctuating temporal sensitivity pattern. Exposure to Ang II results in a time-dependent downregulation of FABP3 transcript levels in HUVECs at a dose of 1 µM. This intricate regulatory response underscores the multifaceted role of FABP3 in endothelial function under conditions of atherosclerotic stress, hinting at its potential as a therapeutic target for cardiovascular diseases. Interestingly, immunofluorescence staining conducted in HUVECs not only confirms the basal expression of FABP3 in endothelial cells but also visually suggests an increase in FABP3 expression upon LPS treatment (Chapter 2-Figure 3). These findings reinforce the dynamic regulatory role of FABP3 in endothelial cells under stress conditions and underscore its potential significance in the pathophysiology of cardiovascular diseases.

The rationale for Chapter 2 was grounded in the need to elucidate the role of Fatty Acid-Binding Protein 3 (FABP3) in endothelial cells, particularly in the context of atherosclerotic stressors that contribute to endothelial dysfunction. Traditionally confined to cardiomyocytes, FABP3's detection in human umbilical endothelial cells under *in vitro* conditions prompts a re-evaluation of its role beyond the myocardium. Moreover, we unveiled a nuanced regulatory pattern of FABP3 in response to atherosclerosis-associated stressors. Oxidized low-density lipoprotein and angiotensin II were found to downregulate FABP3 in a complex, dynamic regulatory mechanism.

172

Conversely, gram-negative endotoxin lipopolysaccharide-induced FABP3 upregulation suggests FABP3's role in inflammatory endothelial dysfunction (**Chapter 2-Figure 3**). Overall, this chapter elucidates the regulatory modulation of endothelial FABP3 under atherosclerotic stresses, reinforcing the hypothesis that FABP3 is regulated in endothelial dysfunction and the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis. This implication paves the way for targeted therapies aimed at mitigating endothelial dysfunction to manage cardiovascular complications.

The study's strength lies in its novel identification of FABP3 expression in endothelial cells and the comprehensive analysis of its regulatory dynamics under various stressors. The integration of different stress models (oxidative stress, hypertension, and inflammation) offers a multifaceted perspective on endothelial FABP3 regulation in the setting of atherosclerosis, although the experimental environment was strictly in vitro. The dose-response relationship of FABP3 to Ang II would benefit from further dose-optimization in addition to using a previously established dosage. Moreover, there's a lack of affirming that endothelial cells were under stress by the treatments; future work could evaluate ROS levels and representative molecular expression of endothelial cells under inflammatory (e.g., VCAM1) [1] and Ang II-rich environments (e.g., eNOS) [2]. These limitations also suggest that while the data are highly suggestive, the quantitative aspects of the findings should be interpreted with caution until future validation with greater statistical power. Nonetheless, the significance of this chapter lies in its revelation of the dynamic regulation of FABP3 in response to multiple atherosclerotic settings. Future studies should aim to consolidate these findings, examine the mechanistic pathways of FABP3 regulation, and extend the investigation to in vivo models to fully comprehend the therapeutic potential of targeting FABP3 in cardiovascular diseases.

In conclusion, Chapter 2 provides evidence that FABP3 expression in endothelial cells is subject to complex regulation by various atherosclerotic stressors, including oxidative stress, hypertensive milieu, and inflammatory stimuli. The differential expression patterns in response to these stressors suggest novel comprehensions for the capacities of FABP3 as a biomarker and therapeutic target in endothelial dysfunction and atherosclerotic complications.

### 6.2 FABP3 regulates endothelial cell response to inflammation

Previously, Chapter 2 established the foundation of the regulatory modulation of FABP3 expression in response to oxidative stress, inflammation, and hypertension, which are the features of atherosclerosis. Endothelial FABP3 was basally expressed and intricately responsive to external inflammatory stimuli, such as LPS. Chapter 3 extends the investigations on this aspect, evaluating endothelial function under the loss of endothelial FABP3 in LPS-treated endothelial cells. Moreover, how the presence of exogenous FABP3, such as in the bloodstream during cardiovascular conditions (e.g., cardiac injuries, PAD, endothelial dysfunction), affects the endothelium is also examined. Further mechanistic insights are provided, particularly how key molecular players of endothelial functions are regulated by the loss and gain of FABP3's function. Essentially, this chapter examines whether the FABP3 expression and/or exposure is protective or detrimental to the endothelium and endothelial function. Overall, Chapter 3 shifts the focus from an overview of endothelial FABP3's regulatory trends in Chapter 2 to functional consequences. In this notion, Chapter 3 closely examines the potential of FABP3 as a therapeutic target, approaching the implication that modulating FABP3 levels could affect endothelial dysfunction.

#### 6.2.1 Loss of FABP3 protects against inflammatory endothelial dysfunction

**Chapter 3-Figure 1** demonstrates that LPS treatment at increasing concentrations significantly upregulates FABP3 expression in cultured human endothelial cells. LPS-induced FABP3 upregulation occurs as early as 1 hour after treatment and also manifests through increased FABP3 secretion from LPS-treated endothelial cells into the culture medium. Moreover, loss of FABP3 improves and rescues impaired tube formation in LPS-treated endothelial cells, indicating that FABP3 contributes to LPS-induced dysfunction in angiogenesis. The scratch-assay assessment shows that loss of FABP3 appears to inhibit migration, suggesting that FABP3 mediates endothelial cells' migratory processes, such as in wound healing. Cell counting results suggest that the loss of cell population induced by LPS is rescued by the loss of endothelial cells indicate that FABP3 positively regulates apoptosis, serving a detrimental role to endothelial cells under inflammation-induced endothelial dysfunction. Overall, LPS induces upregulation of FABP3 in endothelial cells, which is associated with various detrimental effects on endothelial function. Silencing FABP3 seems to confer protection against these LPS-induced effects, improving the

angiogenic and proliferative capacity of endothelial cells and reducing apoptosis. Chapter 3-Figure 2 investigates the effects of the loss of Fatty Acid-Binding Protein 3 (FABP3) and lipopolysaccharide (LPS) treatment on the molecular mechanisms underlying endothelial cell function. LPS compromises the expression and activation (phosphorylation) of endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) and protein kinase B (AKT), which are key regulators of endothelial function. Total AKT expression, at both the transcript and protein levels, was significantly inhibited by LPS. Conversely, this was restored in FABP3-silenced endothelial cells. Activated AKT (p-AKT) was also significantly upregulated in both FABP3-silenced endothelial cells and those treated with LPS. The expression and activation of eNOS were also significantly upregulated by loss of endothelial FABP3, even in the presence of LPS. These findings indicate that loss of FABP3 counteracts-, and hence, FABP3 exacerbates the negative effects of LPS on eNOS and Akt, thereby impairing endothelial function. Chapter 3-Figure 2 also illustrates that LPS treatment is associated with the upregulation of p21, a cell cycle inhibitor. FABP3-silenced endothelial cells with or without LPS treatment showed a significant reduction in p21 expression, indicating downregulation of p21 levels by the loss of endothelial FABP3 and that FABP3 is involved in the inhibition of endothelial cell proliferation. This notion is further strengthened by the previously reduced expression of cleave-CASPASE3 in FABP3-silenced endothelial cells, which together may have potentiated their rescuing of cell viability and proliferative capacities under LPS stress (Chapter 3-Figure 1). Overall, Chapter 3-Figure 2 data demonstrate that increased AKT and eNOS signalling, along with the inhibition of p21 expression due to the loss of FABP3, collectively contribute to the restoration of endothelial function from adverse events in an LPS-treated environment. On the other hand, while eNOS was examined, the more ubiquitously expressed inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) lacks assessment, which is also a source of NO and ROS and is involved in vascular homeostasis and inflammation [3]. Future studies should address the involvement of iNOS as its regulatory connection to FABP3 would further elucidate the roles of FABP3 on endothelial function under stress conditions.

# 6.2.2 Loss- and gain- of FABP3, functional implications in endothelial inflammation

**Chapter 3-Figure 3** presents the effects of endogenous FABP3 deficiency on inflammation in endothelial cells in response to LPS-induced endothelial dysfunction. At both transcript and protein levels, loss of FABP3 in endothelial cells rescues LPS upregulation of inflammatory

mediators ICAM-1 but exacerbates that of VCAM-1. ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 are key inflammatory mediators of endothelial cells, suggesting the regulatory dynamic of FABP3 between these inflammatory markers. It is known that VCAM-1 plays a more dominant role in initiating atherosclerosis compared to ICAM-1. ICAM-1 also does not compensate for reduced VCAM-1 in atherosclerosis, and deficiencies in both these factors don't appear to alter lesion formation [4]. Through loss-of-function studies, our findings suggest that FABP3 positively regulates endothelial inflammation through ICAM-1, and in the case that this was compromised, VCAM-1 upregulation becomes over-compensatory, in turn exacerbating inflammation, providing novel insights. Moreover, the induction of E-SELECTIN, another adhesive inflammatory marker, by LPS is restored to lower levels by loss of FABP3 in LPS-treated endothelial cells; such rescuing effect also occurs for the inflammatory cytokines, IL1b and IL6, and chemokine MCP-1. Overall, these findings suggest that FABP3 exacerbates the inflammatory response in endothelial cells induced by LPS. Conversely, the deficiency or silencing of FABP3 can substantially mitigate this response by modulating the levels of key inflammatory markers and cytokines. Chapter 3-Figure 4 examines the impact of exogenous FABP3 in endothelial cells under LPS stress. Treatment with recombinant human FABP3 (rhFABP3) alone did not significantly alter the expression of inflammation markers ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 in endothelial cells. However, when endothelial cells were treated with both LPS and rhFABP3, there was a significant increase in the transcripts and proteins for both ICAM-1 and VCAM-1, indicating that rhFABP3 exacerbates LPS-induced inflammation. In the case of VCAM-1, inflammation is exacerbated in both loss- and gain- of FABP3, prompting future investigation on other inflammatory markers for exogenous FABP3 treatment, as in FABP3 silencing, to further clarify the roles of endothelial FABP3 in inflammation. In assessing the effect of rhFABP3 on vascular function, wire myography shows a minor increase in relaxation in rhFABP3-treated aortas compared to wild-type mice. As this is not statistically significant, future studies should aim to increase replicates to validate this observation. On the other hand, circulatory FABP3 levels were significantly higher in the LPS-treated mice compared to vehicle-treated ones after 4h of treatment, confirming the *in vitro* induction of FABP3 by LPS and strengthening the observation that inflammation upregulates FABP3 release. Overall, Chapter 3-Figure 4 demonstrates that while exogenous FABP3 does not independently induce inflammation, it significantly amplifies LPS-induced inflammatory responses in endothelial cells, as shown by increased expression of key inflammatory markers. Additionally, the trend that

suggests a slight vascular effect of rhFABP3 on aortic relaxation beckons future increases in the number of mice for assessment. Lastly, LPS increases circulatory FABP3 levels both *in vitro* and *in vivo*. These findings indicate that exogenous or circulatory FABP3 is involved in inflammation and contributes to inflammatory endothelial dysfunction.

### 6.2.3 Gene ontology of inflammatory FABP3-deficient human endothelial cells

Endothelial biology gene arrays, Gene ontology (GO) and Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes (KEGG) pathway analyses of Chapter 3 provide insight into how the loss of FABP3 influences the genetic expression profile related to endothelial function and inflammation, especially in the context of LPS-induced stress. In FABP3-silenced endothelial cells, among the most upregulated genes (more than two-fold change) are genes associated with angiogenesis and cell survival (COL1A2, BDNF, FN1, BCL2, EGFR, VEGFA, EGR1, CDK1, and BIRC5), verifying the negative regulatory implication of FABP3 on endothelial function in Chapter 3-Figure 2. LPS treatment alone upregulates primarily pro-inflammatory genes (IL6, IL1b, CCL2, CCL5, TLR2, and ICAM-1) and downregulates genes involved in survival and angiogenesis (STAT1, IGFBP3, CAV1, STAT3, BIRC5, AURKA, COL1A2, CDK1, KDR, and FGF2). Conversely, the upregulated genes in the LPS-treated FABP3-silenced cells were mainly related to survival and angiogenesis, while the downregulated genes were predominantly pro-inflammatory. These analyses are summarized in Chapter 3-Figure 5, indicating that the absence of FABP3 in endothelial cells may lead to a favourable shift in gene expression for endothelial function under inflammatory stress, promoting angiogenic and survival pathways while suppressing inflammatory pathways. These findings reinforce that FABP3 release may harm the endothelium under inflammation and during cardiovascular events.

Overall, Chapter 3 demonstrates that loss of FABP3 in endothelial cells improves angiogenesis and cell survival and reduces inflammatory responses, providing insights into FABP3's role in regulating inflammatory endothelial dysfunction at the phenotypic and genotypic levels. This chapter utilizes a combination of loss- and gain-of-function approaches in both *in vitro* and *in vivo* settings to elucidate the role of FABP3 in endothelial function. A comprehensive analysis of gene expression changes associated with FABP3 and LPS treatment is also provided, demonstrating regulatory links between FABP3 expression and endothelial cell function under inflammatory conditions. However, the exact mechanisms by which FABP3 influences inflammatory endothelial dysfunction and the observed effects *in vivo* (particularly the nonsignificant myography) remain to be further validated by increasing replicates and statistical power. In addition, results for *in vitro* migratory capacities and proliferation could be reinforced using more advanced assays, such as the Transwell Migration assay [5] and the WST-1 proliferation assay [6]. Regarding proliferation, future works could rely on additional assays beyond cell counts and cleave-CASPASE3 evaluation to distinctly address cell proliferation (e.g., BrdU assay) [7] and viability (e.g., MTT assay) [8]. Accurate functional assessment of FABP3 on endothelial cell survival would provide a robust understanding of the essential of FABP3 in endothelial functions. Nonetheless, results from Chapter 3 highlight the complexity of endothelial FABP3 functions, which could inform future research and suggest that modulating FABP3 levels poses therapeutic potential for inflammatory endothelial dysfunction, sepsis, atherosclerosis and cardiovascular diseases. However, the precise functions of FABP3 and its interactions with other endothelial cell processes warrant further investigations.

### 6.3 Elevated FABP3 impacts differential endothelial cell gene expression.

As Chapter 3 elucidated the protective role of endothelial FABP3 loss against inflammationinduced dysfunction, Chapter 4 pivots to further examine the effects of increased FABP3 exposure on endothelial cells, a condition observed in the bloodstream post-cardiac injuries and in peripheral artery disease (PAD) patients and suggested to be harmful to endothelial cells in Chapter 3. Chapter 4 aims to address this discrepancy by employing a comprehensive transcriptomic approach to understand the consequences of the endothelium subjected to FABP3 exposure. RNA sequencing, differential gene expression (DGE), GO and KEGG analyses were employed to capture a transcriptome-wide spectrum of differential gene expression and cellular function and pathways potentially impacted in cultured endothelial cells treated with recombinant human FABP3 (rhFABP3), providing insights into the roles of FABP3 in endothelial function and cardiovascular diseases.

In **Chapter 4-Figure 1**, a total of 15,688 genes were identified from processed RNA-seq data obtained from total RNAs of rhFABP3-treated human endothelial cells vs. vehicle groups. Principal component analysis (PCA) on the first two principal components (79.41% total variance captured) showed clear clustering of the samples that indicates a distinct change in the gene

178

expression profiles of rhFABP3-treated human endothelial cells. The DGE analysis identified 11 genes with significant differential expressions by at least 2-fold; 7 genes were upregulated and 4 downregulated. Among the most upregulated genes are *KIF26B*, *NCR1*, and *DNAJC14*. Among the most downregulated is *SMN2*.

**Chapter 4-Figure 2** shows the GO and KEGG pathway analyses that interpret the significance of the differentially expressed genes. The study was limited by deficient genes from the DGE analysis, which have their significance adjusted for False Discovery Rate (FDR) and cannot be meaningfully subjected to GO and KEGG analyses. As we aimed to assess the potential transcriptomic impact of FABP3 exposure, the FDR adjustment was lifted, enabling the enrichment of 80 genes (38 upregulated and 42 downregulated). At the same time, the increase in Type-1 error was acknowledged ("analytical noise"). With this caution, GO analysis showed the association of upregulated genes mainly with immune response and cell cytotoxicity, the most notable functions being the "regulation of leukocyte-mediated cytotoxicity" and "natural killer cell-mediated cytotoxicity." The downregulated genes are linked to RNA processing and the inflammatory systems; the most significant terms for the downregulated genes are related to the SMN complex, a cellular component involved in RNA processing, and the NOD-like receptor signalling pathway, which is involved in inflammation [9]. The GO and KEGG findings suggest that, while considering statistical noises, FABP3 exposure may stimulate the endothelium to engage in the immune response. Additionally, a broader assessment of gene expression patterns was conducted to offset the lack of FDR adjustment. A heatmap of 231 protein-coding genes non-FDR-adjusted shows distinct clusters of gene expression in rhFABP3-treated HUVECs compared to vehicle treatment, highlighting the potential functional impacts of FABP3 exposure on the physiology of endothelial cells.

Chapter 4 reports that FABP3 exposure induces notable transcriptomic changes in gene expression. Specifically, 11 genes showed significant differential expressions, which may influence cellular processes such as angiogenesis, immune response, and stress mechanisms. The upregulation of *KIF26B* suggests a role in cellular motility and angiogenesis, potentially acting as a biomarker for cancer prognosis [10]. *NCR1* upregulation indicates a novel link between the innate immune system and endothelial cells, potentially enhancing immune surveillance [11]. *DNAJC14* upregulation is suggestive of a stress response within the endothelial cells [12]. The downregulated

SMN2 gene, which is involved in RNA splicing and processing, suggests a transcript modification effect of FABP3 on endothelial cells. Likewise, GO and KEGG suggest innate immune responses involving natural killer cells may be impacted upon FABP3 exposure. While these findings expand the current understanding of endothelial cell biology under cardiovascular events, this Chapter encountered considerable obstacles. Limited numbers of significantly differentially expressed genes might be attributed to the semi-arbitrary dosing regimen of rhFABP3 (50 ng/mL for 6h); however, this was reasoned to be within the clinical range based on past studies (7.22 - 434 ng/mL)[13] [14]. This obstacle potentiated the analytical trade-off that arises when unadjusted p-values from DGE analysis were utilized for GO and KEGG enrichment, leading to results that are likely to be affected by Type-1 errors. Moreover, many differentially expressed genes identified by DGE analysis are not well characterized, necessitating further research to incorporate their functional implication in the context of rhFABP3-treated endothelial cells. Overall, Chapter 4 attempts to elucidate the transcriptomic profile of endothelial cells under rhFABP3 exposure, with the aim of drawing potential clinical implications for cardiovascular diseases. While the findings highlight the complexity of endothelial responses to FABP3 and open avenues for future validating research, the Chapter also acknowledges the limitations and trade-offs inherent in the study design. The strength of the Chapter lies in its comprehensive methodology, detailed analysis and the identification of novel gene expressions and pathways, while the weakness revolves around the dosing regimen and the analytical constraints. Future research is suggested to overcome these limitations, such as optimizing the FABP3 dosage and employing more stringent statistical analyses to solidify these preliminary findings and enhance the understanding of FABP3's implications in cardiovascular pathology.

# 6.4 Endothelial cells transcriptomic profile under Angiotensin II exposure

Endothelial function is central in maintaining vascular homeostasis, and dysfunction drives adverse vascular events that underlie atherosclerosis, such as hypertension. Chapters 2 to 4 have investigated the regulatory roles of FABP3 in endothelial dysfunction and highlighted specific upregulated and downregulated genes and functional pathways potentially impacted in endothelial cells subjected to FABP3 deficiency or exposure. From Chapter 4, many of the identified significant differential expressed genes under rhFABP3 exposure were not well-characterized transcripts, such as unprocessed transcripts. Long non-coding RNAs, RNA molecules greater than 200 nucleotides in length that do not translate, have been recently recognized for their regulatory roles in endothelial function [15]. The previous chapter's insights into FABP3's effects also set the stage for a pilot investigation into how other potent molecules like Ang II, a vasoconstrictor implicated in hypertension and cardiovascular diseases, may impact endothelial dysfunction genome-wide. This Chapter harnesses and advances the methodology from Chapter 4, particularly utilizing the Arraystar Human lncRNA Expression Microarray [16], to establish a novel transcriptomic profile of differentially expressed lncRNAs and mRNAs in endothelial cells exposed to Ang II, bridging the knowledge gap between the cardiovascular implication of lncRNAs and hypertension.

Chapter 5 provides a comprehensive analytical profile of the differentially expressed lncRNAs and mRNAs in Ang II-treated human endothelial cells, with discussed cardiovascular implications. From Chapter 5-Figure 1 and Chapter 5-Table 1-4, 25 lncRNAs and 28 mRNAs were significantly upregulated, while 69 lncRNAs and 67 mRNAs were downregulated. Of the top 10 significantly upregulated and downregulated lncRNAs, RP11-354P11.2 and RP11-360F5.1 are the most up- and downregulated, respectively. Among the top significant differentially expressed mRNAs, RAB11FIP4 and DNAJA2 are the most up- and downregulated, respectively. The significant differentially expressed lncRNAs are distributed pronouncedly over chromosomes 1, 2, 3, 7, 8, 12, 16, and 17, as shown in Chapter 5-Figure 2. Notably, chromosomal mapping indicates a significant clustering of significant differentially expressed lncRNAs on chromosomes 2, 15, and 22 in Ang II-treated human endothelial cells. Subgroup analysis, which helps interpret the functional ties between lncRNAs and protein-coding genes, found that about half of the lncRNAs are intergenic, with a substantial portion also being natural and intronic antisense lncRNAs. The chapter highlights the cardiovascular implications of the differentially expressed lncRNAs and mRNAs and the lncRNAs' chromosomal distribution in Ang II-treated human endothelial cells, with a focus on potential modulatory roles in heart failure, immune responses, intracellular transport, cellular structure integrity, and inflammation. GO and KEGG analyses follow up by sorting the differentially expressed mRNAs in Ang II-treated human endothelial cells into corresponding significant cellular functions and pathways. Particularly, GO analysis associates the upregulated mRNAs mostly with the regulation of single organism processes, localization, and transport, whereas downregulated mRNAs were predominantly with metabolic processes, cell periphery, and ion binding, as summarized in Chapter 5-Table 6. KEGG analysis,

summarized in **Chapter 5-Table 5**, highlights the pathways related to nucleotide excision repair and ECM-receptor interaction that are associated with the most downregulated mRNAs. The strength of this chapter lies in its comprehensive bioinformatic approach to both mRNA and lncRNA profiling, outlining possible overlaps in endothelial function, pathways, and cardiovascular implications. These approaches build a multidimensional picture of the endothelial cell response to Ang II and hypertension. However, validation in different types of endothelial cells remains necessary for distinguishing between microvascular and macrovascular functions. Additionally, the uncharacterized nature of many of the differentially expressed lncRNAs limits the ability to link these molecules to Ang II-related endothelial phenotypes. Overall, Chapter 5 presents a foundational study of endothelial cells' transcriptomic responses to Ang II exposure, having identified numerous potential targets for further investigation on hypertensive endothelial dysfunction.

### 6.5 Final Remarks & Limitations:

Chapters 2 to 5 delineate the multifaceted role of FABP3 within the endothelial cell context, particularly under atherosclerotic stressors and inflammatory conditions, with further exploration into the transcriptomic alterations induced by Angiotensin II (Ang II) exposure. This body of work provides insights into the dynamic interplay between FABP3 expression and endothelial dysfunction and the potential therapeutic of FABP3 in managing cardiovascular disease.

Chapter 2 sets the foundation by elucidating the regulatory modulation of FABP3 in response to various atherosclerotic stressors, establishing a central role of FABP3 in endothelial dysfunction. The novel identification of FABP3 basal expression in endothelial cells and its dynamic regulation under oxidative stress, hypertension and inflammation underscore FABP3's roles in the pathophysiology of cardiovascular diseases. However, the chapter acknowledges the inherent limitations of being strictly *in vitro* alongside a constrained statistical power due to limited biological replicates. Moreover, biomarkers indicative of each mode of stress should be assessed in future studies to confirm endothelial cells are under stress. It is also necessary to affirm endothelial genotypes (e.g., qPCR for CD31, an endothelial-specific molecular marker) in the experimental setting, ensuring that the switching of media for treatment doesn't alter basal endothelial function.

Chapter 3 further investigates FABP3's role, emphasizing the effects of loss- and gain- of FABP3's function in endothelial cell response to inflammation. The findings suggest that FABP3 may exacerbate inflammatory responses, and its deficiency could offer protective effects against endothelial dysfunction. This chapter also underscores the complexity of endothelial FABP3 functions, hinting at its potential as a therapeutic target. Nevertheless, the chapter also concurs with the limitation of an *in vitro* focus and the lack of investigation across different endothelial cell types. Alternative versions of several endothelial function assays should also be considered in future studies to confirm the findings; in particular, endothelial proliferative capacity needs to be distinguished from viability and survival. Moreover, while potential interaction targets of FABP3 were outlined (**Chapter 3-Table 1-6**), the mechanism of FABP3 actions remains under-investigated and is a subject of future work, particularly how it was uptake by HUVECs in the experimental context to exert effects on ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 (**Chapter 3-Figure 4**).

Chapter 4 shifts to focus on the impact of elevated FABP3 on endothelial cell gene expression, identifying significant transcriptomic changes that might contribute to cardiovascular stress responses. This chapter encounters considerable obstacles despite identifying novel gene expressions, which hint toward the upregulation of stress response and natural killer cell toxicity and pathways potentially influenced by FABP3 exposure. The chapter grapples with analytical limitations, particularly the possibility of inefficient rhFABP3 dose, time of exposure and low biological replicates number, and the necessity for further research to solidify these preliminary findings. Future work should address these statistical limitations utilizing various dosages and times of FABP3 treatments, as well as validating the identified significant DE genes with qPCR and immunoblot. The approach of this chapter is essential to identify the interaction targets of FABP3 in endothelial cells, considering that Chapter 3 has identified significant exacerbation of inflammatory signalling in endothelial cells under LPS stress by exogenous FABP3 treatments.

Chapter 5 expands the thesis's scope by delving into the transcriptomic profile changes under Ang II exposure, highlighting the modulatory implications of long non-coding RNAs in hypertensioninduced endothelial dysfunction. The results enrich the thesis with a novel transcriptomic perspective on endothelial cell responses to hypertensive conditions; however, it is not without gaps for future improvement. This chapter faces the challenge of extending its findings to *in vivo* models and across diverse endothelial cell types. Through these chapters, the thesis presents a compelling narrative on the critical role of FABP3 in endothelial cell biology, particularly under stress conditions relevant to cardiovascular diseases. The overarching strengths of this work lie in its novel insights into FABP3 regulation, the comprehensive analysis of endothelial responses to various stressors, and the identification of potential therapeutic targets.

Conversely, major weaknesses stem from the strictly *in vitro* nature of the investigations, limited exploration across endothelial cell types, and concerns regarding statistical power and replicability. HUVECs are veinous and, thereby, compromised for functional relevance regarding vasculatures under atherosclerotic stresses; for instance, endothelial cells of branching arteries are particularly vulnerable to atherosclerosis [17]. Moreover, using only pooled HUVECs lacks accounting for the effects of sex, age, and endothelial cells' functional heterogeneity across the vascular tree [18]. Findings of this thesis would, therefore, greatly benefit from additional in vitro models, such as human coronary and pulmonary artery endothelial cells, microvascular endothelial cells from various tissues, and individuals of distinct age and sex groups [19]. This diversifying approach will provide a more accurate understanding of the effects of FABP3 on endothelial function and vascular biology. Lastly, while valuable insights were provided, there's a need to translate the thesis's in vitro findings into in vivo experiments to consolidate its scientific meaning and provide practical clinical implications. On this aim, employing an endothelial cell-specific FABP3 knockout mice vulnerable to atherosclerosis (e.g., ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice) would profoundly highlight the role of endothelial FABP3 in atherosclerosis [20]. Additionally, comparing circulatory FABP3 levels in knockout versus wild-type mice could further determine if endothelial cells are a significant source of FABP3 and how its absence affects atherosclerotic development. Moreover, studying endothelial cells harvested ex vivo from these models will provide insights into how FABP3 influences endothelial function in different vascular regions, further addressing the roles of endothelial heterogeneity.

In conclusion, this thesis addresses the primary processes of endothelial dysfunction and supports the hypothesis that *FABP3 is a critical regulator of endothelial dysfunction*. Our findings, therefore, offer significant contributions to cardiovascular research on the topics of circulatory FABP3, endothelial dysfunction and atherosclerosis, particularly in understanding FABP3's role in endothelial dysfunction. Critical areas for future investigation are also highlighted. Addressing the

noted limitations through *in vivo* studies, expanding the investigation to different endothelial cell types to account for the endothelium's inherent heterogeneity, and enhancing statistical robustness through increasing replicates, treatment optimization, and employing *in vivo* models will be the crucial steps forward. Ultimately, this work underscores the importance of FABP3 as a potential modulatory therapeutic target in endothelial dysfunction and atherosclerosis, marking significant steps toward more effective treatments and interventions.

# 6.6 References:

- Wildner, O.; Lipkow, Th.; Knop, J. Increased Expression of ICAM-1, E-Selectin, and VCAM-1 by Cultured Human Endothelial Cells upon Exposure to Haptens. *Experimental Dermatology* 1992, *1*, 191–198, doi:10.1111/j.1600-0625.1992.tb00188.x.
- Ding, J.; Yu, M.; Jiang, J.; Luo, Y.; Zhang, Q.; Wang, S.; Yang, F.; Wang, A.; Wang, L.; Zhuang, M.; et al. Angiotensin II Decreases Endothelial Nitric Oxide Synthase Phosphorylation via AT1R Nox/ROS/PP2A Pathway. *Front. Physiol.* 2020, *11*, doi:10.3389/fphys.2020.566410.
- Cinelli, M.A.; Do, H.T.; Miley, G.P.; Silverman, R.B. Inducible Nitric Oxide Synthase: Regulation, Structure, and Inhibition. *Med Res Rev* 2020, 40, 158–189, doi:10.1002/med.21599.
- Cybulsky, M.I.; Iiyama, K.; Li, H.; Zhu, S.; Chen, M.; Iiyama, M.; Davis, V.; Gutierrez-Ramos, J.C.; Connelly, P.W.; Milstone, D.S. A Major Role for VCAM-1, but Not ICAM-1, in Early Atherosclerosis. *J Clin Invest* 2001, *107*, 1255–1262, doi:10.1172/JCI11871.
- Justus, C.R.; Marie, M.A.; Sanderlin, E.J.; Yang, L.V. Transwell In Vitro Cell Migration and Invasion Assays. *Methods in molecular biology (Clifton, N.J.)* 2023, 2644, 349, doi:10.1007/978-1-0716-3052-5 22.
- Koyanagi, M.; Kawakabe, S.; Arimura, Y. A Comparative Study of Colorimetric Cell Proliferation Assays in Immune Cells. *Cytotechnology* 2016, 68, 1489–1498, doi:10.1007/s10616-015-9909-2.
- Wadey, K.S.; Somos, A.; Cross, S.J.; Reolizo, L.M.; Johnson, J.L.; George, S.J. Monitoring Cellular Proliferation, Migration, and Apoptosis Associated with Atherosclerosis Plaques In Vitro. *Methods Mol Biol* 2022, *2419*, 133–167, doi:10.1007/978-1-0716-1924-7 9.
- Kumar, P.; Nagarajan, A.; Uchil, P.D. Analysis of Cell Viability by the MTT Assay. *Cold* Spring Harb Protoc 2018, 2018, doi:10.1101/pdb.prot095505.
- Blevins, H.M.; Xu, Y.; Biby, S.; Zhang, S. The NLRP3 Inflammasome Pathway: A Review of Mechanisms and Inhibitors for the Treatment of Inflammatory Diseases. *Front Aging Neurosci* 2022, *14*, 879021, doi:10.3389/fnagi.2022.879021.
- Zhang, H.; Ma, R.-R.; Wang, X.-J.; Su, Z.-X.; Chen, X.; Shi, D.-B.; Guo, X.-Y.; Liu, H.-T.; Gao, P. KIF26B, a Novel Oncogene, Promotes Proliferation and Metastasis by

Activating the VEGF Pathway in Gastric Cancer. Oncogene 2017, 36, 5609–5619, doi:10.1038/onc.2017.163.

- Eckelhart, E.; Warsch, W.; Zebedin, E.; Simma, O.; Stoiber, D.; Kolbe, T.; Rülicke, T.; Mueller, M.; Casanova, E.; Sexl, V. A Novel Ncr1-Cre Mouse Reveals the Essential Role of STAT5 for NK-Cell Survival and Development. *Blood* 2011, *117*, 1565–1573, doi:10.1182/blood-2010-06-291633.
- Isken, O.; Postel, A.; Bruhn, B.; Lattwein, E.; Becher, P.; Tautz, N. CRISPR/Cas9-Mediated Knockout of DNAJC14 Verifies This Chaperone as a Pivotal Host Factor for RNA Replication of Pestiviruses. *J Virol* 2019, *93*, e01714-18, doi:10.1128/JVI.01714-18.
- O'Donoghue, M.; de Lemos, J.A.; Morrow, D.A.; Murphy, S.A.; Buros, J.L.; Cannon, C.P.; Sabatine, M.S. Prognostic Utility of Heart-Type Fatty Acid Binding Protein in Patients with Acute Coronary Syndromes. *Circulation* 2006, *114*, 550–557, doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.106.641936.
- Syed, M.H.; Zamzam, A.; Khan, H.; Singh, K.; Forbes, T.L.; Rotstein, O.; Abdin, R.; Eikelboom, J.; Qadura, M. Fatty Acid Binding Protein 3 Is Associated with Peripheral Arterial Disease. *JVS: Vascular Science* 2020, doi:10.1016/j.jvssci.2020.08.003.
- 15. Weirick, T.; Militello, G.; Uchida, S. Long Non-Coding RNAs in Endothelial Biology. *Front Physiol* **2018**, *9*, 522–522, doi:10.3389/fphys.2018.00522.
- Shi, Y.; Shang, J. Long Non-Coding RNA Expression Profiling Using Arraystar LncRNA Microarrays. *Methods Mol Biol* 2021, 2372, 53–74, doi:10.1007/978-1-0716-1697-0\_7.
- Tamargo, I.A.; Baek, K.I.; Kim, Y.; Park, C.; Jo, H. Flow-Induced Reprogramming of Endothelial Cells in Atherosclerosis. *Nat Rev Cardiol* 2023, 20, 738–753, doi:10.1038/s41569-023-00883-1.
- Huxley, V.H.; Kemp, S.S.; Schramm, C.; Sieveking, S.; Bingaman, S.; Yu, Y.; Zaniletti, I.; Stockard, K.; Wang, J. Sex Differences Influencing Micro- and Macrovascular Endothelial Phenotype in Vitro. *J Physiol* 2018, *596*, 3929–3949, doi:10.1113/JP276048.
- Bouïs, D.; Hospers, G.A.P.; Meijer, C.; Molema, G.; Mulder, N.H. Endothelium in Vitro: A Review of Human Vascular Endothelial Cell Lines for Blood Vessel-Related Research. *Angiogenesis* 2001, *4*, 91–102, doi:10.1023/A:1012259529167.

 Tan, L.; Lu, J.; Liu, L.; Li, L. Fatty Acid Binding Protein 3 Deficiency Limits Atherosclerosis Development via Macrophage Foam Cell Formation Inhibition. *Experimental Cell Research* 2021, 407, 112768, doi:10.1016/j.yexcr.2021.112768.

### **Appendix A: Abbreviations**

### Chapter 1 Abbreviations

acetyl-CoA, Acetyl Coenzyme A; ABCA1, ATP Binding Cassette Subfamily A Member 1; ABCG1, ATP Binding Cassette Subfamily G Member 1; ACE, Angiotensin-converting enzyme; AGE, Advanced glycation end products; AKT, Protein Kinase B; ALOX12/15, Arachidonate-12/15-Lipoxygenase; Ang I, Angiotensin-I; Ang II, Angiotensin-II; ApoA1, E, C2, Apolipoprotein A1, E, C2; ATP, Adenosine Triphosphate; CAD, Coronary Artery Disease; CAT, Catalase; c-Src, Cellular Sarcoma; CCR2, C-C Chemokine Receptor Type 2; CD36, 40, 154, Cluster of Differentiation 36, 40, 154; CD142, Tissue Factor; CO2, Carbon Dioxide; COX2, Cyclooxygenase 2; CPT1a, Carnitine Palmitoyltransferase 1a; CSF, Colony-Stimulating Factor; CVD, Cardiovascular Disease; CXCL10, 11, C-X-C Motif Chemokine Ligand 10, 11; CXCR3, C-X-C Chemokine Receptor Type 3; Cyp8b1, Cytochrome P450 Family 8 Subfamily B Member 1; dNTP, Deoxyribonucleotide Triphosphate; eNOS, Endothelial Nitric Oxide Synthase; E-/P-SEL, E-/P-Selectin; FABP, Fatty Acid-Binding Protein; FGF, Fibroblast Growth Factor; H2A, H2B, H3, H4, Histones 2A,2B, 3 and 4; H3K9, Histone H3 Lysine 9 specific site of methylation; HDL, High-Density Lipoprotein; HUVEC, Human Umbilical Vein Endothelial Cells; ICAM-1, Intercellular Adhesion Molecule-1; IL-1b, IL-4, IL-6, IL-10, IL-11, IL-13, Interleukin 1-beta, 4, 6, 10, 11, 13; LCAT, Lecithin-Cholesterol Acyltransferase; LDL, Low-Density Lipoproteins; LDLR, Low-Density Lipoprotein Receptor; lncRNAs, Long non-coding RNAs; LPS, Lipopolysaccharide; LXR-α, Liver X Receptor-Alpha; MCP-1, Monocyte Chemoattractant Protein-1; M-CSF, Macrophage Colony-Stimulating Factor; Mig, Monokine Induced by Gamma Interferon; miRNAs, MicroRNAs; MMP, Matrix Metalloproteinases; mRNAs, Messenger RNAs; NADPH, Nicotinamide Adenine Dinucleotide Phosphate Hydrogen; ncRNA, Non-coding RNA; NF-kB, Nuclear Factor Kappa B; NO, Nitric Oxide; NOX, NADPH Oxidases; NOX2, NADPH Oxidase 2; NPC, Niemann–Pick Disease Type C; MI, Myocardial Infarction; mTOR, Mammalian Target of Rapamycin; oxLDL, Oxidized Low-Density Lipoproteins; PAD, Peripheral Artery Disease; PDGF, Platelet-Derived Growth Factor; PGI2, Prostaglandin I2; PI3K, Phosphoinositide-3-Kinase; PPAR $\alpha$ ,  $\delta$ ,  $\gamma$ , Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated Receptor Alpha, -Delta, -Gamma; RAS,

Renin-Angiotensin-Aldosterone System; ROS, Reactive Oxygen Species; SOD, Superoxide Dismutase; SR-A, Scavenger Receptor Class A; SR-B1, Scavenger Receptor Class B Member 1; TDP-43, TAR DNA-binding protein 43; TGF-β, Transforming Growth Factor-Beta; TLR, Tolllike Receptors; TNF-a, Tumor Necrosis Factor-alpha; VCAM-1, Vascular Cell Adhesion Molecule-1; VE-Cadherin, Vascular Endothelial Cadherin; VEGFa, Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor A; VLA-4, Very Late Antigen-4; VPO1, Vascular Peroxidase 1; ZO-1, Zonula Occludens-1.

# **Chapter 2 Abbreviations**

FABPs, Fatty Acid-Binding Proteins; PAD, Peripheral Artery Diseases; HUVECs, Human Umbilical Vein Endothelial Cells; oxLDL, Oxidized Low-Density Lipoprotein; LPS, Lipopolysaccharide; Ang II, Angiotensin-II; NPC, Niemann–Pick Disease Type C Proteins; GAPDH, Glyceraldehyde 3-Phosphate Dehydrogenase; SkMCs, Skeletal Muscle Cells; qPCR, Quantitative Real-Time Polymerase Chain Reaction; ELISA, Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay; VEGFa, Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor-alpha.

### **Chapter 3 Abbreviations**

PTGS2, Prostaglandin-Endoperoxide Synthase 2; COL1A2, Collagen Type I Alpha 2 Chain; PLAU, Plasminogen Activator, Urokinase; BDNF, Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor; BCL2, BCL2 Apoptosis Regulator; CCL5, C-C Motif Chemokine Ligand 5; EGR1, Early Growth Response 1; TLR2, Toll-Like Receptor 2; EGFR, Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor; FN1, Fibronectin 1; TOP2A, DNA Topoisomerase II Alpha; RRM2, Ribonucleotide Reductase Regulatory Subunit M2; IGFBP3, Insulin-Like Growth Factor Binding Protein 3; FOS, Fos Proto-Oncogene, AP-1 Transcription Factor Subunit; VEGFA, Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor A; IL1b, Interleukin 1 Beta; IL8, C-X-C Motif Chemokine Ligand 8; SOD2, Superoxide Dismutase 2; ICAM1, Intercellular Adhesion Molecule 1; CCL2, C-C Motif Chemokine Ligand 2; IL6, Interleukin 6; MMP7, Matrix Metallopeptidase 7; FGF2, Fibroblast Growth Factor 2; CDK1, Cyclin Dependent Kinase 1; IL18, Interleukin 18; BIRC5, Baculoviral IAP Repeat Containing 5; TACC3, Transforming Acidic Coiled-Coil Containing Protein 3; AURKA, Aurora Kinase A; ABCB1, ATP Binding Cassette Subfamily B Member 1; KDR, Kinase Insert Domain Receptor; TCF7L2, Transcription Factor 7 Like 2; RB1, RB Transcriptional Corepressor 1; CAV1, Caveolin 1; STAT1, Signal Transducer and Activator of Transcription 1; STAT3, Signal Transducer and Activator of Transcription 3; CXCL10, C-X-C Motif Chemokine Ligand 10; MMP1, Matrix Metallopeptidase 1; SERPINE1, Serpin Family E Member 1; CTBP2, C-Terminal Binding Protein 2; AKT, Protein Kinase B; CVD, Cardiovascular Diseases; eNOS, Endothelial Nitric Oxide Synthase; FABPs, Fatty Acid–Binding Proteins; HUVECs, Human Umbilical Vein Endothelial Cells; LPS, Lipopolysaccharide; NO, Nitric Oxide; PAD, Peripheral Artery Disease; PPAR, Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated Receptor; qPCR, Quantitative Polymerase Chain Reaction; rhFABP3, Recombinant Human FABP3.

### **Chapter 4 Abbreviations**

FABP3, Heart-type fatty acid binding protein; *KIF26B*, Kinesin family member 26b; *SMN2*, Survival of motor neuron 2; *NCR1*, Natural cytotoxicity triggering receptor 1; *DNAJC14*, DnaJ heat shock protein family (Hsp40) member C14; *ENSG00000269242*, Glycosyl Hydrolases Family 38 C-Terminal Beta Sandwich Domain-Containing Protein; *CFAP298-TCP10L*, Cilia and flagella associated protein 298-T-complex 10 like; *IMPDH1P10*, IMPDH1 pseudogene 10; *CENPBD1P*, Centromere protein B direct repeat 1 pseudogene; *PKD1P3*, Polycystic kidney disease 1 (autosomal dominant) pseudogene 3; FABPs, fatty acid–binding proteins; HUVECs, human umbilical vein endothelial cells; PAD, peripheral artery disease; qPCR, quantitative polymerase chain reaction; rh/re-FABP3, recombinant human FABP3.

### Chapter 5 Abbreviations

Ang II, angiotensin II; ACE, Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme; CVDs, Cardiovascular Diseases; DE, Differentially Expressed; ECM, Extracellular Matrix; GO, Gene Ontology; HUVECs, Human Umbilical Vein Endothelial Cells; KEGG, Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes; NER, Nucleotide Excision Repair; OD, Optical Density; PBS, Phosphate-Buffered Saline; RAS, Renin-Angiotensin System; ROS, Reactive Oxygen Species; SIPS, Stress-Induced Premature Senescence; lncRNAs, Long Noncoding RNAs.

# Appendix B: Licenses

### **Chapter 1 License**



49 Spadina Ave. Suite 200 Toronto ON M5V 2J1 Canada www.biorender.com

### **Confirmation of Publication and Licensing Rights**

March 9th, 2024 Science Suite Inc.

Subscription: Agreement number: Journal name: Individual RW26K0OMO0 University of Western Ontario Thesis

To whom this may concern,

This document is to confirm that Jefferson Frisbee has been granted a license to use the BioRender content, including icons, templates and other original artwork, appearing in the attached completed graphic pursuant to BioRender's <u>Academic License Terms</u>. This license permits BioRender content to be sublicensed for use in journal publications.

All rights and ownership of BioRender content are reserved by BioRender. All completed graphics must be accompanied by the following citation: "Created with BioRender.com".

BioRender content included in the completed graphic is not licensed for any commercial uses beyond publication in a journal. For any commercial use of this figure, users may, if allowed, recreate it in BioRender under an Industry BioRender Plan.



For any questions regarding this document, or other questions about publishing with BioRender refer to our <u>BioRender Publication Guide</u>, or contact BioRender Support at <u>support@biorender.com</u>.

# Chapter 3 License

As the first author, permission to publish this article in this thesis has been received from the publisher, *Elsevier*.

	Author: Hien C. Nguyen, Shuhan Bu, Sepideh Nikfarjam, Berk Rasheed, David C.R. Michels, Aman Singh, Shweta Singh, Caroline Marszal, John J. McGuire, Qingping Feng, Jefferson C. Frisbee, Mohammad Gadura Krishna K. Singh
5.2.3	Publication: Journal of Biological Chemistry
Enter	Publisher: Elsevier
ELSEVIER	Date: March 2023
	© 2023 THE AUTHORS. Published by Elsevier Inc on behalf of American Society for Biochemistry and Molecular Biology.
his is an open access arti ou are not required to ob	Ie distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons CC-BY license, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited. ain permission to reuse this article.
o request permission for a	type of use not listed, please contact Elsevier Global Rights Department.



49 Spadina Ave. Suite 200 Toronto ON M5V 2J1 Canada www.biorender.com

# **Confirmation of Publication and Licensing Rights**

March 9th, 2024 Science Suite Inc.

Subscription: Agreement number: Journal name: Individual BY26K0OSEO University of Western Ontario Thesis

To whom this may concern,

This document is to confirm that Jefferson Frisbee has been granted a license to use the BioRender content, including icons, templates and other original artwork, appearing in the attached completed graphic pursuant to BioRender's <u>Academic License Terms</u>. This license permits BioRender content to be sublicensed for use in journal publications.

All rights and ownership of BioRender content are reserved by BioRender. All completed graphics must be accompanied by the following citation: "Created with BioRender.com".

BioRender content included in the completed graphic is not licensed for any commercial uses beyond publication in a journal. For any commercial use of this figure, users may, if allowed, recreate it in BioRender under an Industry BioRender Plan.



For any questions regarding this document, or other questions about publishing with BioRender refer to our <u>BioRender Publication Guide</u>, or contact BioRender Support at <u>support@biorender.com</u>.

# Chapter 5 License

As the first author, permission to publish this article in this thesis has been received from the publisher, *Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc.* 

3. Wolters Kluwer	Transcriptomics of angiotensin II-induced long noncoding and coding RNAs in endothelial cells         Author: Shuhan Bu, Hien C, Nguyen, David C.R. Michels, et al         Publication: Journal of Hypertension         Publication: Shuhar Skluwer Health, Inc.         Date: Jul 1, 2022         Copyright © 2022, Copyright © 2022 The Author(s). Published by Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc.		
License Not Required Wolters Kluwer policy permits only the final peer-reviewed manuscript of the article to be reused in a thesis. You are free to use the final peer-reviewed manuscript in your print thesis at this time, and in your electronic thesis 12 months after the article's publication date. The manuscript may only appear in your electronic thesis if it will be password protected. Please see our Author Guidelines here: https://cdn-tp2.mozu.com/16833-m1/cms/files/Author-Document.pdf?_mzts=63641095173000000.  BACK			

# Curriculum Vitae

# Hien Chi Nguyen

# **EDUCATION**

Ph.D., Anatomy and Cell Biology	2019-Present		
The University of Western Ontario, London, ON			
Bachelor of Medical Science, Honor Spec. Interdisciplinary Medical Science	2015 - 2019		
The University of Western Ontario, London, ON			
AWARDS			
Graduate Teaching Assistantship	2024		
Ontario Graduate Scholarship (3 times)	2021 - 2024		
Drs. Madge & Charles Macklin Fellowship for Publication in Medical Sciences	2023		
Graduate Fellowship/Western Graduate Research Scholarship	2019 - 2024		
RESEARCH EXPERIENCE			
Ph.D. Candidate, The University of Western Ontario, London, ON	2019 - 2024		
• Thesis: Role of FABP3 in Endothelial Dysfunction			
• Other engaged topics: Non-coding RNAs, BRCA genes, Epigenetics			
• Expertise/Disciplines: Cardiovascular diseases; Atherosclerosis; Diabetes,			
Endothelial function; Molecular biology; Cell biology; Geno-/Phenotypes			
assays; Bioinformatics; Loss-/Gain of function studies			
• Models: Human endothelial cell cultures (HUVECs, HCAECs, HPAECS);			
Human skeletal muscle cells; C57BL/6 mice Cre-Loxp systems			
• <b>Protocol/Database management</b> : Gene array; cDNA synthesis; qPCR;			

RNA/Protein extraction & quantification; Gel electrophoresis; Western Blot; RNAseq; Cell culture; ELISA; Immunohistochemistry; Immunofluorescence; Microscopies; Cellular function assays (transfection, migration, proliferation, tube-formation)

- Statistical/Graphic Analysis & Interpretation: Prism, R-studio, CFX Maestro, ImageJ, Image Studio
- Bioinformatics: Kallisto; Trimmomatic; edgeR, enrichR, GO & KEGG

### EXTRACURRICULAR

Teaching Assistant	Winter 2024
• Medical Science 4931G, The University of Western Ontario	
Career Profile Advisor	2019 - 2020

- Western's Employment Resource Centre

### Volunteers

- Science Rendezvous 2023
- Canadian Blood Service -- Assistant
- *Frontier College* Tutor

# PRESENTATIONS

- Roles of Fatty Acid Binding Protein-3 in Endothelial Function. London Health Research Day (2022), London, Canada.
- 2. The Essential Role of Fatty-acid Binding Protein 3 in Endothelial Function. Robarts Research Retreat (2022), London, Canada.
- 3. Fatty acid-binding Protein-3 (FABP3) is a Novel Regulator of Endothelial Function. Experimental Biology (2021), United States of America.

Ongoing

 Fatty acid-binding Protein-3 (FABP3) Roles in Endothelial Dysfunction. Anatomy and Cell Biology's Research Day (2021), London, Canada.

### JOURNAL PUBLICATIONS:

- Nguyen HC, Frisbee JC, Singh KK. (2024). Different Mechanisms in Doxorubicininduced Cardiomyopathy: Impact of BRCA1 and BRCA2 Mutations. *Hearts*. doi.org/10.3390/hearts5010005.
- Bu S, Singh A, Nguyen HC, Peddi B, Bhatt K, Ravendranathan N, Frisbee JC, Singh KK (2024). Protein Disulfide Isomerase 4 is an Essential Regulator of Endothelial Function and Survival. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*.
- Nguyen HC, Bu S, Nikfarjam S, Rasheed B, Michels DCR, Singh S, Singh A, Marszal C, McGuire JJ, Feng Q, Frisbee JC, Qadura M, Singh KK. (2023). Loss of fatty acid binding protein 3 ameliorates lipopolysaccharide-induced inflammation and endothelial dysfunction. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*. doi.org/10.1016/j.jbc.2023.102921.
- David C. R. Michels, Sepideh Nikfarjam, Berk Rasheed, Margi Patel, Shuhan Bu, Mehroz Ehsan, Hien C. Nguyen, Aman Singh, Biao Feng, John McGuire, Robert Gros, Jefferson C. Frisbee, Krishna K. Singh. (2023). Endothelial Cell-specific Loss of Breast Cancer Susceptibility Gene 2 Exacerbates Atherosclerosis. *arXiv*. <u>doi.org/10.48550/arXiv.2306.10993</u>.
- Bu S, Joseph J, Nguyen HC, Ehsan M, Rasheed B, Singh A, Qadura M, Frisbee CJ, Singh KK. (2023). MicroRNA miR-378-3p is a Novel Regulator of Endothelial Autophagy and Function. *Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology Plus*. 3(100027). doi.org/10.1016/j.jmccpl.2022.100027.
- Bu S, Nguyen HC, Nikfarjam S, Michels DCR, Rasheed B, Maheshkumar S, Singh S, Singh KK. (2022). Endothelial cell-specific loss of eNOS differentially affects endothelial function. *PLOS One.* 17(9). doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0274487.
- Bu S\*, Nguyen HC\*, Michels DCR, Rasheed B, Nikfarjam S, Singh R, Wang L, Patel DA, Singh S, Qadura M, Singh KK. (2022). Transcriptomics of angiotensin II-induced

long non-coding and coding RNAs in endothelial cells. *Journal of Hypertension*. 40(7): 1303-1313. doi.org/10.1097/HJH.000000000003140. \*First equal authors.

- Singh S, Nguyen HC, Ehsan M, Michels DCR, Singh P, Qadura M, Singh KK. (2021). Pravastatin-induced changes in expression of long non-coding and coding RNAs in endothelial cells. *Physiological Reports.* 9(1): e14661. <u>dx.doi.org/10.14814/phy2.14661</u>.
- Singh S, Nguyen HC, Michels DCR, Bazinet H, Matkar PN, Liu Z, Esene L, Adam M, Bugyei-Twum A, Mebrahtu E, Joseph J, Ehsan M, Chen HH, Qadura M, Singh KK. (2020). BReast CAncer susceptibility gene 2 deficiency exacerbates oxidized LDLinduced DNA damage and endothelial apoptosis. *Physiological Reports*. 8(13): e14481. <u>dx.doi.org/10.14814/phy2.14481</u>.
- Nguyen HC, Qadura M, Singh KK. (2020). Role of the Fatty Acid Binding Proteins in Cardiovascular Diseases: A Systematic Review. *Journal of Clinical Medicine*. 9(11): 3390. dx.doi.org/10.3390/jcm9113390.
- Singh S, Adam M, Matkar PN, Bugyei-Twum A, Desjardins JF, Chen HH, Nguyen HC, Bazinet H, Michels DCR, Liu Z, Mebrahtu E, Esene L, Joseph J, Ehsan M, Qadura M, Connelly KA, Leong-Poi H, Singh KK. (2020). Endothelial-specific Loss of IFT88 Promotes Endothelial-to-Mesenchymal Transition and Exacerbates Bleomycin-induced Pulmonary Fibrosis. *Scientific Reports.* 10(1): 4466. <u>dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-61292-9</u>.

### **CONFERENCE PUBLICATIONS:**

- Bu S, Joseph J, Nguyen HC, Nikfarjam S, Rasheed B, Michels DCR, Frisbee JC, Singh KK. (2022). MicroRNA miR-378-3p Regulates Autophagy and Proliferation in Endothelial Cells. *London Health Research Day*. <u>doi.org/10.1096/fasebj.2021.35.S1.03058</u>.
- Rasheed B, Michels DCR, Nikfarjam S, Bu S, Nguyen HC, Wang L, Frisbee JC, Hess DA, Gros R, Singh KK. (2022). Investigating The Role of Endothelial Breast Cancer

Susceptibility Gene 2 In Doxorubicin-induced Cardiotoxicity. *American Heart* Association Scientific Sessions 2022 and London Health Research Day. doi.org/10.1161/circ.146.suppl 1.15328.

- Nikfarjam S, Bu S, Nguyen HC, Rasheed B, Frisbee JC, Singh KK. (2022). Investigating The Role of Breast Cancer Susceptibility Gene 2 In High Glucose-Induced Endothelial Dysfunction. *American Heart Association Scientific Sessions 2022*. <u>doi.org/10.1161/circ.146.suppl\_1.15377</u>.
- Bu S, Nikfarjam S, Nguyen HC, Rasheed B, Singh R, Qadura M, Frisbee JC, Singh KK. (2022). MicroRNA Mir-378-3p Is a Novel Regulator of Endothelial Autophagy and Function. *American Heart Association Scientific Sessions 2022*. doi.org/10.1161/circ.146.suppl\_1.15321.
- Nguyen HC, Bu S, Nikfarjam S, Rasheed B, Singh S, Qadura M, Singh KK. (2022). The Essential Role Of Fatty-acid Binding Protein 3 In Endothelial Function. *American Heart Association Scientific Sessions 2022*. doi.org/10.1161/circ.146.suppl\_1.15338.
- Bu S, Nguyen HC, Nikfarjam S, Michels DCR, Rasheed B, Ramesh S, Singh S, Singh KK. (2022). Endothelial cell-specific loss of eNOS promotes proliferation. FASEB. *Experimental Biology 2022*. doi.org/10.1096/fasebj.2022.36.S1.L7652.
- Williamson J, Halvorson B, Michels DCR, Nguyen HC, Bu S, Wang L, Frisbee JC, Singh KK. (2021). The DNA repair protein BRCA1/2 protects against obesity-induced DNA damage in the rat brain. *Canadian Cancer Research Conference*.
- Perron AV, Michels DCR, Nguyen HC, Williamson J, Bu S, Wang L, Singh S, McGuire JJ, Frisbee JC, Singh KK. (2021). Loss of BReast CAncer Susceptibility Gene 2 Exacerbates Angiotensin-II-induced Endothelial Dysfunction. FASEB. *Experimental Biology 2021*. doi.org/10.1096/fasebj.2021.35.S1.03129.
- Bu S, Nguyen HC, Michels DCR, Williamson J, Perron AV, Wang L, Singh S, Frisbee JC, Singh KK. (2021). MicroRNA miR-378-3p is an Essential Regulator of Autophagy and Proliferation in Endothelial Cells. FASEB. *Experimental Biology 2021*.

doi.org/10.1096/fasebj.2021.35.S1.03058.

- Nguyen HC, Michels DCR, Perron AV, Williamson J, Bu S, Wang L, Singh S, Frisbee JC, Qadura M, Singh KK. (2021). Fatty acid-binding Protein-3 (FABP3) is a Novel Regulator of Endothelial Function. FASEB. *Experimental Biology 2021*. doi.org/10.1096/fasebj.2021.35.S1.02855.
- Esene L, Liu Z, Bazinet H, Michels DCR, Nguyen HC, Mebrahtu E, Joseph J, Ehsan M, McGuire JJ, Frisbee JC, Singh KK. (2020). BReast CAncer Susceptibility Gene 2 Deficiency Exacerbates Angiotensin II-induced Endothelial Dysfunction and Apoptosis. FASEB. *Experimental Biology 2020*. <u>dx.doi.org/10.1096/fasebj.2020.34.s1.05572</u>.
- Adam M, Bugyei-Twum A, Matkar PN, Esene L, Joseph J, Mebrahtu E, Liu Z, Nguyen HC, Bazinet H, Ladak A, Jain S, Qadura M, Leong-Poi H, Connelly KA, Singh KK. (2019). Endothelial Cell-specific Loss of BRCA2 Exacerbates Oxidized LDL-induced DNA Damage and Apoptosis. *Canadian Cancer Research Conference*.